



Controlling the Public and Animal Health Threat from Campylobacter Infection in Broiler Chickens by Improving Gut Health and Reducing Inflammation

Amy Hillier

Submitted to Swansea University in fulfilment of the requirements for the Degree of Doctor of Philosophy

Swansea University

2023

Copyright: The Author, Amy Hillier, 2024.

Abstract

Campylobacter is a Gram-negative bacterium that causes disease in both humans and avian species. Poultry products present a major public health risk due to high levels of Campylobacter contamination which is a major cause of human bacterial gastroenteritis. Chickens are a primary reservoir for *Campylobacter* and there are no effective measures in place to inhibit flock colonisation and the extraintestinal spread of pathogenic strains. A large degree of variation is observed within the two Campylobacter species, C. jejuni and C. coli at both the genomic and phenotypic level. This has led to inconsistent findings when investigating the mechanisms by which Campylobacter spreads from the chicken gastrointestinal tract to edible tissues using in vitro and in vivo models. Feed additives are an increasingly popular alternative to antibiotic use in poultry farming; they present low risk of increasing antibiotic resistance and can be administered easily through food and/or water. The aim of this study was to determine the potential of three feed additives and four probiotic species as preventative measures for Campylobacter extraintestinal spread in poultry production. In chapter 3, a collection of Campylobacter isolates were sequenced and evaluated for their genotypic differences before being assessed in an avian and human cell line for their invasive capacity in vitro. Three isolates were selected based on their consistent in vitro invasive spectrum. In chapter 4, the selected Campylobacter isolates were challenged directly with feed additives to assess the impact on bacterial growth and motility. A significant reduction in Campylobacter growth was observed when challenged with 1.0% and 1.4% sodium butyrate over 24h. In chapter 5, human and avian cell lines treated with feed additives and exposed to *Campylobacter* isolates and focused on determining the cytotoxicity and any protective effects of the additives against transcellular invasion and cytokine production. Pre-treatment of epithelial cell monolayers did not significantly affect transcellular invasion of the bacterium. Chromium propionate significantly increased oxygen consumption in epithelial cells. Sodium butyrate at 0.6% increased epithelial cell production of inflammatory cytokines CXCLi1 and CXCLi2. This thesis has; i) confirmed the diversity of Campylobacter species; ii) identified the direct inhibitory effects of feed additives on Campylobacter growth; iii) identified a novel mechanism of modified oxygen consumption by chromium propionate on epithelial cells; iv) identified the ability of sodium butyrate to induce CXCLi1/2 chemokines in avian epithelial cells. This work supports the growing evidence that feed additives are important alternatives for controlling *Campylobacter* in the chicken gut.

Declaration

This work has not previously been accepted in substance for any degree and is not being concurrently submitted in candidature for any degree.

Signed

Date 14/03/2023

This thesis is the result of my own investigations, except where otherwise stated. Other sources are acknowledged by footnotes giving explicit references. A bibliography is appended.

Signed

Date 14/03/2023

I hereby give consent for my thesis, if accepted, to be available for photocopying and for interlibrary loan, and for the title and summary to be made available to outside organisations.

Signed

Date 14/03/2023

The University's ethical procedures have been followed and, where appropriate, that ethical approval has been granted.

Signed

Date 14/03/2023

Acknowledgements

Firstly, thank you to Prof. Tom Humphrey, Dr Lisa Willams and Dr. Thomas Wilkinson for the opportunity to work and study within the infectious disease lab at Swansea University.

A particular thankyou goes to Dr Thomas Wilkinson for his ever-continued support, encouragement and advice throughout the last two years. I am in no doubt that I am where I am, with a finished thesis because of you, and for that I will be forever grateful. I think I may have finally (finally) accessed those top two inches – its only taken me four years!

To everyone in the Microbiology and Infectious Disease group, thankyou. For your guidance, peer review, suggestions and help when I was completely stuck at a loss in the lab! I would like to thank Dr Heather Chick, who helped me endlessly and was always available whenever I had any 'stupid' questions or needed to query a protocol – I am also very incredibly sorry for contaminating all of your work and the MAC cabinet.

There are two very special people, without whom I wouldn't have been able to get this thesis done, they provided both financial support, emotional support, and always believed in me (even when I didn't believe in myself). Mum and dad, I will be forever in debt to you. "It will all be worth it in the end" – Mum you were right.

To my two little furbabies Ezra and Ozzy; couldn't have done it without your companionship and unconditional love – not to mention the fact I can moan and cry to you and you don't talk back.

Finally, I would like to thank all of my extended family at CrossFit SA1. Without you crazy bunch keeping me doing ridiculous workouts and maintaining my mental and physical health I definitely wouldn't have made it through. On the tough days in the office being able to unwind with you, have a laugh (sometimes a cry), and work out all my frustrations had a massive impact on my ability to get to the end. Especially I would like to mention my best friend Leigh-Ann Richards, a shoulder to cry on, laugh with, seek (relatively) good advice from and who always believes in me as much as I believe in her – thankyou.

I would like to dedicate this work to my Nanny Bruno. I know you would have believed in me the most, and I hope I am making you proud.

Contents

Abstract	1
Declaration	2
Acknowledgements	3
Contents	4
List of Figures	9
List of Tables	11
List of Abbreviations	12
Chapter 1: Introduction	15
1.1 Campylobacter species	
1.1.1 History and Discovery of <i>Campylobacter</i> spp	15
1.1.2 The Genus Campylobacter	16
1.1.3 Isolating and culturing Campylobacter spp.	17
1.1.4 Campylobacter Genomics and Phylogeny	19
1.1.5 Campylobacter Species Diversity	21
1.2 Campylobacter and Disease	
1.2.1 Campylobacteriosis	22
1.2.2 Campylobacter infection in humans	22
1.2.3 Economic impact of human Campylobacter infection	24
1.2.4 Campylobacter infection in chickens	27
1.2.5 Economic burden of chicken infection	29
1.3 Pathogenesis of Campylobacter	
1.3.1 Motility of Campylobacter	29
1.3.2 Adhesion of <i>Campylobacter</i> to epithelial cells	32
1.3.3 Invasion of epithelial cells by Campylobacter	33
1.3.4 Metabolic flexibility of Campylobacter	35
1.3.5 Campylobacter serum resistance	
1.4 The Gastrointestinal Tract in Humans and Chickens	
1.4.1 Human gut microbiome	40
1.4.2 Human gut immunity	42
1.4.3 Chicken gut microbiome	43
1.4.4 Chicken gut immunity	45
1.5 Limiting Campylobacter within Chickens	
1.5.1 Reducing Environmental Campylobacter Exposure in Chickens (Biosecurity)	
1.5.2 Use of antibiotics therapies for <i>Campylobacter</i> reduction in chickens	52
1.5.3 Use of alternative therapies for Campylobacter reduction in chickens	54
1.5.4 Chicken feed additives for <i>Campylobacter</i> reduction in chickens	56

1.5.4.1 Technological feed additives	57
1.5.4.2 Sensory feed additives	58
1.5.4.3 Nutritional feed additives	58
1.5.4.4 Zootechnical feed additives	58
1.5.4.5 Current Campylobacter targeted feed additives	59
1.5.4.6 Novel Campylobacter targeted feed additives for chickens	60
1.5.4.6.1 Caprylic Acid	61
1.5.4.6.2 Butyric Acid	63
1.5.4.6.3 Chromium	64
1.6 Limitations to current literature	67
1.7 Aims and Objectives	67
Chapter 2: Materials and Methods	69
2.1 Materials	69
2.2 In vitro Microbiology	74
2.2.1 Bacterial isolates	74
2.2.2 Bacterial culture conditions	
2.2.2.1 Campylobacter culture	76
2.2.2.2 Culture of Bacillus spp. and preparation of conditioned media	77
2.2.3 Bacterial growth curves	77
2.2.3.1 Campylobacter growth curves	77
2.2.3.2 Bacillus growth curve	78
2.2.4 Campylobacter growth challenged with feed additives and conditioned media	
2.2.5 Bacterial motility assay	79
2.2.6 Campylobacter DNA extraction for sequencing	79
2.3 Culture of avian and human intestinal epithelial cells	80
2.3.1 Routine cell culture	80
2.3.2 Treatment of epithelial cells with Campylobacter	81
2.3.3 Treatment of epithelial cells with caprylate, butyrate, and chromium propionate	82
2.3.4 Epithelial cell viability: AlamarBlue Assay	82
2.3.5 Gentamicin Protection Assay (GPA)	83
2.3.6 RNA isolation from epithelial cells	83
2.3.7 cDNA synthesis using RNA from epithelial cells	83
2.3.8 Quantitative PCR of chicken epithelial cDNA (probe-based method)	84
2.3.9 Genomic Analysis	85
2.4 Analysis Software and Statistics	
2.4.1 Software and Statistical Analysis	87
Chapter 3: Selection of standard Campylobacter strains for in vitro feed additive testing	90
3.1 Introduction	90

3.1.1 Campylobacter genetic diversity	90
3.1.2 Campylobacter diversity in growth and survival	91
3.1.3 Diversity in <i>Campylobacter</i> pathogenicity	93
3.1.3.1 Differences in the presence and absence of <i>Campylobacter</i> invasive genes	93
3.1.3.2 Diversity of in vitro Campylobacter induced immune responses	94
3.1.4 Phenotypic diversity should be addressed when product testing	95
3.1.5 Aims	95
3.2 Materials and Methods	
3.2.1 Campylobacter isolates	96
3.2.2 Epithelial cell culture	96
3.2.3 Campylobacter DNA Isolation and Genomic Analysis	96
3.2.4 Campylobacter growth assay	96
3.2.5 Invasion of epithelial cell lines by Campylobacter	96
3.3 Results	
3.3.1 Genomic Evaluation of <i>Campylobacter</i> Isolates for Virulence Factors and Antibiotic Resistance	97
3.3.2 Campylobacter Growth	98
3.3.3 Campylobacter Invasion	100
3.3.4 Comparison of <i>Campylobacter</i> invasion to published dataset	103
3.4 Discussion	105
3.5 Conclusion	109
Chapter 4: Direct effects of feed additives on in vitro growth and motility of Campylobacter	111
4.1 Introduction	111
4.1.1 Butyric Acid	112
4.1.2 Caprylic Acid	114
4.1.3 Chromium Propionate	115
4.1.4 Bacillus spp	116
4.1.5 Aims	117
4.2 Materials and Methods	118
4.2.1 Campylobacter isolates	118
4.2.2 Campylobacter growth assay challenged with Butyrate	118
4.2.3 Campylobacter growth assay challenged with Caprylate	118
4.2.4 Campylobacter growth assay challenged with Chromium Propionate	118
4.2.5 Preparation of <i>Bacillus</i> spp. conditioned media	118
4.2.6 Campylobacter motility assay	119
4.3 Results	119
4.3.1 Growth of <i>Campylobacter</i> directly challenged with feed additives	119

4.3.1.1 Growth of Campylobacter over 24 hours directly challenged with Butyrate	119
4.3.1.2 Growth of Campylobacter over 24 hours directly challenged with Caprylate	120
4.3.1.3 Growth of <i>Campylobacter</i> over 24 hours directly challenged with Chromium Propion	ate 121
4.3.2 Growth of Campylobacter directly challenged with Bacillus conditioned cell culture media	a 122
4.3.2.1 Growth of <i>Campylobacter</i> over 24 hours directly challenged with <i>Bacillus subtilis</i> PE conditioned growth media	6 123
4.3.2.2 Growth of <i>Campylobacter</i> over 24 hours directly challenged with <i>Bacillus licheniforn</i> conditioned growth media	nis 125
4.3.3 Motility of <i>Campylobacter</i>	. 127
4.3.3.1 Motility of Campylobacter strains in brucella agar	127
4.3.3.2 Motility of <i>Campylobacter</i> strains in brucella agar (without CGS) with Chromium Propionate	129
4.4 Discussion	. 131
4.5 Conclusion	136
Chapter 5: Indirect effects of feed additives on <i>Campylobacter</i> invasion into epithelial cells and cytol production <i>in vitro</i>	cine 138
5.1 Introduction	. 138
5.1.1 Campylobacter interaction with host epithelial cells	138
5.1.1.1 Campylobacter adherence to host epithelial cells	139
5.1.1.2 Campylobacter invasion of host epithelial cells	140
5.1.1.3 Campylobacter induced cytokine production within host epithelial cells	141
5.1.2 Campylobacter induced damage to host epithelial cell monolayers	. 142
5.1.2.1 Campylobacter induced damage due to adhesion and invasion of epithelial cells	142
5.1.2.2 Campylobacter induced damage due to direct cytotoxicity	143
5.1.2.3 Campylobacter induced damage due to cytokine production	144
5.1.3 Anti-inflammatory strategies	. 145
5.1.4 Anti-inflammatory activity of Butyrate	. 146
5.1.5 Aims	. 147
5.2 Materials and Methods	147
5.2.1 Campylobacter isolates	. 147
5.2.2 Culture of epithelial cell monolayers	. 147
5.2.3 Epithelial cell viability: AlamarBlue Assay	. 148
5.2.4 <i>Campylobacter</i> invasion assay with epithelial cells pre-incubated with feed additives compounds	. 148
5.2.5 Quantification of cytokine mRNA expression from epithelial cell lines exposed to <i>Campylobacter</i>	. 148
5.2.6 Quantification of cytokines from epithelial cell lines pre-treated with feed additives before exposure to <i>Campylobacter</i>	148
5.3 Results	149
5.3.1 Epithelial cell viability	. 149
5.3.1.1 Butvrate effect on epithelial cell viability	149
	/

5.3.1.2 Caprylate effect on epithelial cell viability.	150
5.3.1.3 Chromium Propionate effect on epithelial cell viability	151
5.3.2 Campylobacter invasion into cell lines pre-treated with feed additives	152
5.3.2.1 Campylobacter invasion into cell lines pre-treated with Butyrate	152
5.3.2.2 Campylobacter invasion into cell lines pre-treated with Caprylate	154
5.3.2.3 Campylobacter invasion into cell lines pre-treated with Chromium Propionate	156
5.3.3 Cytokine production in avian cells exposed to Campylobacter and Butyrate	158
5.3.3.1 CXCLi1 gene expression is increased in <i>Campylobacter</i> infected 8E11 epithelial treated with 0.6 % Butyrate	cells 158
5.3.3.2 CXCLi2 expression is increased in <i>Campylobacter</i> infected 8E11 epithelial cells with 0.6 % Butyrate	treated 161
5.3.3.3 TGF β expression is not affected by butyrate treatment in infected 8E11 epithelia	l cells 163
5.4 Discussion	165
5.5 Conclusion	169
Chapter 6: General Discussion	171
6.1 Reducing Campylobacter in the Poultry Industry	
6.1.1 Reducing cross contamination through biosecurity	173
6.1.2 Reducing colonisation through feed additive approaches	174
6.2 Campylobacter strain variation	174
6.3 Mechanisms of action of feed additives: Caprylic Acid, Butyric Acid, Chromium Propiona	ate: 175
6.3.1 Bactericidal Properties of Feed Additives	177
6.3.2 Improving integrity of the intestinal epithelium using an <i>in vitro</i> model	178
6.3.3 Regulating inflammatory response using an <i>in vitro</i> model	179
6.4 Implications for the poultry industry	
6.5 Implications for Public Health	
6.6 Limitations	
6.7 Future Work	
Chapter 7: References	183
Appendix and Supplementary Data	220

List of Figures

Figure 1.1 Plating of C. jejuni on mCCDA yields shiny grey colonies (Al-Edany, Khudor and	
Radhi, 2015).	19
Figure 1.2 Evolutionary divergence of C. jejuni and C. coli into two distinct species and further	into
three clades due to ecological niches. C. coli hybrid strains developed from recombination	
between clade I C. coli strains and C. jejuni. (Taken from: Epping, Antão & Semmler, 202	:1).
	20
Figure 1.3 Phylogenetic tree of the genus Campylobacter with species divided into five distinct	
clades. Red tip labels correspond to species that are known to be pathogenic in	
humans/animals, blue tip labels correspond to non-pathogenic species (Costa & Iraola, 20	19).
	21
Figure 1.4 Pododermatitis scoring scale for broiler chickens based on visual assessment. Score of	of 0
shows no pododermatitis and a score of 4 is for severe pododermatitis (Taken from Rusher	n,
Butterworth & Swanson, 2011).	28
Figure 1.5 Campylobacter flagella structure showing major subunits and encoding genes (adapt	ted
from: Lertsethtakarn, Ottemann & Hendrixson, 2011; Lopes et al., 2021). Created in	
biorender.com	31
Figure 1.6 Chicken and human digestive system components including GI tract and digestive	
accessory organs. Created with biorender.com	38
Figure 1.7 Factors affecting the composition of human microbiome (image taken from: Schmidt	t,
Raes & Bork, 2018).	41
Figure 1.8 Schematic diagram of the chicken intestinal tract highlighting the GALT locations: 1	••••
pharyngeal tonsil; 2 and 2', lymphoid tissue in oesophagus; 3, oesophageal tonsil; 4, lymph	loid
tissue of proventriculus; 5, pyloric tonsil; 6, Peyer's patch; 7, vitelline diverticulum; 8, cae	cal
tonsils; 8', lymphoid tissue within caecum; 8'', lymphoid tissue in rectum; 9, bursa of	
Fabricius; 10, lymphoid tissue in proctodeum. (Taken from Casteleyn et al., 2010).	46
Figure 1.9 Schematic of hygienic anteroom in broller houses	50
Figure 1.10 Association between chromium supplementation and serum 1gG concentration. International the desked lines represent the estimated standardized mean differences and it) 4~
solid line and the dashed lines represent the estimated standardized mean difference and in 05% confidence intervale. No shapping supplementation (0 ug/lig dist, nub) was used as t	lS Ibo
95% confidence intervals. No chromium supplementation (0 µg/kg diet, ppd) was used as t	ле 66
Figure 3.1 Presence and absence of genes encoding virulance factors in 10 Campulabater isolate	00 xc 07
Figure 3.2 Presence and absence of genes encoding antibiotic resistance in 19 Compylobacter isolate	:5.71
isolates	98
Figure 3.3 Growth of Campylobacter caecal isolates over 24 h at different temperatures	90
Figure 3.4 Growth of Campylobacter caccal isolates over 24 h at different temperatures.	90
Figure 3.5 Growth of Campylobacter liver isolates over 24h at different temperatures.	100
Figure 3.6 Invasion (%) of Campylobacter isolates into 8E11 cells	101
Figure 3.7 Invasion (%) of Campylobacter isolates into CaCo-2 cells	102
Figure 3.8 Invasion (%) of Campylobacter isolates into CaCo-2 and 8E11 cells	103
Figure 3.9 Comparison of invasion (%) of Campylobacter between previous study (John, 2018)	and
current study into 8E11 cells.	104
Figure 3.10 Comparison of invasion (%) of Campylobacter between previous study (John, 2018	0
and current study into CaCo-2 cells.	
Figure 4.1 Growth of Campylobacter from avian sources challenged with butyrate	120
Figure 4.2 Growth of Campylobacter from avian sources challenged with caprylate	121
Figure 4.3 Growth of Campylobacter from avian sources challenged with chromium propionate	e 122
Figure 4.4 Growth of Campylobacter from avian sources challenged with Bacillus subtilis PB6 i	in
8E11 conditioned media	124
Figure 4.5 Growth of Campylobacter from avian sources challenged with Bacillus subtilis PB6 i	in
CaCo-2 conditioned media	125
Figure 4.6 Growth of Campylobacter from avian sources challenged with Bacillus licheniformis	5
conditioned 8E11 media	126
Figure 4.7 Growth of Campylobacter from avian sources challenged with Bacillus licheniformis	5
conditioned CaCo-2 media	127

Figure 4.8 Motility of Campylobacter isolates from avian sources in brucella 0.3% agar with an	ıd
without Campylobacter growth supplement (CGS) (Oxoid)	128
Figure 4.9 Mean motility of Campylobacter from avian sources in brucella 0.3% agar with and	
without Campylobacter growth supplement (CGS) (Oxoid)	129
Figure 4.10 Motility of Campylobacter isolates from avian sources with chromium propionate	
treated brucella 0.3% agar	130
Figure 4.11 Mean motility of Campylobacter from avian sources with chromium propionate tre	eated
brucella 0.3% agar.	131
Figure 5.1 Viability of avian (8E11) and human (CaCo-2) cells after incubation with butyrate.	150
Figure 5.2 Viability of avian (8E11) and human (CaCo-2) cells after incubation with caprylate.	151
Figure 5.3 Viability of avian (8E11) and human (CaCo-2) cells after incubation with chromium	
propionate.	152
Figure 5.4 Invasion of Campylobacter into avian epithelial cell lines pre-treated with Butyrate.	153
Figure 5.5 Invasion of Campylobacter into human epithelial cell lines pre-treated with Butyrate	e.154
Figure 5.6 Invasion of Campylobacter into 8E11 epithelial cell lines pre-treated with Caprylate	in
various concentrations.	155
Figure 5.7 Invasion of Campylobacter into CaCo-2 epithelial cell lines pre-treated with Capryla	nte
in various concentrations.	156
Figure 5.8 Invasion of Campylobacter into 8E11 epithelial cell lines pre-treated with Chromiun	1
Propionate in various concentrations.	157
Figure 5.9 Invasion of Campylobacter into CaCo-2 epithelial cell lines pre-treated with Chromi	um
Propionate in various concentrations.	158
Figure 5.10 CXCLi1 gene expression in 8E11 cells exposed to butyrate.	160
Figure 5.11 CXCLi2 gene expression in 8E11 cells exposed to butyrate	162
Figure 5.12 TGFβ gene expression in 8E11 cells exposed to butyrate	164
Figure 6.1 Passive and active routes for Campylobacter introduction into a poultry house, and	
cross-contamination potential at stages of poultry processing (Taken from: Soro et al., 202	0).
	173
Figure 6.2 Schematic representation of the proposed mechanism of action of feed additives Cap	rylic
acid, Butyric acid, and Chromium propionate (Created in Biorender, 2023)	177
Appendix 1 Atmospheric conditions for the culture of Bacillus spp. conditioned media	. 220
Appendix 2 Optical density (600 nm) readings after culture of Bacillus spp. for conditioned m	iedia
	. 220
Appendix 3 Growth of Bacillus species in Brucella broth over 24 h	. 221
Appendix 4 Growth of Bacillus species in TSB broth over 24 h	. 222
Appendix 5 Growth of Bacillus species in CaCo-2 media over 24 h	. 222
Appendix 6 Growth of Bacillus species in 8E11 media over 24 h	. 223

List of Tables

Table 1.1 Sequalae associated with human campylobacteriosis and incidence rates/risk worldwi	ide.
Table 1.2 Economic burden of Campylobacter infection in high income countries – costs were	23
converted to GBP using average conversion rates from 20-05-2022.	26
Table 1.3 Virulence factors and encoding genes involved in Campylobacter motility and chemo	taxis
(Bolton, 2015).	30
Table 1.4 Virulence factors and encoding genes involved in Campylobacter adherence (Bolton,	
2015).	32
Table 1.5 Virulence factors and encoding genes involved in Campylobacter invasion (Bolton, 20)15)
	34
Table 1.6 Regulatory cytokines that interact with IECs and their relative immune functions	
(adapted from Onyiah & Colgan, 2016).	43
Table 1.7 Analysis of biosecurity practices across farms in the Netherlands in their efficacy of	
reducing the risk of flock infection with Campylobacter (Van de Giessen et al., 1996).	51
Table 1.8 Effect of different cleaning and disinfection practices prior to placement of broiler flo	ocks
across broiler farms in Sengal (Cardinale et al., 2004).	52
Table 1.9 Summary of studies researching length of downtime between clearing and placing of	
chicks, and the percentage of positive flocks.	52
Table 1.10 AGPs banned for use within the EC (Cardinal et al., 2019)	53
Table 1.11 Summary of different bacteriocin effects on Campylobacter load	55
Table 1.12 Five categories of feed additives recognised by the EFSA, examples and functions	
(EFSA, 2022).	57
Table 1.13 Summary of in vitro and in vivo studies using the novel feed/water additive caprylic	acid
against Campylobacter.	62
Table 1.14 Summary of <i>in vitro</i> and <i>in vivo</i> studies using the novel feed additive butyric acid aga	ainst
Campylobacter and its effect on gut health	64
Table 1.15 Bacterial counts (number x 10 ⁶) for broiler chicks supplemented with difference	
complexes and levels of chromium (taken from Safwat et al., 2020)	65
Table 1.16 Structure of feed additives used in this study	67
Table 2.1 Chemical reagents, media and other premade solutions used throughout the study	69
Table 2.2 Primers and probes used throughout the study; the probes used in this study have been	en
modified from the reference publication to have different fluorescent labels	71
Table 2.3 Primer efficiency and converted primer efficiency for probes used in the study	72
Table 2.4 probe specific annealing temperatures for qPCR reactions	72
Table 2.5 Solutions prepared and used throughout the study	72
Table 2.6 Volumes of reagents used in one reaction of RNA to cDNA conversion.	73
Table 2.7 PCR reagents and volumes	74
Table 2.8 List of all Campylobacter strains used throughout this project; a "-" indicates inconclu	usive
results on PCR analysis for the specific strain however 28S analysis did conclude the strain	n
was Campylobacter species.	74
Table 2.9 cDNA synthesis conditions	84
Table 2.10 qPCR conditions	84
Table 2.11 Virulence genes scanned for within the virulence factor database.	85
Table 2.12 Antibiotic resistance genes screened for within the Resfinder database, national	
database of antibiotic resistant organismsand comprehensive antibiotic resistance databas	e. 87
Table 3.1 Eighteen genes identified that encode proteins involved in oxygen tolerance in C. jeju	ni
strains NCTC11168 and RM1221 (Kaakoush et al., 2007).	93
Table 3.2 Summary of genes essential for bacterial internalisation by host epithelial cells.	94
Table 3.3 Summary of isolates carried forward for feed additive testing based on invasion data	
compared between current study and previous study (John, 2018).	105
Table 5.1 Concentrations of controls and feed additives used in the AlamarBlue cell viability as	say.
	148
Table 5.2 Concentrations of feed additive used in the treatment of avian cell lines prior to expos	sure
to Campylobacter isolates for measurement of inflammatory cytokines.	149

List of Abbreviations

AGPs	Antibiotic-Based Growth Promoters
AMPs	Antimicrobial Proteins
APCs	Antigen Presenting Cells
AvBD8	Avian β-defensin 8
BF	Bursa of Fabricus
C. coli	Campylobacter coli
C. jejuni	Campylobacter jejuni
CaCo-2	Heterogeneous human epithelial colorectal adenocarcinoma cell line
CC	Clonal Complexes
CCDA	Charcoal cefoperazone deoxycholate agar
CCV	Campylobacter-containing Vacuoles
CFU	Colony Forming Units
Cia	Campylobacter Invasion Antigens
COI	Cost of Illness
Cr	Chromium
CrMe	Chromium Methionine
CrOx	Chromium Oxide
СТ	Caecal Tonsils
DNA	Deoxyribonucleic Acid
Dpi	Days Post Infection
EC	European Commission
EFSA	European Food Standards Agency
FCR	Feed Conversion Ratio
FERG	Foodborne Disease Burden Epidemiology Reference Group
FlpA	Fibronectin like Protein A
Fn	Fibronectin

FSA	Food Standards Agency
GALT	Gut Associated Lymphoid Tissue
GBS	Guillain-Barre Syndrome
GI	Gastrointestinal
GPA	Gentamicin Protection Assay
GRAS	Generally Recognised as Safe
GTP	Guanosine Triphosphate
НМР	Human Microbiome Project
IBD	Irritable Bowel Disease
IBS	Irritable Bowel Syndrome
IECs	Intestinal Epithelial Cells
IEL	Intra-epithelial Lymphocytes
IFNγ	Interferon Gamma
IL	Interleukin
LOS	Lipooligosaccharides
LPS	Lipopolysaccharide
MALT	Mucosa-Associated Lymphoid Tissue
mCCDA	Modified charcoal cefoperazone deoxycholate agar
MCFA	Medium Chain Fatty Acid
MCPs	Methyl Accepting Chemotaxis Proteins
MeOPN	O-methyl phosphoramidate
МНВА	Mueller Hinton Broth Agar
MLST	Multi Locus Sequence Typing
MPN	Most Probable Number
NK	Natural Killer Cell
PAMPs	Pattern Associated Molecular Patterns
РР	Payers Patch
PRRs	Pattern Recognition Receptors

RA	Reactive Arthritis	
rDNA	ribosomal DNA	
RNA	Ribonucleic Acid	
SCFA	Short Chain Fatty Acid	
SOD	Superoxide Dismutase	
STs	Sequence Types	
T3SS	Type-III-secretion System	
Tlps	Transducer-Like Proteins	
TLR	Toll Like Receptor	
TNF-α	Tumor Necrosis Factor Alpha	
VFA	Volatile Fatty Acids	
WHO	World Health Organisation	

Chapter 1: Introduction

The leading cause of human gastroenteritis is the Gram-negative bacterial genus *Campylobacter*. Poultry products present a public health risk as they are the primary reservoir for this bacterium and human consumption of contaminated poultry products is considered the number one cause of human infection (Suzuki and Yamamoto, 2009). To prevent human infection with *Campylobacter* it is vital that controlling the spread begins at the source and contamination during rearing and processing of poultry is reduced/prevented. Current biosecurity interventions are not effective at controlling *Campylobacter* (Lu et al., 2021) and therefore it is vital that an economically viable product is developed that successfully reduces *Campylobacter* load within chickens/on poultry products at retail sale to levels that do not present such a risk to human health.

This project investigates the potential of feed additives and probiotic additives to be used as chicken feed additives to control *Campylobacter* using *in-vitro* experimentation. The direct effects on *Campylobacter* growth, and indirect effects on epithelial cell invasion and avian cell immune response has been investigated.

This literature review summarises what is known to date about *Campylobacter* as a species, including virulence mechanisms, pathogenesis, and genomic variation. In addition, the avian and human gastrointestinal systems and immune defence mechanisms will be introduced. Current on-farm and production level *Campylobacter* targeted biosecurity measures will be discussed, and their efficacy assessed; finally, the products investigated within this study will be introduced and what is known about their mechanisms of action that lead to their selection for this study.

1.1 Campylobacter species

1.1.1 History and Discovery of *Campylobacter* spp.

In 1886, *Vibrio*-like organisms were observed by Theodor Escherich in the stool samples of infants suffering with intestinal symptoms now associated with *Campylobacter* infection, however at the time the disease was called 'cholera infantum' (Kist, 1986). In the early 1900s, *Vibrio*-like organisms were reported to cause bovine and ovine abortion (McFadyean & Stockman, 1913; Tresse et al., 2017) and these were subsequently classified as *Vibrio fetus* (Acheson & Allos, 2001; T. Smith & Taylor, 1919), and were later reclassified as *Campylobacter fetus* (Doyle, 1981). Jones, Orcutt and Little (1931)

reproduced the symptoms of winter dysentery in healthy cattle by inoculation with a pure culture of *Vibrio*-bacterium isolated from diseased cattle; it was observed that the first site to be infected within the intestinal tract was the jejunum, leading to the proposal of *Vibrio jejuni* in 1931 (Doyle, 1981). A third *Vibrio* organism was isolated microaerobically into pure culture by Doyle in 1944 and reported to cause swine dysentery; this species was classified as *Vibrio coli* (Andress & Barnum, 1968; Doyle, 1981). The first official report of human infection with *Vibrio* spp. was in 1947, *V. fetus* was present in two blood cultures from a pregnant woman with symptoms of influenza; a still born infant was delivered with a placenta infected with *V. fetus* (Doyle, 1981). These *Vibrio* species have since been reclassified as *Campylobacter* species based on differences from true vibrios in GC content (Peterson, 1994).

1.1.2 The Genus *Campylobacter*

The genus *Campylobacter* was first proposed in 1963 by Sebald and Veron, due to specific microaerobic growth conditions, morphology and DNA composition that deviated from "true" *Vibrio* species (O'Loughlin et al., 2015; Sebald & Veron, 1963; Silva et al., 2011). Dekeyser *et al.* (1972) were the first to isolate *Campylobacter* from human blood and stool samples, leading to the first reports of human gastroenteritis caused by *Campylobacter* spp. (Acheson & Allos, 2001; S. F. Park, 2002; Sheppard & Maiden, 2015; Snelling et al., 2005).

The family *Campylobacteraceae* is a highly diverse bacterial family formed of three genera: *Arcobacter*, *Sulfurospirillum* and *Campylobacter* (Lastovica et al., 2014; Robyn et al., 2015; Snelling et al., 2005). The genus *Campylobacter* currently has 32 species and nine subspecies of spiral, microaerophilic, Gram-negative, rod-shaped bacteria that are 0.2-3.5 µm long by 0.2-0.4 µm wide (Costa & Iraola, 2019; Hoepers et al., 2016; Robyn et al., 2015; Smibert, 1978). *Campylobacter* spp. are typically motile and show a characteristic corkscrew motility facilitated by a single (and sometimes multiple) flagellum(a), that is two to three times the length of the cell body and present at one or both ends of the bacterium (Hoepers et al., 2016; Smibert, 1978; Snelling et al., 2005). *C. jejuni, Campylobacter coli* (*C. coli*) and *Campylobacter lari* (*C. lari*) are thermotolerant species meaning they can grow at temperatures between 30 and 45°C, with an optimum growth temperature of 42 °C (Robyn et al., 2015).

1.1.3 Isolating and culturing *Campylobacter* spp.

Campylobacter spp. can be isolated from a range of sources, such as food, human faeces, the environment, and animal faeces by direct plating onto selective agar or by enrichment culture (Jennings et al., 2011; Kim et al., 2016). Obtaining a pure culture of *Campylobacter* spp. from mixed samples requires a microaerobic environment (5% O₂; 10% CO₂; 85% N₂) and temperature between 37-42°C due to the slow growing and fastidious nature of these bacteria (Gorkiewicz et al., 2003; Kim et al., 2016). These temperatures also replicate the internal conditions of the human and avian gastrointestinal tract encountered by *Campylobacter* (37 and 42 °C, respectively) (Bolzani et al., 1979; Cuevas-Ferrando et al., 2020).

Standard protocols for isolating and culturing *Campylobacter* spp. define optimum growth conditions for a microaerophilic bacterium as an atmosphere with low oxygen tension (5% O₂, 10% CO₂, 85% N₂) (Myintzaw et al., 2021; Robyn et al., 2015; Soto-Beltrán et al., 2022; Sukted et al., 2017). Optimal temperature for the growth of thermotolerant *Campylobacter* spp. (*C. jejuni*, *C. lari*, *C. coli* and *C. upsaliensis*) is between 37-42°C; incubating at higher temperatures in this range may prevent growth of unwanted microorganisms within the sample, and aid selection (Gharst et al., 2013; Soto-Beltrán et al., 2022). Other *Campylobacter* spp. (*C. hyointestinalis* and *C. fetus*) are described as non-thermotolerant and grow optimally at 37°C but are unable to grow at higher temperatures (Dehao Chen et al., 2021; Soto-Beltrán et al., 2022).

Typically, when recovering *Campylobacter* spp. from food or environmental samples, the first step is to use an enrichment culture, to enhance recovery from damaged bacterial cells or samples with low bacterial numbers (Soto-Beltrán et al., 2022; L K Williams et al., 2012). Enrichment culture works by resuscitating bacteria within the sample that have been exposed to stress and growth inhibitors (Soto-Beltrán et al., 2022). For *Campylobacter* isolation there are recommended enrichment culture methods including the use of Preston (Hayashi et al., 2013), Bolton (Baylis et al., 2000) and modified Exeter liquid media (Mattick, 2003; Soto-Beltrán et al., 2022). Williams *et al.* (2012) showed that the enrichment culture method used can bias the *Campylobacter* subtype recovered, therefore it is important to consider this when choosing an enrichment broth for selective recovery. In addition, the original sample should be considered when choosing enrichment broths (F. J. Bolton & Robertson, 1982). A final consideration

enrichment step is the promotion of unfavourable microflora in the sample, and so growth conditions should be optimised for the isolation of the specific *Campylobacter* species being targeted (Soto-Beltrán et al., 2022).

There are several types of selective plating media for the isolation of *Campylobacter* spp. Charcoal cefoperazone deoxycholate agar (CCDA) is the most common plating media for isolation from mixed samples including faeces; it consists of a basal medium modified with amphotericin B (anti-fungal) and cefoperazone (antimicrobial) (mCCDA) (Gharst et al., 2013; Soto-Beltrán et al., 2022) and often results in significantly higher yields of *Campylobacter* than alternative agars (Acke et al., 2009). Soto-Beltrán *et al.* (2022) highlight the use of synthetic chromogenic enzyme substrates for the identification of the targeted *Campylobacter* isolate based on enzymatic activity. To reduce the rate of detecting false positives in recovery from poultry, the addition of rifampicin is suitable (Soto-Beltrán et al., 2022). However, the addition of numerous antibiotics during isolation may result in selection of isolates that have antibiotic resistance, therefore biasing datasets (Y. Jo et al., 2017; Soto-Beltrán et al., 2022).

Standard protocols for qualitative isolation of *Campylobacter* spp. directly from a sample involves streaking the sample (which may, or may not, have been recovered in a selective enrichment broth) directly onto selective agar, and incubating at 37-42 °C under microaerobic conditions (5% O₂; 10% CO₂; 85% N₂) (Line *et al.*, 2001; Acke *et al.*, 2009; Sukted *et al.*, 2017). The further modification of mCCDA media with Polymyxin B has improved the isolation rate, with decreased growth of competing microflora and increased sensitivity to *Campylobacter* compared to regular CCDA (Jung-Whan Chon et al., 2012).

There are several distinguishing morphological traits that enable the identification of *Campylobacter* colonies on mCCDA, including grey colouring with a shiny appearance (Figure 1.1; Al-Edany, Khudor and Radhi, 2015). Blood agar plates are also used for culturing *Campylobacter* from frozen stocks or from a colony pick; Columbia blood agar (basal medium) supplemented with cefoperazone, and lysed horse blood are most widely used (Gharst et al., 2013). The major drawback of mCCDA is its very dark appearance which makes it difficult to count translucent *Campylobacter* colonies (LINE et al., 2001). Mueller Hinton Broth Agar (MHBA) and Campy-cefex agar were compared to mCCDA with regards to this characteristic and better facilitate the enumeration of *Campylobacter*,

specifically when quantifying directly from a sample (J.-W. Chon et al., 2012; Jung-Whan Chon et al., 2012; LINE et al., 2001).



Figure 1.1 Plating of *C. jejuni* on mCCDA yields shiny grey colonies (Al-Edany, Khudor and Radhi, 2015).

Incubation time for the successful isolation and culture of *Campylobacter* spp. varies between 24-48 hours and is dependent on the incubation temperature and how microaerobic conditions are generated. Williams *et al.* (2009) found incubation for 24-and 48-hour periods yielded successful isolation of *Campylobacter* spp. with little advantage of the longer time point.

1.1.4 Campylobacter Genomics and Phylogeny

Genetic analysis of *Campylobacter* isolates is fundamental to the study of campylobacteriosis, with molecular epidemiology being of particular importance (Sheppard et al., 2012). *Campylobacter* spp. has an unusually high rate of genetic recombination. Multi Locus Sequence Typing (MLST) analysis has shown that horizontal gene transfer in *Campylobacter* spp. occurs at a higher rate compared to *Escherichia coli* and *Salmonella Typhimurium*, which generates two times more genetic diversity than de novo mutations (Epping et al., 2021; D. John, 2018).

C. jejuni and *C. coli* are the two most clinically relevant species to humans. These two distinct species share an 86.5% nucleotide sequence similarity within their housekeeping genes and show evidence of genetic exchange (Bull et al., 2006; Epping et al., 2021; Sheppard et al., 2009). These species are predicted to have diverged into clusters of related lineages 6,580 years ago with divergence into distinct clades 400 years ago (*C. coli*) (Epping et al., 2021) (Figure 1.2).



Figure 1.2 Evolutionary divergence of *C. jejuni* and *C. coli* into two distinct species and further into three clades due to ecological niches. *C. coli* hybrid strains developed from recombination between clade I *C. coli* strains and *C. jejuni*. (Taken from: Epping, Antão & Semmler, 2021).

C. jejuni NCTC 11168 was the first strain to be genome sequenced in 2000 (Parkhill et al., 2000). The genome of this specific *C. jejuni* strain was shown to have a total of 1,642,481 base pairs (Parkhill et al., 2000). This development revolutionised technology for postgenomic investigations, which included, but was not limited to, the identification of colonisation factors that are specific to *C. jejuni* and revealed hypervariable regions which may serve a role in survival (Gaynor et al., 2004; D. John, 2018; Parkhill et al., 2000). To date, over 7,000 *Campylobacter* sequence types have been described (Skarp et al., 2016). MLST data has shown that large clonal complexes (CC) have clusters of closely related *Campylobacter* genotypes that can colonize a range of hosts (D. John, 2018). The CC are formed of sequence types (STs) that share alleles at one or more MLST loci of seven housekeeping genes (Colles et al., 2003; Dingle et al., 2002; Panzenhagen et al., 2021).

1.1.5 Campylobacter Species Diversity

Since its discovery, the number of confirmed species within the genus *Campylobacter* has risen to 32 species with nine subspecies that can be grouped into five distinct clades – *C. jejuni, C. coli, C. lari, C. concisus* and *C. fetus* groups (Figure 1.3; Costa and Iraola, 2019).



Figure 1.3 Phylogenetic tree of the genus *Campylobacter* with species divided into five distinct clades. Red tip labels correspond to species that are known to be pathogenic in humans/animals, blue tip labels correspond to non-pathogenic species (Costa & Iraola, 2019).

However, when investigating the literature, the number of reported species can vary (Chlebicz & Śliżewska, 2018). By 1988 the number of *Campylobacter* species, subspecies and proposed groups totalled 16 (Barrett et al., 1988; Butzler et al., 1973), this rose to 15 in 2002, 12 of which were pathogenic to humans (S. F. Park, 2002). The rapid increase in the number of confirmed species over the last 20 years is due to the revelation that species previously thought to be similar based on phenotypic properties, are genetically dissimilar (Gorkiewicz et al., 2003). Current knowledge of *Campylobacter* is based upon isolates taken from human disease, the agricultural environment, and the food

chain, therefore the number of species and subspecies recognised are not representative of the natural *Campylobacter* population that exists in all environments (Sheppard & Maiden, 2015).

1.2 Campylobacter and Disease

1.2.1 Campylobacteriosis

The collective term given for infectious, foodborne diseases caused by members of the *Campylobacter* genus is campylobacteriosis (Coker, 2002; Sarkar et al., 2014). Of the 32 named and validated *Campylobacter* species, *C. jejuni* and *C. coli* are the major causative agents of gastrointestinal infections within humans (Coker, 2002; Skarp et al., 2016). The disease campylobacteriosis, primarily caused by *C. jejuni* and *C. coli*, is increasing in prevalence across the world making it of major public health importance (Coker, 2002; Sarkar et al., 2014).

1.2.2 Campylobacter infection in humans

In 2020, the Foodborne Disease Burden Epidemiology Reference Group (FERG) within the World Health Organisation (WHO) estimated that globally there are 550 million cases of bacterial foodborne illness every year, with *Campylobacter* being one of the four major causes of gastrointestinal disease surpassing the number of cases caused by *E. coli*, *Listeria* and *Salmonella* spp. (Chlebicz & Śliżewska, 2018; Myintzaw et al., 2021; Sheppard & Maiden, 2015). The number of cases of campylobacteriosis worldwide can be difficult to estimate due to many cases going unreported, therefore the true incidence is unknown, specifically within developing countries (Ingrid Hansson et al., 2016; Myintzaw et al., 2021).

Human infection occurs primarily through handling and consumption of raw or undercooked poultry products contaminated with *Campylobacter*. However, ingestion of contaminated water or raw food products and direct contact with animals can also result in bacterial infection and colonisation of the human intestinal epithelium (Hoepers et al., 2016; S. F. Park, 2002; Sheppard & Maiden, 2015; Wagenaar et al., 2006). It has been estimated that up to 80% of campylobacteriosis cases have a foodborne origin, however there is a large variation in these estimates from different researchers (Mughini Gras et al., 2012; Whiley et al., 2013).

The infective dose of *C. jejuni* for the development of campylobacteriosis has been reported to be as low as 500 to 800 CFU (colony forming units) (Black et al., 1988; Robinson, 1981). However, Hara-Kudo and Takatori (2011) used a most probable number (MPN) method to calculate an infective dose of 360 CFU for this species (Kaakoush et al., 2015).

Human campylobacteriosis is rarely fatal in developed countries, however, it is rarely asymptomatic because humans are not a primary host for this bacterium (Sheppard & Maiden, 2015). Symptoms of this bacterial disease develop after an average incubation period of 24-72 hours but can take up to 5 days for symptoms to present (Hoepers et al., 2016; Horn & Lake, 2013; Sheppard & Maiden, 2015; Wagenaar et al., 2006). The clinical manifestation is highly diverse, ranging from a self-limiting and non-fatal gastrointestinal illness to death, however death primarily occurs in immunocompromised individuals (Ruiz-Palacios, 2007; Snelling et al., 2005; Teunis et al., 2018).

Approximately 10% of human campylobacteriosis cases are admitted to hospital, and post infection sequelae associated with certain serotypes of *C. jejuni* such as reactive arthritis and Guillain-Barre syndrome (GBS) presents in ~66% of hospitalised cases but other *Campylobacter*-related sequelae have associated risk/prevalence, these are outlined in Table 1.1 (Allos, 1997; Ruiz-Palacios, 2007; Sheppard & Maiden, 2015; Snelling et al., 2005; Strachan & Forbes, 2010; Trudy M. Wassenaar & Blaser, 1999).

Table 1.1 Sequalae associated with human campylobacteriosis and incidence rates/risk worldwide.

Sequelae	Incidence Rate(s)/Risk	Reference (s)

Reactive Arthritis (RA)	 5% of campylobacteriosis cases develop RA Lower incidence per 1000 cases than <i>Salmonella</i> and <i>Shigella</i> 	Pope <i>et al.</i> , 2007; Ajene, Walker & Black, 2013; Myintaw Jaiswal &
		Jaiswal, 2021
Guillain-Barre Syndrome (GBS)	 31,700 GBS cases per year worldwide 1 in 1000 cases of <i>C. jejuni</i> infection 	Allos, 1997; Whitley <i>et al.</i> , 2013; Mangen
	 develops GBS worldwide. Scandinavian countries; <10 GBS cases per 100,000 campylobacteriosis cases Spain and Poland; >100 GBS cases per 100,000 campylobacteriosis cases 	<i>et al.</i> , 2016; Myıntaw, Jaiswal & Jaiswal, 2021
Irritable Bowel Syndrome (IBS)	 1 in 14 (7.1%) subjects in a case study developed IBS after confirmed bacterial gastroenteritis – increased risk for females. Risk calculated of contracting IBS because of <i>Campylobacter</i> infection = 2.8 (95% CI 1.9-41) 	BMJ, 1997; Tam & O'Brien, 2016; O'Brien, 2017
Inflammatory Bowel Disease (IBD)	 Increased risk of IBD associated primarily with <i>C. concisus</i> and <i>C. showae</i> Three-fold increase in risk of IBD following <i>Campylobacter</i> infection IBD (first time diagnosis) reported in 107/13,148 <i>Campylobacter</i> exposed individuals (1.2%) 	Gradel <i>et al.</i> , 2009; O'Brien, 2017

In low- and middle-income countries, campylobacteriosis is a significant cause of morbidity and mortality in children under the age of 5 years (T. N. Clarke et al., 2021). However, it is hard to determine the epidemiology of human infection due to differences in the methodologies used to isolate *Campylobacter* spp. and cases that go unreported (Ingrid Hansson et al., 2016; Sheppard & Maiden, 2015). It has been estimated that for every reported case of campylobacteriosis, 9.3 cases are unreported (Sheerin et al., 2014).

1.2.3 Economic impact of human Campylobacter infection

Campylobacter imposes a significant burden on the economy (Table 1.2). There are high costs associated with personal loss to individuals suffering with acute campylobacteriosis and associated sequalae, death of individuals, a strain on the public health care sector, and a financial burden to the food industry (Roberts *et al.*, 2003; Hansson *et al.*, 2016; Devleesschauwer *et al.*, 2017; Myintzaw, Jaiswal and Jaiswal, 2021).

The global cost of illness due to *Campylobacter* is yet to be calculated. Lack of data in low- and middle-income countries and variation in data collection methods makes this task very difficult, therefore studies have focussed on estimating the cost of illness per country using mathematical models (Chlebicz & Śliżewska, 2018; Ingrid Hansson et al.,

2016; Heimesaat et al., 2021; Myintzaw et al., 2021). Most economic impact assessments on *Campylobacter* have been generated over the last 40 years within high income countries and focus on the cost of human illness and death to society (Table 1.2) (Devleesschauwer et al., 2017). The results of cost of illness (COI) models and cost analysis data from various high-income countries (Table 1.2) as both total cost to countries and cost per case; COI models enable health care and food industries to design strategies and policies to reduce the economic impact of a disease in a way that is economically viable (C. Jo, 2014).

Trends in COI are valuable for determining the urgency of intervention and the impact of interventions already put in place. Reduced-COI models can be formulated to show the potential impact of intervention strategies and to ensure that the reduction in COI outweighs the intervention cost.

Table 1.2 Economic burden of *Campylobacter* infection in high income countries – costs were converted to GBP using average conversion rates from 20-05-2022.

Country	Year	Total Annual Economic	Estimated	Reference(s)
		Burden of Campylobacter	cost per	
			case	
United	1993-	£70 million*		Roberts et al.,
Kingdom	1995			2003; Tam and
				O'Brien, 2016;
	1994-	£69.6 million*		O'Brien, 2017
	1995			
	2008-	£49.4 – £50.3 million*	£85	
	2009	£1.26 million**		
USA	2010	\$1,560 million (£1,273		Hoffmann, Batz
		million)		and Morris, 2012;
				Scharff, 2012;
	2011	\$1.7 billion (£1.4 billion)		Hoffmann,
				Maculloch and
		1.9 billion (£1.55 billion)		Batz, 2015;
	2013		\$2283	O'Brien, 2017
			(£1866)	
Netherlands	2011	€76 million (£65 million)	€706 (£601)	Mangen <i>et al.</i> ,
				2015; O'Brien,
				2017
Sweden	2012-	€54.5 million (£46.3	€979 (£834)	Sundström, 2018
	2016	million) average per year		
Belgium	Not	€27million (£23million)	n/a	Viaene, Gellynck
	specified			and Messens, 2007
Switzerland	2012-	€29-45 million (£25-38	€63-95	Schmutz et al.,
	2014	million)	(£54-81)	2016; O'Brien,
				2017

*Societal cost only – health service and patient costs

**Cost of Campylobacter-related GBS

There are multiple factors that contribute to the COI model development beyond the direct costs to the healthcare system (doctor consultations, hospitalisation, and rehabilitation, etc.). The COI also considers the direct non-healthcare costs such as patient travel costs, and the indirect non-healthcare costs such as loss of earnings and productivity losses (M. J. J. Mangen et al., 2004). It is important for accurate COI models that all illness related costs are included in model development. For example, the economic burden of *Campylobacter* related GBS totalled ± 1.26 million in 2008 (Table 1.2); research into COI model development reported that not including *Campylobacter* related sequalae resulted in high underestimations for the burden of *Campylobacter* infections (M.-J.J. Mangen et al., 2016).

Despite the differences between COI estimates due to study design, and the type of healthcare system within the country of interest, one thing is abundantly clear, *Campylobacter* infection poses a huge economic burden.

1.2.4 Campylobacter infection in chickens

Infection of broiler flocks with *Campylobacter* is usually detected at an age of 2-3 weeks (Conlan et al., 2007; Neill et al., 1984; Orhan Sahin et al., 2002b; Van Deun, Pasmans, Ducatelle, et al., 2008). During the first 2-3 weeks of life, *Campylobacter* load within the chick may be too low to be detected therefore giving the illusion of being "*Campylobacter* free" (Cox *et al.*, 2012). Newly hatched chicks are reported to be typically *Campylobacter* free because horizontal transmission (from environmental sources) is thought to be the primary route for initial infection and vertical transmission (egg-borne) is believed to be less likely (O. Sahin et al., 2003). However, egg-borne transmission does not have to be from hen to the chick (transovarian), fecal matter surrounding the egg can contaminate the shell properties and be ingested by the chick during hatching (Cox *et al.*, 2012).

Following initial infection, *Campylobacter* can spread rapidly through a broiler flock horizontally through faecal shedding and coprophagic behaviour (Conlan et al., 2007; Newell & Fearnley, 2003). *Campylobacter* colonises the lower gastrointestinal (GI) tract of the bird, predominantly the cecum and cloaca, however extra-intestinal spread of the bacterium leads to colonization of liver, muscle tissues, spleen and gall bladder (Orhan Sahin et al., 2002b). Infected individuals within a flock (typically the majority) remain colonised throughout until slaughter, with the result that the remaining birds are subject to cross-contamination at processing plants (Orhan Sahin et al., 2002b). This cross-contamination at processing is another route for the bacterium to spread to chicken products at retail level for consumer purchase.

In commercial chicken flocks there is a high prevalence of asymptomatic *Campylobacter* carriage reported, which led the scientific community to agree that *Campylobacter* existed commensally within chickens (W. A. Awad et al., 2015; Suzanne Humphrey et al., 2014; C. Pielsticker et al., 2012). Indeed, the immune response to colonisation of the GI tract by *Campylobacter* was previously believed to be tolerogenic. However, it is now known that there is a change to intestinal barrier function, and an initiation of inflammatory responses. In addition to this, systemic infections can be caused, and clinical

manifestations of the disease are documented (W. A. Awad et al., 2015; David Hermans et al., 2011b; Suzanne Humphrey et al., 2014; L. K. Williams et al., 2013).

It is now well documented that some strains of *Campylobacter* are pathogenic in chickens and affect bird welfare by reducing gut health (W. A. Awad et al., 2018; Suzanne Humphrey et al., 2014; T. Humphrey, 2006). *Campylobacter* interacts with the chicken gut epithelium in multiple ways to aid extra-intestinal spread, consequently damaging the gut (W. A. Awad et al., 2018). A crucial part of normal intestinal function is an intact epithelium, the surface area is made up of villi and crypts (W. A. Awad et al., 2018; Kovanda et al., 2019). When experimentally infected with *Campylobacter* spp., histomorphological changes within the chicken intestines have been reported (W. A. Awad et al., 2015). At 12 days post infection (dpi) Humphrey *et al.* (2014) documented villus thickening, shortening and fusion within the ileum, and at 14 dpi, Lamb-Rosteski *et al.* (2008) documented villus atrophy (W. A. Awad et al., 2018). The changes elicited by *Campylobacter* infection decrease the absorptive function within the small and large intestines, with a reduction in absorption of key nutrients (Na⁺, amino acids, glucose) (W. A. Awad et al., 2015, 2018).

Hock marks and pododermatitis (Figure 1.4) are well-documented problems within modern poultry breeds and are associated with poor quality litter and/or poor gut health and are a direct effect of *Campylobacter* on bird welfare (L. K. Williams et al., 2013). As previously mentioned, *Campylobacter* is a direct contributor to poor gut health leading to more frequent defecation which saturates the litter within the chicken house, leading to a high ammonia content that causes these physical symptoms by burning the legs and feet of the bird (Suzanne Humphrey et al., 2014).



Figure 1.4 Pododermatitis scoring scale for broiler chickens based on visual assessment. Score of 0 shows no pododermatitis and a score of 4 is for severe pododermatitis (Taken from Rushen, Butterworth & Swanson, 2011).

1.2.5 Economic burden of chicken infection

When *Campylobacter* is present within a flock there are added costs that are not immediately obvious, resulting in COI models being the primary method used to estimate the economic burden of foodborne disease (Devleesschauwer et al., 2017). *Campylobacter* poses a bacterial threat to the poultry industry covering all aspects of poultry processing from farm to fork (Umaraw et al., 2017).

Legislation within high income countries enforces safe handling and processing of poultry products to monitor and reduce *Campylobacter* prevalence at retail level to reduce the health burden this bacterium poses. In the UK and Europe there are requirements outlined in legislation (EC) 852/2004 that ensure production of food is safe and hygienic (FSA, 2021). Standard regulatory activities are therefore in place throughout the poultry processing chain to prevent *Campylobacter* outbreaks because of contamination of poultry meat at retail level (Devleesschauwer et al., 2017; W. Jacobs-Reitsma et al., 2014). These regulatory activities cost the industry through employing individuals to undertake testing activities and potential loss in product if a breach of protocol or risk of outbreak is identified. However, despite monitoring during processing, 89.1% of chicken products at retail level in the UK are reported to be contaminated with *Campylobacter* (J. Smith, 2013; Wong et al., 2007).

1.3 Pathogenesis of *Campylobacter*

Campylobacter relies on important virulence factors during its pathogenesis (Panzenhagen *et al.*, 2021) where the key steps involved include i) motility and chemotaxis; ii) adhesion; iii) invasion; iv) metabolic flexibility and v) serum resistance.

1.3.1 Motility of Campylobacter

Virulence factors for motility and chemotaxis (Table 1.3) are essential functions for *Campylobacter* survival within, and colonisation of the GI tract, in both human and avian hosts (D. J. Bolton, 2015). During infection *Campylobacter* reside predominantly within the mucus that lines the intestinal epithelium and must migrate to favourable environments for growth and invasion into other tissues (Dasti et al., 2010; Lertsethtakarn et al., 2011).

Virulence factor(s)	Encoding gene(s)	
Major flagellin protein	flaA	
Major flagellin protein	flaB	
Chemotaxis proteins	cheA, cheB, cheR, cheV, cheW & che Z	
Protein required for persistence in the cecum	acfB	

Table 1.3 Virulence factors and encoding genes involved in *Campylobacter* motility and chemotaxis (Bolton, 2015).

The flagella of *Campylobacter* spp. are organised into three distinct subunits – the basal body complex (components within the bacterial cell membrane), the hook, and the flagellar filament, for which approximately 25-30 proteins are required for structure (Figure 1.5) (Lertsethtakarn et al., 2011; Lopes et al., 2021). The filament is encoded for by two genes *flaA* and *flaB* (Table 1.3) and are expressed from independent promoters (van Vliet & Ketley, 2001; T. M. Wassenaar et al., 1993). Typically, there is higher expression of *flaA* than *flaB* and therefore the flagellum in motile strains is usually dominated by the flaA protein; however, motility is affected by mutational changes resulting in abnormal expression levels of *flaA* and *flaB* (Lertsethtakarn et al., 2011). Wassenaar *et al.*, (1994), found that flagella filament dominant in the flaB protein (*flaA flaB*+) resulted in immobile *Campylobacter* strains, both over and under expression of *flaB* hinders motility; highlighting the importance of flaB protein in motility, invasion, and pathogenesis (van Vliet & Ketley, 2001).



Figure 1.5 *Campylobacter* flagella structure showing major subunits and encoding genes (adapted from: Lertsethtakarn, Ottemann & Hendrixson, 2011; Lopes et al., 2021). Created in biorender.com

Chicken TLR5 (Toll like receptor) recognises and binds flagellin proteins and this initiates the immune response within the gut, however there are two glycosylation systems that can post-translationally modify flagellin, changing its structure and therefore enable evasion of host defences (Lopes et al., 2021; van Vliet & Ketley, 2001; Wigley, 2013).

Campylobacter colonisation and pathogenicity also depends on the ability to detect, respond to, and move along chemical gradients, this is known as chemotaxis (Victoria Korolik, 2019; van Vliet & Ketley, 2001). *Campylobacter* detects chemical ligands in the environment by chemosensory receptors (methyl accepting chemotaxis proteins – MCPs, also known as transducer-like proteins – Tlps) (Victoria Korolik, 2019; Lopes et al., 2021; van Vliet & Ketley, 2001). Tlps in *C. jejuni* have been classified into three groups, A, B and C, dependent on structural homology to other organisms (Victoria Korolik, 2019; Lopes et al., 2021; van Vliet & Ketley, 2001). Chandrashekhar *et al.* (2015) found that, in addition to their chemotaxis role, group B and C Tlps are important for invasion of both human and avian intestinal epithelial cells. Following extracellular stimulation of MCP/Tlps, a signal transduction cascade is initiated that results in flagellar movement either toward, or away from the chemical stimulus (Lopes et al., 2021). *C. jejuni* is chemotactically attracted to mucins, L-serine and L-fucose, however is repelled by bile acids (van Vliet & Ketley, 2001). By avoiding unfavourable environments and being able

to move directionally in response to external chemical ligands, *Campylobacter* spp. can survive within the GI tract.

1.3.2 Adhesion of Campylobacter to epithelial cells

Adhesion of *Campylobacter* to host epithelial cells is a prerequisite for successful colonisation, and is a multifactorial process mediated by several adhesins on the cells surface; adhesion to intestinal epithelial cells prevents clearance of *Campylobacter* from the gastrointestinal tract via mucosal shedding, peristalsis, and fluid flow (D. J. Bolton, 2015; Konkel et al., 2010; Lopes et al., 2021). Isolates of *C. jejuni* from symptomatic patients showed greater levels of adhesion to cells *in vitro* than isolates from asymptomatic individuals, showing the importance of this virulence mechanism in pathogenesis and disease development (Konkel et al., 2010). *In vitro* and *in vivo* studies have identified several key proteins and carbohydrates as key contributors to successful adherence of *Campylobacter* to host cells (Table 1.4) (Lugert et al., 2015).

Virulence factor(s)	Encoding gene(s)	
Campylobacter adhesion protein A	capA	
Phospholipase A	pldA	
Chaperone playing role in exporting proteins to outer membrane	peb4	
42-kDa lipoprotein, role in adhesion to Hep-2 cells	jlpA	
Campylobacter adhesion to fibronectin protein	cadF	
Fibronectin like protein A	flpA	
Major outer membrane protein	МОМР	

 Table 1.4 Virulence factors and encoding genes involved in Campylobacter adherence (Bolton, 2015).

Campylobacter adhesins are exposed on the bacterial cell surface and facilitate the binding to host cell receptors such as fibronectin (Fn) (Konkel et al., 2010), a structural glycoprotein of host extracellular matrix containing domains with bacterial binding sites (Konkel et al., 2010; Labat-Robert, 2012; Zheng et al., 2006a). CadF (encoded by the highly conserved *cadF* gene) is a *Campylobacter* surface exposed protein that also

facilitates binding to Fn (D. J. Bolton, 2015; Konkel et al., 2010; Lugert et al., 2015). Once CadF has bound to Fn a signalling process is triggered, leading to activation of Rho family GTPases, and results in *Campylobacter* cell internalisation (D. J. Bolton, 2015; Konkel et al., 2010; Lugert et al., 2015).

Fibronectin like protein A (FlpA) (encoded by the *flpA* gene) (Table 1.4) is another *Campylobacter* surface exposed protein which promotes attachment to host cells by attaching to Fn; it has been proposed the FlpA and CadF proteins work in conjunction with each other for maximum adherence and invasion of host epithelial cells (D. J. Bolton, 2015; Konkel et al., 2010; Lopes et al., 2021). An *in vivo* study by Larson *et al* (2013) showed that for *C. jejuni* to cause severe disease in germ-free mice the presence of the FlpA protein was necessary (Lopes et al., 2021).

CapA is a surface exposed autotransporter lipoprotein (Table 1.4) (D. J. Bolton, 2015; Lugert et al., 2015). For adhesion to human colon adenocarcinoma epithelial cells (CaCo-2; ECACC, Cat number 86010202), *Campylobacter* adhesion protein CapA (encoded by the *capA* gene) was shown to be an essential mediator (Lopes et al., 2021). In addition, mutations in the *capA* gene resulted in decreased adherence to chicken cells (Chicken LMH hepatocellular carcinoma cells - ATCC CRL-2117), unlike FlpA and CadF proteins, changes in the CapA protein did not alter the colonisation potential of *Campylobacter* (Flanagan et al., 2009; Rubinchik et al., 2012).

1.3.3 Invasion of epithelial cells by *Campylobacter*

An important mechanism that *Campylobacter* employs is its ability to successfully invade intestinal epithelial cells, consequently causing colon damage, perturbing the intestines absorptive capacity, and inducing diarrheal symptoms via loss of cellular function (Lugert et al., 2015; Trudy M. Wassenaar & Blaser, 1999; Wooldridge & Ketley, 1997). It is recognised that not all *Campylobacter* strains are capable of invading and that there is a strain-dependency regarding the degree of isolate invasiveness (D. J. Bolton, 2015; Lopes et al., 2021; Wooldridge & Ketley, 1997). Commonly used cell lines for *in-vitro* work with *Campylobacter* include human CaCo-2 which were used within this study. An avian intestinal epithelial cell line was also used (MM-CHiC clone: 8E11; Tentamedix GmbH; formerly Micromol, Germany) (D. John, 2018; Russell & Blake, 1994).

Successful cellular invasion requires previous participation of *Campylobacter* in adhesion, motility, chemotaxis, and cell surface macromolecule expression (D. J. Bolton,

2015; Lopes et al., 2021). To internalise bacteria, host cell signalling must be stimulated, and the host cell cytoskeleton must be rearranged (Biswas et al., 2003; Buelow et al., 2011). However, *Campylobacter* does not possess a type-III-secretion system (T3SS) like other enteropathogenic bacteria which directly injects effector proteins into the host cells (Christensen et al., 2009; Gabbert et al., 2023). Despite this, there is a component of the flagella that is a homologue to the T3SS which serves this purpose (Table 1.5) (D. J. Bolton, 2015; Lugert et al., 2015). The proteins delivered into the host cell cytoplasm via this homologue system are called the *Campylobacter* invasion antigens (Cia) (D. J. Bolton, 2015; Lopes et al., 2021). CiaB is considered of primary importance for effective cell entry, it exhibits homology to the molecules secreted by the T3SS in other enteropathogens.*In vitro* analysis has shown that *ciaB* mutant strains exhibit a marked reduction of invasive capabilities into INT-407 cells (Dasti *et al.*, 2010; Haddad *et al.*, 2010; Lopes *et al.*, 2021). Experimental investigation has shown that *ciaB* is not essential for *Campylobacter* invasion, however it is required for host cell internalisation of the bacterium (Haddad *et al.*, 2010).

Virulence factor(s)	Encoding gene(s)	
Components of flagellar export apparatus (T3SS)	lhA, flhB, fliQ, fliP, fliO & fliR	
73-kDa protein, involved in invasion	ciaB	
Protection against antimicrobial proteins	virK	
Role in apoptosis	fspA	
Intracellular survival	ciaI	
Iron acquisition	ceuE	

Table 1.5 Virulence factors and encoding genes involved in Campylobacter invasion (Bolton,2015)

Once within the host cell, *Campylobacter* multiply within *Campylobacter*-containing vacuoles (CCV) which they alter to avoid fusion with lysosomes by deviating from the canonical endocytic pathway (Buelow et al., 2011; Watson & Galán, 2008). Indeed, CiaI has been shown to aid survival within the CCV by preventing delivery of the CCV to lysosomes (Buelow et al., 2011; Lugert et al., 2015). Translocation of *Campylobacter* from intestinal lumen to within host cells requires microfilament reorganization and

microtubules in addition to endocytosis mechanisms (e.g., lipid rafts) (Lopes et al., 2021; Monteville et al., 2003). This multifactorial invasion process is still being extensively studied and evaluated experimentally, to gain a full understanding of the mechanisms that control invasion (Lopes et al., 2021).

1.3.4 Metabolic flexibility of *Campylobacter*

To successfully colonise and survive within numerous different hosts, and compete within the gut microbiota of varying compositions, *Campylobacter* must be able to acquire nutrients from the environment in sufficient amounts (Stahl et al., 2012). During pathogenesis, *Campylobacter* must survive a variety of different environments with varying nutrient availability. For instance, in water, which is nutrient poor, and in the chicken GI tract which is nutrient rich in free amino- and keto- acids, which is the preferential nutrient substrate for this pathogen (Bronowski et al., 2014; Hofreuter et al., 2008).

Campylobacter does not possess the glycolytic enzyme phosphofructokinase, therefore making it unable to source carbon from sugars (Bronowski et al., 2014; Hofreuter et al., 2008). Serine, aspartate, glutamate, and proline have been identified as the four preferential amino acid substrates for *Campylobacter*, however successful colonisation of the avian intestinal tract has been shown to specifically require L-serine catabolism (Hofreuter et al., 2008; Velayudhan et al., 2004). It is also suggested that *in vivo*, *C. jejuni* uses peptides as an amino acid source despite the mechanism of uptake being unknown (Rasmussen et al., 2013). When existing in water, which is generally nutrient poor, *C. jejuni* upregulates an immunogenic protein Cj0917, which is homologous to the *E. coli* protein CstA (carbon starvation protein A), and heavily involved in survival of starvation and peptide uptake (Rasmussen et al., 2013). The gene encoding protein Cj0917 (*cj0917*), is therefore, crucial for environmental survival and spread to host animals.

In addition to phosphofructokinase, *Campylobacter* lacks several enzymes that are essential within the glycolytic pathway, pentose phosphate pathway, and Entner-Doudoroff pathway that metabolise carbohydrates and are used by other enteropathogens, therefore *Campylobacter* is often described as assaccharolytic (Christine M. Szymanski & Gaynor, 2012). However, some strains of *C. jejuni* upregulate a gene operon (*cj0481-cj0490* in *C. jejuni* NCTC 11168) when in the presence of L-fucose, which can be used as a substrate for growth (Stahl et al., 2011; Christine M. Szymanski & Gaynor, 2012).
The carboxylation of pyruvate to oxaloacetate, and further into phosphoenolpyruvate is a key contributor to the generation of glucose from non-carbohydrate substrates (gluconeogenesis) (Mohammed et al., 2004; Velayudhan & Kelly, 2002). Mendz, Ball and Meek (1997) also demonstrated the role of pyruvate as an essential intermediate metabolite used by *Campylobacter* to form succinate (potentially utilising the pyruvate carbon skeleton), acetate, and formate via a mixed acid fermentation pathway.

In addition to metabolic flexibility with regards to nutrient availability, *Campylobacter* must also be able to survive varying oxygen levels (Bronowski et al., 2014). *Campylobacter* is a microaerobic bacterium, and exposure to oxygen within the host and the environment, can cause oxidative damage to protein, nucleic acid and membrane, leading to cell death (Atack & Kelly, 2009; Bronowski et al., 2014). *Campylobacter* can withstand oxidative stresses by employing defence mechanisms, namely superoxide dismutase (SOD) and catalase (Atack & Kelly, 2009; Bronowski et al., 2014). SOD is a metalloenzyme that protects from reactive oxygen derivatives by catalysing the conversion of oxygen radicals to hydrogen peroxide and dioxygen (Atack & Kelly, 2009; Purdy et al., 1999). Purdy *et al.* (1999) also demonstrated the importance of the *sodB* gene of *C. coli* in resistance to oxygen exposure when grown on model food products, indicating a crucial role in SOD production for survival on poultry products at retail sale, a main source of human campylobacteriosis.

C. jejuni possesses a single catalase enzyme (*KatA*) which removes H_2O_2 from cells, the upregulation of *KatA* is induced by H_2O_2 and O_2^- (Atack & Kelly, 2009). Grant & Park (1995) demonstrated the requirement for *C. coli* to possess the *katA* gene to survive reactive oxygen derivatives; however, pyruvate supplementation *in vitro* has been reported to reduce the need for catalase induction under oxidative stress and allow *Campylobacter* growth and proliferation in a fully aerobic atmosphere (Atack & Kelly, 2009). Whilst catalase and SOD are defence mechanisms for *Campylobacter* under oxidative stress, pyruvate availability in the environment has been demonstrated as a substrate that can enable *Campylobacter* to survive environmental conditions that expose the bacterium to both oxidative and nutritional stressors.

1.3.5 *Campylobacter* serum resistance

To successfully leave the gut and colonise edible tissues (termed extraintestinal spread), *Campylobacter* must first overcome complement-mediated bactericidal activity in

mammalian serum. Failure to overcome this first line of defence by the body confines the pathogen to the mucosal surface (Blaser et al., 1985, 1987). The complement system comprises over 30 proteins (within plasma and membrane bound) which play a vital role in the innate immune system (pathogen killing, clearance of apoptotic cells, immune complex clearance etc.). Complement is triggered by presence of either bacteria, bacterial products/surfaces or immune complexes which results in an enzymatic cascade (Ross, 1986; Shariat et al., 2021). Campylobacter that are isolated from faecal matter are typically serum sensitive, therefore are maintained within the GI tract. In contrast, isolates from systemic sites are typically serum resistant (Blaser et al., 1987). Guerry et al. (2000) showed that sialylation of the *Campylobacter* lipooligosaccharide (LOS) core contributes to increased resistance to the bactericidal effects of human serum, avoiding killing by complement mediated activity, which prolongs the presence of the bacteria within the host and increases the likelihood of systemic infection being established (Mortensen et al., 2009). Another capsular structure produced by Campylobacter to evade the bactericidal effects of host serum is the O-methyl phosphoramidate (MeOPN) expressed by the majority of C. jejuni isolates, and is a common element shared by several species of Campylobacter (van Alphen et al., 2014). However, whilst the MeOPN structure increases resistance to human serum, it results in a loss of invasion into human epithelial cells. Despite this, van Alphen et al. (2014) concluded that the MeOPN structure is beneficial overall to Campylobacter pathogenesis and virulence.

1.4 The Gastrointestinal Tract in Humans and Chickens

The digestive system is made up of multiple components, the primary ones being the GI tract and digestive accessory organs (salivary glands, liver, gall bladder, exocrine pancreas). The function of the digestive system is to ingest and digest food entering an animal and convert it into the energy and nutrients for use by the organism, and then expel the remaining waste product (Barboza et al., 2010; Ogobuiro et al., 2021; Reed & Wickham, 2009; Svihus, 2014). A second, but critical role of the digestive system is in immune surveillance via gut-associated lymphoid tissue (GALT) (Reed & Wickham, 2009). Bacterial, viral, and parasitic enteral antigens are sampled via inductive sites within the intestinal wall, and as a result an immune response is mounted (Bar-Shira et al., 2003; Mörbe et al., 2021).

Despite the major goal of the digestive system being similar for humans and chickens, the anatomical features of both systems have also evolved unique features (Figure 1.6). The human digestive system begins at the oral cavity where food is broken down through chewing and saliva. Oral digestive enzymes breakdown food, for example, amylase converts starch and glycogen into simple sugars, and lingual lipase which breaks down short chain fatty acids (Butterworth et al., 2011; Jolitz & Foster, Louis, 2011; Margit & Scow, 1973; Ogobuiro et al., 2021; Reed & Wickham, 2009). In comparison, chickens swallow food without any processing which enters the crop where it is stored and slowly moistens to aid digestion further down the digestive tract (Jolitz & Foster, Louis, 2011; Svihus, 2014).



Figure 1.6 Chicken and human digestive system components including GI tract and digestive accessory organs. Created with biorender.com

Food then enters the stomach which lies below the diaphragm (Figure 1.6). The stomach is a J-shaped organ that is split into three divisions (fundus, body and antrum), and expands to many times its volume allowing it to digest large volumes of food when given access by a lower oesophageal sphincter (Jolitz & Foster, Louis, 2011; Reed & Wickham, 2009). The human stomach chemically and mechanically begins to break down the partially digested food by mixing it with water and gastric juices. Pepsin and hydrochloric acid are released in the stomach which begins protein digestion. Additionally hydrochloric acid serves a bactericidal role and aids vitamin B12 absorption (Jolitz & Foster, Louis, 2011; Ogobuiro et al., 2021; Reed & Wickham, 2009). In comparison to the human stomach, chickens have two compartments that serve a similar function: the proventriculus and the gizzard (Figure 1.6). Upon entering the proventriculus, hydrochloric acid and pepsinogen (precursor to pepsin) are secreted prior to mixing with

food in the gizzard (sometimes referred to as the ventriculus) (Jolitz & Foster, Louis, 2011; Svihus, 2014). The gizzard also serves a purpose (like that of the human oral cavity), to grind feed material using the stones that are present throughout the strongly myelinated muscles and kolin layer (Jolitz & Foster, Louis, 2011; Svihus, 2014).

Both humans and chickens have a small intestine which is comprised of three segments: the duodenum, jejunum, and ileum (Jolitz & Foster, Louis, 2011; Ogobuiro et al., 2021; Reed & Wickham, 2009; Svihus, 2014). In both humans and chickens, the small intestine is where most of the nutrient absorption occurs. A combination of intestinal and pancreatic enzymes enters the duodenal loop and break down its contents which is held very briefly here before moving into the jejunum (Ogobuiro et al., 2021; Reed & Wickham, 2009; Svihus, 2014). The jejunum is the part of the small intestine where major nutrients (lipids, sugars, electrolytes, potassium) are digested and absorbed, and finally the ileum which serves primarily as a site of water and mineral absorption (Jackson & McLaughlin, 2009; Lema et al., 2020; Svihus, 2014; Walter & Ley, 2011).

Upon reaching the large intestine most nutrients have been absorbed. In humans, the large intestine consists of the appendix, colon, rectum, and anal canal (Ogobuiro et al., 2021; Reed & Wickham, 2009). Within the colon, bacterial fermentation occurs and faecal matter (food with water removed and nutrients absorbed) enters the rectum until it can be expelled as waste (Jolitz & Foster, Louis, 2011; Ogobuiro et al., 2021). In contrast, chickens have a pair of ceca which are located at the ileal-colonic junction which serves as a site of fatty acid formation and cellulose breakdown which contribute to energy metabolism (Jolitz & Foster, Louis, 2011; Svihus, 2014). Humans have separate orifices for digestive, urinary, and reproductive tracts, whereas the chicken digestive and reproductive tracts are joined at the vent (Jolitz & Foster, Louis, 2011).

The pH of the digestive system plays a vital role in the digestibility of nutrients and the ability of microorganisms to survive and contribute to overall host health. Within Ross 308 birds (commonly farmed broiler chicken breed), the pH of the digestive tract ranges between 3.5 to 6.6 (Mabelebele et al., 2013), in comparison, the intraluminal pH of the human digestive tract is less acidic and ranges from 5.7 to 7.4 (Fallingborg, 1999). The gizzard is the digestive organ with the lowest pH (3.5) in chickens, however the human caecum typically has the lowest pH value (5.7) in humans (Fallingborg, 1999; Mabelebele et al., 2013). Interestingly, in Ross 308 birds, the caeca display the highest pH value

throughout the entire digestive tract (7.4), whereas in humans the organ with the highest intraluminal pH (7.4) is the small intestine (Fallingborg, 1999; Mabelebele et al., 2013). In addition to relatively low pH throughout the avian digestive tract, the oxygen availability is minimal to none, with studies reporting strict anaerobic metabolism of microorganisms found within the GI tract of avian species (Dunkley et al., 2009). However, in humans, whilst the intestinal organs are predominantly anaerobic, there is evidence of both aerobic and microaerobic bacteria within these environments that regulate and maintain low oxygen availability (Albenberg et al., 2014).

1.4.1 Human gut microbiome

The human gut is a multifaceted ecosystem of microorganisms whose genes contribute significantly to metabolism, human health, and disease by adding non-host-encoded enzymatic proteins to the digestive tract (Cani, 2018; Heintz-Buschart & Wilmes, 2018; Kho & Lal, 2018). To reduce any competition between host and the approximately 40 trillion gut microbes, for dietary substrates, the digestion of food and absorption of nutrients occurs in the stomach and small intestine, separated from most gut microbes that occur further down the GI tract in the large intestine (Dave et al., 2012; Walter & Ley, 2011; Xu & Knight, 2015). Microbes within a microbiota are differentiated by their genes, which are collectively known as the microbiome (Dave et al., 2012; Mörbe et al., 2021; Siezen & Kleerebezem, 2011; Xu & Knight, 2015).

Analysis of the 16S ribosomal DNA (rDNA) has concluded that over 90% of the bacterial phylotypes that are present in healthy human intestinal microbiota are from one of three enterotypes: *Bacteroidetes, Firmicutes,* and *Actinobacteria* (Arumugam et al., 2011; Dave et al., 2012; Siezen & Kleerebezem, 2011; Xu & Knight, 2015). A healthy gut microbiota will have a unique and stable balance of the three enterotypes which synthesise vitamins, aid digestion of indigestible components, support the detoxification of bile acids and metabolite generation (Carding et al., 2015; Mörbe et al., 2021; Siezen & Kleerebezem, 2011).

The intestinal microbiota has been found to vary significantly between individuals, with no "normal" human gut microbiota defined. This is due to multiple intrinsic and extrinsic factors including diet, age and even nationality (Figure 1.7) (Dave et al., 2012; Schmidt 2018). microbiome et al., However, the human project (HMP https://www.hmpdacc.org/), and other research has led to the identification of key microbes within the gut microbiota responsible for providing key benefits to human health. In contrast, an imbalance (dysbiosis) of the three bacterial enterotypes may lead to pathogenesis of the intestines and there is an association with extra-intestinal disorders (Carding et al., 2015; Mörbe et al., 2021; Xu & Knight, 2015).



Figure 1.7 Factors affecting the composition of human microbiome (image taken from: Schmidt, Raes & Bork, 2018).

1.4.2 Human gut immunity

The immune system must be in a constant but delicate balance whereby it is able to expel and eliminate pathogenic microbes while avoiding autoimmunity (Kosiewicz et al., 2011; Wu & Wu, 2012). The human (and mammalian) intestinal tract is an important immune organ and must work in conjunction with the immune system to protect the host (Carding et al., 2015; Cheng et al., 2020; Vijay-Kumar et al., 2014; Wu & Wu, 2012). The intestinal epithelium is a single layer of cells that acts as a physical barrier between the gut lumen where harmful pathogens and microbes may exist (Allaire et al., 2019; Zhang et al., 2015). Throughout the gastrointestinal tract there is a variation in the intestinal structure and composition of cells (both of non-hemopoietic and hemopoietic origin), specifically between the small to large intestine and this is due to their functional differences (Allaire et al., 2019; Vijay-Kumar et al., 2014). Homeostasis of the intestine requires balanced and efficient interactions between commensal microbes, intestinal epithelial cells (IECs), and immune cells within the gut mucosa (Muniz et al., 2012). In addition to the single cell layer, a 200 µm thick mucosal layer is present in humans which acts as a source of nutrients for commensal microbes, it is continually shed into the gut lumen which limits the number of pathogenic microbes reaching the epithelial cell layer (Zhang et al., 2015). The main component of this lubricating and trapping barrier are glycoproteins called mucins which have a direct role in the coordination of immune responses to infection; deficiency of these molecules (specifically lack of MUC2) leads to gut inflammation (Vijay-Kumar et al., 2014).

Cells that line the human small and large intestines are referred to as IECs, of which the majority are enterocytes which serve an absorptive function and support transport of nutrients, electrolytes, and water (Vijay-Kumar et al., 2014; Wu & Wu, 2012). Between enterocytes there are several junctional protein structures (tight junctions, adherens junctions and desmosomes) which provide stability, regulate integrity of the barrier and control paracellular permeability (Kho & Lal, 2018; Vijay-Kumar et al., 2014). If disruption to these junctional proteins occur then there is increased permeability to microbes within the gut lumen, which leads to immune responses that can result in intestinal inflammation (Kho & Lal, 2018).

There are a range of IEC subtypes that have other key functions involved in immune surveillance and protection from pathogens beyond those attributed to their structural role (Al-Banna et al., 2018). Some subtypes of IECs can secrete antimicrobial peptides

(AMPs), cytokines and chemokines (Muniz et al., 2012; Wu & Wu, 2012). AMPs are also known as host defence peptides, and within the intestinal tract include bioactive molecules such as defensins, cathelicidin, regenerating proteins and lysozymes which function as effector molecules within the innate immune system and are usually located on the IEC surface (Gong et al., 2021; Gubatan et al., 2021; Muniz et al., 2012). AMPs can destroy microbial cells by disrupting the integrity of the cell membrane, and inhibiting DNA, RNA, and protein synthesis, by electrostatically or hydrophobically interacting with intracellular targets (Gong et al., 2021). Chemokines are chemoattractant cytokines that are secreted by IECs and stimulated in response to IECs interaction with components in most Gram-negative bacteria, for example peptidoglycan of Campylobacter (Al-Banna et al., 2018; Hughes & Nibbs, 2018). This group of molecules stimulate the migration of antigen-presenting cells (APCs) such as monocytes, dendritic cells, and lymphocytes and induce cell movement by chemotaxis, to control recruitment of populations of innate and adaptive immune cells within the intestinal mucosa (Hughes & Nibbs, 2018; Oldham, n.d.; Vijay-Kumar et al., 2014). Cytokine production and response by IECs is critical for innate immune responses and regulating immune function within the gut (Table 1.6) (Onyiah & Colgan, 2016).

(•
Regulatory cytokine	Function
Tumor necrosis factor (TNF-α)	Pro-inflammatory, barrier function
Interferon gamma (IFNγ)	Antigen presentation, pro-inflammatory,

barrier function

Barrier

inflammatory

Pro-inflammatory, Leukocyte recruitment

homeostasis,

pro-

function,

Table 1.6 Regulatory cytokines that interact with IECs and their relative immune functions (adapted from Onyiah & Colgan, 2016).

1.4.3 Chicken gut microbiome

IL-8

IL-10

The microbial community within the chicken gut is vital for absorption of nutrients, immunity, and resistance to disease causing pathogens and therefore has a direct relationship with animal productivity (Diaz Carrasco et al., 2019; Kogut et al., 2020; Shang et al., 2018). The development of the avian intestinal epithelium, which forms a

physical barrier to pathogens, is strongly influenced by the structure of the intestinal microbiota (Diaz Carrasco et al., 2019).

In contrast to mammalian species where gut microbiota (and other microbial communities) are transmitted from mother to infant via the placenta, uterus, and vagina, in avian species this process is isolated from the mother and initial colonization is largely influenced by the environment (Diaz Carrasco et al., 2019; Ding et al., 2017). Prior to hatching, microorganisms may pass through pores of the eggshell, and post-hatching is when newly hatched chicks acquire most of their intestinal microbiota (Diaz Carrasco et al., 2019; Rychlik, 2020). High demand for poultry products has led to modern-day intensive production of birds which has dramatically changed the living environment in comparison to their wild bird ancestors (Rychlik, 2020). Modern-day birds are hatched and raised in facilities that adhere to strict hygiene practices to avoid colonisation with pathogenic bacteria, resulting in acquisition of gut microbiota from an artificial environment, rather than through an organic environment like that of the red jungle fowl from which broiler chickens were domesticized (Diaz Carrasco et al., 2019; Ding et al., 2017; Kubasova et al., 2019; Oakley et al., 2014). While this sterile environment may reduce the likelihood of colonisation with pathogenic microorganisms and therefore reduce risk to the public from contaminated poultry products, newly hatched chicks fail to benefit from microbiota from a maternal source due to eggs being removed and artificially incubated instead of within a nest and in intimate contact with the mother for 21 days (Ding et al., 2017; Kubasova et al., 2019; Rychlik, 2020).

The definition of a core microbiota for the chicken gut must be defined from adult chickens, due to the microbiota within newly hatched and young chickens being highly variable (Rychlik, 2020; Shang et al., 2018). In the first week of life, the caecum of commercial chicks is firstly colonised by *Enterobacteriaceae*, followed by Firmucutes such as *Lachnospiraceae* and *Ruminococcaceae* between 7 to 14 days This colonisation is primarily from contact with microorganisms within the hatchery environment, food, and water (Diaz Carrasco et al., 2019; Kubasova et al., 2019). As the bird grows, species richness and complexity of the gut microbiota increases in the caecum and colon. In other areas of the GI tract lower concentrations of bacteria may be found due to more extreme pH or dilution with bile (Diaz Carrasco et al., 2019; Oakley et al., 2014; Rychlik, 2020; Shang et al., 2018).

In healthy, adult chickens 95% of the gastrointestinal microbiota is represented by two phyla, *Firmicutes* and *Bacteroidetes*, the remaining 5% is primarily *Proteobacteria* and *Actinobacteria*, with a combination of minority phyla such as *Fusobacteria* and *Synergistetes* which are common but poorly represented numerically (Ding et al., 2017; Kubasova et al., 2019; Rychlik, 2020).

The microbiota, while influencing the development of the intestinal structures, also directly forms a protective barrier against colonization by pathogenic bacteria through attaching to enterocyte epithelial walls resulting in a competitive exclusion of potential pathogens (Shang et al., 2018). Vitamins, short chain fatty acids (SCFAs) and other exogenous molecules are produced by the gut microbiota and contribute to animal nutrition and health (Oakley et al., 2014; Shang et al., 2018).

1.4.4 Chicken gut immunity

The chicken intestinal tract is an active organ that plays a significant role in immune homeostasis in response to microbiological, physiological, and physical exposures. The intestine can differentiate immune responses to invading pathogens, whilst tolerating self-antigens (Kogut et al., 2020). The mucosa-associated lymphoid tissues (MALT) acts as a first line of defence on mucosal surfaces throughout the whole gastrointestinal tract of chickens (and mammals) (Casteleyn et al., 2010; Lillehoj & Trout, 1994). The intestine specific MALT is the gut associated lymphoid tissue (GALT) which includes lymphoid structures including caecal tonsils (CT), bursa of Fabricius (BF), lymphoid cells within the lamina propria and Peyer's patch (PP) (Figure 1.8) (Casteleyn et al., 2010; Lillehoj & Trout, 1994; A. L. Smith et al., 2014). The GALT comprises more immune cells than any other tissue and is a site for a large amount of cellular traffic between immune structures and infection sites, in addition the structures within the GALT assist in the induction of immune responses (A. L. Smith et al., 2014).

Chickens do not possess highly structured lymph nodes like those seen in the mammalian immune system, instead they have lymphoid aggregates that line the gut and sample the lumen contents delivering it to macrophages and dendritic cells (A. L. Smith et al., 2014). The most studied structures of the avian GALT are the CT, which are a cluster of aggregated lymphoid tissue, forming nodules located near the ileocolonic junction (Casteleyn et al., 2010; Clench & Mathias, 1995; Lillehoj & Trout, 1994; A. L. Smith et al., 2014). The CT appear in the late embryonic stage of development, but do not fully develop until after hatching when B and T lymphocytes are formed in germinal centres (Casteleyn et al., 2010). In addition, plasma cells are present which secrete surface immunoglobulins M, Y and A which are crucial for protection from pathogens, and preliminary stages of the immune response (Lillehoj & Trout, 1994).



Figure 1.8 Schematic diagram of the chicken intestinal tract highlighting the GALT locations: 1, pharyngeal tonsil; 2 and 2', lymphoid tissue in oesophagus; 3, oesophageal tonsil; 4, lymphoid tissue of proventriculus; 5, pyloric tonsil; 6, Peyer's patch; 7, vitelline diverticulum; 8, caecal tonsils; 8', lymphoid tissue within caecum; 8'', lymphoid tissue in rectum; 9, bursa of Fabricius; 10, lymphoid tissue in proctodeum. (Taken from Casteleyn et al., 2010).

There are up to six PPs located within the chicken jejunum and may be referred to as intestinal tonsils. They consist of 40% B lymphocytes, 40% T regulatory cells, 5-9% macrophages, and minority cells such as dendritic and phagocytic cells (Casteleyn et al., 2010; Lillehoj & Trout, 1994). They function as an inductive site for IgA responses to

pathogenic microbes, for example differentiation of T regulatory cells within PP is driven by microbiota antigens carried by dendritic cells, that triggers IgA- producing B plasma cells to differentiate and increase secretion of IgA (Kogut et al., 2020).

The gut immune system is comprised of three layers, all of which are contained within the GALT; barrier, innate and adaptive immunity (Yoo et al., 2020). Similarly, to mammals, IECs constitute a physical barrier to invading microbes (both pathogenic and commensal in nature) and secrete mucins that may be used by the host microbiota to inhibit unfavourable bacteria from reaching the underlying lamina propria (Abreu, 2010; Brisbin et al., 2008). In addition, mucus can trap invading bacterial pathogens and facilitates removal via luminal flow (Broom & Kogut, 2018). Chicken mucus, when compared to human mucus, was shown to decrease *C. jejuni* virulence *in vitro*; potentially owing to the differences in chicken mucin structure, glycosylation, and charge in comparison to human mucus (Brisbin et al., 2008; Byrne et al., 2007). Tight junctions between intestinal epithelial cells also play a role in barrier function, limiting the nutrients, minerals and microbes that can pass transcellularly into the blood stream (Wigley, 2013).

There are a range of AMPs that have an immunomodulatory role within the chicken gut and are secreted by Paneth cells (Abreu, 2010; Brisbin et al., 2008; Diaz Carrasco et al., 2019; Y. Hong et al., 2020). β -defensins are a sub-family of highly conserved AMPs that are expressed in the gut during infection. They are released in response to LPS detection by avian TLR-4 and cause bacterial cell lysis by permeabilization of the cell membrane (Diaz Carrasco et al., 2019; Wigley, 2013). Higher levels of defensin expression are also seen in birds with higher levels of intestinal inflammation; Avian β -defensin 8 (AvBD8), for example, has been shown to not only exhibit direct anti-microbial effects but stimulate expression of pro-inflammatory cytokines such as IL-1 β , and IFN γ (Y. Hong et al., 2020; Wigley, 2013).

Pattern recognition receptors (PRRs) present on epithelial cells and immune cells of the lamina propria recognise pathogen-associated-molecular-patterns (PAMPs). More importantly TLRs are a class of PRR crucial for the initiation of the innate immune response due to their role in recognising PAMPs (Abreu, 2010; Jiao et al., 2019; Kogut et al., 2020). This interaction with host PRRs triggers cellular defence mechanisms including cytokine secretion, immune cell recruitment, and direct anti-microbial

mechanisms which are an important aspect of innate immunity (Kogut et al., 2020). Birds have 10 known TLRs and recognise specific components of a pathogen, for example, TLR-4 binds LPS (lipopolysaccharide) and TLR-5 recognises flagellin, however *Campylobacter* can evade this via glycosylation of its flagella (Wigley, 2013).

Intra-epithelial lymphocytes (IEL) are highly specialised and can be found within the lamina propria and represent components of the adaptive immune response (Beal et al., 2006). The major subsets of these cells include natural killer (NK) and T cells with varying forms of the T cell receptor ($\gamma\delta$ or $\alpha\beta$), followed by a smaller subset of B cells the proportions of these cells within the epithelium vary dependent on bird age, genetics, and environmental factors (A. L. Smith et al., 2014). These cells function by producing cytokines, interferons, inducing cytotoxic reactions, and immunoregulation (A. L. Smith et al., 2014). The first evidence for functional differences in lymphocyte populations was demonstrated within the chicken model, showing that B cells are derived from the bursa of Fabricus, and T cells develop in the thymus (Beal et al., 2006). Avian T cells, when activated via T cell receptor (TCR), can destroy target cells via cytotoxic effects (cytotoxic T cells) and can assist B cells to differentiate (helper T cells) (Sharma & Tizard, 1984). B cells are activated by specific antigens, sometimes with assistance from CD4⁺ cells; activated B cells differentiate into plasma cells which secrete antibodies (IgM, IgG/IgY or IgA), and repeat exposure to the same specific antigen induces class switching of antibodies.

There are three classes of chicken antibodies that have been characterised (IgM, IgY/IgG and IgA) (Carlander et al., 1999). Initial challenge by pathogenic bacteria stimulates B cells to produce IgM which is a B cell surface expressed antibody; IgY (homologue of human IgG) is mainly active during prolonged infections, class switching of IgM to IgY is initiated after extended exposure to a specific antigen (Beal et al., 2006). IgA is predominantly expressed by plasma cells, after B cells differentiation, within the intestines, it inhibits adhesion to epithelial cells and neutralises toxins (Beal et al., 2006; Curran, n.d.).

1.5 Limiting Campylobacter within Chickens

The chicken reservoir is responsible for between 50% to 80% of human *Campylobacter*iosis according to the European Food Standards Agency (EFSA) in 2008 (Koutsoumanis et al., 2020). Therefore, reducing or eliminating *Campylobacter* spp.

within broiler chicken flocks is essential for controlling the number of human Campylobacteriosis cases (Lin, 2009). Quantitative risk assessments have been conducted for targeting *Campylobacter* counts with varying results. A 2-log reduction in *Campylobacter* on the broiler chicken carcass could reduce the number of human Campylobacteriosis cases 30 times and reducing the number of caecal *Campylobacter* levels by 3-log has the potential to reduce the public health risk by 90% (Koutsoumanis et al., 2020; Rosenquist et al., 2003).

It is still largely unknown how *Campylobacter* initially infects chickens. However, it is understood that transmission is likely a combination of environmental sources, introduced by nearby livestock or due to poor biosecurity. There are also reports of vertical transmission from laying hens to chicks (Orhan Sahin et al., 2002b). Once infected, however, the bacterium spreads rapidly through flocks via horizontal transmission (Sibanda et al., 2018). There are multiple strategies employed throughout the supply chain to reduce the public health risk from *Campylobacter* (Sibanda et al., 2018). Within poultry farms the aim is to prevent *Campylobacter* entering houses, resulting in more negative flocks. Biosecurity measures such as overshoe use, vehicle disinfection, and rodent/insect control, are employed by poultry farms to reduce environmental exposure (Lin, 2009; Meunier et al., 2016b). In addition, commercial competitive exclusion cultures (such as Broilact) have shown to reduce *Campylobacter* load in the chicken gut (Lin, 2009; Schneitz & Hakkinen, 2016; Szott et al., 2022). There are also novel interventions that have been investigated and are being directed toward on-farm usage including antimicrobials such as bacteriophages, bacteriocins (Lin, 2009) and feed additives (Connerton et al., 2011; David Hermans et al., 2011b). Despite multiple strategies in place to limit the spread of *Campylobacter* within flocks there is not a fully effective, reliable strategy that is both economically and practically viable (Guyard-Nicodème et al., 2017).

1.5.1 Reducing Environmental *Campylobacter* Exposure in Chickens (Biosecurity)

Natural infection of commercial broiler flocks with *Campylobacter* is age dependent. Typically, birds are *Campylobacter* free until 2-3 weeks of age. However, infection can be detected as early as 10 days old (Newell & Fearnley, 2003). The period whereby newly hatched chicks may be infected, but load is undetectable is known as the lag phase; the cause of the lag phase is unclear and is seen in both commercial and free-range flocks (Newell, 2001). At primary production there are several individual biosecurity practices that have been named by the European Food Standards Agency (EFSA) to limit the entry of *Campylobacter* into broiler houses and have been described as the only effective intervention if adhered to strictly (Facciolà, Avventuroso, et al., 2017; I Hansson et al., 2010; Koutsoumanis et al., 2020).

Minimising the footfall and number of staff entering any one specific house is a vital step that should be taken to reduce the risk of flock contamination (Koutsoumanis et al., 2020; Refrégier-Petton et al., 2001). Refrégier-Petton *et al.*, (2001) compared flock infection when tended by one or two members of staff and demonstrated that the number of *Campylobacter* positive flocks on-farm could be reduced by up to 15.8% when only one staff member was allowed entry to the house. In addition to movement between houses on the same farm, movement between multiple farms has also shown to be a key risk factor for *Campylobacter* exposure (Koutsoumanis et al., 2020; Lyngstad et al., 2008). Employment of animal caretakers from agencies should be avoided as this significantly increases the likelihood of flock infection via cross contamination (Lyngstad et al., 2008).

The term 'hygiene barrier' refers to a process that prevents bacterial contamination of an end-product with an infective dose capable of causing disease to consumers (SFHT, 2009). With regards to pathways into the broiler house which may be exploited by *Campylobacter* there are several hygiene barriers that have been identified.

Hygienic anterooms are common in European poultry farms, and these are located between the house door and the entrance to the broiler house (Koutsoumanis et al., 2020). The purpose of the anteroom is to set a clear, physical boundary between contaminated and clean area (closest to the birds) (Figure 1.9) (Soon & Baines, 2013). There is a



Figure 1.9 Schematic of hygienic anteroom in broiler houses

dedicated changing zone within the anteroom to provide an area for staff to change into footwear and overalls dedicated to that house (Sibanda et al., 2018); not only are there a separate set of boots and overalls for each house but there should be a basin for handwashing and a footbath for disinfection of boots when entering and leaving the anteroom and house (Hermans *et al.*, 2011).

A study in the Netherlands investigated the effect of these parameters on reducing *Campylobacter* prevalence in 23 flock's broiler farms (Table 1.7) and found that the use of designated boots and handwashing prior to entering the house significantly decreased the risk of a flock becoming infected (P < 0.05) (Van de Giessen *et al.*, 1996). In this study, boot disinfection did not reduce the overall risk of flock infection, however, boot dips have been shown to significantly increase the time taken for a flock to become infected (Evans & Sayers, 2000).

Table 1.7 Analysis of biosecurity practices across farms in the Netherlands in their efficacy of reducing the risk of flock infection with *Campylobacter* (Van de Giessen et al., 1996).

Biosecurity Practice	Number of positive	Number of negative	P value
	flocks (%)	flocks (%)	
Changing into house	10/23 (43.5)	12/15 (80.0)	0.032
specific boots			
Hand washing prior	5/23 (21.7)	9/15 (60.0)	0.021
to entering the flock			
Footbath disinfection	14/25 (56.0)	12/15 (80.0)	0.132
prior to entering the			
flock			

Due to the highly specific growth requirements of *Campylobacter*, abiotic sources of infection within the poultry house itself (house litter, water, food) pose a considerable risk (Newell *et al.*, 2011). After a house has been cleared of the previous flock the immediate external area is cleaned and disinfected and this includes the food and water distribution equipment, to reduce the risk of a *Campylobacter* cross contamination (Damjanova *et al.*, 2011; Koutsoumanis *et al.*, 2020). Cardinale *et al.* (2004) studied the effect of various cleaning and disinfection practices on *Campylobacter* infection being carried over into a subsequent flock (Table 1.8). They showed that the area surrounding a poultry house, when poorly maintained with regards to cleanliness, correlated with an increased risk of carry-over infection (Cardinale *et al.*, 2004). This contrasts to reports in a review by Newell *et al.* (2011) where the thoroughness of cleaning and disinfection did not correlate with infection.

Cleaning and Disinfection	Positive flocks (%)	Negative flocks (%)
Practice		
Downtime <15 days	52.9	21.4
Downtime >15 days	1.4	15.7
Cleaning	35.7	32.9
No cleaning	27.1	4.3
Detergent used for cleaning	32.9	25.7
Detergent not used for	30.0	11.4
cleaning		
Disinfection	30.0	27.1
No disinfection	32.9	10.0
Second disinfection	15.7	18.6
No second disinfection	47.1	18.6
Poultry house surroundings	14.3	22.9
cleaned and disinfected		
Poultry house surroundings	48.9	14.3
not cleaned and disinfected		
Poultry house surroundings	21.4	22.9
clean		
Poultry house surroundings	41.4	14.3
dirty		

Table 1.8 Effect of different cleaning and disinfection practices prior to placement of broiler flocks across broiler farms in Sengal (Cardinale et al., 2004).

The time between flock clearing and placement of chicks is referred to as downtime and has been reported to range from between three days to two weeks (Newell *et al.*, 2011; Koutsoumanis *et al.*, 2020). Studies focusing on a correlation between length of downtime and risk of *Campylobacter* infection provide conflicting data (Table 1.9).

Table 1.9 Summary of studies researching length of downtime between clearing and placing of chicks, and the percentage of positive flocks.

Length of downtime	Percentage positive (%)	P value	Reference
\leq 21 days	44		Berndtson et al.
> 21 days	25	0.022	1996
1 – 7 days	51.2		
8 – 14 days	54.4	< 0.001	Georgiev et al. 2017
15 – 21 days	48.3		-
22 - 47 days	72.9		

1.5.2 Use of antibiotics therapies for *Campylobacter* reduction in

chickens

The discovery of natural and synthetic antibiotics led to success in the reduction of bacterial infections and in addition increased feed efficiency in broiler production (Mehdi

& Godbout, 2018). Antibiotic use varies considerably between country due to animal husbandry legislation, economic variables, and level of development (Roth *et al.*, 2019). In France, intensively farmed poultry flocks are routinely treated with polymyxins, penicillins and tetracyclines, however in Canadian broiler production, tetracyclines dominate the class of antibiotic administered (Mehdi & Godbout, 2018; Roth *et al.*, 2019). Antibiotic-based growth promoters (AGPs) have been used in the UK and are still being used in the rest of the world to increase weight gain and improve feed conversion within broilers in addition to their antimicrobial therapeutic effect (Agyare *et al.*, 2018; Cardinal *et al.*, 2019). AGPs (Table 1.10) were legal for use (up until 2006) by the European Commission, (EC) however antibiotic resistance led to their withdrawal from animal production.

AGP	Banned by EC since	Antibiotic Group
Bacitracin	1999	Cyclic Peptide
Monensin	2006	Ionophore
Virginiamycin	1999	Streptogramin
Tylosin	1999	Macrolide
Spiramycin	1999	Macrolide
Avoparcin	1997	Glycopeptide
Olaquindox	1999	Qunioxaline

Table 1.10 AGPs banned for use within the EC (Cardinal et al., 2019)

While antibiotics have been effective at limiting intestinal pathogens, they can have detrimental effects on the intestinal microbiota and thus also negatively affect host defence. In addition, antibiotic resistance is becoming increasingly prevalent amongst *Campylobacter* isolates from both chicken and human sources (Price *et al.*, 2005; Hughes, Hermans, & Morgan, 2008; Luangtongkum *et al.*, 2010; Agyare *et al.*, 2018; Roth *et al.*, 2019).

Antibiotic resistant strains of *Campylobacter* in both human, environmental and poultry isolates has led to the ban of several commonly used antibiotics (avoparcin, virginiamycin, bacitracin zinc, tylosin phosphate, and spiromycin) in 1999 (Table 1.10) for use in animal production. By 2006 the European Commission banned the remaining AGPs to reduce the chance of antimicrobial resistance developing and transmitting these bacterial strains to humans (Hughes, Hermans, & Morgan, 2008).

1.5.3 Use of alternative therapies for *Campylobacter* reduction in chickens

There are numerous natural antimicrobial agents that can substitute for antibiotic use, the first of which are bacteriocins (Riley, 1998; Joerger, 2003; Mehdi & Godbout, 2018; Dai et al., 2020). Bacteriocins are small, antagonistic peptides that are ribosomally synthesised by bacteria and probiotics, and function by disrupting the bacterial membrane of target cells, thus killing other bacterial cells (Dai et al., 2020; El-Hack et al., 2021). At least one bacteriocin is produced by at least 30% of bacterial species, with many being produced by commensal bacteria of the intestines and function as innate defence mechanisms (Riley, 1998; Dai et al., 2020). Addition of bacteriocins to broiler feed prior to slaughter has been experimentally effective in reducing *Campylobacter* load in poultry and reduces food chain contamination. Furthermore *in-vitro* studies have demonstrated the antagonistic properties of these peptides (El-Hack et al., 2021) (Table 1.11).

Bacteriocin	Bacterial origin	Effect	Reference
OR-7	Lactobacillus salivarius (NRRL B-30514)	Bacteriocin added to feed for 3 days (7-10 days of age) reduced colonisation at least one- millionfold compared with <i>Campylobacter</i> levels in untreated groups	Stern <i>et al.</i> , 2006
-	Lactobacillus salivarius (NRRL B-30514)	8/9 chicks administered 250mg bacteriocin/kg feed had no detectable <i>C. jejuni</i> levels, 1/9 chicks had significantly reduced cecal levels of <i>C. jejuni</i>	Stern <i>et al.</i> , 2006
-	Paenibacillus polymyxa (NRRL B-30509)	<i>C. jejuni</i> completely eliminated from 10 chick ceca administered 250mg bacteriocin/kg feed (>one- billion-fold reduction)	Stern <i>et al.</i> , 2006
SRCAM 37	Paenibacillus polymyxa (NRRL B-30507)	Antagonistic activity against multiple <i>Campylobacter</i> isolates from broiler chickens	Svetoch <i>et al.</i> , 2005
SRCAM 119	Paenibacillus polymyxa (NRRL B-30508)	Antagonistic activity against multiple <i>Campylobacter</i> isolates from broiler chickens	Svetoch <i>et al.</i> , 2005
SRCAM 602	Paenibacillus polymyxa (NRRL B-30509)	Antagonistic activity against multiple <i>Campylobacter</i> isolates from broiler chickens	Svetoch <i>et al.</i> , 2005
SRCAM 1580	Bacillus circulans (NRRL B-30644)	Antagonistic activity against multiple <i>Campylobacter</i> isolates from broiler chickens	Svetoch <i>et al.</i> , 2005

Table 1.11 Summary of different bacteriocin effects on Campylobacter load

A recent advance in natural therapies to control *Campylobacter* within poultry is via the use of bacteriophages (El-Hack *et al.*, 2020). Bacteriophages are naturally occurring and are selected to target pathogenic bacteria. Receptors for bacteriophages are present on target *Campylobacter* and binding leads to bacterial cell lysis (Carvalho et al., 2010; K. Sørensen et al., 2012). The focus of bacteriophage use is not necessarily to prevent poultry colonisation but to reduce intestinal *Campylobacter* load within birds prior to slaughter (Abd El-Hack et al., 2020). Carvalho *et al.* (2010) demonstrated the potential of a three-phage cocktail to target and inhibit *C. jejuni* and *C. coli* within broiler chickens by two administration methods (oral gavage and via feed supplementation). The phages used, phiCcoIBB35, phiCcoIBB37, and phiCcoIBB12, were originally isolated from intestinal contents of poultry (Carvalho et al., 2010). The results from the *in vivo* trial showed that the "phage cocktail" reduced *C. coli* and *C. jejuni* by 2 log₁₀ cfu/g regardless of administration method. Interestingly, feed supplementation with phages did however reduce *Campylobacter* at a faster rate than oral gavage (Carvalho et al., 2010).

Phage F336 (isolated from duck intestinal contents) is a *Campylobacter* targeting bacteriophage. Phage F336 relies on the MeOPN (*O*-methyl phosporamidate) receptor of the CPS of *C. jejuni* NCTC 11168 for successful infection and inhibition of the bacteria (M. C. H. Sørensen et al., 2011). However, *C. jejuni* has been shown to easily resist infection by phage F336 due to phase variation in the MeOPN transferase, suggesting that resistance mechanisms can be employed by *C. jejuni* (M. C. H. Sørensen et al., 2011) in response to this strategy.

All organisms produce AMPs and these serve a vital role in innate immunity. They have been used at low doses in feed to control outbreaks of enteric pathogens via selective killing of intestinal pathogenic bacteria and modification of the intestinal microbiota (Joerger, 2003; Nazeer et al., 2021; S. Wang et al., 2016). There are several benefits to using AMPs over conventional antibiotic therapies; i) they do not appear to induce bacterial resistance as readily due to their mechanism of action; ii) they protect the host by alternative mechanisms in addition to directly attacking pathogenic microbes; iii) they maintain gut homeostasis, and modulate inflammatory responses (S. Wang et al., 2016). The direct mechanism of action of AMPs can be concisely described as via binding to and subsequent disruption of the bacterial membrane or via blocking intracellular functions if the AMP enters the bacterial cell (Abd El-Hack et al., 2020). However, there are limitations to the use of AMPs; the LOS of *C. jejuni* specifically, appears to aid AMP resistance as reported by van Dijk *et al.* (2012), and proteolytic enzymes within the chicken gut may lead to instability of these compounds *in vivo* (Abd El-Hack et al., 2020).

1.5.4 Chicken feed additives for *Campylobacter* reduction in chickens

Feed formulation is of vital importance in the poultry industry as it affects gut health, which directly affects welfare and productivity of broiler chickens (Ali et al., 2021; Choct, 2009). Due to the ever-growing consumer demands for poultry products, feed used in commercial farming must be high quality and economically viable, in addition they must meet nutritional requirements to ensure efficient growth, prevent disease and result in high feed conversion ratios (FCR) (Pirgozliev et al., 2019).

The EFSA recognises five type of feed additives (Table 1.12) and defines feed additives as products used in animal nutrition to improve feed quality, improve quality of meat from the animal origin, and/or improve the animals' performance and health. Furthermore, the EFSA also recognises that feed additives may be used to influence the

environment with regards to methane reduction in commercial farming (EFSA, n.d.; Hashemi & Davoodi, 2010; Pirgozliev et al., 2019). In this section a selection of the feed additive categories and their target functions on poultry nutrition and health will be summarised.

Feed additive	Example	Function	Reference
Technological	Organic acids, antioxidants, pellet binders	Feed preservation, protect feed from microbial/fungal destruction, positive influence on FCR or growth performance	Paul <i>et al</i> ., 2007
Sensory	Flavours, colourants	Effect on palatability and odour	Karásková, Suchý and Straková, 2016; Rychen <i>et al.</i> , 2018
Nutritional	Vitamins, amino acids	Boost immune function, protect proteins/lipids from oxidative damage	Choct, 2009; Shakeri <i>et al.</i> , 2020
Zootechnical	Enzymes, probiotics, prebiotics, phytogenics	Improve feed digestibility, stabilise, and benefit gut microflora, prevent risk of developing antibiotic resistant pathogens	Pirgozliev, Rose and Ivanova, 2019
Coccidiostats and histomonostats	Naturally occurring polyether ionophores, synthetic coccidiostats (i.e., halofuginone)	Control of protozoan infections, enhance FCR	Clarke <i>et al.</i> , 2014

Table 1.12 Five categories of feed additives recognised by the EFSA, examples and functions (EFSA, 2022).

1.5.4.1 Technological feed additives

Technological feed additives are aimed at improving the longevity of feed by preserving, preventing contamination with microbes and fungus, and may also have a role in improving feed conversion ratio (FCR) (Paul et al., 2007). These additives are not targeted at improving animal health. For example, bentonite is recognised as a technological feed additive by the EFSA for many animal species, its primary function is to reduce feed contamination with the mycotoxin aflatoxin (Rychen et al., 2017). Enzyme based technological additives, such as FUMzyme® have also been developed and have been shown to degrade fumonisin mycotoxins in feed (Rychen et al., 2016).

1.5.4.2 Sensory feed additives

Addition of sensory feed additives is not targeted at improving gut health, but rather improving feed quality, and palatability.

1.5.4.3 Nutritional feed additives

Nutrition is crucial for body growth of broiler chickens; nutritional additives, known as nutraceuticals, have immunomodulatory potential and boost immune function, which consequently prevents manifestation of various diseases (Alagawany et al., 2021; Choct, 2009; Shakeri et al., 2020). Amino acids are added to poultry feed due to their role as constituents of protein which can increase broiler body mass, however there is a limit to the quantity of amino acids that can be used in replacement of protein within feed and achieve optimal growth performance (Alagawany et al., 2021; Baker, 2009). Threonine has been extensively investigated as an amino acid additive, within broilers it has shown to improve the thickness of the intestinal epithelia, promote antibody synthesis, improve FCR, and reduce quantity of intestinal cytokines in LPS-challenged birds (Al-Hayani, 2017; Alagawany et al., 2021; Azzam & El-Gogary, 2015; Y. Chen et al., 2018; Zaefarian et al., 2008).

1.5.4.4 Zootechnical feed additives

Phytogenics are considered a zootechnical additive by the EFSA, they are plantderivatives/extracts and include herbs, spices, essential oils, and oleoresins (e.g., balsam) (Hashemi & Davoodi, 2010; Pirgozliev et al., 2019). The EFSA recognises phytogenics within the zootechnical category of feed additives in animal nutrition, however Karásková, Suchý and Straková, (2016) summarise how phytogenic additives can be classified into multiple categories. Carotenoids are derived from carrots and are commonly used as a sensory additive for laying hen feed to increase colour characteristics of the egg yolk (Karásková et al., 2016; Kotrbáček et al., 2013). In terms of being technological additives, phytogenic additives such as essential oils (oregano, anise, and citrus peel) resulted in lower ammonium concentration in the ileum of broiler chickens (J.-C. Hong et al., 2012; Karásková et al., 2016). Immunomodulation and animal product quality are the outcomes of zootechnical phytogenics such as yeast (Karásková et al., 2016). With regards to use in chicken feed, there is significant interest in using this class of feed additive as an alternative to antibiotic growth promoters, due to increasing antibiotic resistance and subsequent limitation on the use of antibiotics in the poultry industry (Ali et al., 2021; Hashemi & Davoodi, 2010).

Pre- and probiotics are feed additives that are used to improve gut health and subsequently the immune system they are commonly used as an alternative to antibiotic growth promoters (Adhikari & Kim, 2017). Prebiotics are defined as 'a selectively fermented ingredient that results in specific changes in composition and/or activity of the gastrointestinal microbiota, thus conferring benefit(s) upon host health' (Pourabedin & Zhao, 2015); competitive exclusion of pathogens by the gut microbiota of chickens fed prebiotics has been described by Callaway et al. (2008) and improvement of gut morphology has been reported by Pourabedin et al. (2014) (Pourabedin and Zhao, 2015). Prebiotics act by providing nutrition for beneficial groups of gut microflora to gut mucosa and epithelia (Adhikari & Kim, 2017). Probiotics are defined by WHO as 'live microorganisms which when administered in adequate amounts confer a health benefit on the host' (Adhikari & Kim, 2017). Their most common mechanism of action is competing with pathogenic microbes for a common niche within the gut for replication, this does not just refer to competition for physical attachment sites within the intestinal tract but also competition by production of antimicrobial compounds and enhancement of the host animal immune system (Abd El-Hack et al., 2020; Adhikari & Kim, 2017).

1.5.4.5 Current Campylobacter targeted feed additives

There are a range of commercial feed products currently used in poultry farming aimed at reducing *Campylobacter* load and prevalence within flocks. Probiotics are a class of feed additive that are currently popular within poultry farming due to their natural origin, growth promoting, and antimicrobial effect. Probiotics have been used in intensive farming since the 1960s, however scientific investigation regarding their use began in the 2000s (Santini et al., 2010). Commonly used probiotic species in commercial feed additives that target *Campylobacter* via competitive exclusion, bactericidal effect, and/or improving gut immunity include *Lactobacillus acidophillus, Enterococcus faecium, L. casei*, and *Bifidobacterium thermophilus* (Morishita et al., 1997; Santini et al., 2010; Willis & Reid, 2008). Willis and Reid (2008) investigated the effect of a commercially available probiotic mixture on broiler performance, *Campylobacter* load and organ weight in North Carolina, USA. The commercial feed additive was PrimaLac DFM and the primary probiotic species and minimum presence per g of feed was reported (1x10⁸ cfu/g of *Lactobacillus casei*, *L. acidophillus*, *Bifidobacterium thermophilum, and*

Enterococcus faecium). The study reported that bodyweight of male chicks in the DFM fed group were significantly lower than the male chicks in the control group, as was carcass yield; however female chicks responded significantly better with regards to bodyweight on DFM feed (Willis & Reid, 2008). The DFM group in this study also showed reduced levels of *Campylobacter* but were not free of the pathogen; the study concluded that the commercial probiotic mixture was not sufficient for acceptable reduction of *Campylobacter* (Willis & Reid, 2008). When the feeding of probiotic was coupled with restricted feeding (8 h/day) *Campylobacter* colonisation was reduced to lowest levels within the study compared to the control group indicating the importance of multiple factors in administration of feed additives to achieve the best results (Abd El-Hack et al., 2020).

Mortada *et al.* (2020) investigated the efficacy of the commercial probiotic PoultryStar ME (BIOMIN America, Inc) which contains *Lactobacillus reuteri, Pediococcus acidilactici, Bifidobacterium animalis*, and *Enterococcus faecium*, on *C. coli* proliferation *in vitro* and *C. coli* cecal load *in vivo*. Interestingly, *in vitro* the supernatant from these probiotics reduced *C. coli* proliferation significantly at a 1:1 supernatant: pathogen dilution, increasing the ratio of supernatant:pathogen further inhibited proliferation of *Campylobacter* (Mortada et al., 2020). Despite this positive result *in vitro*, there was no significant reduction in caecal *C. coli* load or carcass contamination *in vivo* when birds were fed 0.5kg probiotic/ton basal feed; this study highlighted the need for understanding *Campylobacter* transmission to poultry farms and that *in vitro* experimentation does not always mimic the biological processes and responses that are seen *in vivo*.

1.5.4.6 Novel Campylobacter targeted feed additives for chickens

There are several bioactive substances that are being scientifically investigated as potential *Campylobacter* feed additives including probiotics, prebiotics, phytochemicals, and organic acids; their natural origins, and antimicrobial properties have made them desirable as alternatives to antibiotics.

TYPLEX® Chelate, is a novel synthetic feed additive, formed of L-tyrosine and iron (Fe (III)) (Khattak et al., 2018; Skoufos et al., 2019). Khattak *et al.* (2018) found that *C. jejuni* biofilm formation was significantly reduced *in vitro* when challenged with TYPLEX® Chelate, in addition this novel feed additive reduced *C. jejuni* carriage in the ceca of birds challenged with litter contaminated with *C. jejuni* by 2 log₁₀ per gram caecal sample

(Skoufos et al., 2019). Inhibiting the ability of *Campylobacter* to form biofilms reduces environmental survival of the pathogen and its entry into the food chain, additionally biofilm formation is a key factor in persistent human infection (Khattak et al., 2018). Because human infection is typically associated with the consumption of contaminated poultry, it is vital that caecal colonisation of broilers is reduced. When this novel feed additive was administered in doses of 0.05 and 0.20 g/kg of feed the *C. jejuni* load within the ceca was significantly reduced (Khattak et al., 2018). The hypothesised mechanism of action for TYPLEX® chelate, that reduces caecal *Campylobacter*, is based on increases in volatile fatty acids (VFA) being associated with the reduction of Enterobacteriaceae in broiler chickens (Khattak et al., 2018; Kubena et al., 2001). Fermentation of probiotic bacteria results in VFA formation, and these compounds are largely attributed to the antimicrobial effects of probiotics (Olnood et al., 2015).

Organic short- chain fatty acids $(C_1 - C_7)$ (SCFA) and Medium-chain fatty acids $(C_8 - C_{12})$ (MCFA), have been shown to alter micro-environments by acidification which is unfavourable for Campylobacter leading to pathogen inactivation (Jansen et al., 2014; Molnár et al., 2015). Additionally, these compounds exhibit anti-Campylobacter activity in vitro (F. Solis de los Santos et al., 2009; Van Gerwe et al., 2009). Heres et al. (2004) demonstrated that feed supplemented with high levels of the SCFAs lactic acid and acetic acid at 5.7% and 0.7% respectively, reduced the in vitro growth of Campylobacter by 2-3 log₁₀ cfu. The *in vivo* effects of this SCFA mixture were also investigated and showed that acidified feed reduced broiler chicken susceptibility to Campylobacter infection, however, the addition of SCFA at high concentrations has been shown to negatively impact broiler body weight (Van Gerwe et al., 2009). It has been speculated by Van Gerwe et al. (2009) that lowering the pH to <5.5 may be the causative factor in decreased body weight gain due to chicken intestinal pH being 5.8-6.0. At pH >5.5 the activity of SCFA ceases, however MCFA such as 1-monoglyceride of capric acid maintain activity at pH 7.0 by mixing with a buffer, feed, and tap water, which could bypass the negative effects of low pH on bodyweight gain and feed conversion (Thormar et al., 2006; Van Gerwe et al., 2009).

1.5.4.6.1 Caprylic Acid

Caprylic acid is an 8-carbon medium-chain fatty acid that is generally recognised as safe (GRAS), despite not being commercially available as a feed or water additive for broiler chickens it has shown promising results against *Campylobacter* both *in vitro* and *in vivo*,

however some studies have shown inconsistent results (Table 1.13) (Metcalf et al., 2011). The effect of MCFA, in general, still does produce contradictory results as demonstrated by Hermans *et al.* (2010), who reported a combination of caproic, caprylic and capric acid exhibited *in vitro* anti-*Campylobacter* effects *in vitro*, but these effects were not reflected *in vivo* on caecal *Campylobacter* loads.

In vitro or in vivo	Concentration(s) administered (%)	Effect on <i>Campylobacter</i>	Reference (s)
In vitro	0.1, 0.5	After coincubation for 30mins a 1 log ₁₀ cfu/mL reduction was seen for 0.1% caprylic acid; 0.5% caprylic acid reduced the cfu/mL by more than 7.9 log ₁₀ cfu/mL	Molatová et al., 2010
In vivo	0.35, 0.7, 1.4	3- and 7- day feed supplementation with 0.7% caprylic acid decreased <i>C</i> . <i>jejuni</i> counts within the caeca by 3 and 2 logs cfu/g respectively 1.4% caprylic acid showed inconsistent effect 0.35% caprylic acid effective when fed for 7 days	de los Santos <i>et al.</i> , 2009
In vivo	0.35, 0.525, 0.7, 0.875, 1.05, 1.225, and 1.4	<1.05% caprylic acid consistently reduced caecal <i>Campylobacter</i> content 0.7% caprylic acid reduced caecal <i>Campylobacter</i> content compared to positive control	de los Santos <i>et al.</i> , 2008
In vivo	0.175, 0.35, 0.7, 1.4, 2.8	Water soluble caprylic acid administered 8 days post exposure to <i>Campylobacter</i> ; in the first trial, 0.175% caprylic acid reduced caecal <i>Campylobacter</i> counts but this was not consistent in trial 2	Metcalf <i>et al.</i> , 2011

Table 1.13 Summary of *in vitro* and *in vivo* studies using the novel feed/water additive caprylic acid against *Campylobacter*.

Caprylic acid presents a practical and economically viable option as a commercial feed additive targeted at decreasing *C. jejuni* carriage in broiler chickens. Due to the variable nature of this compound in reducing the enteric *C. jejuni* counts, further investigation into these compounds mechanisms of action must be undertaken to optimise the bactericidal effect and produce consistent results. Suggested mechanisms of action of caprylic acid may be like a pre- or probiotic, in that it alters the intestinal microbiota, which in turn

decreases *Campylobacter* counts, this hypothesis is supported by organic acid increasing the lactic acid bacteria count in the ileum and cecum of broiler chickens (Yadav & Jha, 2019). In addition caprylic acid may have a direct effect on *C. jejuni* colonisation by inhibiting virulence factors, however further investigation is required to confirm this hypothesis (F. Solis de los Santos et al., 2009).

1.5.4.6.2 Butyric Acid

Butyric acid is an organic 4-carbon volatile-SCFA (VSCFA) and has been identified as a crucial compound for the correct development of GALT, and therefore immune modulation, and as an energy providing substrate for the host post-absorption, for example as a prime energy source for enterocytes that line the intestinal tract (Antongiovanni et al., 2007; Fernández-Rubio et al., 2009; Józefiak et al., 2004). In addition, this compound has been recognised as an inhibiting factor for some pathogenic microbes without affecting the host intestinal microbiome (Fernández-Rubio et al., 2009; Józefiak et al., 2004). SCFAs such as butyric acid has been used in the United States during meat processing as a surface animal carcass wash to remove bacterial contamination, however this is not entirely effective as remaining microbes are able to proliferate and remain on poultry products at unacceptable levels (Beier et al., 2019). In poultry farming, butyrate supplementation has been shown to significantly reduce infection of birds with other enteric pathogens such as Salmonella enteriditis, leading to the interest in investigating this compound as a Campylobacter targeted additive (Fernández-Rubio et al., 2009). Several studies have investigated the potential of butyric acid as a new broiler feed additive targeted at *Campylobacter* reduction and improving broiler gut health (Table 1.14) and thus far have shown that butyrate does provide beneficial effects on intestinal health, protection of cells against Campylobacter pathogenesis, and is bactericidal against Campylobacter strains. However, there is variation in the efficacy of butyrate as a bactericidal compound between different bacterial strains, and some studies have highlighted that combination treatments of butyrate with probiotics may enhance anti-*Campylobacter* effects (Kovanda et al., 2019; Ocejo et al., 2017).

Table 1.14 Summary of *in vitro* and *in vivo* studies using the novel feed additive butyric acid against *Campylobacter* and its effect on gut health

In vitro	Concentration(s)	Effect on gut health	Effect on	Reference(s)
or in vivo	administered (%) *		Campylobacter	
In vivo	0.1% calcium butyrate 0.1% calcium butyrate + 6% dry whey powder	Broiler villus height increased by day 28 compared to control diet (all treatments) Butyrate + whey diet had highest villus height: crypt depth compared to all other treatments	No difference in colonisation or shedding (p > 0.05)	Ocejo <i>et al.</i> , 2017
In vitro	0.001, 0.025, 0.05, 0.1, 0.2, 0.25, 0.3, 0.35	n/a	0.05% and 0.08% butyric acid were the MIC values against two strains of <i>C</i> . <i>jejuni</i>	Kovanda et al., 2019
In vivo	0.05	n/a	No significant reduction in <i>C.</i> <i>jejuni</i> 5 dpi	Van Deun, Haesebrouck, <i>et al.</i> , 2008; Van Deun, Pasmans, <i>et al.</i> , 2008; M Meunier <i>et al.</i> , 2016
In vivo	0.1, 0.25	No effect on broiler gut immunity compared to control treatment	Significantly reduced number of viable Campylobacter	Ebrahimi <i>et al.</i> , 2016
In vitro	0.25mM, 0.5mM	Concentration dependent decrease in <i>C.</i> <i>jejuni</i> invasion into CaCo-2 monolayer	n/a	Van Deun, Pasmans, Van Immerseel, <i>et</i> <i>al.</i> , 2008

*If concentrations not available in %, alternate units stated

1.5.4.6.3 Chromium

Chromium (Cr) is a biologically active, essential mineral for animals and humans, it is found naturally within the body in trace amounts, and contributes to various metabolic activities (Arif, Alagawany, et al., 2019; Dębski et al., 2004). One important function is in glucose metabolism, which varies greatly between humans and poultry due to poultry species being more resistant to insulin than mammals, resulting in higher blood glucose levels and lower insulin levels (Brooks et al., 2016; Spears et al., 2019). Intensive production of broiler chickens places several stressors on the birds, which ultimately reduces performance. One important parameter affected is heat induced stress, during which the hormones released (e.g., corticosterone) reduce sensitivity of broilers to insulin even further (Brooks et al., 2016; Spears et al., 2019). It is well documented that a function of Cr is to improve receptor sensitivity within insulin-sensitive tissues, leading to improved cell uptake of glucose, indicating the potential of Cr broiler feed supplementation to increase broiler productivity and performance (Arif, Hussain, et al., 2019; Piray & Foroutanifar, 2022; Spears et al., 2019; White & Vincent, 2019). Chromium chloride, at present, is the most common form of Cr used to supplement commercial poultry feed for nutritional purposes, however it is poorly absorbed by poultry within the GI tract. Organic forms of Cr are more efficiently absorbed and able to cross the intestinal epithelium as they are chelated with amino acids (e.g., chromium-methionine) (Safwat et al., 2020).

There are many reviews on the effect of Cr supplementation on broiler performance, however this novel compound's potential for targeting pathogenic bacteria is poorly described (Arif, Hussain, et al., 2019; Brooks et al., 2016; Omoleye et al., 2021; Spears et al., 2019; White & Vincent, 2019). Safwat *et al.* (2020) compared the effect of inorganic Cr (Chromium oxide – CrOx) versus the organic complex Cr methionine (CrMe) on total bacterial counts, and bacterial counts of *Salmonella* and *E. coli* in broiler chicks. This research found that total bacteria count was significantly reduced in both diets supplemented with either the organic or inorganic Cr complex compared to control feed; *Salmonella* and *E. coli* counts were significantly reduced in broiler chicks fed Cr supplemented diets, however the organic form (CrMe) at the highest dose reduced *Salmonella* counts significantly more than the inorganic form (CrOx) at its highest supplemented concentration (Table 1.15) (Safwat et al., 2020).

Table 1.15 Bacterial counts (number x 10⁶) for broiler chicks supplemented with difference complexes and levels of chromium (taken from Safwat et al., 2020)

	Control	Chron	nium oxide	Chromiu	ım methionine
Bacteria		500ppb	1000ppb	500ppb	1000ppb
Total	3.2 ^A	2.35 ^B	2.47 ^B	2.45 ^B	2.2 ^B
bacterial					
count					
Salmonella	1.15 ^A	0.7 ^{BC}	0.85 ^B	0.75 ^{BC}	0.6 [°]
E. coli	1.35 ^A	0.9 ^B	0.85 ^B	0.85 ^B	0.75 ^в

Note: Means within the same row with different letters are significantly difference (p < 0.05)

The reduction in pathogenic enterobacteria seen in broiler chickens administered feed supplemented with Cr suggests that addition of Cr above the nutritionally required levels increases immune status, as reported by Lee *et al.* (2003) who observed increased antibody production against infectious bronchitis in broilers supplemented with 400 ppb Cr (Safwat et al., 2020). Positive linear associations between serum IgG levels and Cr supplementation in broiler feed were also reported by Piray and Foroutanifar (2022) (Figure 1.10). In contrast, it has been reported that high doses/long term exposure to Cr may induce cytotoxic and genotoxic reactions that are detrimental to the body, this mechanism is poorly understood, however it is understood that the bioavailability, solubility of the compound, and chemical speciation of the Cr complex contributes greatly to its biological outcome (Shrivastava, 2002).



Figure 1.10 Association between chromium supplementation and serum IgG concentration. The solid line and the dashed lines represent the estimated standardized mean difference and its 95% confidence intervals. No chromium supplementation (0 μ g/kg diet, ppb) was used as the control diet. (Taken from Piray & Foroutanifar, 2021)

The present study investigates the potential for butyric acid, caprylic acid and chromium propionate to be used as *Campylobacter* targeted feed additives in the poultry industry. There are significant differences in the structure and chemical formulation of the proposed additives as summarised in Table 1.16.

Common Name	IUPAC Name	Chemical Formula
Caprylic Acid	Octanoic Acid	$C_8H_{16}O_2$
Butyric Acid	Butanoic Acid	C ₃ H ₇ COOH
Chromium Propionate	Propanoic acid, Chromium (3+) salt	$C_9H_{15}CrO_6$

Table 1.16 Structure of feed additives used in this study

1.6 Limitations to current literature

When assessing the available scientific literature and studies most of the *in vitro* work for interactions of *Campylobacter* and gut epithelial cell lines is done using human cells, namely CaCo-2 (human) or HeLa, with little exploration into *in vitro* interactions with avian cell lines (such as 8E11). John *et al.* (2017) is one of few papers that explore avian host immune responses to *Campylobacter in vitro* and provide quantitative analysis on the cytokine production of these cells. The additives within this thesis will be targeted at *Campylobacter* within the avian host, as opposed to the human host, and thus it is essential that the molecular mechanisms of *Campylobacter* within avian cells (e, g, 8E11) are thoroughly investigated.

Secondly, the data surrounding the efficacy of feed additives is largely conducted during *in vivo* trials, reporting the *Campylobacter* reduction in cfu/g at colonisation sites but not investigating the underlying mechanism of action. For instance, is the compound directly bactericidal or indirectly contributing to improved host gut health and immunity? This thesis aims at exploring the potential molecular mechanisms of three organic compounds and four probiotic products to target *Campylobacter* reduction within the avian host.

Finally, *in vitro* study of *Campylobacter* is often limited to studying only one or two laboratory strains (e.g. *C. jejuni* NCTC 11168); it is known that there are significant differences between strain virulence, pathogenicity, motility, invasive capacity, and metabolism. Therefore, studying a limited number of strains does not provide data that represents *Campylobacter* as a species. This thesis studies seven strains with the aim to better represent the spectrum of *Campylobacter* activity and associated characteristics.

1.7 Aims and Objectives

The main aim of this thesis was to investigate the potential of feed additives in reducing *Campylobacter* growth and invasion *in vitro* and to uncover their potential mechanisms

of action. Thus, the main focus of this thesis is: i) identify *Campylobacter* strains that represent the invasive spectrum exhibited by this bacterial species, ii) determine the direct effects of feed additives and probiotic strains on *Campylobacter*, and iii) study human and chicken host interactions with *Campylobacter*, feed additives, and probiotic strains using epithelial cell lines. The hypothesis of this thesis is **that feed additives can inhibit** *Campylobacter* **invasion** *in vitro* **through growth limiting action and by aiding host immune defences.**

Chapter specific aims were:

Chapter 3:

- Investigate genetic diversity within a collection of *Campylobacter* isolates focussing on virulence and antimicrobial resistance genes.
- Determine the differences in *Campylobacter* strain growth under varying atmospheric conditions and temperatures.
- Investigate the effect of source of isolation on invasive capabilities of *Campylobacter*.
- Identify a set of standard *Campylobacter* to use in feed additive testing during *in vitro* assays.

Chapter 4:

- Determine the direct bactericidal effect of feed additives on *Campylobacter* growth *in vitro*.
- Determine the direct bactericidal effect of media conditioned with probiotic species on *Campylobacter* growth *in vitro*.
- Investigate the ability of chromium propionate to affect the motility of *Campylobacter in vitro*.

Chapter 5:

- Determine if feed additives are cytotoxic to human and avian epithelial cell lines at proposed concentrations.
- Determine if feed additives provide a protective effect to human and avian cell lines against *Campylobacter* invasion *in vitro*.

- Quantify inflammatory cytokines expressed by avian epithelial cell lines induced by exposure to *Campylobacter* strains.
- Quantify inflammatory cytokines expressed by avian epithelial cell lines preincubated with feed additives and how preincubation affects host cell responses to *Campylobacter* exposure.

Chapter 2: Materials and Methods

2.1 Materials

The materials used throughout this study have been organised into specific tables. These are chemical reagents, cell culture media and media (Table 2.1), primers and probes (Table 2.2) and finally prepared solutions (Table 2.5).

Chemical reagent, media, antibiotics, enzymes	Includes	Supplier	Product Code
Oxoid [™] <i>Campylobacter</i> liquid growth supplement (500 mL)	-	Oxoid	13295409
Columbia Agar base with 5% Defibrinated Horse Blood (pH 7.3± 0.2 at 25°C)	Special Peptone (23.06 gm/L) Starch (1.0 gm/L) Sodium Chloride (50 gm/L) Agar (10 gm/L)	Oxoid	CM0331
Triton X-100, laboratory grade (100 mL)	-	Sigma-Aldrich	9002-93-1
Gentamicin (50 mg/mL) (10 mL)	-	ThermoFisher Scientific	15750060
AlamarBlue [™] Cell Viability reagent	-	ThermoFisher Scientific	DAL1025
TrypLE express enzyme (500 mL)	No Phenol Red EDTA	Gibco	12604021
DMEM/F12 Glutamax [™] Supplement (500 mL)	Glutamax [™] Phenol Red High Glucose Sodium Pyruvate No HEPES	Gibco	31331093
DMEM, high, glucose + pyruvate (500 mL)	L-Glutamine Phenol Red Sodium Pyruvate High Glucose No HEPES	Gibco	41966029
MEM Non-essential Amino Acid Solution (100x) (100 mL)	-	Gibco	11140050
Phosphate Buffered Saline (PBS), pH 7.4 (for cell culture) (500 mL)	No Calcium No Magnesium No Phenol Red No Sodium Pyruvate	Gibco	10010023
PBS tablets (pH 7.3 – pH 7.5)	137 Mm Sodium Chloride2.7 mM Potassium Chloride10 mM Phosphate Buffer	VWR	E404-200TABS

	(Then 1 tablet dissolved in		
Trypan Blue (0.4%) (100 mL)	100 IIIL water)	Gibco	15250061
I -Glutamine (I -Glut) (220		Gibeo	15250001
mM) (100 mL)	No Phenol Red	Gibco	A2916801
Penicillin-Streptomycin (Pen- Strep)	10,000 units/mL penicillin 10,000 µg/mL Streptomycin	Gibco	15140122
Amphotericin B (250 µg/mL) (50 mL)	-	Gibco	15290026
Fetal Bovine Serum (FBS), qualified, Brazil (500 mL)	-	Gibco	10270106
MAC cabinet gas supply	10% Carbon Dioxide 5% Oxygen 85% Nitrogen	BOC	226971-L
Brucella Agar Powder	Agar (13 g/L). Casein Peptone (10 g/L), D (+)- Glucose (1 g/L), meat peptone (10 g/L), sodium chloride (5 g/L), yeast extract (2 g/L)	Sigma Aldrich	18795-500G
CampyGen 3.5 L sachet	-	Oxoid	CN0035A
Sodium Hydroxide			
iScript cDNA synthesis kit	5X Reverse-Transcriptase Reaction Mix, iScript reverse transcriptase, nuclease-free	BioRad	1708891
	water		
Brilliant II qPCR MasterMix	-	Agilent	600804
Brilliant II qPCR MasterMix Glycerol (100%)		Agilent	600804
Brilliant II qPCR MasterMix Glycerol (100%) HEPES solution BIOXTRA (100 mL)		Agilent Sigma (Merck Life Science UK Ltd)	600804 H0887
Brilliant II qPCR MasterMix Glycerol (100%) HEPES solution BIOXTRA (100 mL) RNeasy Plus Mini Kit (250)	- - - 1 M, pH 7.0-7.6 RNeasy Mini Spin Columns, gDNA, Eliminator Spin Columns, Collection Tubes, RNase-Free Water, Buffers	Agilent Sigma (Merck Life Science UK Ltd) Qiagen	600804 H0887 74136
Brilliant II qPCR MasterMix Glycerol (100%) HEPES solution BIOXTRA (100 mL) RNeasy Plus Mini Kit (250) Ham's F-12 Nutrient Mix GlutaMAX [™] Supplement	- - - 1 M, pH 7.0-7.6 RNeasy Mini Spin Columns, gDNA, Eliminator Spin Columns, Collection Tubes, RNase-Free Water, Buffers -	Agilent Sigma (Merck Life Science UK Ltd) Qiagen Fisher Scientific	600804 H0887 74136 11514436
Brilliant II qPCR MasterMix Glycerol (100%) HEPES solution BIOXTRA (100 mL) RNeasy Plus Mini Kit (250) Ham's F-12 Nutrient Mix GlutaMAX [™] Supplement QIAamp DNA Mini Kit	- - - - - I M, pH 7.0-7.6 RNeasy Mini Spin Columns, gDNA, Eliminator Spin Columns, Collection Tubes, RNase-Free Water, Buffers - QIAamp Mini Spin Columns, QIAGEN Proteinase K, Reagents, Buffers, Collection Tubes (2mL)	Agilent Sigma (Merck Life Science UK Ltd) Qiagen Fisher Scientific Qiagen	600804 H0887 74136 11514436 51306
Brilliant II qPCR MasterMix Glycerol (100%) HEPES solution BIOXTRA (100 mL) RNeasy Plus Mini Kit (250) Ham's F-12 Nutrient Mix GlutaMAX [™] Supplement QIAamp DNA Mini Kit RNase A 2.5 mL (100 mg/mL)	- I M, pH 7.0-7.6 RNeasy Mini Spin Columns, gDNA, Eliminator Spin Columns, Collection Tubes, RNase-Free Water, Buffers - QIAamp Mini Spin Columns, QIAGEN Proteinase K, Reagents, Buffers, Collection Tubes (2mL)	Agilent Sigma (Merck Life Science UK Ltd) Qiagen Fisher Scientific Qiagen Qiagen	600804 H0887 74136 11514436 51306 19101
Brilliant II qPCR MasterMix Glycerol (100%) HEPES solution BIOXTRA (100 mL) RNeasy Plus Mini Kit (250) Ham's F-12 Nutrient Mix GlutaMAX [™] Supplement QIAamp DNA Mini Kit RNase A 2.5 mL (100 mg/mL) Caprylic Acid 100% (1%; 69 mM)	- - - I M, pH 7.0-7.6 RNeasy Mini Spin Columns, gDNA, Eliminator Spin Columns, Collection Tubes, RNase-Free Water, Buffers - QIAamp Mini Spin Columns, QIAGEN Proteinase K, Reagents, Buffers, Collection Tubes (2mL) -	Agilent Sigma (Merck Life Science UK Ltd) Qiagen Fisher Scientific Qiagen Qiagen Kemin Animal Nutrition and Health	600804 H0887 74136 11514436 51306 19101 -
Brilliant II qPCR MasterMix Glycerol (100%) HEPES solution BIOXTRA (100 mL) RNeasy Plus Mini Kit (250) Ham's F-12 Nutrient Mix GlutaMAX [™] Supplement QIAamp DNA Mini Kit RNase A 2.5 mL (100 mg/mL) Caprylic Acid 100% (1%; 69 mM) Butyric Acid 100% (1%; 113 mM)	- - - - 1 M, pH 7.0-7.6 RNeasy Mini Spin Columns, gDNA, Eliminator Spin Columns, Collection Tubes, RNase-Free Water, Buffers - QIAamp Mini Spin Columns, QIAGEN Proteinase K, Reagents, Buffers, Collection Tubes (2mL) - -	Agilent Sigma (Merck Life Science UK Ltd) Qiagen Fisher Scientific Qiagen Qiagen Kemin Animal Nutrition and Health Kemin Animal Nutrition and Health	600804 H0887 74136 11514436 51306 19101 - -
Brilliant II qPCR MasterMix Glycerol (100%) HEPES solution BIOXTRA (100 mL) RNeasy Plus Mini Kit (250) Ham's F-12 Nutrient Mix GlutaMAX TM Supplement QIAamp DNA Mini Kit RNase A 2.5 mL (100 mg/mL) Caprylic Acid 100% (1%; 69 mM) Butyric Acid 100% (1%; 113 mM) Chromium Propionate (10%)		Agilent Sigma (Merck Life Science UK Ltd) Qiagen Fisher Scientific Qiagen Qiagen Kemin Animal Nutrition and Health Kemin Animal Nutrition and Health Kemin Animal Nutrition and Health	600804 H0887 74136 11514436 51306 19101 - - -

cDNA	Probe Name	Probe Sequence 5'-3'	Primer Sequence 5'-3'	Reference
Chicken 28S	SK28S	[FAM] AGGACCGCTACGG	(F) GGCGAAGCCAGAGG	(Shini & Kaiser, 2009)
		ACCTCCACCA [TAM]	AAACT	
			(R)	
			ACGACCGATTTGCAC GTC	
Chicken	CXCLi1	[ROX]	(F)	(Shini & Kaiser,
CXCLi1		TCGCTGAACGTGCT	TGGCTCTTCTCCTGA	2009)
		[BHQ ₂]	ICICAAIG	
			GCACIGGCAICGGA GTTCA	
Chicken	CXCLi2	[HEX]	(F)	(Shini & Kaiser,
CXCLi2		TCTTTACCAGCGTC CTACCTTGCGACA	GCCCTCCTCCTGGTT TCAG	2009)
		[BHQ1]	(D)	
			TGGCACCGCAGCTC	
Chieken	TCER4		ATT (F)	(Shini & Vaicar
TGFB	101/p4	ACCCAAAGGTTAT	AGGATCTGCAGTGG	(Shini & Kaiser, 2009)
,		ATGGCCAACTTCTG CAT [TAM]	AAGTGGAT	,
		[]	(R)	
			CCCCGGGTTGTGTTG	
	1		GT	

Table 2.2 Primers and probes used throughout the study; the probes used in this study have been modified from the reference publication to have different fluorescent labels

Primers and probes used throughout the study have specific efficiencies for analysis annealing temperatures for qPCR (Table 2.3 and 2.4 respectively). Primer efficiencies were determined previously by Dr Heather Chick at Swansea University (unpublished work) according to the following method: complementary DNA (cDNA) was diluted 1:10 in a 10 series, a qPCR reaction was conducted, and a standard curve was plotted. qPCR reactions were started at a temperature of 55°C (Table 2.4) and increased by 1°C until maximum efficiency was reached. The slope of the regression was used to calculate primer efficiency using the following equation:
$$Efficiency (\%) = (10\frac{-1}{slope} - 1) \times 100$$

The primer efficiency output using this equation varied between 105-123% (Table 2.3). The primer efficiency (%) was converted to be used in the pfaffl equation.

Table 2.3 Primer efficiency and converted primer efficiency for probes used in the study

Primer/Probe set	Primer Efficiency (%)	Converted Primer Efficiency
285	111.6	2.116
CXCLi1	122.1	2.2211
CXCLi2	112.57	2.1257
TGFβ	105.89	2.0559

Table 2.4 p	orobe specific	annealing tem	peratures for	qPCR	reactions
-------------	----------------	---------------	---------------	------	-----------

Primer/Probe set	Annealing temperature (°C)
288	55
CXCLi1	57
CXCLi2	55
TGFβ	59

Table 2.5 Solutions	prepared and used	throughout the study

Solution	Includes
Glycerol stock for bacterial preservation	50 mL sterile H ₂ O + 50 mL 100% glycerol
8E11 cell culture medium	500 mL DMEM/F12 Glutamax TM Supplement + 5 mL Penicillin- Streptomycin (Pen-Strep) (10.000 U/ml, 10,000 μg/mL) + 5 mL L-Glutamine (L-Glut) (220 mM) + 5 mL Amphotericin B (250 μg/mL) + 50 ml Fetal Bovine Serum (FBS)
8E11 antibiotic free cell culture medium	500 mL DMEM/F12 Glutamax [™] Supplement + 5 mL L-Glutamine (L-Glut) (220 mM) + 50 ml Fetal Bovine Serum (FBS)
CaCo-2 cell medium	500 mL DMEM, high, glucose + pyruvate + 5 mL Penicillin-Streptomycin (Pen-Strep) (10.000 U/ml, 10,000 μg/mL) + 5 mL L-Glutamine (L-Glut) (220 mM) + 5 mL MEM Non-essential Amino Acid Solution + 50 mL Fetal Bovine Serum (FBS)
CaCo-2 antibiotic free cell culture medium	500 mL DMEM, high, glucose + pyruvate + 5 mL L-Glutamine (L-Glut) (220 mM) + 5 mL MEM Non-essential Amino Acid Solution + 50 mL Fetal Bovine Serum (FBS)
0.1% Triton X-100 in PBS	0.5 mL 100% Triton X-100 + 499.5 mL 100% PBS (5 tablets dissolved in 500 mL)
Ethanol (known %)	100% ethanol (variable volume) + sterile H_2O (variable volume)
Caprylic Acid 10% stock solutions (693.4 mM)	1 mL 100% Butyric Acid + 9 mL sterile H ₂ O
Caprylic Acid 2X working concentrations	0.5%, 1.5%, 2.5% 3.5% achieved by diluting variable volume of 10% working solution in variable volumes of sterile H ₂ O or media (protocol specific); HEPES buffer (1M) added in variable volumes to make solution pH 7.0
Caprylic Acid 1X working concentrations	0.25% (17.3mM), 0.75% (51.9mM), 1.25% (86.5mM), 1.75% (121.1mM)

Butyric Acid 10% stock solutions (1134.9 mM)	10 mL Butyric acid pH 7.0 (variable mL Sodium Hydroxide (5.0 M) + variable mL 100% Butyric Acid – added using pH probe until solution pH = 7.0) + mL sterile H ₂ O
Butyric Acid 2X working concentrations	0.4% (45.4mM), 1.2% (136.2mM), 2.0% (227.0mM), 2.8% (317.8mM) achieved by diluting variable volume of 10% working solution in variable volumes of sterile H_2O or media (protocol specific)
Butyric Acid 1X working concentrations	0.2% (22.7mM), 0.6% (681.mM), 1.0% (113.5mM), 1.4% (158.9mM)
Chromium Propionate 0.1% stock solutions	0.2 mL 10% Chromium Propionate + 19.8 mL sterile H ₂ O
Chromium Propionate 2X working concentrations	0.00004%, $0.00012%$, $0.0002%$, $0.00028%$ achieved by diluting variable volume of 0.1% working solution in variable volumes of sterile H ₂ O or media (protocol specific)
Chromium Propionate 1X working concentrations	0.00002%, 0.00006%, 0.0001%, 0.00014%
LPS working concentration (500 ng/mL)	10 μ l LPS (1mg/mL) diluted in 90 μ l sterile H ₂ O to reach a working concentration of 500ng/mL)

Molarity of feed additives is presented in Table 2.5, to determine the molarity of caprylic acid and butyric acid used in experiments from the % v/v the following conversion formulas can be used:

$$n = \frac{mass}{molecular weight}$$
$$C = \frac{n}{volume}$$

The components of the above formulas should be inputted in the following units: n (number of moles), mass (g), molecular weight (g/mol), C (concentration in mol/L) and volume (L). The molecular weight of caprylic acid is 144.214 g/mol and butyric acid is 88.106 g/mol.

For instance, using these formulas, butyric acid with a molecular weight of 88.106 g/mol a 10 % solution would equate to 1135 mM.

The total volumes of reagents used for cDNA conversion and PCR reactions are described below (table 2.6 and 2.7, respectively).

	-
Reagent	Volume per reaction (µl)
5x iScript Reaction Mix	4
iScript RT	1
Nuclease free water	Variable (calculated by subtracting the volume of
	RNA template, iScript reaction mix and iScript RT
	from the total reaction volume)
RNA template	Variable
	$(1\mu g RNA = 1000/ (RNA concentration))$

Table 2.6 Volumes of reagents used in one reaction of RNA to cDNA conversion.

Table 2.7 PCR reagents and volumes

Reagent	Volume (µl)
Brilliant II qPCR MasterMix	12.5
Forward Primer	0.63
Reverse Primer	0.63
Probe	0.63
Nuclease free water	8.63

2.2 In vitro Microbiology

2.2.1 Bacterial isolates

The Campylobacter isolates used in this study were archived strains within the Microbiology and Infectious Disease (MID) group within the Swansea University Medical School. The Campylobacter isolates were sub-cultures of strains collected from naturally infected free-range chickens (John, 2018). The isolates were stored in a glycerol stock (prepared as in Table 2.3) at -80°C in a 1:1 ratio (500 µl of 50% glycerol: 500 µl bacterial liquid culture). A 10 µl sterile loop was used to streak the glycerol stock onto a Columbia blood agar (CBA) plate with 5% defibrinated horse blood (Oxoid, Basingstoke, UK) and incubated at 37 °C or 42°C (human and avian internal temperature respectively) under microaerobic conditions (5% O₂; 10% CO₂; 85% N₂) using a CampyGen 3.5 L sachet (Oxoid) in an airtight container or in a Don Whitley M85 Workstation (MAC cabinet) (DW Scientific, West Yorkshire, UK). Incubator on screen temperature was validated using a manual thermometer. A single colony was picked using a 1 µl sterile loop and was placed into a tube with cryopreservation beads, the tube was agitated by hand for 10 s and stored at -80°C for use in this study. A full list of all Campylobacter strains used in this study, their species, source, and clonal complexes are shown below (Table 2.4).

Table 2.8 List of all *Campylobacter* strains used throughout this project; a "-" indicates inconclusive results on PCR analysis for the specific strain however 28S analysis did conclude the strain was *Campylobacter* species.

Isolate ID	Species	Clonal complex	Source	Reference
M1	C. jejuni	45 (ST-137)	Human	(Friis et al.,
				2010)
NCTC 11168	C. jejuni	ST-21	Human	(Parkhill et al.,
				2000)
C7-2	C. jejuni	828	Chicken Caeca	BBSRC
				LifeEnd
				BB/M009610/1

C11-1	C. coli/C. jejuni	828/464	Chicken Caeca	BBSRC
				LifeEnd
				BB/M009610/1
C13-2	C. jejuni	-	Chicken Caeca	BBSRC
				LifeEnd
				BB/M009610/1
C15-3	C. coli	828	Chicken Caeca	BBSRC
				LifeEnd
				BB/M009610/1
C18-2	C. coli	828	Chicken Caeca	BBSRC
				LifeEnd
				BB/M009610/1
C20-2	C. jejuni	-	Chicken Caeca	BBSRC
				LifeEnd
~~~~			~ ~ ~ ~	BB/M009610/1
C23-2	C. jejuni	828	Chicken Caeca	BBSRC
				LifeEnd
		2.52		BB/M009610/1
C24-2	С. јејиті	353	Chicken Caeca	BBSRC
				LifeEnd
00( )				BB/M009610/1
C20-3	-	-	Chicken Caeca	BBSRC
				PP/M000610/1
G7 1	C coli	161	Chiekan Ilaum	
07-1	C. <i>con</i>	404	Chicken neum	LifoEnd
				BB/M009610/1
G14	C jajuni	353	Chicken Ileum	BBSRC
014	C. jejuni	555	Chicken heuni	LifeEnd
				BB/M009610/1
G18	C jejuni	353	Chicken Ileum	BBSRC
010	e. jejuni	555	Chicken neum	LifeEnd
				BB/M009610/1
G20-2	C. jejuni	828	Chicken Ileum	BBSRC
				LifeEnd
				BB/M009610/1
G23-2	C. jejuni	828	Chicken Ileum	BBSRC
				LifeEnd
				BB/M009610/1
G24-1	C. jejuni	353	Chicken Ileum	BBSRC
				LifeEnd
				BB/M009610/1
G25-2	C. jejuni	353	Chicken Ileum	BBSRC
				LifeEnd
				BB/M009610/1
G28-2	C. coli	828	Chicken Ileum	BBSRC
				LifeEnd
G20.2		000		BB/M009610/1
629-3	C. coli	828	Chicken Ileum	BRSKC
172	C inimai	5126	Chielter Liver	DB/IVI009010/1
L/-2	C. jejuni	3130	Unicken Liver	BBSKC
I 11 1	C jajuni	161	Chickon Liver	BBSPC
L11-1		+04	CHICKEII LIVEI	LifeEnd
				BB/M000610/1
L	1	1	1	1/100/010/1

L13-2	C. jejuni	-	Chicken Liver	BBSRC
				LifeEnd
				BB/M009610/1
L15-2	C. jejuni	464	Chicken Liver	BBSRC
				LifeEnd
				BB/M009610/1
L18	-	-	Chicken Liver	BBSRC
				LifeEnd
				BB/M009610/1
L23-1	C. jejuni	464	Chicken Liver	BBSRC
				LifeEnd
				BB/M009610/1
L24	C. coli	828	Chicken Liver	BBSRC
				LifeEnd
				BB/M009610/1
L25	C. jejuni	353	Chicken Liver	BBSRC
				LifeEnd
				BB/M009610/1
L29-1	C. coli	828	Chicken Liver	BBSRC
				LifeEnd
				BB/M009610/1

*Bacillus* spp. used throughout this study were *Bacillus subtilis* PB6, *Bacillus subtilis* F*A, *Bacillus subtilis* BA2.2 and *Bacillus licheniformis*; were all supplied in powder form by Kemin Animal Health and Nutrition Ltd (Herentals, Belgium) under a material transfer agreement.

## 2.2.2 Bacterial culture conditions

## 2.2.2.1 *Campylobacter* culture

Working *Campylobacter* cultures were obtained from cryopreservation beads streaked onto Columbia blood agar (CBA) plates with 5% defibrinated horse blood (Oxoid, Basingstoke, UK) and incubated at 37°C or 42°C (human and avian internal temperature respectively) under microaerobic conditions (5% O₂; 10% CO₂; 85% N₂) using a CampyGen 3.5 L sachet (Oxoid) in an airtight container or in a Don Whitley M85 Workstation (MAC cabinet) (DW Scientific, West Yorkshire, UK). For liquid culture, a single colony was picked from a CBA plate and inoculated into Brucella agar with added *Campylobacter* growth supplement (CGS; Oxoid, Table 2.1) and incubated at 37°C or 42°C for 24 h under microaerobic conditions. Prior to all experiments, *Campylobacter* suspensions were standardised to an OD₆₀₀ of either 0.05 or 0.1 to ensure consistency. 1 mL of overnight culture was measured using a mini spectrophotometer (Jenway 7200, Staffordshire UK or BMG SPECTROstar nano, Ortenberg, Germany), the solution was diluted with fresh broth and absorbance was measured again until the desired optical density was reached. The dilution of the bacterial suspension within specific experiments was taken into consideration when deciding on the OD to standardise to. An optical density of 0.1 and 600 nm was equivalent to approximately  $1 \times 10^7$  cfu/mL as calculated by colony counts and previous research (John, 2018).

#### 2.2.2.2 Culture of *Bacillus* spp. and preparation of conditioned media

Freeze-dried *Bacillus* powder was reconstituted in sterile water to reach a 0.175% (w/v) concentration. Then, 100  $\mu$ l of the reconstituted *Bacillus* was spread evenly over a CBA plate and incubated at 37°C in an aerobic atmosphere overnight. After incubation, a single colony was picked using a 10  $\mu$ l sterile loop and suspended in 4 mL of either Brucella broth, Mueller Hinton Broth (MB), antibiotic free 8E11 media or antibiotic free CaCo-2 media (Table 2.3). Suspensions were incubated for 24 h at 37°C under aerobic conditions.

For the conditioned media, suspensions of *Bacillus* strains were prepared by adding 0.2 g of dried *Bacillus* powder into a 50 mL polypropylene tube containing 20 mL of prewarmed 8E11 or CaCo-2 antibiotic free media (Table 2.3) resulting in a 0.1% (w/v) suspension. The solution was mixed thoroughly for 10 s using an IKA Vortex genius 3 (Oxford, England). The solution was incubated under a range of specific conditions and time periods (Table 8.1 and Table 8.2). After incubation, the tube was agitated by hand to mix contents and the optical density (600 nm) of 1 mL of the solution was recorded. The remaining 19 mL of solution was centrifuged at 1902 xg for 20 mins in an Eppendorf 5810R centrifuge (Stevenage, UK). The centrifuged solution was carefully filter sterilised through a 0.22 mm pore syringe (Merck) and stored as 1 mL aliquots in a microcentrifuge tube at -20°C for future use.

#### **2.2.3 Bacterial growth curves**

#### 2.2.3.1 Campylobacter growth curves

Growth of *Campylobacter* isolates was determined by measuring changes in optical density over 24 h. *Campylobacter* strains were incubated overnight at  $37^{\circ}C / 42^{\circ}C$  under microaerobic conditions (as described in section 2.2.2.1) in brucella broth with CGS (Oxoid). The overnight culture was standardised by diluting using fresh brucella broth (+ CGS) to 0.05 OD₆₀₀, and 200 µl was added to triplicate wells in 10 different Nunc 96-well tissue culture plates, with one plate being prepared for each time point. Plate one was placed in a BMG Omega plate reader (BMG Omega, Bucks, UK) and OD₆₀₀ was recorded (T=0), this plate was also used for T=1; the 10 plates were placed in a MAC cabinet at 37 or 42°C under microaerobic conditions. At various time points (0, 1, 2, 3, 4,

6, 8, 10, 15, 20 and 24 h) the  $OD_{600}$  was measured in the BMG Omega Plate Reader. Each plate was discarded after measurement. The mean of at least two replicates was calculated for spectrophotometric measurement of growth.

#### 2.2.3.2 Bacillus growth curve

The optical density (600 nm) of the *Bacillus* overnight culture (section 2.2.2.2) was measured using a mini spectrophotometer and the solution was standardised to 0.1  $OD_{600}$  using fresh media/broth (using the same methodology described in section 2.2.2.1). To triplicate wells in a 96-well tissue culture plate, 100 µl of the diluted overnight cultures was added. The plate was placed in a BMG Omega Plate Reader and set to run for 24 h with an optical density reading (600 nm) taken for each well taken every hour, the plate was agitated by the plate reader for 15 s prior to each reading to mix the wells and eliminate air bubbles. A mean of triplicate wells was calculated to determine mean optical density.

# 2.2.4 *Campylobacter* growth challenged with feed additives and conditioned media

*Campylobacter* spp. were cultured and the OD₆₀₀ was standardised to 0.1 (tolerance 0.7-1.3) (approximately 1 x  $10^7$  cell/mL) as described previously (section 2.2.2.1) using fresh 2X brucella broth (Table 2.3). This was to ensure that the same number of bacterial cells was used in each experiment. The standardised culture was serially diluted in fresh brucella broth containing CGS and plated out in 10 µl volumes onto CBA plates for enumeration of *Campylobacter* (CFU/mL).

Working concentrations of caprylate, butyrate, and chromium propionate (Table 2.3) were diluted in antibiotic free media to 2X desired concentrations (Table 2.3) and 100  $\mu$ l was added to triplicate wells of a 96-well plate. Then to each well, 100  $\mu$ l of standardised *Campylobacter* liquid culture (0.1 OD₆₀₀) was also added.

For *Campylobacter* growth challenged with *Bacillus* conditioned media, 1 mL aliquots from section 2.2.2.2 were thawed and diluted, using fresh antibiotic free media (CaCo-2 or 8E11, Table 2.3) to 1/10, 1/100 and 1/1000 dilutions. In a 96-well tissue culture plate,  $100 \,\mu$ l of *Campylobacter* liquid culture (0.1 OD₆₀₀) and  $100 \,\mu$ l of conditioned media were combined and repeated in triplicate wells. At 0 h the optical density (600 nm) was recorded in a BMG plate reader.

For both *Bacillus* conditioned media and feed additive treatments the plate was placed in a MAC cabinet for 24 h at 42°C under microaerobic conditions. After 24 h, the optical density (600 nm) was recorded using in a mini spectrophotometer. Then, a mean of the three wells (experimental triplicate) was calculated for time point 0 and 24. To calculate the percentage change in optical density (600 nm) the following equation was used:

Percentage change in optical density (OD) =  $\left(\frac{OD \ timepoint \ 24-OD \ timepoint \ 0}{OD \ timepoint \ 0}\right) \times 100$ 

## 2.2.5 Bacterial motility assay

All *Campylobacter* strains were grown for 48 h on CBA at 42°C under microaerobic conditions in a MAC cabinet. A single colony was inoculated into 5 mL of brucella broth containing CGS and incubated overnight at 42°C under microaerobic conditions in a MAC cabinet. The OD₆₀₀ of each liquid culture was measured and diluted to 0.1 OD₆₀₀ (2 mL suspension) using a mini spectrophotometer. Two ml of brucella broth medium supplemented with 0.3% agar was aliquoted into each well of a 6-well plate and allowed to solidify for 20 min. The *Campylobacter* suspension (2 mL) was mixed for 5 s using an IKA Vortex Genius 3 before the suspension was added to the centre of triplicate wells by stabbing with a sterile pipette tip that had been dipped into the suspension. The plates were incubated at 37°C for 24 h under microaerobic conditions in a MAC cabinet. Motility of each bacterial strain was determined by measuring from the centre of the well to the furthest point of the migration zone with a ruler (mm). The mean of triplicate wells was used to calculate motility.

#### 2.2.6 Campylobacter DNA extraction for sequencing

*Campylobacter* strains were cultured (section 2.2.2.1) and incubated overnight in brucella broth containing CGS at 37°C under microaerobic conditions using a MAC cabinet. Briefly, 1 mL of overnight bacterial suspension was centrifuged at 5534 xg for 5 minutes, the supernatant was discarded; the process of adding 1 mL of overnight suspension and centrifugation was repeated until a visual pellet formed within the tube, following which the pellet was weighed. The QIamp DNA Mini Kit (Qiagen) was used (as per manufacturer's instructions) to extract genomic DNA.

Briefly, buffer ATL (lysis buffer) was added to the pellet to a total solution volume of  $180\mu l$  (1 mg pellet = 1  $\mu l$  buffer ATL). Then, 20  $\mu l$  proteinase K was added, and the solution was vortexed for 10s until thoroughly mixed. This was to digest proteins and

remove contamination during DNA preparation. Samples were incubated at 56°C for 1 h on a heat block (Dri-block heater DB-2D, Fisher Scientific); at 20-min intervals the samples were vortexed for 5 s to disperse the sample) to ensure bacteria were completely lysed. To ensure the genomic DNA was RNA-free, 4 µl RNase A (QIAGEN; 100 mg/mL) was added and mixed by pulse-vortexing (gently lift and lower sample on vortex mixer) for 15 s. Then, 200 µl buffer AL (lysis buffer) was added to the sample which was incubated at 70°C for 10 min using a heat block. Following this, 200 µl ethanol (100%) was added to each sample and mixed thoroughly to ensure a homogeneous solution, by vortexing for 10 s. The sample was loaded into a QIAmp mini spin column and was centrifuged at 6297 xg for 1 min to remove filtrate. Buffer AW1 (wash buffer) was loaded onto the spin column and centrifuged at 6297 xg for 1 min to denature and remove proteins from sample. Buffer AW2 (wash buffer) was subsequently added according to manufacturer's instructions and centrifuged accordingly to remove impurities. The sample was eluted in 40 µl nuclease-free H₂O The sample yield was measured using a NanoDrop (ThermoScientific, Loughborough, UK). Sample yields were between 3.4 to 108.5 ng/mL and had a purity ratio (A260/A280) of 0.86 to 2.8 with a purity ratio of 2.0 being optimum.

#### 2.3 Culture of avian and human intestinal epithelial cells

#### **2.3.1 Routine cell culture**

Throughout this project two cell types were cultured and used; avian intestinal epithelial cells (MM-CHiC clone: 8E11; Tentamedix GmbH; formerly Micromol, Germany) and human colon adenocarcinoma epithelial cells (CaCo-2; ECACC, Cat number 86010202).

The 8E11 cell line was maintained in Gibco DMEM/F12 GlutamaxTM Supplemented with 8.8% FBS, 0.9% Pen-Strep (10,000 U/mL), 0.9% L-Glut (220 mM) and 0.9% Gibco Amphotericin B (250  $\mu$ g/mL). The CaCo-2 cell line was maintained in Gibco DMEM, high glucose + pyruvate, supplemented with 8.8% FBS, 0.9% Pen-Strep (10,000 U/mL), 0.9% L-Glut (220 mM) and 0.9% Gibco MEM Non-essential Amino Acid Solution (100x). Both cell lines were grown in Cellstar® tissue culture treated flasks between 25 cm² to 175 cm² (dependent on quantity of cells required). Culture conditions for both cell types were 37°C in a controlled 5% CO₂ humidified atmosphere.

Cell lines were sub-cultured at approximately 90% confluence (observed using a light microscope). Typically, 8E11 cells exhibited faster growth to confluency than CaCo-2

cell lines, as a result, 8E11 cells were seeded at a lower density to reach confluency within the desired time period. Spent media was removed and the cell monolayer was washed gently three times with 15 mL Gibco PBS (for cell culture). After the third wash, PBS was discarded and 15 mL Gibco TrypLE express enzyme added to disrupt the epithelial cell monolayer. TrypLE express was incubated in contact with cells for 5 min at 37°C and monolayer detachment was monitored. When cells had successfully detached from the flask, 10 mL of cell-specific culture media was added to neutralise the trypsin digestion. The cells and neutralised TrypLE solution were removed from cell culture flask and transferred to a 50 mL centrifuge tube. This was centrifuged at 52.83 xg for 5 min (room temperature). The supernatant was carefully removed and discarded, and the remaining pellet was resuspended in 10 ml of fresh cell-specific media. The cell suspension was diluted into a new cell culture flask with fresh media (dilution varied depending on time requirement for confluent cells).

#### 2.3.2 Treatment of epithelial cells with *Campylobacter*

Campylobacter strains were grown for 48 h at 37°C or 42°C under microaerobic conditions in a MAC cabinet. Then a single colony was inoculated into 5 mL of brucella broth containing CGS and incubated overnight at 42°C under microaerobic conditions in a MAC cabinet. To ensure that the same number of bacterial cells was used in each experiment the overnight liquid culture was standardised (section 2.2.2.1) by measuring the OD 600 nm and standardising to 0.05 (approximately 4.9 x 10⁶ cell/mL) using a mini spectrophotometer. CaCo-2 and 8E11 epithelial cell cultures were seeded in a 24-well tissue culture plate at approximately  $1.05 \times 10^5$  and  $1.65 \times 10^5$  cells per cm², respectively and incubated for 48 h or until confluent (approximately 3 days). The spent media from confluent epithelial monolayers was discarded and cells were washed three times with PBS (GIBCO) before 1 mL of fresh antibiotic free media (Table 2.3) was added and cells were infected with 30 µl of standardised bacterial suspension into duplicate wells (approximately  $1.4 \times 10^6$  cfu per well). Infected monolayers were incubated for 4 h (Gentamicin Protection Assay) or 6 h (RNA isolation) at 37°C in 5% CO₂ to allow for bacterial invasion of the epithelial cells. Uninfected cells treated with 30 µl brucella broth +CGS (3% v/v) or 5 µl lipopolysaccharide (500 ng/mL) served as negative and positive controls, respectively.

# 2.3.3 Treatment of epithelial cells with caprylate, butyrate, and chromium propionate

CaCo-2 and 8E11 epithelial cell cultures (from section 2.3.2) were seeded in a 24-well tissue culture plate at approximately  $1.05 \times 10^5$  and  $1.65 \times 10^5$  cells per cm² respectively and incubated until 90% confluent (usually 48 h) as measured with light microscopy. Feed additives stock solutions were prepared (Table 2.5). In brief, caprylic acid and butyric acid were diluted to 10% working concentrations using sterile water and standardised to a pH ~7.0 using HEPES buffer (Sigma) and sodium hydroxide respectively. The pH was measured using a HI-202 Edge Hybrid Multiparameter pH, EC, DO meter with an accuracy of ±0.01 pH (HANNA instruments; Bedfordshire, UK). Chromium propionate (10%) was diluted to a 0.1% working concentration using sterile water. Once confluent, epithelial cells were washed three times with PBS. Feed additives were diluted in antibiotic free media to target concentrations (Table 2.7) and 2 mL of this solution was added to each well of confluent cells. Treated cells were then incubated for 24 h at 37°C in 5% CO₂.

## 2.3.4 Epithelial cell viability: AlamarBlue Assay

To assess cell viability the AlamarBlue Assay was used. The AlamarBlue Reagent (ThermoFisher Scientific) was used according to the manufacturer's guidelines.

In brief, 200 µl of 8E11 or CaCo-2 cells were seeded  $(10.5 \times 10^4 \text{ 8E11 cells or } 6.67 \times 10^4 \text{ CaCo-2 cells})$  into each well of a 96-well plate and incubated in 5% CO₂ at 37°C until confluent. Spent media was removed from wells and 100 µl of fresh antibiotic free media treated with feed additives (Table 2.5) was added and incubated for a further 24 h at 37°C in 5% CO₂, control wells were also included (media only). After 24 h, the spent media was removed and 50 µl fresh antibiotic free media (Table 2.5) was added to all wells. In addition, a toxicity control was included (49 µl antibiotic free media + 1 µl 10% TritonTM X-100 (Sigma-Aldrich)). Plates were incubated for 6 h in 5% CO₂ at 37°C. Then, 10 µl cell viability reagent was added directly to each well and incubated for 4 h in 5% CO₂ at 37°C. Absorbance levels were measured at a wavelength of 570 nm using a BMG plate reader. Results were presented as either the mean fluorescence (570 nm) of triplicate wells or the percentage viability (%) of cells, which was calculated using the following equation:

Percentage viability (%) =  $\left(\frac{Average\ fluorescence\ treated\ cells}{Average\ fluorescence\ untreated\ cells}\right) \times 100$ 

#### **2.3.5 Gentamicin Protection Assay (GPA)**

To assess epithelial cell invasion by *Campylobacter* a gentamicin protection assay was used. Campylobacter strains were cultured from bead stocks onto CBA plates and grown micro aerobically for 48 h at 37°C or 42°C. A single colony was sub-cultured in brucella broth containing CGS (section 2.3.2). Briefly, epithelial cell monolayers (passage 35 to 75), in antibiotic free assay medium or treatment medium were grown to confluency in a 24 well plate (as described in section 2.3.2 and 2.3.3 respectively). Confluent monolayers were washed three times with PBS and 1 mL fresh antibiotic free cell culture media was added to each well. Then, 1.4 x 10⁶ CFU/mL of standardised bacterial suspension was added to duplicate wells and cells were co-incubated with bacterial suspension for 4 h at 37°C in 5% CO₂. The remaining bacterial liquid culture was serially diluted in fresh brucella broth + CGS and plated out onto CBA plates for enumeration of *Campylobacter* (CFU/mL). At the end of the 4 h incubation period, the cell monolayer incubated with bacteria was washed gently, three times with PBS before 2 mL antibiotic free cell culture media and 4  $\mu$ l gentamicin (125  $\mu$ g/mL) was added to each well (to kill the extracellular bacteria) and incubated at 37°C in 5% CO₂ for 1.5 h. Cells were then washed three times with PBS, and 2 mL 0.1% Triton X-100 in PBS (Table 2.3) was added to each well to lyse the cells and release the intracellular contents. After 10 min, the cell lysates were serially diluted in fresh brucella broth +CGS and plated onto CBA plates to enumerate invaded bacteria.

#### 2.3.6 RNA isolation from epithelial cells

Total RNA was isolated from infected and/or treated 8E11 avian intestinal epithelial cells, (sections 2.3.2 and 2.3.3), grown in a 24 well tissue culture plate, using a RNeasy plus mini kit (Qiagen) according to the manufacturer's instructions. Total RNA ( $\mu$ g/mL) was quantified using a NanoDrop (ThermoScientific, Loughborough, UK). RNA yield from samples was between 75 to 637  $\mu$ g/mL, with a purity ratio (A260/A280) of between 1.1 to 2.13, with a purity ratio of 2.0 being optimum.

## 2.3.7 cDNA synthesis using RNA from epithelial cells

Total RNA extracted from lysed cell monolayers was converted to cDNA using the iScript cDNA synthesis kit (Biorad) according to manufacturer's instructions. RNA

concentration was determined using the NanoDrop (as described in section 2.3.6) and a total of 1  $\mu$ g of RNA was converted in each reaction. The RNA concentration was calculated using the following equation:

## Volume of $1\mu g RNA = 1000/(RNA concentration)$

Briefly, reagents were combined in a single well of a qPCR tube strip, including 5x iScript Reaction Mix, iScript Reverse Transcriptase, nuclease free water and RNA template according to the number of treatments (Table 2.4).

The reaction tubes were covered with cover strips and centrifuged briefly to ensure the sample was at the bottom of the test wells. The test strips were placed in an AriaMx Real time PCR machine (Agilent) and incubated using optimal conditions (Table 2.9). Samples were removed from the AriaMx Real time PCR machine and stored at -20°C.

#### Table 2.9 cDNA synthesis conditions

Step	Condition
Priming	25°C for 5 min
Reverse transcription	46°C for 20 min
Reverse transcriptase inactivation	95°C for 1 min

# 2.3.8 Quantitative PCR of chicken epithelial cDNA (probe-based method)

Prior to the reaction, primers, and probes (Table 2.2) were reconstituted in nuclease-free water to a concentration of 10 pmol/ $\mu$ l and were vortexed thoroughly to mix. Quantitative PCR using the probe-based method was used to amplify the genes of interest (CXCLi1, CXCLi2 and TGF $\beta$ ) and the housekeeping gene 28S ribosomal RNA. The 28S housekeeping gene was further diluted to 1/1000 before addition to the reaction mixture. Each PCR volume totalled 25  $\mu$ l (Table 2.7).

Reactions were performed in duplicate wells of the AriaMx Real time PCR machine (Agilent, Cheshire, UK) to provide technical replicates per experiments. The primers and probes used within the study (Table 2.2) had specific annealing temperatures (Table 2.4), and the general working conditions used for the qPCR are summarised below (Table 2.10).

## Table 2.10 qPCR conditions

Step	Condition	Number cycles	

1: Activation	10 min at 95°C	1
2: Denaturation	30s at 95°C	
3: Annealing	1 min at temperature defined by primers/probe being used (see Table 2.8)	40

qPCR reactions were performed in an AriaMx real time PCR machine (Agilent). The Ct values were determined by measuring fluorescence of the probe specific to the gene of interest (Table 2.2), this was selected during PCR setup. Data from the AriaMx real time PCR machine was analysed using the Agilent AriaMx software (Agilent Aria 1.8). Data was loaded, and a graphical Table was produced of the Ct values from the selected PCR run. Threshold fluorescence was adjusted to 50 for all samples to ensure consistency.

Changes in gene transcription were assessed using the gene expression ratio and were calculated using the Pfaffl Method (Pfaffl, 2001) and AriaMx Software (Agilent). The Pfaffl method calculates relative gene expression while taking differences in primer efficiency into consideration (Bradburn, 2020); the Pfaffl equation is as follows:

Gene Expression Ratio = 
$$\frac{(primer\ efficiency\ GOI)^{\Delta Ct\ GOI}}{(primer\ efficiency\ HKG)^{\Delta Ct\ HKG}}$$

The Ct values of duplicate technical replicates was calculated. Using the control mean the change in Ct value ( $\Delta$ Ct) was calculated. Converted primer efficiencies were confirmed (see section 2.1; Table 2.3).

## 2.3.9 Genomic Analysis

Nineteen *Campylobacter* isolates were cultured (as described in section 2.2.2.1) and DNA was successfully extracted (as described in section 2.2.6). Genomic DNA was fully sequenced by Dr Matthew Hitchings at The Swansea Genome Centre.

Genomes were analysed using PATRIC (<u>https://www.patricbrc.org/</u>) and Galaxy. Within Galaxy, genomes were scanned for virulence genes using the virulence factor database (VFDB; Table 2.11) and antibiotic resistance genes using the Resfinder database, NDARO, and comprehensive antibiotic resistance database (CARD; Table 2.12).

 Table 2.11 Virulence genes scanned for within the virulence factor database.

Gene	Gene Name	Reference
flaA	Flagellin A	

flaB	Flagellin B	(D. John, 2018)
flaC	Flagellin C	(D. John, 2018)
cadF	Outer membrane fibronectin-binding protein	(D. John, 2018)
cdtA	Cytolethal distending toxin A	(D. John, 2018)
cdtB	Cytolethal distending toxin B	(D. John, 2018)
cdtC	Cytolethal distending toxin C	(D. John, 2018)
cheA	Histidine autokinase	(Du et al., 2018)
cheV	Coupling scaffold protein	(Du et al., 2018)
cheY	Chemotaxis response regulator protein	(Du et al., 2018)
ciaB	Campylobacter invasion antigen B	(D. John, 2018)
ciaC	Campylobacter invasion antigen C	(D. John, 2018)
flhA	key component of flagellar export apparatus	(Carrillo et al., 2004)
flhB	key component of flagellar export apparatus	(Carrillo et al., 2004)
fliA	Flagellar biosynthesis RNA polymerase sigma factor	(D. John, 2018)
fliP	Component of flagellar export apparatus (T3SS)	(D. J. Bolton, 2015)
fliQ	Component of flagellar export apparatus (T3SS)	(D. J. Bolton, 2015)
fliR	Component of flagellar export apparatus (T3SS)	(D. J. Bolton, 2015)
jlpA	Surface exposed lipoprotein	(D. John, 2018)
pebA	Bi-functional adhesion/ABC transporter aspartate/	(D. John, 2018)
	glutamate-binding protein	
porA	Major outer membrane protein	(D. John, 2018)
flgR	Sigma-54 associated transcriptional activator	(D. John, 2018)
flgS	Signal transduction histidine kinase	(D. John, 2018)

Table 2.12 Antibiotic resistance genes screened for within the Resfinder database, national database of antibiotic resistant organisms and comprehensive antibiotic resistance database.

Gene	Antibiotic Class	Reference	
blaOXA-184	Penam, Carbapenem, Cephalosporin	(Alcock et al., 2019; Evans & Amyes, 2014; Mouftah et al., 2021)	
blaOXA-193	Penam, Carbapenem, Cephalosporin	(Alcock et al., 2019; Evans & Amyes, 2014; Mouftah et al., 2021)	
blaOXA-452	Penam, Carbapenem, Cephalosporin	(Alcock et al., 2019; Evans & Amyes, 2014; Mouftah et al., 2021)	
blaOXA-453	Penam, Carbapenem, Cephalosporin	(Alcock et al., 2019; Evans & Amyes, 2014; Mouftah et al., 2021)	
blaOXA-605	Penam, Carbapenem, Cephalosporin	(Alcock et al., 2019; Evans & Amyes, 2014)	
tet(O)	Tetracycline	(Alcock et al., 2019; Connell, 2003)	
tet(O/32/O)	Tetracycline	(Alcock et al., 2019; Connell, 2003)	
OXA-184	Penam, Carbapenem, Cephalosporin	(Alcock et al., 2019)	
OXA-450	Penam, Carbapenem, Cephalosporin	(Alcock et al., 2019)	
OXA-452	Penam, Carbapenem, Cephalosporin	(Alcock et al., 2019)	
OXA-453	Penam, Carbapenem, Cephalosporin	(Alcock et al., 2019)	
cmeA	Macrolide antibiotic, fusidane antibiotic, cephalosporin, fluoroquinolone antibiotic	(Alcock et al., 2019)	
cmeB	Macrolide antibiotic, fusidane antibiotic, cephalosporin, fluoroquinolone antibiotic	(Alcock et al., 2019)	
cmeC	Macrolide antibiotic, fusidane antibiotic, cephalosporin, fluoroquinolone antibiotic	(Alcock et al., 2019)	
cmeR	Macrolide antibiotic, fusidane antibiotic, cephalosporin, fluoroquinolone antibiotic	(Alcock et al., 2019)	

## 2.4 Analysis Software and Statistics

## 2.4.1 Software and Statistical Analysis

GraphPad Prism version 9.0.0 for Windows (GraphPad Software, San Diego, California USA, <u>www.graphpad.com</u>) was used to construct graphs and execute statistical analysis of data throughout this study.

Data from bacterial growth curves were presented as line graphs. The mean of three biological replicates +/- SEM was plotted. Differences between isolates/groups were assessed using two-way ANOVA, including a Tukey's Multiple Comparisons post-hoc test. A p < 0.05 was considered statistically significant.

Data from *Campylobacter* growth challenged with feed additives was presented as bar charts in a panel of six plots. Five plots included individual strains and the sixth plot combined a plot of all strains. Data was presented as the mean  $\pm$  the SEM of a minimum of three biological replicates. Tests for normality included Anderson-Darling (A2*), D'Agostino-Pearson (K2), Shapiro-Wilk (W) and Kolmogorov-Smirnov (distance). Therefore, differences between isolates/groups were assessed using a Kruskal-Wallis test, including a Dunn's Multiple Comparisons post-hoc test. Data are presented as mean  $\pm$  SEM. Statistical significance was ascribed when p < 0.05.

*Campylobacter* invasion data from cells pre-treated with feed additives were presented as bar charts in a panel of six plots. Five plots included individual strains and the sixth plot combined a plot of all strains. Data was presented as the mean +/- the SEM of a minimum of three biological replicates. Tests for normality included Anderson-Darling (A2*), D'Agostino-Pearson (K2), Shapiro-Wilk (W) and Kolmogorov-Smirnov (distance). Therefore, differences between isolates/groups were assessed using a Kruskal-Wallis test (non-parametric) or two-way ANOVA test (parametric), including a Dunn's or Dunnett's Multiple Comparisons post-hoc test (respectively). Data are presented as mean  $\pm$  SEM. Statistical significance was ascribed when p < 0.05.

Viability assay data was presented as dot plots which presented three biological replicates. Each biological replicate was a mean of the triplicate experimental replicates. The mean of the three biological replicates was also plotted  $\pm$  SEM. Tests for normality included Anderson-Darling (A2*), D'Agostino-Pearson (K2), Shapiro-Wilk (W) and Kolmogorov-Smirnov (distance). A Bartlett's test was used to test for differences in standard deviation. Therefore, differences between isolates/groups were assessed using one-way ANOVA (parametric) or Kruskal-Wallis test (non-parametric) including a Dunn's or Dunnett's multiple comparisons post-hoc test (respectively). If distribution was normal, but standard deviations significantly differed, a Brown-Forsythe and Welch's ANOVA test was used with a Dunnett's T3 multiple comparisons post-hoc test. Data are presented as mean  $\pm$  SEM. Statistical significance was ascribed when p < 0.05.

Cytokine expression was presented as plots which presented the mean of a minimum of two biological replicates ± SEM. Tests for normality included Anderson-Darling (A2*), D'Agostino-Pearson (K2), Shapiro-Wilk (W) and Kolmogorov-Smirnov (distance). Therefore, differences between isolates/groups were assessed using a Kruskal-Wallis test (non-parametric) or two-way ANOVA test (parametric), including a Dunn's or Dunnett's Multiple Comparisons post-hoc test (respectively). Data are presented as mean  $\pm$  SEM. Statistical significance was ascribed when p < 0.05.

## Chapter 3: Selection of standard *Campylobacter* strains for *in vitro* feed additive testing

#### **3.1 Introduction**

There is substantial evidence that the population structure of *Campylobacter* in intensive broiler production is complex and are extremely diverse in both genotype and phenotype (Colles & Maiden, 2012; D. John, 2018; Vidal et al., 2016). There are two major Multi-Locus Sequencing Type (MLST) clonal complexes (CC) (45 and 21) which exhibit distinctive infection rates, unique *in vivo* behaviours, and consistently colonise the chicken gastrointestinal (GI) tract (John et al., 2017).

In addition to genotypic variation, research has highlighted the importance of isolate source as a contributor to pathogenicity. For instance, cytotoxicity of strains isolated from poultry and human sources have been found to be 26.7% and 38.7%, respectively (Wysok et al., 2020). Research into *Campylobacter* heterogeneity has led to the identification of strains with a specifically invasive phenotype leading to successful extraintestinal spread within broiler chickens (Suzanne Humphrey et al., 2015). Despite the well-documented diversity between *Campylobacter* strains that can cause invasive disease and those that remain localised within the chicken GI tract, there is a poor understanding of the specific differences between strains and the underlying cause for these phenotypic differences (John et al., 2017).

Most studies, to date, have investigated few isolates and strains which poorly reflect the diversity of the genus. To apply scientific findings to *Campylobacter* as a genus, especially for the development of *Campylobacter* targeted treatments (e.g., feed additives), it is of the upmost importance that research is conducted on a range of isolates that represent this diverse bacterial genus.

## 3.1.1 Campylobacter genetic diversity

Sequence types (ST) are determined by genotyping *Campylobacter* samples using MLST of seven housekeeping genes, and this system is commonly used to categorise *Campylobacter* strains (Rawson et al., 2022). Despite the growth cycle of a broiler flock being short, there is sufficient time for multiple *Campylobacter* STs to colonise simultaneously (Lydekaitienė & Kudirkienė, 2020; Rawson et al., 2022). *Campylobacter* with a ST that match central genotype can be further categorised into a clonal complex

(CC) (Jolley et al., 2018). For *C. jejuni* specifically there are 11,884 distinct STs spanning across 45 CCs (Šoprek et al., 2022).

Housekeeping genes from *C. jejuni* strains show little sequence diversity, with a small pool of alleles, with high rates of recombination between isolates (Suerbaum et al., 2001). Despite the limited number of mechanisms by which *Campylobacter* may acquire genetic diversity, research has indicated that there is a large degree of intraspecific genotypic diversity (Dorrell et al., 2001)

Important core genes are shared by *Campylobacter* isolates regardless of source, e.g., *cadF* (virulence gene that works within contact regions to facilitate adherence to fibronectin), however, there are also accessory genes which are only functionally important for poultry isolates e.g., *ciaB* (caecal colonisation virulence gene) (Reddy & Zishiri, 2018). Thus, each strain of *Campylobacter* may utilise different mechanisms to spread throughout the host GI tract and this is down to genetic diversity, source diversity and an interaction of these two factors (Jeon et al., 2010).

## 3.1.2 Campylobacter diversity in growth and survival

The genotypic and phenotypic heterogeneity among *Campylobacter* results in differences in the ability of individual strains to grow and survive (Dzianach et al., 2022). The best example of this is variation in the ability to colonise and persist in the chicken's GI tract or in other hosts (El-Shibiny et al., 2007). For instance, *Campylobacter* isolated from the environment (mammalian origin) or poultry products are likely to have grown at either 37°C or 42 °C respectively due to the internal body temperatures of the respective hosts (Duffy & Dykes, 2006; El-Shibiny et al., 2007). Mechanistic understanding of this was provided by Duffy and Dykes (2006), who demonstrated that genes involved in the stress response are differentially regulated at 37°C and 42°C, affecting survival on beef, chicken and in water using four genetically distinct strains and the study concluded that recovery of *Campylobacter* from food is influenced by different temperatures in a strain specific manner. In addition to this Khanna, Bhavsar and Kapadnis (2006) found that growth and chemotaxis of *C. jejuni* was greater at 37°C than at 42°C, indicating that mammalian core temperature is favourable for *Campylobacter* virulence.

Survival times for *Campylobacter* in water vary between 2-4 weeks but have also been reported up to 4 months (Chan et al., 2001; Rollins & Colwell, 1986). This variation may reflect strain diversity or differences in experimental conditions (e.g., water type,

incubation conditions) (Cools et al., 2003). Avian isolates have demonstrated prolonged survival in water *in vitro*, compared to clinical and water isolates, emphasising the role of drinking water as a campylobacteriosis transmission route for strains of specific origin (Cools et al., 2003).

*Campylobacter* strains rarely exist independently of other strains, both in the environment and within the poultry GI tract. It has been demonstrated using two distinct *Campylobacter* strains (*C. jejuni* OR1 and *C. coli* OR12), that the exponential phase of growth is similar during co-culture, however strain sensitivity to excess numbers of other strains or products, was observed at higher ratios during the stationary phase (El-Shibiny et al., 2007).

Genome sequence analysis and monitoring the respiratory activity of cells that are metabolically active revealed that some strains (e.g., *C. jejuni* NCTC 11168) are capable of catabolising fucose due to a novel L-fucose pathway present within a 9kb genomic island (absent in *C. jejuni* 81-176) (Gundogdu et al., 2007; Hofreuter, 2014; Line et al., 2010; Wagley et al., 2014). Growth temperature has been shown to affect the oxidation and utilisation of growth substrates at 42°C, and Line *et al.* (2010) showed that the genome sequenced strain *C. jejuni* NCTC 11168 was able to better oxidise nearly 190 substrates as a potential source of carbon.

*Campylobacter* cells require  $O_2$  for growth but are highly sensitive to normal atmospheric oxygen tensions (Kaakoush et al., 2007). Despite microaerophilic requirements, *Campylobacter* can survive in conditions of atmospheric oxygen tension, e.g., on chicken meat for prolonged periods (Hilbert et al., 2010) – this is termed oxygen tolerance and is an important factor in *Campylobacter* virulence and pathogenesis. Studies have been conducted which demonstrate that some *Campylobacter* isolates are obligate microaerophiles with varying degrees of oxygen tolerance that could be attributed to the presence of eighteen genes identified by Kaakoush *et al.* (2007) (Table 3.1). There are several other mechanistic assumptions by which *Campylobacter* isolates can tolerate varying oxygen tensions such as biofilm formation or interaction with other microorganisms such as *Pseudomonas* species (Hilbert et al., 2010).

Table 3.1 Eighteen genes identified that encode proteins involved in oxygen tolerance in *C. jejuni* strains NCTC11168 and RM1221 (Kaakoush *et al.*, 2007).

Gene	Function		
cj0264c	Dimethylsulfoxide reductase		
cj0203	Putative transmembrane transport protein downregulated at low oxygen		
	tension		
cjo239c	NifU protein homologue downregulated at low oxygen tension		
сј0240с	NifS protein homologue downregulated at low oxygen tension		
cj0298c	Oxobutanoate hydroxy methyltransferase downregulated at low oxygen		
	tension		
cj0414	Putative oxidoreductase subunit downregulated at low oxygen tension		
cj0415	Putative oxidoreductase subunit downregulated at low oxygen tension		
cj0425	Putative periplasmic protein downregulated at low oxygen tension		
cj0628	Putative lipoprotein downregulated at low oxygen tension		
cj0629	Possible lipoprotein downregulated at low oxygen tension		
cj0779	Thiol peroxidase downregulated at low oxygen tension		
cj0780	Periplasmic nitrate reductase		
cj1183c	Putative fatty-acyl-phospholipid synthase downregulated at low oxygen		
	tension		
cj0864	Putative periplasmic protein upregulated at low oxygen tension		
cj0874c	Cytochrome C upregulated at low oxygen tension		
сј0876с	Putative periplasmic protein upregulated at low oxygen tension		
cj1357c	Putative periplasmic cytochrome C upregulated at low oxygen tension		
cj1358c	Putative periplasmic cytochrome C upregulated at low oxygen tension		

## 3.1.3 Diversity in Campylobacter pathogenicity

## 3.1.3.1 Differences in the presence and absence of *Campylobacter*

## invasive genes

There are specific genes that are crucial for facilitating and enabling invasion of *Campylobacter* into epithelial cell lines and intracellular survival (Table 3.2), and it is well documented that the presence of these genes varies between strains. To accurately represent the invasive spectrum of *Campylobacter*, and apply scientific findings appropriately, research must be conducted on strains isolated from different, but relevant sources (environmental, veterinary, or clinical) and tested on both human and avian cell lines (D. A. John et al., 2017).

Gene	Function	Reference	
flaA	Adherence to and invasion of	(D. A. John et al., 2017;	
	epithelial cells	Zheng et al., 2006b)	
ciaA	Invasion of epithelial cells	(D. A. John et al., 2017)	
ciaI	Intracellular survival	(D. A. John et al., 2017)	
iamA	Invasion of epithelial cells	(Frazão et al., 2017)	
	and intracellular survival		
ciaB	Invasion of epithelial cells	(Frazão et al., 2017)	
	and intracellular survival		
pldA	Invasion of epithelial cells	(Frazão et al., 2017)	
	and intracellular survival		
Various genes within pVir	Invasion of epithelial cells	al cells (Zheng et al., 2006b)	
plasmid	_		
cadF	Adherence to and invasion of (Zheng et al., 20		
	epithelial cells		

Table 3.2 Summary of genes essential for bacterial internalisation by host epithelial cells.

#### 3.1.3.2 Diversity of in vitro Campylobacter induced immune responses

*Campylobacter* demonstrates phenotypic diversity through differences in adhesion and invasion to epithelial cell lines, toxin production, serum resistance (Backert et al., 2013; Wassennaar et al., 1993; Zheng et al., 2006b). While *Campylobacter* is pathogenic *in vivo* to both human and avian hosts (Black et al., 1988; Griekspoor et al., 2015; Knudsen et al., 2006; L. K. Williams et al., 2013), it has been shown that there is significant variation in *Campylobacter* isolates to interact *in vitro* with cultured epithelial cells (Backert et al., 2013). The pathogenesis of *Campylobacter* has been studied extensively *in vitro* by focusing on human intestinal cell responses (such as HT-29, T84 and CaCo-2) to *Campylobacter* infection. This process involves *Campylobacter* internalisation and activation of downstream signalling pathways such as mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK), extracellular signal-regulated kinases (ERK) and p38 MAPK (D. A. John et al., 2017; Larson et al., 2013; MacCallum, Haddock, et al., 2005; Zheng et al., 2006b). The activation of these pathways leads to production of interleukin 8 (IL-8), an inflammatory chemokine, and IL-10, an anti-inflammatory cytokine (D. A. John et al., 2017).

Backert *et al.* (2013) found that *C. jejuni* CG8486 is approximately 1000-fold less invasive than *C. jejuni* 81-176 in INT-407 cells, but in contrast no differences in invasion levels were detected in CaCo-2 cells. It has been observed that *Campylobacter* isolates from patients with severe GI symptoms invade cultured epithelial cells *in vitro* more than isolates with mild symptoms (Fauchere et al., 1986). In addition to evidence that there is a difference in efficiency and invasion capabilities between strains into cultured cell lines of certain host or tissue origins, there has been investigation into strain source as a

contributing factor to pathogenic diversity into specific cell lines (Backert et al., 2013; Zheng et al., 2006b).

#### 3.1.4 Phenotypic diversity should be addressed when product testing

Despite the extensive research into human cell line interaction with *Campylobacter* there are limited studies that have studied interactions with avian cells (D. A. John et al., 2017). A recent study conducted by John *et al.* (2017) investigated the difference in cytokine responses of avian 8E11 and human HT-29 cells to challenge with 100 *Campylobacter* isolates from a variety of sources with varying STs; they found that the induction of inflammatory cytokines varied widely (up to 100,000-fold) between infected vs uninfected cell lines but were unable to identify differences in response between isolate source or sequence type. Interestingly, the reference strains, *C. jejuni* M1 and *C. jejuni* NCTC 11168, produced responses that equated to the mean for the whole study population, indicating that these strains were appropriate to represent the diversity of this study population (D. A. John et al., 2017).

## 3.1.5 Aims

A collection of *Campylobacter* strains (BBSRC LifeEnd BB/M009610/1) isolated from the liver, ileum or caeca of free-range broiler chickens were used to study species diversity in *in vitro* growth and epithelial cell invasion. The strains had all been previously characterised at the genomic level (Sheppard *et al.*, 2011; Sheppard *et al.*, 2013). The present study used genomic data to identify the presence and absence of virulence and antibiotic resistance genes to further determine the genetic diversity within the *Campylobacter* strain collection. The data collected in this chapter was used to select a standard set of strains that reflected the diversity and invasive spectrum of *Campylobacter*. The specific chapter aims were to:

- Investigate genetic diversity within 19 *Campylobacter* isolates focussing on virulence and antimicrobial resistance genes.
- Investigate the effect of temperature and source on the growth response of 21 *Campylobacter* strains.
- Investigate the effect of source on the invasive capabilities of 23 *Campylobacter* strains isolated from different anatomical areas of the chicken.
- Select a subset of *Campylobacter* strains that show consistent *in vitro* responses for testing *in vitro* effects of feed additives in future chapters.

## **3.2 Materials and Methods**

## 3.2.1 Campylobacter isolates

This study used a total of 27 isolates (Table 2.8) of *C. jejuni* and *C. coli* isolated from naturally infected broiler chickens throughout different stages of the study. Strains were isolated from the caeca (C) (n=9), ileum (G) (n=9), or liver (L) (n=9) (BBSRC LifeEnd BB/M009610/). Two reference strains were used throughout this study (*C. jejuni* M1 and *C. jejuni* NCTC 11168; Table 2.8). Isolates were cultured as described in section 2.2.2.1. Not all strains were used in each assay because ofstock contamination.

## 3.2.2 Epithelial cell culture

Avian intestinal epithelial cells (MM-CHiC clone: 8E11; Tentamedix GmbH; formerly Micromol, Germany) and human colon adenocarcinoma epithelial cells (CaCo-2; ECACC, Cat number 86010202) were cultured as described in section 2.3.1.

## 3.2.3 Campylobacter DNA Isolation and Genomic Analysis

Nineteen of the *Campylobacter* isolates were cultured as described in section 2.2.2.1 and DNA successfully extracted (section 2.2.6). Genomic DNA was sequenced at The Swansea Genome Centre. Full genomic sequences were analysed using Galaxy and heat maps generated using Morpheus.

Genomes were analysed for the presence and absence of genes encoding *Campylobacter* virulence factors identified in the virulence factor database (VFDB) (Table 2.11). Genomes were also analysed for the presence and absence of antibiotic resistance genes using the Resfinder database (Table 2.12), NDARO (Table 2.12), and comprehensive antibiotic resistance database (CARD) (Table 2.12).

## **3.2.4** *Campylobacter* growth assay

The growth assay was performed as described in section 2.2.3.1.

## 3.2.5 Invasion of epithelial cell lines by Campylobacter

Epithelial cells were cultured in a 24-well plate as described in section 2.3.2 and 2.3.3, respectively. The gentamicin protection assay was performed as described in section 2.3.5.

The number of bacterial cells recovered from epithelial cells was compared to the original bacterial inoculum and used to calculate percentage invasion.

## **3.3 Results**

## 3.3.1 Genomic Evaluation of *Campylobacter* Isolates for Virulence Factors and Antibiotic Resistance

To compare the presence and absence of virulence genes between isolates, the virulence factor database (VFDB) was used (Figure 3.1). *C. jejuni* NCTC 11168 contained all twenty-three genes screened for by the VFDB. Two out of 19 isolates contained both *flaA* and *flaB* (*C. jejuni* NCTC 11168 and *C. coli* C11), whilst *flaC* was present in all 19 isolates. Thirteen genes including *cadF* were present in all isolates (Figure 3.1). All three *cdt* genes were present in 12 isolates; L7 was the only isolate that contained only two out of three *cdt* genes (Figure 3.1).



Figure 3.1 Presence and absence of genes encoding virulence factors in 19 *Campylobacter* isolates.

Genomes of 19 *Campylobacter* isolates were compared to the VFDB for presence and absence of 23 genes known to encode *Campylobacter* related virulence factors. Green squares indicate presence of the gene, red squares indicate gene absence.

Three databases were utilised to compare antibiotic resistance across the 19 *Campylobacter* isolates (Figure 3.2; Table 2.8). *C. jejuni* M1 was the only isolate to

contain the blaOXA-184 gene and this was consistent across all three databases. Presence/absence of bla-OXA genes was consistent across all three databases (Figure 3.2).

The Resfinder database (Figure 3.2 (A)) produced results for tet(O) presence/absence that did not agree with results produced from NDARO (Figure 3.2 (B)) and CARD (Figure 3.2 (C)). Both the Resfinder and CARD databases screened isolates for blaOXA-452 and blaOXA-453 (OXA-452, OXA-453) genes (Figure 3.2 (A and C)), which confirmed presence of the blaOXA-452 gene in a singular isolate (C20) and blaOXA-453 in two isolates (G7 and C11).



Figure 3.2 Presence and absence of genes encoding antibiotic resistance in 19 *Campylobacter* isolates.

Genomes of 19 *Campylobacter* isolates were compared to (A) the Resfinder database for presence and absence of 6 genes known to confer antibiotic resistance, (B) NDARO for presence and absence of 3 genes known to confer antibiotic resistance, and (C) the CARD for the presence and absence of 9 genes known to confer antibiotic resistance. Green squares indicate presence of the gene, red squares indicate gene absence.

## 3.3.2 Campylobacter Growth

*Campylobacter* isolates from caeca grown (Figure 3.3) at 42°C had significantly higher growth rates compared to the same isolates grown at 37°C (n=7) (Table 3.1). However,

the same was not observed for ileal and liver isolates (Figure 3.4 and Figure 3.5, respectively), where temperature did not affect growth rate (p>0.05).



Figure 3.3 Growth of *Campylobacter* caecal isolates over 24 h at different temperatures.

Optical density (600 nm) of *Campylobacter* isolates of caecal origin (isolates n = 7) incubated at 37°C and 42°C, over 24 h was measured. Mean optical density plotted ± SEM (biological replicate n = 3-5). A two-way ANOVA revealed temperature as a significant cause of growth variation (p = 0.0234).



Figure 3.4 Growth of Campylobacter ileal isolates over 24h at different temperatures.

Optical density (600 nm) of *Campylobacter* isolates of ileal origin (isolates n=8) incubated at 37°C and 42°C, over 24 h was measured. Mean optical density plotted  $\pm$  SEM (biological replicates n = 3-5). A two-way ANOVA revealed temperature had no significant effect on growth of ileal isolates (p = 0.218).



Figure 3.5 Growth of Campylobacter liver isolates over 24h at different temperatures.

Optical density (600 nm) of *Campylobacter* isolates of liver origin (isolate n = 6) incubated at 37°C and 42°C, over 24 h was measured. Mean optical density plotted ± SEM (biological replicate n = 3-5). A two-way ANOVA revealed temperature had no significant effect on growth of liver isolates (p = 0.674).

#### 3.3.3 Campylobacter Invasion

Twenty-one *Campylobacter* isolates from different sections of the chicken gut and liver were tested *in vitro* for their invasive capability into 8E11 avian (Figure 3.6) and CaCo-2 human (Figure 3.7) epithelial cell lines. Two reference strains (*C. jejuni* M1 and *C. jejuni* NCTC 11168) were also used. A gentamicin protection assay (GPA) was used to measure the percentage of bacterial cells internalised by epithelial cells from a standardised inoculum (section 2.2.2.1 and 2.3.5). The GPA methodology does differ in the literature making comparison between studies difficult, and therefore the accuracy of the assay has been questioned and evaluated (Friis et al., 2010) One out of the seven caecal isolates (C20) had a mean invasion of over 1% of the original inoculum into CaCo-2 cells (Figure 3.7), all seven isolates achieved <1% invasion into 8E11 cells. No statistically significant difference was found between individual caecal isolates.

Out of the eight ileal isolates, one isolate achieved, on average, >1% invasion into CaCo-2 cells (G28) (Figure 3.7); similarly, to the caecal isolates, all ileal isolates achieved <1% invasion into 8E11 cells (Figure 3.7). A Dunn's Multiple comparisons statistical test compared invasion percentage of individual isolates and revealed a significant difference (p < 0.05) in invasion between two of the ileal isolates (G25 & G28; Figure 3.7), however this was only seen in the CaCo-2 cell line.

Of the six liver isolates, all achieved <1% invasion into 8E11 cells (Figure 3.8); only four of the isolates were successfully measured using the GPA into CaCo-2 cells, of which one isolate achieved >1% invasion (L29). No statistically significant difference was found between individual liver isolates.

The mean invasion ability of all isolates was compared and there was no statistically significant difference found between isolates from various sources of the chicken gut or liver.



Figure 3.6 Invasion (%) of Campylobacter isolates into 8E11 cells

Epithelial cells were grown to confluence and infected with *Campylobacter* strains for 4 h. Reference strains were *C. jejuni* M1 and *C. jejuni* 11168 and they were compared to caecal (C), ileal (G), and liver (L) isolates. Data is presented as the mean of biological replicates  $(n=3) \pm$ 

SEM. Isolates in bold were carried forward for experimental analysis with feed additives and probiotics. A Kruskal-Wallis test and Dunn's multiple comparisons post-hoc test was applied to the data and revealed no significant differences of isolate invasion into epithelial cells.



Figure 3.7 Invasion (%) of *Campylobacter* isolates into CaCo-2 cells

Epithelial cells were grown to confluence and infected with *Campylobacter* strains for 4 h. Reference strains were *C. jejuni* M1 and *C. jejuni* 11168 and they were compared to caecal (C), ileal (G), and liver (L) isolates. Data is presented as the mean of biological replicates  $(n=3) \pm$  SEM. Isolates in bold were carried forward for experimental analysis with feed additives and probiotics. A Kruskal-Wallis test and Dunn's multiple comparisons post-hoc test was applied to the data and revealed a significant variation between isolate invasion into epithelial cells (p = 0.0012); invasion of isolate G25 and G28 were significantly different (* p < 0.05).

Isolates were grouped and a mean invasion capability was calculated for liver, caecal and ileal isolates (Figure 3.8). The highest recorded individual invasion measurement was from a caecal isolate into CaCo-2 cells (C7 - 4.762%), but the highest mean invasion was measured when liver isolates invaded CaCo-2 cells (Figure 3.8).

Caecal and liver isolates (Figure 3.8) both expressed higher invasive capabilities into CaCo-2 cells than 8E11, this was statistically significant (p = 0.021, p = 0.013,

respectively). There was no statistically significant difference between ileal isolate invasion into 8E11 or CaCo-2 cells (Figure 3.8).



Figure 3.8 Invasion (%) of Campylobacter isolates into CaCo-2 and 8E11 cells

Epithelial cells were grown to confluence and infected with *Campylobacter* strains for 4 h. Reference strains were *C. jejuni* M1 and *C. jejuni* 11168 and they were compared to caecal (C), ileal (G), and liver (L) isolates. Data is presented as the mean of all isolates from a given source  $\pm$  SEM (variation of isolates within each group is also plotted). A Mann-Whitney test was applied to the data and revealed caecal and liver isolates had a significantly higher invasion percentage into CaCo-2 cells (* p < 0.05).

## 3.3.4 Comparison of Campylobacter invasion to published dataset

To select strains for use in product testing later in the thesis, the invasion data generated from the GPA in this study was plotted against data generated in a previous study that utilised the same assay for invasion analysis (John, 2018; Figure 3.9 and 3.10). A simple linear regression was produced and the  $r^2$  calculated for invasion into 8E11 cells was 0.0005 (p = 0.7708) (Figure 3.8) and 0.0245 for invasion into CaCo-2 (p = 0.1162) (Figure 3.10). These results indicated that the *Campylobacter* strains did not invade consistently between experiments.

In addition to the reference strains (*C. jejuni* M1 and *C. jejuni* NCTC 11168), three experimental strans, including C13 (low invader), and G28 and L29 (high invaders) were selected to carry forward for the remainder of the *in vitro* experimentation (Table 3.6).



Figure 3.9 Comparison of invasion (%) of *Campylobacter* between previous study (John, 2018) and current study into 8E11 cells.

A simple linear regression was conducted on invasion data of *Campylobacter* isolates into CaCo-2 cells from the current study and a previous study using the same isolates; mean of biological replicates (n = 3 to 15) is plotted. Data points in red indicate isolates selected and carried forward for experimental analysis with feed additives and probiotics.



Figure 3.10 Comparison of invasion (%) of *Campylobacter* between previous study (John, 2018) and current study into CaCo-2 cells.

A simple linear regression was conducted on invasion data of *Campylobacter* isolates into CaCo-2 cells from the current study and previous study using the same isolates; mean of biological replicates (n = 3 to 15) is plotted. Data points in red indicate isolates selected and carried forward for experimental analysis with feed additives and probiotics.

	Invasion (%) into 8E11 cells (±SEM)		Invasion (%) into CaCo-2 cells (±SEM)	
Isolate	Previous study	Current study	Previous study	Current study
C13	1.061	$0.203 \pm 0.074$	1.515	$0.205 \pm 0.047$
G28	2.883	$0.353 \pm 0.144$	2.667	1.29 ±0.338
L29	2.778	0.381 ±0.162	2.778	1.042 ±0.388

Table 3.3 Summary of isolates carried forward for feed additive testing based on invasion data compared between current study and previous study (John, 2018).

## **3.4 Discussion**

A total of 29 *Campylobacter* isolates from various sources within the avian GI tract and with different sequence types were analysed (27 isolates from naturally infected broiler chickens and two reference strains (*C. jejuni* M1 and *C. jejuni* NCTC 11168; Table 3.2)). The results in the present study emphasise the diverse behaviour of *Campylobacter* isolates in a sterile and controlled laboratory environment. In addition, a diverse phenotypic variation was observed for isolates from the same source, including growth rate and invasion potential into epithelial cell lines of different origins (Bourke, 2002; van Putten et al., 2009).

Cools *et al.* (2003) reported that isolates from various sources (avian, human, environmental) have different optimum atmospheric requirements for *in vitro* culture. Here, the ability of isolates of avian and human origin (Table 3.2) to grow at both 37°C and 42°C with temperature resulting in no significant difference in population density at 24h was demonstrated.

The isolates analysed in the present study were evaluated by John (2018), however, the protocol used in the current study was updated due to isolates exhibiting increased resistance to the previously used gentamicin concentration which was demonstrated by optimisation assays and gentamicin washes. In the current study preliminary GPAs were conducted with each assay increasing the concentration of gentamicin for the extracellular killing of non-invaded bacterial cells. It was found that 125  $\mu$ g/mL was optimum for ensuring no survival of extracellular bacteria compared to 100  $\mu$ g/mL in the original protocol, however this increase in gentamicin concentration used may have led to intracellular killing of bacteria, resulting in a lower percentage invasion being reported. The invasion results we report here are dissimilar to the previous study (despite use of the same epithelial cell lines). The isolates invaded at approximately 10-fold lower than previously reported, further confirming the unpredictable behaviour of *Campylobacter* strains and the influence of a laboratory environment on resistance to antibiotics.

The main objective of this chapter was to select three strains for further testing (Chapter 4 and Chapter 5) that most accurately represented *Campylobacter* populations present within broiler production and produced consistent results during *in vitro* testing.

Nineteen of the twenty-nine isolates were genome sequenced and subjected to genomic analysis. The *cadF* gene was present in 100% of isolates screened, including the two reference stains of human origin. There is a growing number of studies that have reported expression of CadF in 100% of strains analysed (human and avian origin) (Bang et al., 2004; Krause-Gruszczynska et al., 2007). However other studies have reported a variation in this statistic, for example, detection of *cadF* presence in avian isolates was reported as 76% (37 out of 49 isolates) by Chansiripornchai and Sasipreeyajan (2009). The variation in detection of *cadF* between studies could be a result of geographical differences or due to differences associated with isolate source (Chansiripornchai and Sasipreeyajan, 2009).

Within the isolates assessed in the current study, 10.5% of isolates contained the *flaA* gene which is an extraordinarily low prevalence compared to results in the literature that report 100% presence (Andrzejewska et al., 2011; Bang et al., 2004). Motility is considered an essential function for survival within, and colonisation of both avian and human GI tracts (D. J. Bolton, 2015). *FlaA* and *flaB* are the two primary genes that encode the flagellar filament and the expression of both (in a defined ratio) is believed to be a prerequisite for successful motility (Lertsethtakarn et al., 2011; van Vliet & Ketley, 2001; Wassennaar et al., 1993). In this study, the low incidence of *flaA* in genomes compared to previous reports could be due to isolate source.

Coincidentally, *flaB* was present in the same two isolates out of 19 screened indicating the synchronous existence of both FlaA and FlaB proteins to encode the flagellar filament. However, studies suggest that motility of *Campylobacter* is possible without the expression of *flaB* (Wassennaar et al., 1993). Lower prevalence of *flaB* among *Campylobacter* populations compared to *flaA* has been reported and this variation is attributed to isolate source (Krutkiewicz & Klimuszko, 2010).

Out of the 19 isolates sequenced, the Cdt cluster was present in 12 and a partial cluster present in a singular isolate. Cdt is a multi-subunit toxin produced by both *C. jejuni* and *C. coli* and is an important determinant of virulence (Asakura et al., 2008). The presence of *cdtA*, *cdtB*, and *cdtC* is required for functional Cdt activity – absence of one or more of these genes produces low or no Cdt activity (Asakura et al., 2008; Bang et al., 2004).

Ripabelli *et al.* (2010) looked at the variation in Cdt gene expression across 65 *Campylobacter* isolates from human, animal and food sources and reported a higher prevalence of the Cdt cluster (96.9%) than the current study. Discrepancies between the two studies could be attributed to differences in isolate source, and number of isolates analysed. The current study only analyses two strains of human origin and the remainder from chickens, however, isolates from food, animals and clinical isolates from human disease were investigated by Ripabelli *et al.* (2010), suggesting increased toxicity of clinical isolates.

In the current study, genes encoding tetracycline resistance (tet(O) and tet(O/32/O)) were present in 21 to 37% of isolates analysed, but this varied between the databases used. Antibiotics and antibiotic growth promoters (AGPs) are banned in poultry farming due to EU legislation, however, in human treatment of campylobacteriosis macrolides and fluoroquinolones are routinely used (Kurincic et al., 2005; Wagenaar et al., 2006). Resistance to tetracycline varies based on geography and source, for example, resistance in *C. coli* isolates from pigs varied between 1 to 83% across six European countries. The same analysis was conducted on *C. jejuni* isolates from chickens across the same six countries and resistance varied between 1 to 67% (Wagenaar et al., 2006). Isolate source, country of origin, and the database used for analysis appear to be crucial factors in confirming antibiotic resistance amongst isolates.

The genomes of 19 *Campylobacter* isolates were processed through three independent anti-microbial resistance (AMR) databases (Resfinder, CARD, and the NCBI database). Discrepancies between database outputs for the isolates screened could be due to several reasons. Indeed, variable results between Resfinder and CARD (as seen in this study) have been previously reported (Mahfouz et al., 2020). A review by Papp and Solymosi (2022) rigorously compared the three AMR databases used in this study (and other AMR databases) and matched the number of sequences with the associated count of unique genes stored within them. NDARO and Resfinder had 13 and 9 duplicate sequences for specific genes (respectively) whereas CARD was the only database where the number of unique genes and sequences was equal. The AMR databases used in this study are all accessible and regularly updated, however their architecture and content vary, reflected in the differing outputs. An appropriate database must therefore be chosen by each researcher that suits the research question needs (Papp & Solymosi, 2022).
For this specific study, there was a large focus on detection of genes encoding important virulence factors that contribute to *Campylobacter* pathogenesis. In the present study only *C. jejuni* M1 was considered a high invader in 8E11 cells (above 0.5% invasion) despite *C. jejuni* 11168 and isolate C13 testing positive for the more virulence associated genes; in CaCo-2 cells a total of seven isolates (*C. jejuni* NCTC 11168, and isolates C20, C7, G28, L13, L24 and L29) exhibited invasion levels of above 0.5%. From the observed results a link between virulence genes and invasion could not be established. Investigating AMR between isolates in this study is not crucial for determining the invasivity of specific isolates, however it would be preferable to utilise a database (such as CARD) where there is a single sequence matched to each unique gene, especially when using a small number of unique isolates.

The results from this study found invasion between individual isolates to be diverse, however caecal and liver isolates were significantly more invasive toward avian (8E11) cells than human (CaCo-2) cells. Strain specific difference in invasivity was only observed between two isolates (G25 and G28) into CaCo-2 cells; John (2018) reported similar findings where some isolates were unable to invade either cell line, and that invasion potential into cells is highly variable and is dependent on strain type. When grouped based on anatomical area of isolation (liver, ileum, or caeca) there was no significant difference between the isolates for invasion into 8E11 or CaCo-2 cells. John (2018) found that under the same conditions, liver isolates invaded cell lines at a much higher rate compared to caecal or ileal isolates. There are numerous other studies that support these findings which suggest that a higher level of invasion is required for isolates to reach the liver from the gastrointestinal tract (Van Deun, Pasmans, Ducatelle, et al., 2008; L. K. Williams et al., 2013). Ileal isolates showed no difference in invasive capabilities regardless of cell line, however caecal and liver isolates invaded CaCo-2 cells at a significantly higher rate than 8E11 cells (D. A. John et al., 2017). It is well documented that the choice of cell line can have an influence on the invasion potential of isolates (D. John, 2018). CaCo-2 cells are commonly used for both in vitro and in vivo experimentation with Campylobacter (Hänel et al., 2004; D. A. John et al., 2017; C M Szymanski et al., 1995). The avian 8E11 cell line is a novel cell line with few studies to date that have utilised this cell line with *Campylobacter* to investigate pathogenesis (D. John, 2018; D. A. John et al., 2017).

Five isolates were selected including two reference isolates chosen due to frequent use in published research and consistent phenotypic behaviours both *in vitro* and *in vivo* (*C. jejuni* M1, *C. jejuni* NCTC 11168). Isolates C13, G28 and L29 were selected because they all showed similar presence/absence for virulence genes, the only motile strain selected was the caecal isolate due to testing positive for *flaA* and *flaB*. The selected isolates were further chosen based on their consistency over multiple studies. The invasion recorded in the current study was on a whole lower than that recorded previously, however the invasion of the C13, G28 and L29 into 8E11 cells was the most consistent between the two studies. The invasion of isolates into CaCo-2 cells, however, was not similar for 12 of the isolates; therefore, it was decided to choose isolates that showed consistent results for invasion into 8E11 cells only as this study focusses on preventing extra intestinal spread in the avian GI tract.

A single isolate was chosen from the caeca, ileum, and liver due to the well documented variability in strains based on anatomical source (AbuOun et al., 2005; D. John, 2018). However, all isolates used in this study (aside from reference strains which are of human origin) were of avian origin from free range chickens of the same species.

#### **3.5 Conclusion**

To conclude, the presence/absence of virulence factor associated genes is highly variable between isolates regardless of source and there is variability between genomic databases which could influence the genomic outputs and therefore should be considered before use. Incubation temperature during the growth phase of *Campylobacter* isolates *in vitro* has no significant effect on the final population density at 24 h (Table 3.4); *Campylobacter* isolates of avian origin are equally capable of growth at human and avian internal temperatures demonstrating the adaptations this species has made to survive variable environments and aid pathogenesis. Invasive capability *in vitro* is highly variable between isolates and dependent on the cell line used, suggesting there is no simply defined level of invasive potential that can be assigned to all strains; isolate source and cell line are influential on bacterial invasion. Three isolates (*C. coli* C13, *C. coli* G28, *C. coli* L29) and two reference strains (*C. jejuni* M1 and *C. jejuni* NCTC 11168) were selected for further testing with feed additives in the chapters 4 and 5.

Experiment	Result
Genomic Variation – Virulence Genes	C. jejuni NCTC 11168 was the only isolate to
	contain all virulence factors
	C. jeuni NCTC 11168 and C. coli C11 were
	the <u>only</u> isolates to contain <i>flaA</i> and <i>flaB</i> genes
Genomic variation – Antibiotic resistance	C. jejuni M1 was the only isolate to contain
genes	the blaOXA-184 gene
Campylobacter growth	Caecal isolates had significantly higher
	growth rates at 42°C compared to the same
	isolates grown at 37 °C
	There was no variation in growth of isolates
	of ileal or liver origin dependent on
	temperature
Campylobacter invasion	Ileal isolate G28 had a significantly higher
	invasion into CaCo-2 cells compared to ileal
	isolate G25
	On average, liver and caecal isolates had a
	higher invasion into CaCo-2 cells than 8E11
	cells

### Table 3.4 Summary of main results from Chapter 3

# Chapter 4: Direct effects of feed additives on *in vitro* growth and motility of *Campylobacter*

### **4.1 Introduction**

Newly hatched chicks are highly susceptible to colonisation by pathogenic microorganisms due to an immature and sterile gastrointestinal (GI) tract (Panda et al., 2009). For over 50 years, antimicrobials and antibiotics have been used to suppress and eliminate harmful enteropathogens (Panda et al., 2009). In addition to treating sick animals and preventing disease, antibiotics have been administered to production animals to enhance growth since the 1940s when it was discovered that their interaction with the intestinal microbiota induced a growth promoting effect (Castanon, 2007; Vazquez, 2016). Due to increasing antibiotic resistance associated with zoonotic pathogens there have been modifications to the legislation for the use of antibiotic growth promotors (AGPs) within the United States (US) and the European Union (EU) (Panda et al., 2009; Vazquez, 2016). Within the US, AGPs have not been withdrawn completely from animal production, however the Food and Drug Administration (FDA) has issued guidelines for the animal production industry to voluntarily withdraw AGPs of medical importance (Teillant & Laxminarayan, 2015; Vazquez, 2016). Despite the FDA recommendations it was estimated that 14.6 million kg of antibiotics were sold for use in production animals across the US in 2012 (Teillant & Laxminarayan, 2015). Remarkably, this exceeded the number of antibiotics sold for human use in the US by over 4-times (Vazquez, 2016). In the EU, however, there has been a total ban on AGPs since January 2006, due to the increasing antibiotic resistance and the residual effects on human consumers of treated animal products (Castanon, 2007; Panda et al., 2009).

The restrictions put in place for AGP use in poultry production have stimulated research into alternative compounds and substances that can be used (Ahsan et al., 2016; Panda et al., 2009; Redondo et al., 2014; Sugiharto, 2016). Broiler chickens have a short lifespan (5 to 7 weeks). Vaccination is not recommended against enteropathogens such as *Salmonella* due to the immature immune system of young broilers resulting in poor antibody responses (de Zoete et al., 2007; Mot et al., 2014). In addition, a successful vaccination against *Campylobacter* infection in chickens has not yet been developed (Bennett et al., 2018; F. Van Immerseel et al., 2005). Therefore, there has been extensive research into the potential for isolated nutrients, dietary supplements, herbal compounds,

and genetically modified foods to be used as alternatives to AGPs (Ahsan et al., 2016). An economically viable and practical alternative should result in a 2-log reduction in *Campylobacter* populations on poultry carcass contaminations, which could bring a 30-fold reduction in human campylobacteriosis cases (F. Solis de los Santos et al., 2009; Grant et al., 2018; Jayaraman et al., 2017; Singh & Kim, 2021).

Organic acids are a widely used group of compounds suitable for use as feed additives due to their significant antimicrobial activities (Van Immerseel *et al.*, 2004; Filip Van Immerseel *et al.*, 2004; Hermans *et al.*, 2010; Ahsan *et al.*, 2016). They are known to selectively stimulate the growth and activity of beneficial gut microbes, improving host gut health (Ahsan et al., 2016). SCFA are naturally occurring compounds found in the GI tract of poultry as the result of microbial metabolism or carbohydrate fermentation (Ahsan et al., 2016). Medium chain fatty acids (MCFAs) are naturally found in some mammalian milk and coconut oil and have been found to modify virulence factor expression, e.g., decrease in *hilA* expression, thus decreasing invasiveness of *Salmonella in vitro* (F. Solis de los Santos et al., 2009). Organic acid efficacy as a feed additive to control microbes is variable, and heavily influenced by concentration, acid form and degree of dissociation when it arrives in the intestine and is taken up by bacterial cells (Leeson et al., 2005). When studied *in vitro*, MCFA and monoglycerides of MCFA were bactericidal against *Campylobacter*, however *in vivo* research remains inconsistent (Marta Isabel Gracia et al., 2016).

Pro- and prebiotics could also provide the host with improved gut health and protection from enteropathogens (Abdelqader & Al-Fataftah, 2016). The ingestion of pro- and prebiotic species can enhance microbial fermentation in the small intestine, leading to increased production of SCFA (Abdelqader & Al-Fataftah, 2016; Deepa et al., 2018). There is *in vitro* evidence to suggest that pro- and prebiotics also possess direct antimicrobial qualities, specifically against *C. jejuni*, however this has not been replicated *in vivo* (Marta Isabel Gracia et al., 2016).

#### 4.1.1 Butyric Acid

Butyric acid may also be referred to as butanoic acid, 1-propanecarboxylic acid, or propanecarboxylic acid (Deepa et al., 2018). It has a molecular weight of 88.12 g/mol and a pKa of 4.82 (weak acid) and is corrosive and volatile in nature. In the feed

manufacturing process it is most commonly available as sodium butyrate as this combination is easier to handle (Ahsan et al., 2016; Deepa et al., 2018).

Upon hatching, the gut microbiome of the chick is undeveloped and levels of SCFA in the distal small intestine and ceca gradually increase and plateau by day 15 post hatch (Leeson et al., 2005). There is little information available on the metabolism of butyrate by poultry, however it is known to be a major modulator of epithelial cell activity, stimulant of villi growth and modulator of intestinal microflora (Abdelqader & Al-Fataftah, 2016; Ahsan et al., 2016; Leeson et al., 2005). Free butyrate is quickly absorbed in the upper digestive tract; however sodium butyrate reaches the small intestine where it is converted into butyric acid and then absorbed by enterocytes (Ahsan et al., 2016; Leeson et al., 2005). It improves intestinal health through various mechanisms, although the efficacy of sodium butyrate is dependent on the pKa value of the butyric acid and pH of the section of the digestive tract in which it is absorbed (Ahsan et al., 2016). This was confirmed by Leeson *et al.* (2005) who reported a correlation between pathogen control and the levels of undissociated butyrate in the caeca of birds. Similarly, Deepa *et al.* (2018) reported that the increases in villi height, and the villi height:crypt depth ratio varied between different forms of butyric acid treatment.

Supplementation of poultry feed with butyric acid has produced performance and antimicrobial results like those achieved with oxytetracycline supplementation (Deepa et al., 2018). When undissociated SCFA are taken up by bacterial cells, this reduces the cytoplasmic pH and modifies purine bases, denatures enzymes, leading to cell death. Butyric acid is the most potent SCFA against acid-tolerant enteropathogens such as *E. coli* and *Salmonella* (Ahsan et al., 2016; Panda et al., 2009).

To investigate the *in vivo* bactericidal capabilities of butyric acid against enteropathogens, multiple studies (de los Santos *et al.*, 2008; Van Deun, Pasmans, Van Immerseel, *et al.*, 2008; de los Santos *et al.*, 2009; Xiao *et al.*, 2017) have been conducted to determine the range of concentrations that might achieve desired results without negatively impacting bird productivity. Panda *et al.*, 2009 found that addition of butyric acid to poultry diets at 0.4% per weight of feed was equally as effective as the control AGP in reducing *E. coli* counts from the crop, while also achieving optimum weight gain and feed conversion ratios (FCR) throughout the study. Butyric acid feed supplementation at 0.4% (w/w) in the form of butyrate glycerides has been considered to maintain intestinal villi structure

and is beneficial to poultry in comparison to the negative side effects associated with antibiotic use (Leeson et al., 2005). Cox *et al.* (1994) showed that *Salmonella* colonisation of the poultry intestine could be effectively reduced by butyric acid. In 2005, Van Immerseel *et al.* compared the ability of coated (sodium salt of n-butyric acid in microencapsulated form) and uncoated (powder form) butyric acid in reducing *Salmonella* within the caeca and internal organs and found that 0.063% of the coated form could significantly reduce the shedding of *Salmonella* with coated feed more efficient at decreasing caecal colonisation by slaughter age. Coated butyric acid was shown to be more a more effective bactericidal agent against *C. jejuni* when compared to propionic acid, acetic acid, and L-lactate, with a mechanism that directly induces bacterial cell death, and indirectly by favouring the production of bacteria that compete for nutrition and space within the GI tract e.g., *Lactobacillus salivarius* (Ahsan et al., 2016; Zhao & Doyle, 2006).

### 4.1.2 Caprylic Acid

Caprylic acid is an 8-carbon MCFA that is a natural component of coconut oil, mammalian breast and bovine milk (de los Santos *et al.*, 2008; de los Santos *et al.*, 2009). It is generally recognised as safe (GRAS) by the US FDA and represents a practical and economical alternative to AGPs that could be implemented immediately by poultry farmers (de los Santos *et al.*, 2008; de los Santos *et al.*, 2009).

The benefits of caprylic acid include maintaining gastrointestinal health, homeostasis, and microbial control (de los Santos *et al.*, 2008). It has been speculated that caprylic acid may exhibit a similar mechanism of action to SCFA (such as butyric acid), by lowering the pH of the GI tract, being directly bactericidal and reducing the expression of virulence factors required for intestinal colonisation (Harrison et al., 2013; D. Hermans et al., 2012).

In contrast to butyric acid, there has been more research conducted on the direct effects of caprylic acid (and other MCFA) on *Campylobacter* control within poultry. Hermans *et al.* (2010) conducted both *in vitro* and *in vivo* experiments to determine the applicability of MCFA (including caprylic and capric acid) to achieve a 2-log reduction in caecal numbers of *Campylobacter* and found that the minimum inhibitory concentration (MIC) of MCFA were 10-fold lower compared with the MIC of butyric acid. In addition, there was a significant concentration dependent bactericidal activity of caprylic acid toward *Campylobacter* (D. Hermans et al., 2010). *In vivo*, 1% caprylic acid (coated or uncoated)

had no effect on caecal *Campylobacter* numbers, however, the authors did note that formulation differences, *Campylobacter* strain differences, or the genetic backgrounds of the birds used within the trial were confounding factors (D. Hermans et al., 2010).

In contrast to Hermans *et al.* (2010), Solis de los Santos *et al.* (2008; 2009) found that caprylic acid administered at 0.7% reduced caecal *Campylobacter* counts pre-slaughter. The reduction in *Campylobacter* populations in infected chicks by 0.7% and 1.4% caprylic acid was 3- to 4- log higher than the recommended reduction to significantly impact the number of human campylobacteriosis cases each year (Solis de los Santos *et al.*, 2008). The ability of caprylic acid to reduce caecal numbers of *Campylobacter* in pre-infected birds makes it an appealing option for poultry farmers.

### 4.1.3 Chromium Propionate

Chromium (Cr) is a trace element that is essential within the body for the metabolism of carbohydrates, protein, and fats, however it has great potential for toxicity depending on its different forms (Hayat et al., 2020; R. U. Khan et al., 2014; Rajalekshmi et al., 2014). It is found in the environment in various oxidation states, trivalent chromium (Cr3+) is the most stable and bioavailable, in contrast, hexavalent chromium (Cr6+) is toxic, and inorganic (Hayat et al., 2020; R. U. Khan et al., 2014). Cr is transported in the body by chromomodulin, where it activates many enzymes required for the synthesis of nucleic acids and proteins (Arif, Hussain, et al., 2019; Hayat et al., 2020).

In poultry, Cr plays an important role in glucose homeostasis, as it is present in insulin sensitive tissues and potentiates the action of insulin (Rajalekshmi et al., 2014; Spears et al., 2019). Studies (Hayat et al., 2020; R. U. Khan et al., 2014) suggest that Cr can improve the immune status of heat stressed broilers, as it stimulates the production of corticosterone which interferes with leukocyte function and upregulates IFN-gamma expression. Chromium propionate is an organic source of Cr that is more efficiently absorbed compared to other chromium sources. At present it is the only US FDA Centre for Veterinary Medicine approved Cr source that can be used to supplement broiler diets, with up to 0.2 mg chromium propionate/kg feed (0.00002%) being permitted (Hayat et al., 2020; Rajalekshmi et al., 2014). Cr3+ dose must be monitored as overdose of the mineral could lead to hepatotoxic, nephrotoxic, oxidative and DNA damaging effects (Hayat et al., 2020). Spears *et al.* (2019) investigated the safety of chromium propionate where doses of Cr were 2x and 10x the US FDA approved dose. Cr at 0.00004% did not

affect the residual Cr concentration found in the broiler breast muscle or skin, however 0.0002% Cr supplementation did results in a significant increase of Cr in the liver. The European Food Safety Authority (EFSA) thoroughly investigated the use of Cr in broiler diets and concluded that 0.00004% chromium propionate (KemTRACETM) could be used safely as a zootechnical supplement for the fattening process (Bampidis et al., 2021) and did not pose a health threat to animals or human consumers. There have been additional studies that have investigated Cr supplementation up to 0.00032% for birds under normal environmental conditions and have resulted in improved antibody responses to vaccinations and improved lymphocyte proliferation, although such studies provided limited results regarding bacterial diseases (Lee et al., 2003; Rajalekshmi et al., 2014; Uyanik et al., 2002).

Most Cr studies (R. U. Khan et al., 2014; Piray & Foroutanifar, 2022; Rajalekshmi et al., 2014; Uyanik et al., 2002) investigate impact on broiler performance (feed conversion, product quality etc.) and immune system however the results between studies have shown to be highly variable (Hayat et al., 2020). Generally, Cr dosage and breast meat yield increase linearly, a similar trend is seen between dose and FCR (Arif, Hussain, et al., 2019; Rajalekshmi et al., 2014). Supplementation of 0.000015% Cr3+ significantly improved FCR and increased jejunal wall thickness and intestinal crypt depth (Hayat et al., 2020). This study also suggested that Cr3+ could have a regulatory effect on cytokines (Hayat et al., 2020). To date there is no conclusive evidence that Cr is directly bactericidal, however Leeson *et al.* (2005) reported a correlation between the presence of undissociated chromium propionate levels and pathogen control.

### 4.1.4 *Bacillus* spp.

For over 100 years, the benefits of consuming probiotic microorganisms have been recognised by the scientific community (Cutting, 2011; Vazquez, 2016). They improve diversity of the gut microbiome, promote the growth of beneficial bacteria to the host that produce SCFA (e.g., butyric acid), and inhibit pathogen colonisation (Kabir, 2009; Vazquez, 2016). Frequently administered probiotic bacterial genera within broiler production systems are *Lactobacillus* spp., *Bifidobacterium*, *Bacillus* spp. and *Saccharomyces* (Kabir, 2009). There are challenges with producing probiotics such as *Lactobacillus* and *Bifidobacterium* on a large scale, due to their microaerophilic and/or anaerobic requirements, slow growing nature, and requirement for storage at low

temperatures; thus, their production is complex with relatively high costs (Vazquez, 2016).

Bacillus is a genus of Gram-positive, rod-shaped bacteria used as a probiotic for 50 years (Cutting, 2011; Vazquez, 2016). It can produce spores under a stress response and these spore forming species are able to survive and multiply within the intestinal tract of animals (Vazquez, 2016). Bacillus subtilis is well studied at the genetic and phenotype level and has been shown to be bactericidal against Helicobacter pylori in vitro due to the production of the antibiotic amicoumacin (Cutting, 2011; Kobayashi et al., 2003; Pinchuk et al., 2001). Competitive exclusion of Campylobacter by B. subtilis has also been investigated (Balta et al., 2022). Thomrongsuwannakij, Chuanchuen and Chansiripornchai (2016) conducted an in vivo investigation into competitive exclusion and reported that B. subtilis was not capable of competing with C. jejuni within the GI tract, due to the complex pathogenesis mechanisms employed by Campylobacter to survive environmental stressors.

### 4.1.5 Aims

This study investigated the direct effects of feed additives on the growth and motility of a subset of *Campylobacter* strains identified in Chapter 3. These *Campylobacter* strains were previously selected for their consistent *in vitro* behaviours over numerous cultures. Two organic acids (caprylate and butyrate), one mineral compound (chromium propionate), and two strains of a probiotic genera (*Bacillus*) were tested based on their known bactericidal effects, contribution to gut health, and interaction with other enteric pathogens. The specific chapter aims were to:

- Determine the direct bactericidal effect of caprylate, butyrate, and chromium propionate on *Campylobacter* growth *in vitro*.
- Determine the direct bactericidal effect of media conditioned with *Bacillus* species on *Campylobacter* growth *in vitro*.
- Investigate the direct effect of chromium propionate on *Campylobacter* motility *in vitro*.

### 4.2 Materials and Methods

### 4.2.1 Campylobacter isolates

Three *Campylobacter* isolates (C13, G28, L29) (Table 3.3) were specifically selected from an original collection of 21 (Table 2.8). Two reference strains were used throughout this study (*C. jejuni* M1 and *C. jejuni* NCTC 11168; Table 2.8). Isolates were cultured as described in section 2.2.2.1.

### 4.2.2 Campylobacter growth assay challenged with Butyrate

Growth assays were conducted as outlined in section 2.2.4. The final concentrations of Butyric Acid in solution were 0.2% (22.6 mM), 0.6% (67.8 mM), 1.0% (113 mM) and 1.4% (158.2 mM) (v/v) with a pH of 7.0 ( $\pm$ 0.2) achieved by adding sodium hydroxide and monitoring pH with a pH probe.

### 4.2.3 Campylobacter growth assay challenged with Caprylate

Growth assays were conducted as outlined in section 2.2.4. The final concentrations of Caprylate in solution were 0.25% (17.25 mM), 0.75% (51.76 mM), 1.25% (86.25 mM) and 1.75% (120.75 mM) (v/v) with a pH of 7.0 ( $\pm$ 0.2) achieved by adding HEPES buffer.

### 4.2.4 Campylobacter growth assay challenged with Chromium

### **Propionate**

Growth assays were conducted as outlined in section 2.2.4. The final concentrations of Chromium Propionate in solution were 0.00002%, 0.00006%, 0.0001% and 0.00014% (v/v)

### 4.2.5 Preparation of Bacillus spp. conditioned media

*Bacillus subtilis* PB6 and *Bacillus licheniformis* were grown in antibiotic free 8E11 or CaCo-2 media as described in section 2.2.2.2. The 0.1% (w/v) suspension of *Bacillus* spp. in media was incubated for 4 or 24 h, under aerobic or anaerobic conditions and at 42°C (Table 4.1). After incubation, the tube was agitated for 10 s using an IKA Vortex genie 3 (Oxford, England). The optical density (600 nm) of 1mL of the solution was measured and recorded (Table 4.2). Some of the suspensions had to be further diluted with fresh antibiotic free media to achieve a reading within the limit of detection.

Growth assays with *Bacillus subtilis* PB6 and *Bacillus licheniformis* conditioned media were conducted as outlined in section 2.2.4.

### 4.2.6 *Campylobacter* motility assay

A bacterial motility assay was conducted as described in section 2.2.5. In addition, a second bacterial motility assay (as per section 2.2.5) was conducted with agar containing 0.00002%, 0.00006%, 0.0001% and 0.00014% chromium propionate. To achieve this, 1 mL 2X brucella liquid medium (Table 2.1) was combined with 1 mL 2X chromium propionate working concentrations (Table 2.5). This was then supplemented with 0.3% agar and protocol followed as described in section 2.2.5.

### 4.3 Results

# 4.3.1 Growth of *Campylobacter* directly challenged with feed additives 4.3.1.1 Growth of *Campylobacter* over 24 hours directly challenged with Butyrate

The five *Campylobacter* isolates selected (Table 3.3) from the original collection (Table 2.8) were grown at 42°C in a microaerobic atmosphere (5% O₂; 10% CO₂;85 % N₂) in brucella broth and a range of concentrations from 0.2 to 1.4% of butyrate for a period of 24 h. The percentage change in optical density over 24 h was calculated (Figure 4.1) and compared to *Campylobacter* grown in untreated brucella broth. Results of a two-way ANOVA indicated that the concentration of butyrate treatment significantly affected the growth of *Campylobacter in vitro* (p < 0.0001). At the strain level (Figure 4.1 A-E) butyrate treatment had a significant effect on the growth of *Campylobacter* G28 and *Campylobacter* L29 at concentrations between 0.6 - 1.4%. (p < 0.05). The effect of butyrate treatment on all strains combined (Figure 4.1 F) resulted in significant reduction in growth of strains treated with 1.0% and 1.4% butyrate (p < 0.05) compared to untreated control.



Figure 4.1 Growth of Campylobacter from avian sources challenged with butyrate

The change in optical density (600 nm) was calculated over 24 h for *Campylobacter* isolates grown in butyric acid (~pH 7.0) at 42°C  $\pm$  SEM (biological replicate n=4). Reference strains included *C. jejuni* M1 (A) and *C. jejuni* NCTC 11168 (B) and were compared to *Campylobacter* C13 (C), *Campylobacter* G28 (D) and *Campylobacter* L29 (E). The mean of all five strains was also calculated (F). A two-way ANOVA with Dunnett multiple comparisons was conducted on data presented in graphs A-E (* p < 0.05, ** p < 0.01, *** p < 0.001); a Kruskal-Wallis with multiple comparisons was conducted on data present in graph F (* p < 0.05, ** p < 0.01, *** p < 0.001).

### 4.3.1.2 Growth of *Campylobacter* over 24 hours directly challenged with Caprylate

Five *Campylobacter* isolates were grown at 42°C in a microaerobic atmosphere (5%  $O_2$ ; 10%  $CO_2$ ; 85%  $N_2$ ) in brucella broth and caprylate at varying concentrations (0.25-1.75%) over 24 h. the percentage change in optical density over 24 h was calculated (Figure 4.2). No significant difference was detected in the growth of *Campylobacter* challenged with caprylate at the strain level (Figure 4.2 A-E) or on average when strains were combined (Figure 4.2 F) compared to untreated control.



Figure 4.2 Growth of Campylobacter from avian sources challenged with caprylate

The change in optical density (600 nm) was calculated over 24 h for *Campylobacter* isolates grown in caprylic acid (~pH 7.0) at 42°C  $\pm$  SEM (biological replicate n=4). Reference strains included *C. jejuni* M1 (A) and *C. jejuni* NCTC 11168 (B) and were compared to *Campylobacter* C13 (C), *Campylobacter* G28 (D) and *Campylobacter* L29 (E), the mean of all five strains was also calculated (F). A two-way ANOVA with Dunnett multiple comparisons was conducted on data presented in graphs A-E; a Kruskal-Wallis with multiple comparisons was conducted on data present in graph F.

### 4.3.1.3 Growth of Campylobacter over 24 hours directly challenged

### with Chromium Propionate

Five *Campylobacter* isolates were grown at  $42^{\circ}$ C in a microaerobic atmosphere (5% O₂; 10% CO₂; 85% N₂) in brucella broth and chromium propionate at varying concentrations (0.00002-0.00014%) over 24 h; the percentage change in optical density over 24 h was calculated (Figure 4.3). No significant difference in the growth of *Campylobacter* was detected when challenged with chromium propionate at the strain level (Figure 4.3 A-E) or on average when strains were combined (Figure 4.3 F) compared to untreated control.



Figure 4.3 Growth of *Campylobacter* from avian sources challenged with chromium propionate

The change in optical density (600 nm) was calculated over 24 h for *Campylobacter* isolates grown in chromium propionate at  $42^{\circ}C \pm SEM$  (biological replicate n=3). Reference strains included *C. jejuni* M1 (A) and *C. jejuni* NCTC 11168 (B) and were compared to *Campylobacter* C13 (C), *Campylobacter* G28 (D) and *Campylobacter* L29 (E), the mean of all five strains was also calculated (F). A two-way ANOVA with Dunnett multiple comparisons was conducted on data presented in graphs A-E; a Kruskal-Wallis with multiple comparisons was conducted on data present in graph F.

# 4.3.2 Growth of *Campylobacter* directly challenged with *Bacillus* conditioned cell culture media

Conditioned media used in this experiment showed indications of undesired bacterial growth. Incubation of filtered conditioned media not challenged with *Campylobacter* inoculum resulted in bacterial growth and there was inconsistent growth between experiments.

## 4.3.2.1 Growth of *Campylobacter* over 24 hours directly challenged with *Bacillus subtilis* PB6 conditioned growth media

Five *Campylobacter* isolates were grown at 42°C in a microaerobic atmosphere (5% O₂; 10% CO₂; 85% N₂) in 8E11 and CaCo-2 cell culture media conditioned with *B. subtilis* PB6 (Table 4.1) over 24 h. The percentage change in optical density over 24 h was calculated (Figure 4.4 and Figure 4.5). At the strain level, there was no significant difference in growth of individual strains when challenged with different formulations of *B. subtilis* PB6 conditioned 8E11 or CaCo-2 media (Figure 4.4 and Figure 4.5 respectively). The abbreviations used in Figure 4.4 – 4.7 are summarised in Table 4.1.

Table 4.1 Descriptions of abbreviations used in Figure 4.4-4.7

Abbreviation	Description
M 4 1/100	Conditioned media cultured with probiotic for 4 h under microaerobic
	conditions, diluted 1/100
M 4 1/1000	Conditioned media cultured with probiotic for 4 h under microaerobic
	conditions, diluted 1/1000
M 24 1/100	Conditioned media cultured with probiotic for 24 h under microaerobic
	conditions, diluted 1/100
M 24 1/1000	Conditioned media cultured with probiotic for 24 h under microaerobic
	conditions, diluted 1/1000
A 4 1/100	Conditioned media cultured with probiotic for 4 h under aerobic conditions,
	diluted 1/100
A 4 1/1000	Conditioned media cultured with probiotic for 4 h under aerobic conditions,
	diluted 1/1000
A 24 1/100	Conditioned media cultured with probiotic for 24 h under aerobic conditions,
	diluted 1/100
A 24 1/1000	Conditioned media cultured with probiotic for 24 h under aerobic conditions,
	diluted 1/1000



Figure 4.4 Growth of *Campylobacter* from avian sources challenged with *Bacillus subtilis* PB6 in 8E11 conditioned media

The change in optical density (600 nm) was calculated over 24 h for *Campylobacter* isolates grown in *Bacillus subtilis* PB6 conditioned 8E11 media at  $42^{\circ}C \pm SEM$  (biological replicate n=3). Reference strains included *C. jejuni* M1 (A) and *C. jejuni* NCTC 11168 (B) and were compared to *Campylobacter* C13 (C), *Campylobacter* G28 (D) and *Campylobacter* L29 (E), a mean response from all five strains combined was also plotted (F). A two-way ANOVA with Dunnett multiple comparisons was conducted.



Figure 4.5 Growth of *Campylobacter* from avian sources challenged with *Bacillus subtilis* PB6 in CaCo-2 conditioned media

The change in optical density (600 nm) was calculated over 24 h for *Campylobacter* isolates grown in *Bacillus subtilis* PB6 conditioned CaCo-2 media at  $42^{\circ}C \pm SEM$  (biological replicate n=3). Reference strains included *C. jejuni* M1 (A) and *C. jejuni* NCTC 11168 (B) and were compared to *Campylobacter* C13 (C), *Campylobacter* G28 (D) and *Campylobacter* L29 (E), a mean response from all five strains combined was also plotted (F). A two-way ANOVA with Dunnett multiple comparisons was conducted.

# 4.3.2.2 Growth of *Campylobacter* over 24 hours directly challenged with *Bacillus licheniformis* conditioned growth media

Five *Campylobacter* isolates were grown at 42°C in a microaerobic atmosphere (5% O₂; 10% CO₂; 85% N₂) in 8E11 and CaCo-2 cell culture media conditioned with *B. licheniformis* (Table 4.1) over 24 h. The percentage change in optical density over 24 h was calculated (Figure 4.6 and Figure 4.7). At the strain level there was a significant increase (p < 0.05) in the growth of *C. jejuni* M1 grown in unconditioned media and grown in treated *B. licheniformis* media in a microaerobic environment for 24 h and diluted 1/100 (Figure 4.6A). A significant reduction in growth of *Campylobacter* on average was observed when grown in microaerobically treated *B. licheniformis* media grown for 24 h and diluted 1/100 (p < 0.05) (Figure 4.6F). In addition, at the strain level

there was no significant difference in growth of individual strains when challenged with different formulations of *B. licheniformis* conditioned CaCo-2 media (Figure 4.7).



### Figure 4.6 Growth of *Campylobacter* from avian sources challenged with *Bacillus licheniformis* conditioned 8E11 media

The change in optical density (600 nm) was calculated over 24 h for *Campylobacter* isolates grown in *Bacillus licheniformis* conditioned 8E11 media at 42°C  $\pm$  SEM (biological replicate n=3). Reference strains included *C. jejuni* M1 (A) and *C. jejuni* NCTC 11168 (B) and were compared to *Campylobacter* C13 (C), *Campylobacter* G28 (D) and *Campylobacter* L29 (E), a mean response from all five strains combined was also plotted (F). A two-way ANOVA with Dunnett multiple comparisons was conducted (* p < 0.05). An SEM could not be calculated for plot B due to only one biological replicate being conducted.



Figure 4.7 Growth of *Campylobacter* from avian sources challenged with *Bacillus licheniformis* conditioned CaCo-2 media

The change in optical density (600 nm) was calculated over 24 h for *Campylobacter* isolates grown in *Bacillus licheniformis* conditioned CaCo-2 media at  $42^{\circ}C \pm SEM$  (biological replicate n=3). Reference strains included *C. jejuni* M1 (A) and *C. jejuni* NCTC 11168 (B) and were compared to *Campylobacter* C13 (C), *Campylobacter* G28 (D) and *Campylobacter* L29 (E), a mean response from all five strains combined was also plotted (F). A two-way ANOVA with Dunnett multiple comparisons was conducted. An SEM could not be calculated for plot B due to only one biological replicate being conducted.

### 4.3.3 Motility of Campylobacter

### 4.3.3.1 Motility of Campylobacter strains in brucella agar

The motility of *Campylobacter* was assessed in brucella agar with and without *Campylobacter* growth supplement (Oxoid;Figure 4.8; Figure 4.9). At the strain level, supplementation with the growth supplement had no significant effect on growth; however, in brucella 0.3% agar, motility of *Campylobacter* C13 and *Campylobacter* L29 was significantly increased compared to reference strain *Campylobacter* M1 (p < 0.05) (Figure 4.8).



Figure 4.8 Motility of *Campylobacter* isolates from avian sources in brucella 0.3% agar with and without *Campylobacter* growth supplement (CGS) (Oxoid)

The motility of *Campylobacter* isolates of 24 h was measured from a central point in brucella agar with or without the addition of a growth supplement (experimental replicate  $n=3 \pm SEM$ ). Reference strains included *C. jejuni* M1 and *C. jejuni* NCTC 11168 and were compared to *Campylobacter* C13, *Campylobacter* G28 and *Campylobacter* L29. A two-way ANOVA with Sidak multiple comparisons was conducted (* p < 0.05).

When motility of all strains was combined a paired t-test confirmed that addition of *Campylobacter* growth supplement had no significant effect on the motility of *Campylobacter* (Figure 4.9).



### Figure 4.9 Mean motility of *Campylobacter* from avian sources in brucella 0.3% agar with and without *Campylobacter* growth supplement (CGS) (Oxoid)

The motility of *Campylobacter* isolates of 24 h was measured from a central point in brucella agar with or without the addition of a growth supplement (isolate replicate  $n=5 \pm SEM$ ). Reference strains included *C. jejuni* M1 and *C. jejuni* NCTC 11168 and were compared to *Campylobacter* C13, *Campylobacter* G28 and *Campylobacter* L29. This graph shows the mean of the five strains. A paired T-test was conducted on data presented.

### 4.3.3.2 Motility of Campylobacter strains in brucella agar (without

### CGS) with Chromium Propionate

The motility of *Campylobacter* isolates in the presence of increasing concentrations of chromium propionate (0.00006% and 0.00014%) (Figure 4.10; Figure 4.11). At the strain level the motility of *C. jejuni* M1 and *Campylobacter* G28 were significantly increased in the presence of 0.0006% chromium propionate (p < 0.05), 0.00014% chromium propionate significantly increased the motility of *Campylobacter* C13 (p < 0.01), and

motility of *Campylobacter* L29 was increased at both concentrations (p < 0.0001) (Figure 4.10). For *C. jejuni* NCTC 11168, C13 and L29 a concentration dependant increase in motility is seen, although only significant for C13 and L29.



### Figure 4.10 Motility of *Campylobacter* isolates from avian sources with chromium propionate treated brucella 0.3% agar

The mean motility of *Campylobacter* isolates of 24 h was measured from a central point in brucella agar with or without the addition of chromium propionate (n=3 experimental replicates  $\pm$  SEM). Reference strains included *C. jejuni* M1 and *C. jejuni* NCTC 11168 and were compared to *Campylobacter* C13, *Campylobacter* G28 and *Campylobacter* L29. A two-way ANOVA with Dunnett multiple comparisons was conducted on data presented (* p < 0.05, ** p < 0.01, *** p < 0.001, **** p < 0.001).

A two-way ANOVA confirmed that the mean motility of *Campylobacter* was significantly increased in the presence of 0.00006% and 0.00014% chromium propionate (p < 0.0001) (Figure 4.11).



Figure 4.11 Mean motility of *Campylobacter* from avian sources with chromium propionate treated brucella 0.3% agar.

The motility of *Campylobacter* isolates of 24 h was measured from a central point in brucella agar with or without the addition of chromium propionate (n=3 experimental replicates  $\pm$  SEM). Reference strains included *C. jejuni* M1 and *C. jejuni* NCTC 11168 and were compared to *Campylobacter* C13, *Campylobacter* G28 and *Campylobacter* L29. A two-way ANOVA with Dunnett multiple comparisons was conducted on data presented (**** p < 0.0001).

### 4.4 Discussion

Five different *Campylobacter* strains were used to determine the effect of feed additives on growth; two reference strains of human origin and three strains isolated from chicken origin. Three experimental isolates were selected to represent and demonstrate the diversity of strain behaviour documented in experimental research and the variability in responses from different strains under the same conditions. Results from individual strains were combined to provide an insight into the general effect of the feed additives on *Campylobacter* independent of strain variation (Sahin, Morishita and Zhang, 2002).

Despite the aim of this study being to identify a compound that can reduce *Campylobacter* load within the chicken, we used strains of both human and avian origin (Sahin, Morishita and Zhang, 2002). The three isolates were selected because of *in vitro* testing in chapter 3 (C13, G28, L29) were all *C. coli* strains. *C. coli* does not contribute to human disease to the extent of *C. jejuni*, however the non-reference *C. jejuni* strains from the original collection did not show high stability and consistency across assays and studies. This

could be considered a major limitation to this current work as the results cannot be fully generalised to strains that are known to cause human disease. However, our two reference strains (*C. jejuni* M1 and *C. jejuni* NCTC 11168) are both known to cause human disease and *C. jejuni* M1 has also be isolated from poultry. In future work, or replications of the work in this study it would be advisable to select *C. jejuni* isolates in addition to *C. coli* to be able to conclude more definitively if the effects of feed additives can be generalised to clinically relevant strains.

This study gave insight into the potential phenotypic and genotypic differences between *C. jejuni* and *C. coli* strains. For example, two of the *C. coli* strains (C13 and L29) were significantly more motile than the control strain *C. jejuni* M1. This could be a contributing factor to a lack of human disease caused by *C. coli*. The bacterium may move faster through the human GI tract and therefore not efficiently adhere to and invade human intestinal epithelial cells, on the contrary, increased motility may facilitate adhesion too and movement across the intestinal epithelial barrier

In addition to using strains of different origin regarding human or avian, three strains isolated from different areas of the chicken GI tract were used, largely due to the observations of varying colonisation ability in chickens with dominant isolates able to displace others, potentially owing to a better growth rate under replicate conditions and therefore surviving longer within the GI tract and able to spread to extended parts of the GI tract (Jacobs-Reitsma et al., 1995; Korolik, 1998; Sahin, Morishita and Zhang, 2002). Even though there are reports of *Campylobacter* isolates of different serotypes and genotypes colonising chicken flocks during the same production cycle, a single chicken being infected by more than one strain is extremely rare which further supports the "dominant strain" theory (Jacobs-Reitsma et al., 1995; Stern et al., 1997; Korolik, 1998; Sahin, Morishita and Zhang, 2002). The results from the current study further support the notion that there is significant difference in strain behaviour and reaction to challenge with feed additives. The greatest variation in response to butyrate was where four out of five isolates showed a decrease growth rate at 0.2% butyrate, however *Campylobacter* isolate C13 spiked in growth at the 0.2% concentration, however C13 proceeded to follow the decrease in growth trend observed across other strains. When an "overall observation" approach was adopted by combining the effect of butyrate on all five Campylobacter isolates a clear growth reduction was shown as a result of butyrate application at the 1.0% and 1.4% concentrations.

Chromium propionate has largely been investigated as a supplement that could have positive effects on poultry growth performance and carcass characteristics (Hayat et al., 2020; R. U. Khan et al., 2014; Rajalekshmi et al., 2014) with no evidence of bactericidal properties. Therefore, it was unsurprising to observe no bactericidal effect of this compound in the current study.

The acids supplied by Kemin Animal Nutrition and Health Ltd. were standardised to pH 7.0 ( $\pm$  0.2) prior to *in vitro* experimentation with *Campylobacter* isolates and epithelial cell lines (Chapter 5). *In vitro* studies with MCFA, specifically caprylic acid, have reported a pH dependent bactericidal effect of these compounds toward *Campylobacter* (D. Hermans et al., 2010) The lack of bactericidal effect seen in the current study could be explained by the standardisation of all concentrations of caprylic acid to pH 7.0. The proposed mechanism of action (MOA) of MCFA (and SCFA) is internalisation of the associated acid, after which it dissociates and a subsequent increase of anions leads to intracellular acidification and bacterial cell death, by increasing the pH of caprylic acid to 7.0, caprylate might have been ineffective in this process (D. Hermans et al., 2010). However, the SCFA, butyric acid, was also standardised to the same pH, and a significant bactericidal effect was still observed; it should be noted that due to addition of buffer to reduce the pH, the effect of butyrate was being measured, not the effect of butyric acid. It could be speculated that SCFA have a second MOA that also results in bacterial cell death and is not reliant on an acidic pH.

It must be recognised that the pH of caprylic acid was altered with HEPES buffer, and butyric acid was altered with sodium hydroxide. A study with sodium hydroxide revealed a bactericidal effect of this chemical on *Campylobacter* populations when tested at 0.05 or 0.1 N within 1 minute of application (Zhao & Doyle, 2006), the bactericidal effect still observed by butyrate at a pH 7.0 could therefore be attributed to the effect of the sodium hydroxide buffer. Future research should include investigation into the bactericidal effect of sodium hydroxide against *Campylobacter*, independent of butyric acid, and the effect of caprylic acid pH on its bactericidal properties.

Bacilli-based probiotics are considered to have highly antagonistic activity against bacterial pathogens (Cutting, 2011; Sorokulova et al., 1997). Upon administration and digestion they produce substances (such as SCFA) that have been shown to increase organism resistance to pathogens (Kabir, 2009; Sorokulova et al., 1997; Vazquez, 2016).

133

Two species of *Bacillus (B. subtilis and B. licheniformis)* were used in the current study to determine if there was a characteristic difference in the antimicrobial properties of these commonly used probiotic species. Previously, an investigation into the production of extracellular antimicrobial substances by these species of *Bacillus* revealed that the antimicrobial properties of the strains differed under varying conditions (Korenblum et al., 2005). These observations influenced the decision to prepare conditioned media under varying conditions (incubation time, temperature, base media type). Korenblum *et al.* (2005) demonstrated that during a 4-day growth phase, the antimicrobial activity of *B licheniformis* and *B subtilis* was inversely parallel – at day 1 the antimicrobial activity of *B subtilis* was at its greatest, however, the peak antimicrobial activity of *B licheniformis* in spore formation in culture.

Two strains of *Bacillus* were also used to determine if there was a difference in *Campylobacter* response to different species of the same genus, due to difference in molecules secreted at each stage of growth. A preliminary growth curve of the two *Bacillus* species in 8E11 and CaCo-2 cell media was conducted over 24 hours prior to conditioned media preparation (Appendix 5 and Appendix 6). The growth of *B licheniformis* was higher than *B subtilis* in both cell culture media, and growth of *B subtilis* PB6 was higher in 8E11 media compared to CaCo-2 over a 24h period. Prospective future work aimed to apply the *Bacillus* conditioned media to both avian and human cell lines (8E11 and CaCo-2 respectively) which additionally influenced the decision to prepare a variety of conditioned media using the two complete cell media solutions.

A major drawback to the conditioned media experiment was the contamination of the conditioned media with *Bacillus* spores after filtration. The technique used to filter the conditioned media was not effective and resulted in media with unwanted bacterial growth. Due to this, it cannot be concluded that the results observed in this study were entirely accurate and would explain the high degree of error observed in the results. Despite this obvious drawback in the current study, the study has highlighted the potential for products of *Bacillus* fermentation within the chicken GI tract as inhibitors of *Campylobacter*, although further investigation into the specific molecules secreted by different *Bacillus* species is required.

It was shown in Chapter 3 (section 3.3.1) that *C. jejuni* NCTC 11168 was the only selected strain to test positive for the *flaA* and *flaB* gene, indicating that it might be expected to be the most motile of the five strains tested in the present study due to the presence of both genes a prerequisite for a fully active flagellar filament (P Guerry et al., 1991). However, it was found that the caecal isolate (C13) was the most motile strain of *Campylobacter* tested in untreated agar. There are several other flagella related genes (class II genes) that were not tested for in chapter 3 (Lertsethtakarn et al., 2011), which could explain the high level of motility exhibited by the caecal isolate.

The results obtained from the motility analysis further supports the observations of strain diversity and the large degree of variation exhibited from strains of different sources. The degree of motility exhibited by the avian isolates may correspond to the region of isolation and the ability of the strains to move through the GI tract. The caecum is the farthest point in the avian GI tract from which isolates were extracted, increased motility of these strains may enable movement through the intestinal mucosa and residency within this area.

The effect of CrProp due to its organic stable form was also investigated, providing a readily available source of Cr3+ which is efficiently absorbed in comparison to other Cr sources. The isolates (as predicted) did not respond to CrProp in a consistent manner with no clear pattern observable based on source (at species or anatomical level). What was found was overall both concentrations of CrProp trialled in vitro (0.00006% and 0.00014%) significantly increased *Campylobacter* motility (Figure 4.11). Biosorption of Cr3+ has been observed in bacterial cells and happens more readily than absorption of trivalent chromium in the non-ion form; however, microbial interactions are more often with Cr6+ and result in reduction to Cr3+ (Gutiérrez-Corona et al., 2016). There is very little research on trivalent Cr due to its inefficient biosorption by cells, and therefore most research is focussed on hexavalent Cr and its effects on biological processes (Gutiérrez-Corona et al., 2016; Zhen et al., 2016). The reduction of hexavalent Cr to trivalent Cr within bacterial cells suggests that some of the observations made in previous studies could be attributed to the bioaccumulation of Cr3+ within the cytoplasm. Effects of Cr6+ on motility have been observed in several studies that primarily use spermatozoan cells from different mammalian species, with a reduction in motility observed and this has been linked to Cr6+ facilitated down-regulation of protein tyrosine phosphorylation within the sperm cell (Marouani et al., 2012; Pokhrel et al., 2020; Zhen et al., 2016). However, increased motility has been observed in two colorectal cancer cell lines (DLD-1 and

HT29) exposed to Cr6+ due to activation of focal adhesion kinase (FAK) – a regulator of cell motility (D Chen, 2017). FAK plays an important role in *Campylobacter* pathogenesis and is recognised as an integral virulence factor that enables efficient invasion of epithelial cells (Boehm et al., 2011). It could be that Cr has a negative effect on phosphorylation of the FlaA and FlaB proteins but enhance FAK activity. Four of the five strains tested lack the FlaA and FlaB proteins that could potentially be negatively affected by Cr exposure, however all five strains are assumed to be FAK dependent for invasion, this study presents a novel observation of increased flagella-independent motility in *Campylobacter* isolates facilitated by Cr3+ activation of the FAK pathway.

When the motility assay was trialled with agar treated with caprylate or butyrate, we found that the *Campylobacter* growth limiting effects of these feed additives prevented visible migration (section 4.3.1.1 and 4.3.1.2).

Motility has historically been considered a virulence factor that enhances the pathogenesis of *Campylobacters* (D. J. Bolton, 2015). In the current study, chromium propionate enhances motility of *Campylobacter* at the species level, despite seeing a variation in results at isolate level. Motility at an optimum level may serve as an efficient mechanism to enhance *Campylobacter* virulence and pathogenicity regarding movement to edible tissues within poultry; however, it could be argued that increasing motility significantly may reduce virulence of strains, providing them with the motility to move through the intestinal mucosa at a faster rate and thereby decreasing the extraintestinal spread across the intestinal epithelium and reducing *Campylobacter* load in edible tissues.

### 4.5 Conclusion

This work demonstrated that the direct addition of sodium butyrate at pH 7.0 limits growth of *Campylobacter in vitro*. The effect of caprylic acid on growth may have been suppressed by the pH adjustment as suggested by a previous study (D. Hermans et al., 2010).

A novel observation of increased motility in *Campylobacter* isolates with exposure to Cr was demonstrated (Table 4.1). Future research should be conducted to identify the specific biological interactions which occur to result in these observations. Based on previous studies it is proposed that increased motility observed is independent of flagella proteins and is facilitated by Cr activation of FAK, a known facilitator of motility and

specifically required for *Campylobacter* invasion into epithelial cells (Boehm et al., 2011; D Chen, 2017).

Experiment	Result
Isolate growth with conditioned media	Bacillus subtilis PB6 and Bacillus
	licheniformis 24h conditioned 8E11 media
	diluted 1/100 resulted in a significant
	reduction in Campylobacter growth
<i>Campylobacter</i> motility	C. coli C13 and C. coli L29 had significantly
	greater motility than C. jejuni M1
	Chromium propionate significantly improved
	the motility of Campylobacter isolates at
	0.0006% and 0.00014%

### Table 4.1 Summary of main results from Chapter 4

### Chapter 5: Indirect effects of feed additives on *Campylobacter* invasion into epithelial cells and cytokine production *in vitro*

### 5.1 Introduction

Pathogenesis of *Campylobacter* and its interactions with intestinal epithelial cells has been extensively researched in recent years (Backert et al., 2013; Dhar & McAuley, 2019; Hameed, 2019; Konkel et al., 2020; Novik et al., 2010). Damage to the avian intestinal epithelium during pathogenesis, facilitates the extraintestinal spread of *Campylobacter* to edible tissues, in turn increasing contamination of poultry products at retail sale for human consumption. Here the focus was on the effects of feed additives on epithelial interactions following *Campylobacter* infection, namely toxicity, invasion, and induction of inflammatory cytokine production. These responses play a significant role in *Campylobacter* extraintestinal spread from the chicken gut.

To date, studies have revealed variation in invasion, cytokine production and toxicity(W. Awad et al., 2017; M. L. Chen et al., 2006; MacCallum, Haddock, et al., 2005). However this has been attributed to the diverse behaviour exhibited by various *Campylobacter* phenotypes and/or the various interactions that occur with host cells of different origins (van Putten et al., 2009). A large amount of *in vitro* research has been focussed on human cell line interactions with *Campylobacter* and comparatively little focussed on avian intestinal cell systems, despite the main contributor to acquiring human campylobacteriosis being through consumption of poultry products (D. A. John et al., 2017). It is vital that interactions between *Campylobacter* and cells of the avian GI tract are more extensively studied to determine the mechanisms employed by the pathogen to aid spread to edible tissues.

### 5.1.1 Campylobacter interaction with host epithelial cells

When colonising the avian and human gastrointestinal tract there are numerous interactions between enteric bacterial pathogens and host cells, resulting in enhanced survival within the host and/or damage to host cells (Backert et al., 2013; Elmi et al., 2016; Ó Cróinín & Backert, 2012). *Campylobacter* is an anomaly compared to other Gram-negative pathogens, as there is no specific and readily identifiable secretion system that delivers virulence factors into host cells. It can be assumed, however, that intimate

contact with host cells is required for virulence factor secretion mechanisms to succeed (Elmi et al., 2016).

The three main types of *Campylobacter* interaction with epithelial cells are (i) adhesion, (ii) invasion, and (iii) cytotoxicity.

### 5.1.1.1 Campylobacter adherence to host epithelial cells

The ability of *Campylobacter* to adhere to the epithelial cell surface is considered a prerequisite for successful colonisation and contributes to the increased concentration of bacterial products in the local area, making it an important step in bacterial pathogenesis (Jain et al., 2008; Rubinchik et al., 2012). There is a reported correlation between level of adherence to some cell types (e.g., HeLa) and the severity of clinical symptoms that manifest in human patients (Rubinchik et al., 2012). Successful *Campylobacter* adherence to host cells does not require mediation by fimbria or pili, instead there are several other virulence mechanisms that have been identified enabling *Campylobacter* to interact with host cell surface adhesins (Rubinchik et al., 2012; van Putten et al., 2009).

*Campylobacter* express two microbial surface components recognising adhesive matrix molecule(s) (MSCRAMMa) and various glycans on its cell surface (Lipooligosaccharide (LOS) and glycoproteins) that can interact with lectin-like host cell receptors (Rubinchik et al., 2012; Talukdar et al., 2020). CadF is an outer membrane protein of *Campylobacter* that belongs to the outer membrane protein A- porin proteins (Omp-A) family. CadF promotes adherence to host cells by binding to fibronectin (Fn) via a four amino acid motif (Phe-Arg-Lue-Ser) (Rubinchik et al., 2012; Talukdar et al., 2020; van Putten et al., 2009). CadF may also be referred to as a Fibronectin (Fn)-binding protein (FNBP), and is a member of the MSCRAMMs family (Talukdar et al., 2020). Fn is a glycoprotein expressed in the extracellular matrix of many types of differentiated host cells, it is also present in blood and connective tissue (Rubinchik et al., 2012; Ruoslahti, 1981). The functions of Fn include mediating cellular interactions with the extracellular matrix, facilitating cell adhesion, differentiation, growth, and migration (Pankov & Yamada, 2002). In addition to CadF, *Campylobacter* also possess FlpA which binds specifically to Fn-binding site on human and chicken cell lines that has been localised to a span of nine amino acids (Trp-Arg-Pro-His-Pro-Asp-Phe-Arg-Val) (Rubinchik et al., 2012; Talukdar et al., 2020).

*Campylobacter* can also adhere to host epithelial cells via another binding protein, PEB1 (van Putten et al., 2009). PEB1 is a conserved aspartate/glutamate binding protein and is considered a major cell adherence molecule of both *C. jejuni* and *C. coli* (Pei & Blaser, 1993; van Putten et al., 2009). The PEB1 binding protein belongs to the family of cluster three binding proteins of bacterial ATP transporters, it mediates adhesion to host cells by binding L-glutamate and L-aspartate (van Putten et al., 2009).

#### 5.1.1.2 *Campylobacter* invasion of host epithelial cells

Both *in vitro* and *in vivo* studies have reported *Campylobacter* bacterial cells residing within the cytoplasm of host epithelial cells, either in membrane bound vesicles or not associated with organelles, indicating the ability of *C. coli* and *C. jejuni* to invade epithelial cells (Backert et al., 2013; Wooldridge & Ketley, 1997). There are several components to the invasive process; flagellum mediated motility, actin polymerisation, host cell microtubules, and the expression of *Campylobacter* invasion antigens (Cia) (Elmi et al., 2016; D. A. John et al., 2017; van Putten et al., 2009; Wooldridge & Ketley, 1997). When *Campylobacter* makes contact with the host cell surfaces this initiates membrane ruffling and formation of invaginations which facilitate the uptake of *Campylobacter* cells polar tip first (Backert et al., 2013; van Putten et al., 2009).

A key factor identified in all *Campylobacter* uptake studies using epithelial cell lines is the presence of functional flagella (van Putten et al., 2009). John *et al.* (2017) reported the specific importance of FlaA (*flaA*) in invasion of epithelial cells, when the isolate in question lacks flagellum or has FlaB dominant flagellum (short flagellum) reduced invasion capabilities are reported (van Putten et al., 2009; Wooldridge & Ketley, 1997). Functional flagella (FlaA dominant) also act as export apparatus in secretion of CiaC and FlaC (non-flagellar proteins) that also aid the invasion process (Elmi et al., 2016; D. A. John et al., 2017).

When contact is made with the host cell surface this initiates local depolymerisation of cortical actin filaments and formation of membrane projections that are host cell microtubule-based (D. A. John et al., 2017; van Putten et al., 2009). Actin depolymerisation consists of a series of signalling events that integrate with the actin filaments in the cytoskeleton of the plasma membrane and have been observed in several invasion studies (van Putten et al., 2009; Wooldridge & Ketley, 1997). When interacting with host cells, *Campylobacter* can disrupt both tight junctions and adherens junctions,

both of which are associated with the actin cytoskeleton (Elmi et al., 2016). CaCo-2 cells can partially differentiate resulting in microvilli production and tight junction formation. The cells can also express apical surface enzymes that are characteristic of intestinal enterocytes (Wooldridge & Ketley, 1997). Further evidence of microtubule dependent invasion has been shown when microtubule depolymerisation agents such as nocodazole, reduce (and in some cases completely block) *C. jejuni* invasion (Biswas et al., 2003; van Putten et al., 2009). Invasion of avian epithelial cells is microtubule-, microfilament- and caveolin-dependent as highlighted by John *et al.* (2017).

Outer membrane vesicles (OMVs) interact with host cells as a way of delivering proteins and other moieties into host cells. These vesicles are enriched with phospholipids, lipooligosaccharides, outer membrane and periplasmic proteins (Elmi et al., 2016). OMVs are crucial for pathogenicity of Gram-negative bacteria. They are important in host colonisation, virulence factor deliverance and modulation of the host response (Elmi et al., 2016). The production and secretion of Cia proteins (*Campylobacter* invasion antigens) is triggered (as are many invasion mechanisms) by direct contact with host cells and some of these have been associated with OMV activity (Elmi et al., 2016; van Putten et al., 2009). The role of Cia proteins is still under investigation, however CiaB has been referred to as a strain-specific invasion antigen and is not required for successful invasion by all *Campylobacter* strains (van Putten et al., 2009).

### 5.1.1.3 *Campylobacter* induced cytokine production within host epithelial cells

A commonly recognised component of enteric infections is the induction of inflammatory cytokines and associated responses (Al-Banna et al., 2018; Hickey et al., 2000). The adherence and invasion of human intestinal epithelial cells induces an immune response which activates transcription factors (NF-kappa $\beta$  and AP-1), subsequently causing phosphorylation of the ERK pathway and P38 mitogen-activated protein kinases (van Putten et al., 2009). The activation of the MAP kinase, ERK and P38 pathways leads to production of proinflammatory cytokines IL-8 and IL-10 (Hickey et al., 2000). In addition, other proinflammatory cytokines of primary interest within the human innate immune system are IL-1 $\alpha$ , IL-1 $\beta$ , IL-6, and TNF- $\alpha$  (D. A. John et al., 2017; C. K. Smith et al., 2005; van Putten et al., 2009).

Avian systems have fewer cytokines compared to human systems (C. K. Smith et al., 2005). Despite not possessing an IL-8 chemokine, two orthologs have been identified, CXCLi1 and CXCLi2, which are both induced by *Campylobacter* (D. A. John et al., 2017). The induction of IL-8 and CXCLi1/2 in humans and chickens (respectively), is important for the infiltration of neutrophils in the gut (D. A. John et al., 2017). In addition to IL-8 orthologs, important *Campylobacter*-associated cytokines in the avian response from non-epithelial cells (e.g., spleenocytes) are IL-1 $\beta$  and IFN- $\gamma$  (W. A. Awad et al., 2018; Barjesteh et al., 2013).

John *et al.* (2017) investigated the potential link between cytokine production, cellular toxicity, and invasion, stating that whilst the three are not always linked, an association can be made between production of IL-8, CXCLi1, and CXCli2, and toxicity, suggesting similar induction mechanisms. Results from the study by John *et al.* (2017) supported the hypothesis that invasion of epithelial cells by *Campylobacter* is required for efficient cytokine production in avian systems.

#### 5.1.2 *Campylobacter* induced damage to host epithelial cell monolayers

Maintenance of gut barrier integrity is crucial for limiting and preventing pathogenesis of *Campylobacter* (W. A. Awad et al., 2018). The function of the host epithelial cell monolayer is damaged by interactions with *Campylobacter*. Direct damage is caused by *Campylobacter* adhesion/invasion and toxin production, but indirect damage is caused by induction of an inflammatory response in the epithelial cells themselves (Al-Banna et al., 2018; Wooldridge & Ketley, 1997). When adhering to and invading intestinal epithelial cells *in vitro*, campylobacters generate toxins that impair cell function and thus the function of the epithelium as a primary barrier against extra-intestinal spread of pathogens (Man, 2011).

### 5.1.2.1 *Campylobacter* induced damage due to adhesion and invasion of epithelial cells

*Campylobacter* isolates with a greater ability to adhere to intestinal epithelial cells, typically have higher invading ability. In addition to this, adhesion is a prerequisite for the paracellular passage of *Campylobacter* between epithelial cells and into the blood stream (W. A. Awad et al., 2018). The adhesion, invasion and paracellular movement of *Campylobacter* is accompanied by cytopathic effects. Of these three virulence mechanisms, invasion induces the greatest degree of damage to the colonic mucosa which

leads to inflammation of the intestinal epithelium (Jain et al., 2008; van Vliet & Ketley, 2001; Wooldridge & Ketley, 1997).

There is evidence of species-specific cell responses to *Campylobacter* infection, indicating that not all epithelial cells will be damaged to the same extent when infected by *Campylobacter* isolates (van Putten et al., 2009). CaCo-2 cells challenged with *C. jejuni* for 6h showed upregulation of genes involved in cell growth, gene transcription, steroid biosynthesis, and inflammation, however this was not observed in CT-62 cells (murine intestinal epithelial cells) (van Putten et al., 2009).

The movement of *Campylobacter* between and into epithelial cells, compromises the epithelial barrier by damaging tight junctions (W. A. Awad et al., 2018). The integral proteins within the tight junction structure are disrupted, leading to both increased paracellular passage of the bacterium and increasing inflammation. HtrA is a serine protease that combines protease and chaperone functions and is in the bacterial periplasmic space. HtrA has been identified as a key contributor to virulence due to its interaction with occludin (key protein in tight junctions) (Harrer et al., 2019). Redistribution of tight junction proteins (specifically occludin) from an intercellular to intracellular location as a result of *Campylobacter* challenge has been observed in CaCo-2 and T84 epithelial cell monolayers *in vitro* (M. L. Chen et al., 2006; MacCallum, Hardy, et al., 2005). The reduction of tight junction integrity contributes to the loss of absorptive function seen in intestinal epithelium, as demonstrated by a loss in transepithelial electrical resistance (TEER), and collapse of epithelial fluid transport (MacCallum, Hardy, et al., 2005).

#### 5.1.2.2 *Campylobacter* induced damage due to direct cytotoxicity

Permeability of the intestinal epithelium, whilst being directly affected by invasion (section 5.1.2.1), can also be mediated by bacterial toxins (W. A. Awad et al., 2018). CDT is the best characterised toxin in *Campylobacter* species (AbuOun et al., 2005; Jain et al., 2008). There are three subunits that make up CDT (CdtA, CdtB, and CdtC), and it belongs to the AB2-type toxins (Al-Edany et al., 2015; Elmi et al., 2016; Reddy & Zishiri, 2018). Subunits A and C facilitate the movement of CdtB into host cells. CdtB damages host cell DNA by interfering and ultimately causing arrest in G2/M phase of the eukaryotic cell cycle (Elmi et al., 2016; Hickey et al., 2000; van Putten et al., 2009). By disrupting the G2/M phase of the cell cycle, the renewal of the intestinal epithelium is compromised and
this primary barrier against extra-intestinal spread of bacteria is compromised (van Putten et al., 2009).

Once *Campylobacter* is within the host epithelial cell, there are numerous cytotoxins that are released (Hickey et al., 2000). The best characterised toxin associated with *Campylobacter* is a multi-subunit toxin previously mentioned, CDT (Purdy *et al.*, 2000; John *et al.*, 2017). Not all *Campylobacter* strains are positive for CDT, in particular *C. coli* strains lack CDT in their membranes (AbuOun et al., 2005; Hickey et al., 2000). The active subunit of CDT (CdtB) is commonly present in *C. jejuni* isolates. However *C. coli* strains do not naturally possess this toxin subunit (Jain et al., 2008). In *C. jejuni* isolates delivery of biologically active CDT into host cells has been facilitated by OMVs and this is an important part of *C. jejuni* pathogenesis (Elmi et al., 2016). C. *jejuni* NCTC 11168 OMVs are cytotoxic toward CaCo-2 intestinal epithelial cells *in vitro* (Elmi et al., 2016).

CDT, whilst primarily functioning as a cell targeted toxin, also induces IL-8 production in epithelial cells. This was supported by the induced IL-8 activity observed with *C. coli* strains with a shuttle plasmid containing the CDT operon inserted into the membrane, the same strains lacking the plasmid were unable to induce the same IL-8 response (Hickey et al., 2000). IL-8 production from epithelial cells may also be induced by the adhesin factor Jlp (C. K. Smith et al., 2005).

#### 5.1.2.3 Campylobacter induced damage due to cytokine production

Cell signalling pathway analysis has led to the observation that the innate immune response induced by *Campylobacter* contributes to the inflammatory pathology seen in the avian and human gastrointestinal tract (W. A. Awad et al., 2018; D. A. John et al., 2017; van Putten et al., 2009). An over-exuberant immune response leads to the dysregulation of cytokine production, promoting tissue damage and the recruitment of neutrophils and monocytes. The damage to the intestinal epithelium that this causes allows for increased bacterial invasion both paracellularly and transcellularly (D. A. John et al., 2017; van Putten et al., 2009). During the progressive phase of human campylobacteriosis significantly higher concentrations of proinflammatory cytokines has been observed (Nyati & Nyati, 2013).

As mentioned above (section 5.1.2.2), the permeability of the intestinal epithelium is mediated by *Campylobacter*-associated toxins, this not only increases the ability of microbes and toxins to spread extra-intestinally but further damages host cells by aiding

immune response activation (W. A. Awad et al., 2018). "Leaky gut", as this increased permeability is often referred to, increases the transcellular and paracellular passage of *Campylobacter* aiding the bacterial dissemination toward other organs (W. A. Awad et al., 2018).

The structure of tight junctions between the intestinal epithelial cells is damaged by elevated levels of TNF- $\alpha$  and IFN- $\gamma$ , consequently compromising the integrity of this aspect of the intestinal barrier (W. A. Awad et al., 2018; Rees et al., 2008). TNF- $\alpha$  decreases the expression of two major tight junction proteins, occluding and ZO-1 (He et al., 2012). Some studies have alluded to the contribution of IL-6 in disruption of tight junction structure by elevating claudin-2 expression (Suzuki et al., 2011). TNF- $\alpha$  has been frequently associated with structural damage to tight junctions; *C. jejuni* 81116 in the presence of IFN- $\gamma$  and TNF- $\alpha$ , for example, increased cellular damage and induced a redistribution of occluding within 24 hours (Dodson, 2010). Disruption of tight junction function due to claudin and occludin redistribution by *C. jejuni* and TNF- $\alpha$  has been further confirmed by multiple studies (Konkel et al., 2020; Lamb-Rosteski et al., 2008).

#### 5.1.3 Anti-inflammatory strategies

Probiotics are a viable tool for *Campylobacter* reduction in chickens due to positive effects on animal performance, and gut microbiota leading to SCFA production which in turn, improves barrier integrity of epithelial cells (Balta et al., 2022). Probiotics work in several ways to alleviate *Campylobacter* pathogenesis and have been demonstrated both *in vivo* and *in vitro*. Firstly, probiotic interaction with host cells induces IFN- $\gamma$  production, which reduces the severity of disease progression in the host, in addition enhanced levels of IFN- $\alpha$  have been reported as an immunomodulatory mechanism as a result of orally administered probiotics (Balta et al., 2022; Mazziotta et al., 2023). Secondly, competitive exclusion by probiotics depletes the availability of nutrients in the gastrointestinal tract and blocks *Campylobacter* interaction with host cell receptors, reducing the induction of pro-inflammatory cytokines that are stimulated during *Campylobacter* infection (Balta et al., 2022; M. Khan, 2019). Pre-treatment of cell lines with probiotics (e.g. *E. coli Nissle* 1917, Aviguard® formulation, and *Lactobacillus* spp. mixture) has been shown to alter the expression of pro-inflammatory cytokines (decrease in IL-6, IL-8, IL-18, MAPK, IFN- $\gamma$  and TNF- $\alpha$ ; increase in CXCLi2, IL-10) and stimulates production of short chain

fatty acids that act as antimicrobial molecules (Balta et al., 2022; Helmy et al., 2021; Taha-Abdelaziz et al., 2019).

Vinolo *et al.* (2011) reported the importance of SCFAs (acetate, propionate, and butyrate) as nutrients for gastrointestinal epithelial cells but also as potential modulators of gut immunity. SCFA are found naturally in the gastrointestinal tract of mammals and birds, produced by fermentation of polysaccharides, oligosaccharides and glycoprotein precursors (McNeil, 1984; Tralongo et al., 2014; Vinolo et al., 2011). Modulation of inflammatory mediators released by macrophages can be achieved by SCFA, specifically the suppression of known pro-inflammatory mediators involved in *Campylobacter* pathogenesis (Vinolo et al., 2011).

#### 5.1.4 Anti-inflammatory activity of Butyrate

Butyrate is the most studied SCFA and enhances production of IL-10, a known antiinflammatory cytokine (Vinolo et al., 2011). There have been several studies focussed on the mechanism of action of butyric acid, regarding anti-inflammatory properties (Pituch et al., 2013). It is well known that there is an anti-inflammatory effect of butyrate and its associated salts, specifically in the intestinal epithelium (Pituch et al., 2013). In human cells, sodium butyrate is the most potent inhibitor of histone deacetylase (HDAC), the resulting increase in histone and non-histone protein acetylation modulates gene expression of important immunomodulatory cytokines released by macrophages and monocytes (Vinolo et al., 2011; Waldecker et al., 2008). Studies have investigated the effect of butyric acid on several cell types found in the intestine and liver (monocytes, macrophages, murine BV2 cells, and Kupffer cells) and reported consistent decrease in TNF- $\alpha$ , nitric oxide, and IFN- $\gamma$ , and consistent upregulation of IL-10 (Fukae et al., 2005; J.-S. Park et al., 2005; Perez et al., 1998; Pituch et al., 2013; Säemann et al., 2000).

Butyrate has been further shown to increase the TEER of CaCo-2 cell monolayers *in vitro* and consequently protect these cells from *C. jejuni* invasion and translocation (Tralongo et al., 2014). These results implied a concentration dependent decrease in the intestinal mucosa permeability. This could be due to strengthening the tight junctions and stabilising the over-exuberant inflammatory response by decreasing the expression of pro-inflammatory cytokines which has been demonstrated by a reduction in mRNA expression of these cytokines in intestinal biopsies (Tralongo et al., 2014).

#### 5.1.5 Aims

This chapter investigated the indirect effects of feed additives on *Campylobacter* induced damage to epithelial cell monolayers *in vitro*, arising from invasion and inflammatory cytokine production. Supplementation of chicken feed with SCFA is a practical potential solution for the modulation of inflammation seen in *Campylobacter* pathogenesis, providing a practical and economically viable dose can be determined. Three feed additives were carried forward from Chapter 4, two organic acids (caprylic and butyric) and one mineral compound (chromium propionate). It was hypothesised that caprylate and butyrate would modulate the expression of cytokines produced by epithelial cell monolayers The specific chapter aims were to:

- Determine toxicity of feed additives to avian and human epithelial cells at defined concentrations.
- Determine if feed additives protect avian epithelial cells against *Campylobacter* invasion.
- Quantify inflammatory cytokines expressed by avian epithelial cells when exposed to *Campylobacter* isolates.
- Determine if pre-exposure of epithelial cells to feed additives affects cytokine induced by *Campylobacter* exposure.

#### **5.2 Materials and Methods**

#### 5.2.1 Campylobacter isolates

Three *Campylobacter* isolates (C13, G28, L29) (Table 3.3) were specifically selected from an original collection of 21 (Table 2.8). Two reference strains were used throughout this study (*C. jejuni* M1 and *C. jejuni* NCTC 11168; Table 2.8). Isolates were cultured as described in section 2.2.2.1.

#### 5.2.2 Culture of epithelial cell monolayers

Human and avian epithelial cell lines (CaCo-2 and 8E11, respectively) were used in this study and cultured as per routine procedure outlined in section 2.3.1. For the AlamarBlue assay, cell lines were cultured in a 96-well tissue culture plate until confluent. For the gentamicin protection assay (GPA) and cytokine quantification, cell lines were cultured in 24-well tissue culture plate and treatment of cell lines began when cells were approximately 90% confluent as estimated with light microscopy.

#### 5.2.3 Epithelial cell viability: AlamarBlue Assay

To assess the toxicity of feed additives towards epithelial cell lines an AlamarBlue assay was conducted as outlined in section 2.3.4. An untreated control, positive control (Triton X-100), and a range of concentrations of feed additives were applied to cell lines to determine the spectrum of toxicity across a wide range of concentrations (Table 4.1).

Feed additive	Concentration(s) (% v/v)
Untreated	n/a
Triton X-100 (positive control)	2x10 ⁻⁴
Butyrate (pH 7.0 ±0.2)	$2x10^{-7}$ , $2x10^{-6}$ , $2x10^{-5}$ , $2x10^{-4}$ , $2x10^{-3}$ , $0.02$ ,
	0.2, 0.6, 1.0, 1.4
Caprylate (pH 7.0 $\pm$ 0.2)	2.5x10 ⁻⁷ , 2.5x10 ⁻⁶ , 2.5x10 ⁻⁵ , 2.5x10 ⁻⁴ , 2.5x10 ⁻⁴
	³ , 0.025, 0.25, 0.75, 1.25, 1.75
Chromium propionate	$2x10^{-12}, 2x10^{-11}, 2x10^{-10}, 2x10^{-9}, 2x10^{-8}, 2x10^{-10}$
	⁷ , 2x10 ⁻⁶ , 6x10 ⁻⁶ , 1x10 ⁻⁵ , 14x10 ⁻⁵ ,

Table 5.1 Concentrations of controls and feed additives used in the AlamarBlue cell viability assay.

## 5.2.4 *Campylobacter* invasion assay with epithelial cells pre-incubated with feed additives compounds

To quantify *Campylobacter* invasion into epithelial cell lines a GPA was conducted as outlined in section 2.3.5. Prior to performing the GPA, epithelial cell monolayers were incubated with feed additives for 24 h as outlined in section 2.3.3.

## 5.2.5 Quantification of cytokine mRNA expression from epithelial cell lines exposed to *Campylobacter*

Avian epithelial cells (8E11) were cultured to 90% confluency (section 2.3.1 and 4.2.1) and exposed to *Campylobacter* isolates for 6 h (section 2.3.2). RNA was extracted from epithelial cells as outlined in section 2.3.6, followed by conversion to cDNA (section 2.3.7). Quantitative PCR using the probe-based method (section 2.3.8) was used to quantify mRNA expression by 8E11 cells during exposure to *Campylobacter* isolates.

## 5.2.6 Quantification of cytokines from epithelial cell lines pre-treated with feed additives before exposure to *Campylobacter*

Prior to exposure to *Campylobacter* isolates for 6 h, avian cell monolayers were pretreated with feed additives (Table 4.2) for 24 h. The RNA from treated and infected monolayers was extracted and converted to cDNA for quantitative PCR to quantity cytokine expression (sections 2.3.7 and 2.3.8).

Table 5.2 Concentrations of feed additive used in the treatment of avian cell lines prior to exposure to *Campylobacter* isolates for measurement of inflammatory cytokines.

Feed additive	Concentration(s) (% v/v)
Butyrate (pH 7.0 ±0.2)	0.02, 0.2, 0.6, 1.0, 1.4
Caprylate (pH 7.0 ±0.2)	0.025, 0.25, 0.75, 1.25, 1.75
Chromium propionate	0.00002, 0.00004, 0.0001, 0.00014

#### 5.3 Results

#### 5.3.1 Epithelial cell viability

Viability of epithelial cells was presented as fluorescence at 570 nm using AlamarBlue (Figure 5.1-5.3). Standard cell culture media (untreated control) was considered optimum for 100% of cells in the monolayer to be considered viable. Reduction in fluorescence compared to the untreated control indicated a reduction in cell metabolism, whereas increased fluorescence compared to the untreated control indicated an increase in cell respiration due to the reduction of resazurin to resorufin – this could be a product of increased cell metabolism or proliferation. The Triton X-100 despite not being a positive control (as intended) did result in a reduction in fluorescence compared to untreated cell lines (Figure 5.1, 5.2 & 5.3).

#### 5.3.1.1 Butyrate effect on epithelial cell viability

Butyrate had no significant effect on viability of 8E11 epithelial cells at any of the concentrations trialled during this experiment (Figure 5.1(A)). However, for CaCo-2 cells at the higher concentrations (0.6 to 1.4%) a significant increase in fluorescence was observed, with the 0.6% concentration having the greatest effect (Figure 5.1(B)). No concentrations of butyrate were significantly cytotoxic to the epithelial cells.



### Figure 5.1 Viability of avian (8E11) and human (CaCo-2) cells after incubation with butyrate.

Fluorescence (570 nm) was measured from 8E11 (A) and CaCo-2 (B) cell lines incubated with Butyric acid (pH 7.0) (n=3 ± SEM). A Kruskal-Wallis ANOVA with multiple comparisons was used to determine significance of results in 8E11 cells (A) and an ordinary one-way ANOVA with multiple comparisons was used to determine significance of results in CaCo-2 cells (B). *** p < 0.001, **** p < 0.0001.

#### 5.3.1.2 Caprylate effect on epithelial cell viability.

Caprylate had no significant effect on the viability of 8E11 epithelial cells at any of the concentrations trialled during this experiment (Figure 5.2(A)). In CaCo-2 cells a significant increase in fluorescence at the three lowest concentrations was observed (0.00000025 to 0.000025%) and 0.025 to 0.75% (Figure 5.2(B)). No concentrations of caprylate were significantly cytotoxic to the epithelial cells.



Caprylic Acid (pH 7.0) concentration or control treatment Caprylic Acid (pH 7.0) concentration or control treatment

### Figure 5.2 Viability of avian (8E11) and human (CaCo-2) cells after incubation with caprylate.

Fluorescence (570 nm) was measured from 8E11 (A) and CaCo-2 (B) cell lines incubated with caprylic acid (pH 7.0) (n=3  $\pm$  SEM). A Kruskal-Wallis ANOVA with multiple comparisons was used to determine significance of results in 8E11 cells (A) and an ordinary one-way ANOVA with multiple comparisons was used to determine significance of results in CaCo-2 cells (B). ** p < 0.01, *** p < 0.001, **** p < 0.0001.

#### 5.3.1.3 Chromium Propionate effect on epithelial cell viability

Chromium propionate significantly increased fluorescence of 8E11 epithelial cell monolayers at all concentrations above 0.00000002% (Figure 5.3(A)). A sharp increase in fluorescence was observed at 0.000000002%. Furthermore, at no concentration was chromium considered significantly toxic to 8E11 cells. Chromium had no significant effect on CaCo-2 cell monolayers (Figure 5.3(B)).



Figure 5.3 Viability of avian (8E11) and human (CaCo-2) cells after incubation with chromium propionate.

Fluorescence (570 nm) was measured from 8E11 (A) and CaCo-2 (B) cell lines incubated with chromium propionate (n=3  $\pm$  SEM). An ordinary one-way ANOVA with multiple comparisons was used to determine significance of results. * p < 0.05, ** p < 0.01.

# 5.3.2 *Campylobacter* invasion into cell lines pre-treated with feed additives

#### 5.3.2.1 Campylobacter invasion into cell lines pre-treated with Butyrate

Pre-treatment of the avian 8E11 cell line with butyrate did not significantly affect the invasion of any of the *Campylobacter* strains (Figure 5.4(A-D)). This was also seen when data from all strains was combined and the results averaged to give an overall '*genera*' effect of butyrate on *Campylobacter* invasion into 8E11 cells (Figure 5.4(E)). A concentration dependent response for strain G28 (Figure 5.4(C)) was observed, however, this was not significant at the 0.05 level.



Figure 5.4 Invasion of *Campylobacter* into avian epithelial cell lines pre-treated with Butyrate.

A gentamicin protection assay was employed to quantify the percentage of *Campylobacter* cells that invaded an 8E11 cell monolayer from an original inoculum *in vitro* (n=5 ± SEM). The 8E11 cells were exposed to varying concentration of butyric acid (pH 7.0±0.2) for 24 h prior to challenge with *Campylobacter* strains. A – *Campylobacter jejuni* M1, B – *Campylobacter* C13, C – *Campylobacter* G28, D – *Campylobacter* L29, E – *Campylobacter* mean invasion from four strains. A two-way ANOVA with multiple comparisons was used to determine significance of results.

Similarly, there was no effect of butyrate pre-treatment on invasion of *Campylobacter* into human CaCo-2 cells (Figure 5.5). Again, a concentration dependent response in strain G28 was observed (Figure 5.5(C)), however, this was not significant at the 0.05 level. When averaging the invasion of all strains, to assess the 'genera' effect (Figure 5.5(E)) there was a slight concentration dependent response, however, this was not significant at the 0.05 level.



Figure 5.5 Invasion of *Campylobacter* into human epithelial cell lines pre-treated with Butyrate.

A gentamicin protection assay was employed to quantify the percentage of *Campylobacter* cells that invaded a CaCo-2 cell monolayer from an original inoculum *in vitro* (n=5 ± SEM). The CaCo-2 cells were exposed to varying concentration of butyric acid (pH 7.0±0.2) for 24 h prior to challenge with *Campylobacter* strains. A – *Campylobacter jejuni* M1, B – *Campylobacter* C13, C – *Campylobacter* G28, D – *Campylobacter* L29, E – *Campylobacter* mean invasion from four strains. A two-way ANOVA with multiple comparisons was used to determine significance of results.

### 5.3.2.2 *Campylobacter* invasion into cell lines pre-treated with Caprylate

A large degree of variation in *C. jejuni* NCTC 11168 invasion at strain level into 8E11 and CaCo-2 cells was observed and confirmed by the SEM (Figure 5.6(B); Figure 5.7(B)). Despite a large degree of variation between strains, there was no effect on invasion by *Campylobacter* when 8E11 cells were pre-treated with caprylate at strain or *genera* level (Figure 5.6(A-F)).



Figure 5.6 Invasion of *Campylobacter* into 8E11 epithelial cell lines pre-treated with Caprylate in various concentrations.

A gentamicin protection assay was employed to quantify the percentage of *Campylobacter* cells that invaded an 8E11 cell monolayer from an original inoculum *in vitro* (n=5 ± SEM). The 8E11 cells were exposed to varying concentration of caprylic acid (pH 7.0±0.2) for 24 h prior to challenge with *Campylobacter* strains. A – *Campylobacter jejuni* M1, B – *Campylobacter jejuni* NCTC 11168, C – *Campylobacter* C13, D – *Campylobacter* G28, E – *Campylobacter* L29, F – *Campylobacter* mean invasion from five strains. A two-way ANOVA with multiple comparisons was used to determine significance of results.

At the strain level (Figure 5.7(A-E)) no significant effect of caprylate on invasion was observed. A minimal response was observed for *C. jejuni* NCTC 11168 as concentration increased (Figure 5.7(B)), however this was not significant at the 0.05 level. No concentration response pattern was seen when invasion of '*genera*' was assessed (Figure 5.7(E)).



Figure 5.7 Invasion of *Campylobacter* into CaCo-2 epithelial cell lines pre-treated with Caprylate in various concentrations.

A gentamicin protection assay was employed to quantify the percentage of *Campylobacter* cells that invaded a CaCo-2 cell monolayer from an original inoculum *in vitro* (n=5 ± SEM). The CaCo-2 cells were exposed to varying concentration of caprylic acid (pH 7.0±0.2) for 24 h prior to challenge with *Campylobacter* strains. A – *Campylobacter jejuni* M1, B – *Campylobacter jejuni* NCTC 11168, C – *Campylobacter* C13, D – *Campylobacter* G28, E – *Campylobacter* L29, F – *Campylobacter* mean invasion from five strains. A two-way ANOVA with multiple comparisons was used to determine significance of results.

#### 5.3.2.3 Campylobacter invasion into cell lines pre-treated with

#### **Chromium Propionate**

*C. jejuni* NCTC 11168 invasion into 8E11 and CaCo-2 cells showed a large degree of variation (Figure 5.8(B); Figure 5.9(B)). There was a significant increase of *Campylobacter* L29 invasion into 8E11 cells when pre-treated with 0.00014% chromium propionate compared to the lower three concentrations (Figure 5.8(E)), however this was not significant compared to the untreated control. When averaging results from the five *Campylobacter* strains, to assess '*genera*' chromium pre-treatment of 8E11 cells had no effect on invasion.



Figure 5.8 Invasion of *Campylobacter* into 8E11 epithelial cell lines pre-treated with Chromium Propionate in various concentrations.

A gentamicin protection assay was employed to quantify the percentage of *Campylobacter* cells that invaded an 8E11 cell monolayer *in vitro* (n=5 biological replicates  $\pm$  SEM). The 8E11 cells were exposed to varying concentration of chromium propionate for 24 h prior to challenge with *Campylobacter* strains. A – *Campylobacter jejuni* M1, B – *Campylobacter jejuni* NCTC 11168, C – *Campylobacter* C13, D – *Campylobacter* G28, E – *Campylobacter* L29, F – *Campylobacter* mean invasion from five strains. A two-way ANOVA with multiple comparisons was used to determine significance of results. * p < 0.05.

Pre-treatment of CaCo-2 cells with chromium propionate had no effect on the average invasion of *Campylobacter* into the epithelial cells (Figure 5.9(F)). At the strain level, *C. jejuni* NCTC 11168 invasion into CaCo-2 cells was significantly lower when pre-treated with 0.00014% chromium compared to 0.00006% chromium (Figure 5.9(B)). None of the treatments significantly affected invasion compared to the untreated control.



Figure 5.9 Invasion of *Campylobacter* into CaCo-2 epithelial cell lines pre-treated with Chromium Propionate in various concentrations.

A gentamicin protection assay was employed to quantify the percentage of *Campylobacter* cells that invaded a CaCo-2 cell monolayer from an original inoculum *in vitro* (n=5 ± SEM). The CaCo-2 cells were exposed to varying concentration of chromium propionate for 24 h prior to challenge with *Campylobacter* strains. A – *Campylobacter jejuni* M1, B – *Campylobacter jejuni* NCTC 11168, C – *Campylobacter* C13, D – *Campylobacter* G28, E – *Campylobacter* L29, F – *Campylobacter* mean invasion from five strains. A two-way ANOVA with multiple comparisons was used to determine significance of results. * p < 0.05.

## 5.3.3 Cytokine production in avian cells exposed to *Campylobacter* and Butyrate

### 5.3.3.1 CXCLi1 gene expression is increased in *Campylobacter* infected 8E11 epithelial cells treated with 0.6 % Butyrate

CXCLi1 expression was not significantly different when 8E11 cells were pre-exposed to butyrate in the absence of *Campylobacter*, however at 0.6 % butyrate a spike in CXCli1 production was observed (Figure 5.10A). At the strain level, no significant changes in CXCLi1 levels following addition of sodium butyrate were observed (Figure 5.10 B-F). At the genus level (mean response when results from five strains combined) CXCLi1

gene expression was significantly increased in *Campylobacter* infected cells pre-exposed to 0.6% butyrate (Figure 5.10G). When comparing the effect of *C. jejuni* M1 and *C. jejuni* NCTC 11168 on cells, both isolates stimulated CXCLi1 gene expression in 8E11 cells however there was a large degree of error as seen by the SEM in the untreated observations.



Figure 5.10 CXCLi1 gene expression in 8E11 cells exposed to butyrate.

Quantitative PCR was used to quantify the gene expression of CXCLi1 (IL-8 homologue) in 8E11 cells cultured, infected, and treated *in vitro* (n=3 ± SEM). The 8E11 cells were exposed to varying concentrations of butyric acid (pH 7.0) for 24 h prior to challenge with *Campylobacter* strains. A – Uninfected, B – *Campylobacter jejuni* M1, C – *Campylobacter jejuni* NCTC 11168, D – *Campylobacter* C13, E – *Campylobacter* G28, F – *Campylobacter* L29, G – *Campylobacter* mean invasion from five strains. A Kruskal-Wallis ANOVA with multiple comparisons was used to determine significance of results. * p < 0.05, ** p < 0.01.

## 5.3.3.2 CXCLi2 expression is increased in *Campylobacter* infected 8E11 epithelial cells treated with 0.6 % Butyrate

The avian epithelial cells (8E11) showed a similar response to butyrate with regards to CXCLi2 expression in the absence of *Campylobacter* infection, a significant spike at the 0.6 % sodium butyrate treatment compared to all other concentrations (Figure 5.11) suggests that sodium butyrate alone could induce an increase in CXCLi1 and 2 gene expression (Figure 5.11A). At the strain level, no changes in CXCLi2 gene expression were observed with addition of sodium butyrate in varying concentrations (Figure 5.11B-F). At the genus level, a significantly increased expression of CXCLi2 was seen (Figure 5.10G), which were statistically significant (Figure 5.11G). The 0.6% concentration of sodium butyrate increased the gene expression of CXCLi2 significantly compared to the untreated cells and cells treated with 1.4% butyrate. Similar to observations for CXCLi1 it was evident that 0.6 % butyrate spiked CXCLi2 production in both control experiments (Figure 5.11A) and *Campylobacter* infected cells (Figure 5.11G).



Figure 5.11 CXCLi2 gene expression in 8E11 cells exposed to butyrate

Quantitative PCR was used to quantify the gene expression of CXCLi2 (IL-8 homologue) in 8E11 cells cultured, infected, and treated *in vitro* (n=3 ± SEM). The 8E11 cells were exposed to varying concentrations of butyric acid (pH 7.0) for 24 h prior to challenge with *Campylobacter* strains. A – uninfected, B – *Campylobacter jejuni* M1, C – *Campylobacter jejuni* NCTC 11168, D – *Campylobacter* C13, E – *Campylobacter* G28, F – *Campylobacter* L29, G – *Campylobacter* mean invasion from five strains. A Kruskal-Wallis ANOVA with multiple comparisons and T-tests were used to determine significance of results. ** p < 0.01, *** p < 0.001, **** p < 0.0001.

# 5.3.3.3 TGFβ expression is not affected by butyrate treatment in infected 8E11 epithelial cells

TGFB expression showed no significant change across any treatments trialled in this study, both at the strain and genus level (Figure 5.12). In uninfected 8E11 cells, butyrate had no effect on TGF $\beta$  expression. Despite slight trends observed in the data, the variation in the data recorded resulted in no significance of the results (Figure 5.12).



Figure 5.12 TGFβ gene expression in 8E11 cells exposed to butyrate

Quantitative PCR was used to quantify the gene expression of TGF $\beta$  in 8E11 cells cultured, infected, and treated *in vitro* (n=3 ± SEM). The 8E11 cells were exposed to varying concentrations of butyric acid (pH 7.0) for 24 h prior to challenge with *Campylobacter* strains. A – uninfected, B – *Campylobacter jejuni* M1, C – *Campylobacter jejuni* NCTC 11168, D – *Campylobacter* C13, E – *Campylobacter* G28, F – *Campylobacter* L29, G – *Campylobacter* mean invasion from five strains. A Kruskal-Wallis ANOVA with multiple comparisons was used to determine significance of results.

#### **5.4 Discussion**

The effect of feed additives on the viability human (CaCo-2) and avian (8E11) epithelial cells at defined dilutions was assessed. Furthermore, experiments assessed whether epithelial cells could be protected from *Campylobacter* invasion by feed additive exposure *in vitro*. In addition, as *Campylobacter* infection is associated with a poorly regulated overexuberant inflammatory response, cytokine (CXCLi1, CXCLi2 and TGF $\beta$ ) induction by the *Campylobacter* isolates chosen for this study were quantified and compared. Finally, epithelial cells were pre-exposed feed additives to determine if this pre-exposure affected cytokine production induced by *Campylobacter*.

Viability was assessed using an AlamarBlue assay which indicates the oxidation and reduction potential of living cells by measuring mitochondrial enzyme activity. A decrease in fluorescence indicates a reduction in cell number assumed to be due to cell death, and an increase in fluorescence indicates an increase in metabolism and cell proliferation, however this could also be a result of increased cell proliferation (Hamid et al., 2004). In the present study, sodium butyrate had no cytotoxic effect on CaCo-2 or 8E11 cell lines. Surprisingly, in human CaCo-2 cells we observed a significantly increased fluorescence, and therefore an indication of increased metabolism, with exposure at various concentrations up to 0.75%. 0.25% butyrate increased cell fluorescence the most compared to untreated epithelial cells. There are potential reasons for this observation. Butyric acid is a product of microbial fermentation, such as *Clostridium* species, which is part of the natural human intestinal flora, and is a known energy source for intestinal and colorectal epithelial cells (Ishikawa et al., 2021; Sakurazawa & Ohkusa, 2005). The cell focussed actions of butyric acid include the modification of nuclear architecture, acetylation, and phosphorylation of nuclear histones, resulting in changes to the cell chromatin structure, and can also alter the differentiation state of cells (e.g., overcoming the resistance of cancerous colonic cells to normal cell death) (J. G. Smith et al., 1998).

It is also relevant to consider the form of the feed additive as acid and salt forms can give different activities. The cytotoxicity of the sodium salts of organic acids (e.g sodium butyrate) have been extensively studied at various pH (Grenier & Mayrand, 1985; A. Hague et al., 1993; Angela Hague et al., 1995; Heerdt et al., 1994; McBain et al., 1997; Soldatenkov et al., 1998). However the *in vitro* cytotoxicity of the acid component has only more recently been investigated (Kurita-Ochiai et al., 2006; Sakurazawa & Ohkusa,

165

2005). In contrast to the present study, both Sakurazawa and Ohkusa (2005) and Kurita-Ochiai et al. (2006) found that butyric acid (0.5 to 50.0 mM and 2.5 to 5.0 mM, respectively) was toxic to various epithelial cell lines (DLD-1, HeLa, Vero, Hep-2, and Jurkat) when an MTT assay was used. The MTT (3-[4,5-dimethylthiazol-2-yl]-2,5 diphenyl tetrazolium bromide) assay is an alternative method of determining mitochondrial activity without the need for cell quantification and can be used to measure the cytotoxic concentration of solutions where cell death reaches 50% (Sakurazawa & Ohkusa, 2005; van Meerloo et al., 2011). In most cell types, butyric acid has been shown to inhibit growth during the  $G_1$  phase of the cell cycle (Coradini et al., 1997, 2000) and this was replicated by Kurita-Ochiai et al. (2006) who observed a negative correlation between increasing butyric acid concentration and a decrease in cell quantity during the  $G_0/G_1$  phases. It is unclear why in the present study results that contradict this previous research was observed (Coradini et al., 1997, 2000; Kurita-Ochiai et al., 2006; Sakurazawa & Ohkusa, 2005). However it could be due to pH alteration that was conducted in the present study, or preparation of solutions. In addition, the MTT assay and AlamarBlue assay do differ, and reagents used during the experiments may have affected the results that were observed.

Caprylic acid at 0.25% significantly increased CaCo-2 cell metabolism. To my knowledge this is the first time the *in vitro* effects of caprylic acid on epithelial cell lines has been reported. Previous *in vitro* findings have been limited to rat skeletal muscle cell lines, however these did report increases in mitochondrial oxygen consumption induced by caprylic acid (Hirabara et al., 2006). This finding in the present study have confirmed the role of caprylate in modulation of mitochondrial energy specifically within human epithelial cells.

Trivalent chromium (Cr3+) is considered to be highly safe (Amata, 2013). Here it was found that Cr3+ in the form of chromium propionate significantly increased the metabolism of 8E11, avian epithelial cells. Pre-exposure of cells to chromium propionate (0.0000002 to 0.00014% v/v) for 24 h was effective at increasing metabolism compared to cells cultured in untreated media. While Cr is not generally considered an essential trace mineral for poultry and therefore not a required supplement in poultry feed, the supplementation of Cr for birds under environmental stress has been shown to reduce the associated negative effects (Amata, 2013; Hayat et al., 2020). Broiler chickens are under constant environmental and heat stresses during rearing, and supplementing feed with

166

0.15 to 0.4 mg of Cr per kg feed (0.000015 to 0.00004% w/w) has been recommended for improved broiler performance under stress (Hayat et al., 2020; G. Wang et al., 2022). In addition, the US National Research Council (NRC) has previously recommended supplementation of feed with up to 300  $\mu$ g/kg of Cr (0.00003% w/w) for animals that are experiencing environmental stress, potentially due to its role in protecting RNA from heat induced denaturation (Amata, 2013).

The primary role of Cr on metabolic activity is through enhancing glucose uptake as it is an integral component of the glucose tolerant factor (GTF) (Amata, 2013; Czarnek & Siwicki, 2021). Research has shown that in addition to improving absorption and utilisation of glucose, Cr has additional roles in activating enzymes required for nucleic acid synthesis, improving the health of the GI tract, and improving the immune response (Hayat et al., 2020; Rajalekshmi et al., 2014; G. Wang et al., 2022). There are no data available on the *in vitro* effects of Cr supplementation on avian cell lines, however *in vivo* studies (Hayat et al., 2020; Rajalekshmi et al., 2014; G. Wang et al., 2022) reported a positive correlation between Cr supplementation and expression of genes encoding glucose and amino acid transporters in the GI tract suggesting improved intestinal health. Furthermore, the immune status of broiler chickens was shown to improve with Cr supplementation by significantly increasing the production of corticosterone and by improving the cell mediated immune response which was indicated by the increased proliferation of lymphocytes (Hayat et al., 2020; Rajalekshmi et al., 2014). However, an in vitro cell study investigating Cr3+ and human fibroblast cells reported a dose dependent innhibitory effect (Czarnek & Siwicki, 2021) as the efficiency of mitochondria in the human fibroblast decreased in conjunction with cell membrane and lysosome damage. Despite the negative in vitro observations in human cells, cell proliferation was observed when cells were exposed to 100 and 200  $\mu$ M Cr chloride. The variable results here may be due to the form in which Cr was introduced to the cells in the respective studies, propionate is a SCFA similar to butyrate and has been shown to increase cryptal cell production rate in the ceca and colon of rats (Sakata and Yajima, 1984; Hamer et al., 2007), whereas chloride was used as a vessel for Cr exposure in other studies. This highlights the importance of the form in which Cr is applied to cells both in vitro and in vivo.

Treating human epithelial cells with butyrate or caprylate reduced *Campylobacter* invasion. The results reported here were not statistically significant, however previous

studies (both *in vitro* and *in vivo*) have reported a more pronounced effect of these acids on reducing invasion of bacterial enteropathogens (Van Immerseel et al., 2004; Van Deun, Pasmans, Van Immerseel, et al., 2008; Kollanoor-Johny et al., 2012; Gupta et al., 2021). Salmonella enteritidis has a similar invasion mechanism to Campylobacter as it utilises a T3SS system to alter the actin cytoskeleton and also downregulates the expression of macrophage cellular proteins that regulate these cytoskeletal rearrangements (Gupta et al., 2021). Both butyric and caprylic acids (butyric acid in the form of sodium butyrate) reduce invasion of S. enteritidis and Campylobacter into CaCo-2 cell lines. Furthermore, caprylic acid was reported to downregulate the expression of invasion genes *hilA* and *hilD* in *S. enteritidis* after 24 h pre-exposure (Gupta et al., 2021; Kollanoor-Johny et al., 2012; Upadhyaya et al., 2015). An alternative explanation of butyrate activity may be that rather than conferring protection to CaCo-2 cells, bacterial invasion decrease may be due to a reduction in bacterial cell number; although cellular differentiation induced by butyrate may also reduce invasion due to a decrease in tyrosine phosphorylation (Gupta et al., 2021; Van Deun, Pasmans, Van Immerseel, et al., 2008). Similarly, the reduction in invasion seen due to caprylate is likely due to the bactericidal properties reducing bacterial populations. When caprylic acid permeates the bacterial plasma membrane it dissociates leading to intracellular acidification resulting in reduced downregulation of critical invasion genes and reduction of virulence properties (Kollanoor-Johny et al., 2012).

One of the primary aims of the current study was to investigate feed additives that may lead to reductions in the intestinal inflammation induced by *Campylobacter* during broiler infection. Both CXCLi1 and CXCLi2 are homologous to the mammalian chemokine IL-8 (Hoshimoto et al., 2002). We found that pre-incubation for 24 h with 0.6% sodium butyrate significantly increased the gene expression of CXCLi1 and CXCLi2 in *Campylobacter* infected avian cells. It is important to note that elevated levels of CXCLi1 and CXCLi2 have also been observed in cells infected with *Campylobacter* compared to uninfected cells (D. John, 2018). In addition, an upregulation of CXCLi1 and 2 in cells treated with 0.6% butyric acid, independently of *Campylobacter* infection was observed.

Most studies have investigated *Campylobacter* induced cytokine production in human derived cell lines (Andoh et al., 2001; R D Fusunyan et al., 1998; Hoshimoto et al., 2002; Huang et al., 1997; Weng et al., 2007). The use of CaCo-2 cells is often employed due to well documented immunological responses to bacterial pathogens and pattern associated

molecular patterns (PAMPs). PAMPs such as Pam3CSK4 and LPS have been used to mimic the interaction of pathogenic microbes with cells pre-incubated with both butyrate and caprylic acid (Andoh et al., 2001; R D Fusunyan et al., 1998; Weng et al., 2007). IL-8 expression can be both up and down-regulated by butyric acid, this phenomenon is dependent on numerous factors (Andoh et al., 2001; R D Fusunyan et al., 1998; Robert D. Fusunyan et al., 1999; Huang et al., 1997). Down-regulation of IL-8 was observed when CaCo-2 cells were treated with butyric acid in conjunction with PAMP stimulation, however pre-treatment of cells prior to PAMP exposure enhanced the production of IL-8. Furthermore, the A20 negative regulator of the NF-KB pathway is also believed to influence the action of butyric acid (Weng et al., 2007). IL-1 $\beta$  and LPS are additional stimulators of IL-8 production in CaCo-2 cells, interestingly it was reported that LPS induced IL-8 secretion only occurred after CaCo-2 cells were cultured in the presence of sodium butyrate. The upregulatory effects of sodium butyrate in the present study and downregulatory effects of sodium butyrate in previous reports indicate the complex nature of butyric acid action with regards to pro-inflammatory cytokine induction (R D Fusunyan et al., 1998). Rather than classed as a stimulator or inhibitor of IL-8 (CXCLi1 and CXCLi2) production, it could be regarded as a modulator of epithelial cells and their response to inflammatory mediators (Chuntharapai & Kim, 1995; R D Fusunyan et al., 1998; Tran et al., 2019). The differentiation status and type of cells used in studies can have a great impact on the experimental outcome; differentiated cells are believed to reflect the in vivo system more accurately than undifferentiated cells (Hoshimoto et al., 2002). In differentiated CaCo-2 cells stimulated with IL-1β, IL-8 secretion can be successfully suppressed by caprylic acid treatment, however the same was not observed in intestine-407 cells challenged with IL-1 $\beta$  where caprylic acid dose dependently enhanced IL-8 secretion (Andoh et al., 2001; Hoshimoto et al., 2002). This dichotomy between results indicates, that the acid should be regarded as a modulator of proinflammatory cytokine production dependent on application (Hoshimoto et al., 2002).

#### **5.5 Conclusion**

This work in this chapter demonstrated the complex nature of the direct effects of feed additives on human and avian cells (Table 5.3). The non-toxic nature of these compounds, over relevant concentrations, is promising for *in vivo* use as feed additives. The reduction of *Campylobacter* invasion into human cells pre-exposed to caprylate and butyrate is supported by published work. However, this work identified that the mechanism may not

be a result of epithelial cell and additive interaction alone but also the interactions between *Campylobacter* cells and additives. Further work should focus on identifying this mechanism of reduced invasion.

Experiment	Result
Epithelial cell viability	Caprylate significantly increased fluorescence
	from CaCo-2 cells
	Chromium propionate significantly increased
	fluorescence from 8E11 cells
Invasion of Campylobacter into epithelial	Chromium propionate at 0.00014%
cells pretreated with potential feed additives	significantly increased the invasion of
	Campylobacter L29 into 8E11 cells
Gene expression	In 8E11 cells exposed to 0.6% butyrate,
	CXCLi1 expression was increased when
	challenged with Campylobacter
	In 8E11 cells exposed to 0.6% butyrate
	CXCLi2 expression was increased when
	exposed to Campylobacter

 Table 5.3 Summary of main results from Chapter 5

#### **Chapter 6: General Discussion**

The overarching aim of this thesis was to determine the potential of feed additives for reducing *Campylobacter* growth and invasion in the poultry GI tract and extraintestinal spread. *Campylobacter* strains were identified that represent the invasive spectrum in the collection studied. The direct bactericidal properties of feed additives against *Campylobacter* strains, and their indirect effect on reducing invasion of *Campylobacter* into epithelial cells was investigated. Lastly, the potential for feed additives to regulate the inflammatory response induced by *Campylobacter* infection was determined. The rationale behind this work was to improve the reduction of extraintestinal spread of *Campylobacter* and determine the mechanism of action of the feed additives. The results from these *in vitro* experiments will be used to determine the mechanism of action of these compounds and report these findings to the funder of this study, Kemin Animal Nutrition and Health for future *in vivo* investigation.

The current study confirmed the high variability in genes between a small collection of *Campylobacter* isolates, and subsequently the diverse phenotypic behaviour exhibited by this genus – highlighting that a 'one solution fits all' may not apply to this genera of pathogen. Sodium butyrate at pH 7.0 limited the growth of Campylobacter isolates in vitro. Further investigation is required to determine its exact mechanism of action however it is postulated that this arises from internal acidification of bacterial cells. It is plausible that other mechanisms could be at play, such as disruption of the protonmotive force of Campylobacter (van der Stel et al., 2017). This may in fact be a general mechanism of action that weak acids (such as butyrate and caprylate) use to inhibit bacterial growth as similar effects of been has been identified in Clostridium thermocellum and Clostridium acetobutylium and Saccharomyces cerevisiae. In fact, monitoring the growth inhibitory effects of weak acids has been demonstrated in B. subtilis strains using fluorescent sensor proteins (Herrero et al., 1985; Stratford & Anslow, 1996). The interaction between *Campylobacter* and the host is complex and there are various virulence mechanisms which are employed to aid extraintestinal spread and induce a dysregulated immune response. In addition to a growth limiting effect on Campylobacter, sodium butyrate may also modulate the epithelial response to inflammatory mediators and confer a protective effect to the gut epithelium (van Beilen & Brul, 2013).

#### 6.1 Reducing *Campylobacter* in the Poultry Industry

*Campylobacter* is the leading cause of foodborne gastroenteritis and may lead to more serious chronic manifestations such as Guillain-Barre and Miller Fisher syndromes (Soro et al., 2020). In England and Wales, a peak of reported human campylobacteriosis cases occurred in 2000 with over 57,000 cases reported to the Health Protection Agency (HPA) (Newell et al., 2011). The infection of commercial poultry with *Campylobacter* is widespread and the main vehicle for human infection (Chlebicz & Śliżewska, 2018; Myintzaw et al., 2021; Sheppard & Maiden, 2015). 80% of human infections have been traced back to poultry host origins reducing the public health risk from *Campylobacter* infection requires interventions to control or prevent poultry flock colonisation at the farm level and cross-contamination throughout meat processing (Newell et al., 2011; Umaraw et al., 2017).

In chapter 3 the variation in strain types isolated from naturally infected broiler chickens was determined. It is unlikely that a broiler chicken is infected with only one ST of *Campylobacter* at any one time, therefore, to reduce *Campylobacter* levels within the poultry production chain an intervention must be employed that acts consistently upon *Campylobacter* isolates despite variation in genomic and phenotypic behaviours.

There are high levels of poultry products contaminated with *Campylobacter* at the point of sale. Despite statistics varying between studies in the EU, swabs recovered from poultry products were *Campylobacter* positive in 75.8% of cases (Shane, 2000; Soro et al., 2020). Of the *Campylobacter* strains recognised, *C. jejuni* predominated but *C. coli* can be recovered from the GI tract of poultry and may cause human disease (Bull et al., 2006; Epping et al., 2021; Gilbreath et al., 2011; Sheppard et al., 2009).

Reducing the prevalence of *Campylobacter* throughout the poultry production chain will significantly reduce the economic burden related to public health costs (e.g. NHS), industry costs, and costs to the affected individuals. In the UK the economic burden associated with *Campylobacter* associated disease has been estimated at £45.4 million (Roberts *et al.*, 2003; Hansson *et al.*, 2016; Devleesschauwer *et al.*, 2017; Soro *et al.*, 2020; Myintzaw, Jaiswal and Jaiswal, 2021). Furthermore, economic consequences may occur due to recall of products considered unsafe for sale or indeed loss of consumer trust following an outbreak (Devleesschauwer et al., 2017). By reducing the levels of this

pathogen (ideally eradicating it) throughout the poultry processing chain, both the public health risk and economic burden could be alleviated.

#### 6.1.1 Reducing cross contamination through biosecurity

A well-maintained modern poultry house with limited access points should have high biosecurity for holding commercial flocks, as house age is often a factor considered to affect structural integrity (Berndtson et al., 1996; Messens et al., 2009; Newell et al., 2011; Shane, 2000). However, risk factor studies have shown no difference between flock colonisation and house age (Berndtson et al., 1996; Messens et al., 2009). There are also passive and active transgressions of the biosecurity perimeter that are capable of compromising flock security regardless of mitigation strategies and these are still not fully understood (Figure 6.1) (Berndtson et al., 1996; Messens et al., 2009; Newell et al., 2011; Shane, 2000).



Figure 6.1 Passive and active routes for *Campylobacter* introduction into a poultry house, and cross-contamination potential at stages of poultry processing (Taken from: Soro *et al.*, 2020).

Increased efforts have been made in recent years to reduce the levels of *Campylobacter* contamination in the poultry production chain but despite these efforts there is still no effective strategy that reduces *Campylobacter* to levels that do not pose a significant public health risk (Guyard-Nicodème et al., 2017; Soro et al., 2020). At farm level the EFSA have named several biosecurity practices that theoretically should limit the entry

of *Campylobacter* into broiler houses if strictly adhered to. This includes boot washing (boot dip), overall changes (into designated overalls for that specific house), hand washing and limited personnel entry (Facciolà, Riso, et al., 2017; I Hansson et al., 2010; Koutsoumanis et al., 2020; Soro et al., 2020). Over the last 30 years, it has become evident that this is not always easy in practice (Newell et al., 2011; Soro et al., 2020).

#### **6.1.2 Reducing colonisation through feed additive approaches**

Broiler feed formulation and nutritional content is of vital importance. Gut health, immune function, and growth performance are all highly influenced by feed composition and nutritional additives can be utilised to improve bird welfare and productivity (Alagawany et al., 2021; Ali et al., 2021; Choct, 2009; Shakeri et al., 2020). Supplementation of feed with SCFA, MCFA and probiotics has been suggested as an economically and practically viable preventative measure to reduce *Campylobacter* colonisation through mechanisms aimed at reducing faecal shedding of the bacterium, bactericidal properties within the GI tract, competitive exclusion of pathogens within the GI tract, and improvement of gut defences (e.g., reducing inflammation and reducing permeability) (Callaway et al., 2008; Guyard-Nicodème et al., 2017; Pourabedin et al., 2014; Pourabedin & Zhao, 2015; Soro et al., 2020). Research into the efficacy of *Campylobacter* targeted feed additives that are either commercially available, in progress of commercialisation or in the primary stages of testing have shown inconsistent findings, often with a large degree of variation in results, which has been attributed to microbiota composition of broilers during in vivo experiments and Campylobacter strain variation (Guyard-Nicodème et al., 2017; Orhan Sahin et al., 2015; Soro et al., 2020). It has been shown that feed additives could be successful in reducing the prevalence and intensity of Campylobacter colonisation in broilers, however this is speculation as data is primarily based on *in vitro* studies (Bailey, 1993; Shane, 2000).

#### 6.2 *Campylobacter* strain variation

Across the 32 species of *Campylobacter* there is extensive variation in both genetic and phenotypic diversity (Costa & Iraola, 2019; D. John, 2018; Vidal et al., 2016). Infection rate, *in vivo* behaviour and colonisation ability is strain specific and no two strains can be assumed to behave in the same way (D. A. John et al., 2017). In the current study we studied the properties of 29 *Campylobacter* isolates (*C. jejuni* and *C. coli*) all isolated from naturally infected broiler chickens and assessed their *in vitro* behaviour (growth and invasion) and genetic diversity (virulence and antibiotic resistance). Despite conducting

all experiments under controlled conditions in a sterile environment notable phenotypic variation between isolates from the same source was observed. The results also deviated from a previous study using the same isolates under similar conditions. Based on this current study it was demonstrated that not only the variation between isolates but also the variability in results that the same isolate can produce (D. John, 2018).

Genomic analysis confirmed presence of the *cadF* gene in all isolates regardless of species or source (human/poultry: liver, ileum, caeca). However, the presence of other important virulence genes (e.g., *flaA/flaB* and Cdt cluster) was highly variable and the differences between genomic databases affected the detection of some genes.

The caecal and liver *Campylobacter* isolates in the present study showed preference toward avian 8E11 cells with regards to successful invasion as shown in Chapter 3. However, the overall invasion at strain level was diverse with no trend, and this has been previously shown by John (2018) using the same subset of isolates. *In vitro* studies used five isolates (including two reference strains) that showed the most consistent results in screening experiments and could represent the invasive spectrum of the *Campylobacter* isolates within the collection. The species that comprise the *Campylobacter* genus exhibit distinct differences in biological processes (e.g., flagellar biosynthesis, epithelial cell interaction) that are not fully understood (Gilbreath et al., 2011). It is theorised that by experimenting with a variety of strains, the additives tested would be targeted towards *Campylobacter* as a genus, not a specific strain or isolate.

### 6.3 Mechanisms of action of feed additives: Caprylic Acid, Butyric Acid, Chromium Propionate:

In chapters 4 and 5 the potential for butyric acid, caprylic acid and chromium propionate as *Campylobacter* targeted feed additives was investigated. Organic SCFA ( $C_1$ - $C_7$ ) and MCFA ( $C_8$ - $C_{12}$ ), have been shown to alter micro-environments by reducing pH which leads to pathogen inactivation and are capable of diffusing across the bacterial membrane in an undissociated form causing intracellular acidification (Guyard-Nicodème et al., 2017; Soro et al., 2020). Butyrate is a SCFA known for enhancing production of antiinflammatory cytokines and increasing transepithelial electrical resistance (TEER) across cell monolayers *in vitro*, which results in protection from pathogen invasion and translocation from the intestinal lumen into the blood stream (Tralongo et al., 2014). Butyrate is additionally involved in immune modulation and is a known energy providing substrate for enterocytes that line the intestinal tract (Antongiovanni et al., 2007; Fernández-Rubio et al., 2009; Józefiak et al., 2004). Butyric acid is currently a commercially available poultry feed additive in various forms, but most commonly it is administered as a microbead coating (Guyard-Nicodème et al., 2017). Caprylic acid, on the other hand, is not currently a marketed feed additive, however it has been shown to alter the intestinal microbiota *in vivo* and may have a direct effect on *Campylobacter* virulence (F. Solis de los Santos et al., 2009). Chromium is an essential trace element for animals and contributes to metabolic activities. Currently, chromium chloride is the most common form of chromium feed additive, however organic forms such as chromium propionate are more efficiently absorbed and able to interact with the intestinal epithelium (Arif, Alagawany, et al., 2019; Dębski et al., 2004; Safwat et al., 2020).

These compounds were selected due to their known properties, however the studies contained within this thesis support mechanisms of action that involve both direct interaction with *Campylobacter* cells and gut epithelial cells. These mechanisms could reduce *Campylobacter* numbers and protect epithelial cells from invasion and *Campylobacter* induced damage (Figure 6.2).



#### Figure 6.2 Schematic representation of the proposed mechanism of action of feed additives Caprylic acid, Butyric acid, and Chromium propionate (Created in Biorender, 2023)

Caprylic and butyric acid are proposed to be directly bactericidal and can diffuse across the bacterial membrane in the undissociated form where they dissociate and lower the intracellular pH leading to DNA damage, reduction in LOS (Lipooligosaccharide) density and ultimately cell death (1). The acids can also reduce the pH of the GI tract microenvironment, making it unfavourable for *Campylobacter* proliferation and survival; reduction in LOS density may reduce resistance to bactericidal effects of the gut microbiota and complement mediated activity (2). Chromium propionate directly effects the health of the intestinal epithelium by interacting with the mitochondria of enterocytes, thus restoring epithelial health that has been damaged by interaction with Campylobacter (3). It was further hypothesised that feed additives may reduce *Campylobacter* invasion (paracellular (5) and transcellular (6)) across the intestinal epithelium by improving integrity of tight junctions (TJ) and providing a protective effect to epithelial cells such as preventing pathogen interaction with G protein coupled receptors (GPCR) which results in pathogen internalisation (4). Campylobacter stimulates chicken toll like receptor 4 (TLR4) by lipopolysaccharide (LPS) binding and induces pro-inflammatory cytokine release (CXCLi1/2 in chickens) Release of these inflammatory cytokines results in further damage to intestinal cells and reduction in TEER leading to increased movement of *Campylobacter* from the GI tract to the bloodstream (7).

#### 6.3.1 Bactericidal Properties of Feed Additives

In the present study, sodium butyrate (pH 7.0  $\pm$ 2.0) was the source of butyric acid, which has known bactericidal properties in the dissociated form (Leeson et al., 2005; Panda et al., 2009). A significant decrease in *Campylobacter* growth at 1.0% and 1.4% (v/v) sodium butyrate was observed. It was suggest that the sodium butyrate may be

internalised in its associated form, leading to intracellular dissociation and bacterial cell death by cytoplasmic acidification (Figure 6.2) (D. Hermans et al., 2010).

The other feed additives trialled, i.e. chromium propionate and caprylate, had no significant effect on *Campylobacter* growth. This observation for chromium propionate (Figure 6.2) was unexpected, as chromium is known to have modulatory effects on glucose metabolism and immune modulation (Hayat et al., 2020; R. U. Khan et al., 2014; Rajalekshmi et al., 2014; Spears et al., 2019). The pH of the caprylic acid used was altered with HEPES buffer (to pH 7.0  $\pm$ 2.0). Here it was suspected that the lack of effect on *Campylobacter* growth seen in caprylic acid treatments was associated with the buffering effect of the HEPES. Unlike butyric acid (sodium butyrate), a previous *in vitro* study has shown a pH dependent bactericidal effect of caprylic acid (D. Hermans et al., 2010). Adverse effects of HEPES on cell lines *in vitro* have been reported (upregulation of inflammatory signalling and cytotoxicity) (Liu et al., 2023). Zwitterionic betaine-based pH buffers are an organic buffer that do not induce the adverse effects on cells seen in HEPES treated media and should be considered as a safer alternative for altering caprylic acid pH (Liu et al., 2023).

### 6.3.2 Improving integrity of the intestinal epithelium using an *in vitro* model

*Campylobacter* can spread from the GI tract of poultry using a number of mechanisms that result in compromising the intestinal epithelium therefore it is important to design practical interventions to prevent gut wall damage, therefore preventing the bacterium from reaching edible tissues. *Campylobacter* can migrate transcellularly and paracellularly between individual intestinal epithelial cells where they can proliferate, damage the host cell and spread into the blood stream (Figure 6.2) (Ó Cróinín & Backert, 2012). Paracellular passage of *Campylobacter* occurs by redistributing the central tight junction proteins (occludin and ZO-1) allowing movement between cells and agitating cell to cell contact (Figure 6.2) (Ó Cróinín & Backert, 2012).

Pre-treatment of human epithelial cells with sodium butyrate and caprylate led to a decrease in transcellular invasion, measured by bacterial internalisation, although this was not significant. Similar results have been reported with a more pronounced effect but with different enteropathogens (Gupta et al., 2021; Kollanoor-Johny et al., 2012; Van Deun, Pasmans, Ducatelle, et al., 2008; F. Van Immerseel et al., 2004). It is suggested that a

protective mechanism of these feed additives on human cell lines occurs by decreasing tyrosine phosphorylation during CaCo-2 differentiation (Gupta et al., 2021; Van Deun, Pasmans, Ducatelle, et al., 2008). However there could be other effects and it is the sum of these effects that is important. For instance, the limitation of bacterial growth by residual feed additive on the cell monolayer; additionally, permeation of the bacterial membrane by acids could cause reduction in virulence properties by downregulating invasion genes (Kollanoor-Johny et al., 2012).

#### 6.3.3 Regulating inflammatory response using an *in vitro* model

*Campylobacter* is known to induce the pro-inflammatory cytokines IL-8 and CXCLi1/2 in human and avian cells respectively (D. John, 2018). In the present study it was found that 0.6 % sodium butyrate significantly increased the expression of CXCLi1 and CXCLi2 genes in *Campylobacter* infected cells compared to cells infected with *Campylobacter* only. TGF $\beta$  expression in *Campylobacter* infected 8E11 cells was not significantly affected by butyrate treatment. *In vitro* models of *Campylobacter* induced cytokine production have been used in previous research, however the cell lines used in these have been primarily human, such as CaCo-2, HT-29, T84, and SW480 (Andoh et al., 2001; R D Fusunyan et al., 1998; Hoshimoto et al., 2002; Huang et al., 1997; D. John, 2018; Weng et al., 2007). An increase in CXCLi1 and CXCLi2 expression in some sodium butyrate treatments was expected. A previous study has reported small induction of IL-8 (homologous to CXCLi1/2) in butyrate treated CaCo-2 (R D Fusunyan et al., 1998).

Despite an indication that sodium butyrate results in upregulation of CXCLi1/2 in *Campylobacter* infected cells in this study, there is evidence may act as a modulator of IL-8 expression, and under the correct conditions could also be a downregulator CXCLi1/2 expression in 8E11 cells.

#### **6.4 Implications for the poultry industry**

The production of poultry products needs to create profit for all stakeholders involved in the process To meet customer demand there must be a constant flow of broiler flocks, and to achieve this the crop times are short, farming is intensified, and profit margins are low (Newell et al., 2011). Any *Campylobacter* targeted feed additives or new biosecurity practices must be supported by strong research evidence that would justify potential extra
costs, or ideally low-cost interventions that would likely be more appealing and welcomed by the poultry industry (Newell et al., 2011; Soro et al., 2020).

Despite previous studies reporting commensal carriage of *Campylobacter* within poultry (Humphrey *et al.*, 2014; Awad *et al.*, 2015; Pielsticker *et al.*, 2016) it has been more recently acknowledged by the scientific community that some strains of *Campylobacter* are harmful to chickens, causing intestinal inflammation and diarrhoea (Hermans *et al.*, 2011b; Williams *et al.*, 2013; Humphrey *et al.*, 2014; Awad *et al.*, 2015; Awad, Hess and Hess, 2018). At the farm level a reduction in *Campylobacter* infection will reduce the frequency of diarrhoea and this will lead to an improvement to animal welfare as litter in the house will be drier and thus reduce the instances of hock marks and pododermatitis.

## 6.5 Implications for Public Health

*Campylobacter* is the leading bacterial cause of foodborne human gastroenteritis worldwide, and the true incidence of the disease is unknown due to underreporting, especially within developing countries (Ingrid Hansson et al., 2016; Heimesaat et al., 2021; Myintzaw et al., 2021; Sheppard & Maiden, 2015). Despite this, educated estimates are that a 2-3 log₁₀ reduction in *Campylobacter* poultry colonisation would result in a 76 to90% reduction in human campylobacteriosis (Gracia *et al.*, 2016).

As the global population grows year-on-year, the need for cheap sources of safely produced food increases. By reducing *Campylobacter* prevalence in poultry, the industry will be able to continue to meet demand and provide safe and affordable food to feed the planet. However, the reduction of *Campylobacter* would only result in a medium-term solution for the poultry industry and public health risk. A long-term solution to completely reduce the public health risk with the assurance that intensive poultry farming does not pose a significant risk to public health would be to develop an intervention strategy that is effective at preventing poultry colonisation at the primary level rather than controlling the extra-intestinal spread once infection has occurred.

## 6.6 Limitations

In Chapter 3 three isolates were selected to carry forward for testing *in vitro* with feed additives alongside two control isolates. Due to consistency in results and ability to culture, the three strains were all *C. coli* and assessed in comparison to two *C. jejuni* control strains. As *C. jejuni* is the most common species that causes human campylobacteriosis it would have been preferable to have used a *Campylobacter* isolate

from each sequence type. However, we could not identify a consistent isolate that represented each sequence type and therefore could not carry these forwards without incurring high degrees of variation in results.

The pH of the chicken caeca, small and large intestine, range from 6.4 to 6.6 in the most common white hybrid chicken for fast growing meat, Ross 308 birds (Mabelebele et al., 2013), therefore the caprylic acid feed additive may be more efficient *in vivo* at limiting *Campylobacter* growth if tested *in vitro* with a lower pH. Here, studies further tested the feed additives using epithelial cells optimally cultured at pH 7.0 for *in vitro* testing, therefore using additives with a lower pH could have compromised epithelial cell viability.

The only feed additive trialled with subsequent cytokine analysis was butyric acid in the form of sodium butyrate. When culturing the epithelial cells with caprylate, the epithelial RNA was unrecoverable after lysing. It is speculated that intracellular acidification of the epithelial cells might have occurred, however previous cytotoxicity assays suggested that the concentrations of caprylic acid trialled were non-toxic to both cell lines. To confirm the toxicity of the caprylic acid, a different cytotoxicity assay could be employed such as the LDH release assay (measure loss of membrane integrity) or the MTT assay (measures metabolic activity of viable cells) (Weyermann et al., 2005). The outcome of the cytotoxicity assay is dependent on the cell death mechanism hypothesised and therefore not all assays may report that a toxic compound is in fact toxic. Had an alternative assay been used concentrations could have been adjusted accordingly and it would have been possible to trial caprylate as an inflammatory regulator of CaCo-2 cells.

## 6.7 Future Work

This research has provided a basis for continued exploration of feed additives as safe and viable to combat *Campylobacter* extraintestinal spread at primary production (Soro et al., 2020). Repeating the experiments presented here should be done with a wider range of isolates, including *C. jejuni* isolates of poultry origin and clinical importance (e.g., ST-21 and ST-437).

The current study focusses highly on transcellular movement of *Campylobacter*; future research should explore the paracellular movement of *Campylobacter* between intestinal epithelial cells and identify to what degree feed additives can improve intestinal integrity by acting upon tight junctions and TEER (transepithelial electrical resistance). The pH of

caprylic and butyric acid used here was adjusted to pH 7.0 with buffers (HEPES or sodium hydroxide). It would be recommended to repeat the *in vitro* experiments here with additives at a pH that represents the average pH of the chicken GI tract.

Any future *in vitro* research should be followed up with an *in vivo* trial designed with critical parameters in mind such as broiler age, broiler lineage, form of additive administration, and additive constitution (one active ingredient or a combination). It is of the upmost importance that *in vivo* trials are conducted to ensure that observations in *in vitro* experiments are not a product of the controlled and sterile environments.

The industrial partner sponsoring this research, Kemin Animal Nutrition and Health Ltd., should consider the possibility of a *Campylobacter* targeted feed additive composed of more than one active ingredient. There are possibilities for additive and synergistic effects and these could be further tested in vitro in the systems used here. We have highlighted the variable nature of *Campylobacter* and its response to the additives. Additive development should consider reduction of multiple virulence mechanisms that are utilised by *Campylobacter* in its pathogenesis, in addition to improving the gut health of the poultry host. It is clear from the results in this thesis that feed additives have both direct effects (on *Campylobacter*) and indirect effects on the host (chicken epithelial cells) that ultimately may affect *Campylobacter* levels.

## **Chapter 7: References**

- Abd El-Hack, M. E., El-Saadony, M. T., Shafi, M. E., Qattan, S. Y. A., Batiha, G. E., Khafaga, A. F., Abdel-Moneim, A. E., & Alagawany, M. (2020). Probiotics in poultry feed: A comprehensive review. *Journal of Animal Physiology and Animal Nutrition*, 104(6), 1835– 1850. https://doi.org/10.1111/jpn.13454
- Abdelqader, A., & Al-Fataftah, A.-R. (2016). Effect of dietary butyric acid on performance, intestinal morphology, microflora composition and intestinal recovery of heat-stressed broilers. *Livestock Science*, 183, 78–83. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.livsci.2015.11.026
- Abreu, M. T. (2010). Toll-like receptor signalling in the intestinal epithelium: how bacterial recognition shapes intestinal function. *Nature Reviews Immunology*, *10*(2), 131–144. https://doi.org/10.1038/nri2707
- AbuOun, M., Manning, G., Cawthraw, S. A., Ridley, A., Ahmed, I. H., Wassenaar, T. M., & Newell, D. G. (2005). Cytolethal Distending Toxin (CDT)-Negative Campylobacter jejuni Strains and Anti-CDT Neutralizing Antibodies Are Induced during Human Infection but Not during Colonization in Chickens. *Infection and Immunity*, 73(5), 3053–3062. https://doi.org/10.1128/IAI.73.5.3053-3062.2005
- Acheson, D., & Allos, B. M. (2001). Campylobacter jejuni Infections: Update on Emerging Issues and Trends. *Clinical Infectious Diseases*, 32(8), 1201–1206. https://doi.org/10.1086/319760
- Acke, E., McGill, K., Golden, O., Jones, B. R., Fanning, S., & Whyte, P. (2009). A Comparison of Different Culture Methods for the Recovery of Campylobacter Species from Pets. *Zoonoses and Public Health*, 56(9–10), 490–495. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1863-2378.2008.01205.x
- Adhikari, P. A., & Kim, W. K. (2017). Overview of Prebiotics and Probiotics: Focus on Performance, Gut Health and Immunity – A Review. Annals of Animal Science, 17(4), 949–966. https://doi.org/10.1515/aoas-2016-0092
- Ahsan, U., Cengiz, Ö., Raza, I., Kuter, E., Chacher, M. F. A., Iqbal, Z., Umar, S., & Çakir, S. (2016). Sodium butyrate in chicken nutrition: the dynamics of performance, gut microbiota, gut morphology, and immunity. *World's Poultry Science Journal*, 72(2), 265– 275. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0043933916000210
- Al-Banna, N. A., Cyprian, F., & Albert, M. J. (2018). Cytokine responses in campylobacteriosis: Linking pathogenesis to immunity. *Cytokine & Growth Factor Reviews*, 41, 75–87. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cytogfr.2018.03.005
- Al-Edany, A. A., Khudor, M. H., & Radhi, L. Y. (2015). Isolation, Identification and Toxigenic aspects of Campylobacter jejuni Isolated from Slaughtered Cattle and Sheep at Basrah City. *Basrah Journal of Veterinary Research*, 14(2).
- Al-Hayani, W. K. A. (2017). Effect of Threonine Supplementation on Broiler Chicken Productivity Traits. *International Journal of Poultry Science*, 16(4), 160–168. https://doi.org/10.3923/ijps.2017.160.168
- Alagawany, M., Elnesr, S. S., Farag, M. R., Tiwari, R., Yatoo, M. I., Karthik, K., Michalak, I., & Dhama, K. (2021). Nutritional significance of amino acids, vitamins and minerals as nutraceuticals in poultry production and health – a comprehensive review. *Veterinary Quarterly*, *41*(1), 1–29. https://doi.org/10.1080/01652176.2020.1857887
- Albenberg, L., Esipova, T. V., Judge, C. P., Bittinger, K., Chen, J., Laughlin, A., Grunberg, S., Baldassano, R. N., Lewis, J. D., Li, H., Thom, S. R., Bushman, F. D., Vinogradov, S. A., & Wu, G. D. (2014). Correlation Between Intraluminal Oxygen Gradient and Radial

Partitioning of Intestinal Microbiota. *Gastroenterology*, *147*(5), 1055-1063.e8. https://doi.org/10.1053/j.gastro.2014.07.020

- Alcock, B. P., Raphenya, A. R., Lau, T. T. Y., Tsang, K. K., Bouchard, M., Edalatmand, A., Huynh, W., Nguyen, A.-L. V, Cheng, A. A., Liu, S., Min, S. Y., Miroshnichenko, A., Tran, H.-K., Werfalli, R. E., Nasir, J. A., Oloni, M., Speicher, D. J., Florescu, A., Singh, B., ... McArthur, A. G. (2019). CARD 2020: antibiotic resistome surveillance with the comprehensive antibiotic resistance database. *Nucleic Acids Research*. https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/gkz935
- Ali, A., Ponnampalam, E. N., Pushpakumara, G., Cottrell, J. J., Suleria, H. A. R., & Dunshea, F. R. (2021). Cinnamon: A Natural Feed Additive for Poultry Health and Production—A Review. *Animals*, 11(7), 2026. https://doi.org/10.3390/ani11072026
- Allaire, J., Vors, C., Harris, W. S., Jackson, K. H., Tchernof, A., Couture, P., & Lamarche, B. (2019). Comparing the serum TAG response to high-dose supplementation of either DHA or EPA among individuals with increased cardiovascular risk: the ComparED study. *British Journal of Nutrition*, 121(11), 1223–1234. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0007114519000552
- Allos, B. M. (1997). Association between Campylobacter Infection and Guillain-Barré Syndrome. *The Journal of Infectious Diseases*, 176(s2), S125–S128. https://doi.org/10.1086/513783
- Amata, I. . (2013). Chromium in Livestock Nutrition: A Review. GARJAS, 2(12), 289-306.
- Andoh, A., Fujiyama, Y., Hata, K., Araki, Y., Takaya, H., Shimada, M., & Bamba, T. (2001). Counter-regulatory effect of sodium butyrate on tumour necrosis factor-alpha (TNF-α)induced complement C3 and factor B biosynthesis in human intestinal epithelial cells. *Clinical and Experimental Immunology*, *118*(1), 23–29. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-2249.1999.01038.x
- Andress, C. E., & Barnum, D. A. (1968). Pathogenicity of vibrio coli for swine. II. Experimental infection of conventional pigs with vibrio coli. *Canadian Journal of Comparative Medicine : Revue Canadienne de Medecine Comparee*, 32(4), 529–532. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/4234783
- Andrzejewska, M., Klawe, J., Szczepańska, B., & Śpica, D. (2011). Occurrence of virulence genes among Campylobacter jejuni and Campylobacter coli isolates from domestic animals and children. *Polish Journal of Veterinary Sciences*, 14(2). https://doi.org/10.2478/v10181-011-0031-x
- Antongiovanni, M., Buccioni, A., Petacchi, F., Leeson, S., Minieri, S., Martini, A., & Cecchi, R. (2007). Butyric acid glycerides in the diet of broiler chickens: effects on gut histology and carcass composition. *Italian Journal of Animal Science*, 6(1), 19–25. https://doi.org/10.4081/ijas.2007.19
- Arif, Hussain, Mahmood, Abd El-Hack, Swelum, Alagawany, Mahmoud, Ebaid, & Komany. (2019). Effect of Varying Levels of Chromium Propionate on Growth Performance and Blood Biochemistry of Broilers. *Animals*, 9(11), 935. https://doi.org/10.3390/ani9110935
- Arif, M., Alagawany, M., Abd El-Hack, M. E., Saeed, M., Arain, M. A., & Elnesr, S. S. (2019). Humic acid as a feed additive in poultry diets: a review. *Iranian Journal of Veterinary Research*, 20(3), 167–172. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/31656520
- Arumugam, M., Raes, J., Pelletier, E., Le Paslier, D., Yamada, T., Mende, D. R., Fernandes, G. R., Tap, J., Bruls, T., Batto, J.-M., Bertalan, M., Borruel, N., Casellas, F., Fernandez, L., Gautier, L., Hansen, T., Hattori, M., Hayashi, T., Kleerebezem, M., ... Bork, P. (2011). Enterotypes of the human gut microbiome. *Nature*, 473(7346), 174–180.

https://doi.org/10.1038/nature09944

- Asakura, M., Samosornsuk, W., Hinenoya, A., Misawa, N., Nishimura, K., Matsuhisa, A., & Yamasaki, S. (2008). Development of a cytolethal distending toxin (cdt) gene-based species-specific multiplex PCR assay for the detection and identification of Campylobacter jejuni, Campylobacter coli and Campylobacter fetus. *FEMS Immunology* & *Medical Microbiology*, 52(2), 260–266. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1574-695X.2007.00369.x
- Atack, J. M., & Kelly, D. J. (2009). Oxidative stress in Campylobacter jejuni : responses, resistance and regulation. *Future Microbiology*, 4(6), 677–690. https://doi.org/10.2217/fmb.09.44
- Awad, W. A., Hess, C., & Hess, M. (2018). Re-thinking the chicken –Campylobacter jejuni interaction: a review. *Avian Pathology*, 47(4), 352–363. https://doi.org/10.1080/03079457.2018.1475724
- Awad, W. A., Molnar, A., Aschenbach, J. R., Ghareeb, K., Khayal, B., Hess, C., Liebhart, D., Dublecz, K., & Hess, M. (2015). Campylobacter infection in chickens modulates the intestinal epithelial barrier function. *Innate Immunity*, 21(2), 151–160. https://doi.org/10.1177/1753425914521648
- Awad, W., Hess, C., & Hess, M. (2017). Enteric Pathogens and Their Toxin-Induced Disruption of the Intestinal Barrier through Alteration of Tight Junctions in Chickens. *Toxins*, 9(2), 60. https://doi.org/10.3390/toxins9020060
- Azzam, M. M. M., & El-Gogary, M. R. (2015). Effects of Dietary Threonine Levels and Stocking Density on the Performance, Metabolic Status and Immunity of Broiler Chickens. Asian Journal of Animal and Veterinary Advances, 10(5), 215–225. https://doi.org/10.3923/ajava.2015.215.225
- Backert, S., Boehm, M., Wessler, S., & Tegtmeyer, N. (2013). Transmigration route of Campylobacter jejuni across polarized intestinal epithelial cells: paracellular, transcellular or both? *Cell Communication and Signaling : CCS*, 11, 72. https://doi.org/10.1186/1478-811X-11-72
- BAILEY, J. S. (1993). Control of Salmonella and Campylobacter in Poultry Production. A Summary of Work at Russell Research Center. *Poultry Science*, 72(6), 1169–1173. https://doi.org/10.3382/ps.0721169
- Baker, D. H. (2009). Advances in protein–amino acid nutrition of poultry. *Amino Acids*, 37(1), 29–41. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00726-008-0198-3
- Balta, I., Butucel, E., Stef, L., Pet, I., Gradisteanu-Pircalabioru, G., Chifiriuc, C., Gundogdu, O., McCleery, D., & Corcionivoschi, N. (2022). Anti- Campylobacter Probiotics: Latest Mechanistic Insights. *Foodborne Pathogens and Disease*, 19(10), 693–703. https://doi.org/10.1089/fpd.2022.0039
- Bampidis, V., Azimonti, G., Bastos, M. de L., Christensen, H., Dusemund, B., Fašmon Durjava, M., Kouba, M., López-Alonso, M., López Puente, S., Marcon, F., Mayo, B., Pechová, A., Petkova, M., Ramos, F., Sanz, Y., Villa, R. E., Woutersen, R., Bories, G., Cubadda, F., … López-Gálvez, G. (2021). Safety and efficacy of a feed additive consisting of chromium propionate (KemTRACE[™] Chromium) for all growing poultry species (Kemin Europa NV). *EFSA Journal*, *19*(4). https://doi.org/10.2903/j.efsa.2021.6546
- Bang, D. D., Borck, B., Nielsen, E. M., Scheutz, F., Pedersen, K., & Madsen, M. (2004). Detection of seven virulence and toxin genes of Campylobacter jejuni isolates from Danish turkeys by PCR and cytolethal distending toxin production of the isolates. *Journal* of Food Protection, 67(10), 2171–2177. https://doi.org/10.4315/0362-028x-67.10.2171

- Bar-Shira, E., Sklan, D., & Friedman, A. (2003). Establishment of immune competence in the avian GALT during the immediate post-hatch period. *Developmental & Comparative Immunology*, 27(2), 147–157. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0145-305X(02)00076-9
- Barboza, P. S., Bennett, A., Lignot, J. -H., Mackie, R. I., McWhorter, T. J., Secor, S. M., Skovgaard, N., Sundset, M. A., & Wang, T. (2010). Digestive Challenges for Vertebrate Animals: Microbial Diversity, Cardiorespiratory Coupling, and Dietary Specialization. *Physiological and Biochemical Zoology*, 83(5), 764–774. https://doi.org/10.1086/650472
- Barjesteh, N., Hodgins, D. C., St. Paul, M., Quinteiro-Filho, W. M., DePass, C., Monteiro, M. A., & Sharif, S. (2013). Induction of chicken cytokine responses in vivo and in vitro by lipooligosaccharide of Campylobacter jejuni HS:10. *Veterinary Microbiology*, *164*(1–2), 122–130. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vetmic.2013.02.002
- Barrett, T. J., Patton, C. M., & Morris, G. K. (1988). Differentiation of Campylobacter Species Using Phenotypic Characterization. *Laboratory Medicine*, 19(2), 96–102. https://doi.org/10.1093/labmed/19.2.96
- Baylis, C. L., MacPhee, S., Martin, K. W., Humphrey, T. J., & Betts, R. P. (2000). Comparison of three enrichment media for the isolation of Campylobacter spp. from foods. *Journal of Applied Microbiology*, 89(5), 884–891. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-2672.2000.01203.x
- Beal, R. K., Powers, C., Davison, T. F., & Smith, A. L. (2006). Immunological development of the avian gut. In Avian Gut Function in Health and Disease (pp. 85–103).
- Beier, R., Byrd, J., Caldwell, D., Andrews, K., Crippen, T., Anderson, R., & Nisbet, D. (2019). Inhibition and Interactions of Campylobacter jejuni from Broiler Chicken Houses with Organic Acids. *Microorganisms*, 7(8), 223. https://doi.org/10.3390/microorganisms7080223
- Bennett, C. E., Thomas, R., Williams, M., Zalasiewicz, J., Edgeworth, M., Miller, H., Coles, B., Foster, A., Burton, E. J., & Marume, U. (2018). The broiler chicken as a signal of a human reconfigured biosphere. *Royal Society Open Science*, 5(12), 180325. https://doi.org/10.1098/rsos.180325
- Berndtson, E., Emmanualson, U., Engvall, A., & Danielsson-Tham, M. L. (1996). A 1-year epidemiological study of campylobacters in 18 Swedish chicken farms. *Preventive Veterinary Medicine*, 26, 167–185.
- Biswas, D., Itoh, K., & Sasakawa, C. (2003). Role of Microfilaments and Microtubules in the Invasion of INT-407 Cells by Campylobacter jejuni. *Microbiology and Immunology*, 47(6), 469–473. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1348-0421.2003.tb03372.x
- Black, R. E., Levine, M. M., Clements, M. L., Hughes, T. P., & Blaser, M. J. (1988). Experimental Campylobacter jejuni Infection in Humans. *Journal of Infectious Diseases*, 157(3), 472–479. https://doi.org/10.1093/infdis/157.3.472
- Blaser, M. J., Smith, P. F., Hopkins, J. A., Heinzer, I., Bryner, J. H., & Wang, W. L. (1987). Pathogenesis of Campylobacter fetus Infections: Serum Resistance Associated with High-Molecular-Weight Surface Proteins. *The Journal of Infectious Diseases*, 155(4).
- Blaser, M. J., Smith, P. F., & Kohler, P. F. (1985). Susceptibility of Campylobacter Isolates to the Bactericidal Activity of Human Serum. *The Journal of Infectious Diseases*, 151(2), 227–235.
- Boehm, M., Krause-Gruszczynska, M., Rohde, M., Tegtmeyer, N., Takahashi, S., Oyarzabal, O. A., & Backert, S. (2011). Major Host Factors Involved in Epithelial Cell Invasion of Campylobacter jejuni: Role of Fibronectin, Integrin Beta1, FAK, Tiam-1, and DOCK180 in Activating Rho GTPase Rac1. *Frontiers in Cellular and Infection Microbiology*, *1*. https://doi.org/10.3389/fcimb.2011.00017

- Bolton, D. J. (2015). Campylobacter virulence and survival factors. *Food Microbiology*, 48, 99– 108. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fm.2014.11.017
- Bolton, F. J., & Robertson, L. (1982). A selective medium for isolating Camprobacter jejuni/coli. *Journal of Clinical Pathology*, *35*, 462–467.
- Bolzani, R., Ruggeri, F., & Olivo, O. M. (1979). [Average normal temperature of the chicken in the morning and after 1-2 days of fasting]. *Bollettino Della Societa Italiana Di Biologia Sperimentale*, 55(16), 1618–1622. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/576010
- Bourke, B. (2002). Campylobacter infection: small bowel and colon. *Current Opinion in Gastroenterology*, *18*(1). https://journals.lww.com/co-gastroenterology/Fulltext/2002/01000/Campylobacter_infection_small_bowel_and_colon .2.aspx
- Bradburn, S. (2020). *How To Perform The Pfaffl Method For qPCR*. Top Tip Bio. https://toptipbio.com/pfaffl-method-qpcr/
- Brisbin, J. T., Gong, J., & Sharif, S. (2008). Interactions between commensal bacteria and the gut-associated immune system of the chicken. *Animal Health Research Reviews*, 9(1), 101–110. https://doi.org/10.1017/S146625230800145X
- Bronowski, C., James, C. E., & Winstanley, C. (2014). Role of environmental survival in transmission of Campylobacter jejuni. *FEMS Microbiology Letters*, *356*(1), 8–19. https://doi.org/10.1111/1574-6968.12488
- Brooks, M. A., Grimes, J. L., Lloyd, K. E., Krafka, K., Lamptey, A., & Spears, J. W. (2016). Chromium propionate in broilers: effect on insulin sensitivity. *Poultry Science*, 95(5), 1096–1104. https://doi.org/10.3382/ps/pew018
- Broom, L. J., & Kogut, M. H. (2018). The role of the gut microbiome in shaping the immune system of chickens. *Veterinary Immunology and Immunopathology*, 204, 44–51. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vetimm.2018.10.002
- Buelow, D. R., Christensen, J. E., Neal-McKinney, J. M., & Konkel, M. E. (2011). Campylobacter jejuni survival within human epithelial cells is enhanced by the secreted protein Cial. *Molecular Microbiology*, 80(5), 1296–1312. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2958.2011.07645.x
- Bull, S. A., Allen, V. M., Domingue, G., Jørgensen, F., Frost, J. A., Ure, R., Whyte, R., Tinker, D., Corry, J. E. L., Gillard-King, J., & Humphrey, T. J. (2006). Sources of Campylobacter spp. Colonizing Housed Broiler Flocks during Rearing. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 72(1), 645–652. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.72.1.645-652.2006
- Butterworth, P. J., Warren, F. J., & Ellis, P. R. (2011). Human α-amylase and starch digestion: An interesting marriage. *Starch - Stärke*, 63(7), 395–405. https://doi.org/10.1002/star.201000150
- Butzler, J. P., Dekeyser, P., Detrain, M., & Dehaen, F. (1973). Related vibrio in stools. *The Journal of Pediatrics*, 82(3), 493–495. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0022-3476(73)80131-3
- Byrne, C. M., Clyne, M., & Bourke, B. (2007). Campylobacter jejuni adhere to and invade chicken intestinal epithelial cells in vitro. *Microbiology*, *153*(2), 561–569. https://doi.org/10.1099/mic.0.2006/000711-0
- Callaway, T. R., Edrington, T. S., Anderson, R. C., Harvey, R. B., Genovese, K. J., Kennedy, C. N., Venn, D. W., & Nisbet, D. J. (2008). Probiotics, prebiotics and competitive exclusion for prophylaxis against bacterial disease. *Animal Health Research Reviews*, 9(2), 217–225. https://doi.org/10.1017/S1466252308001540

- Cani, P. D. (2018). Human gut microbiome: hopes, threats and promises. *Gut*, 67(9), 1716–1725. https://doi.org/10.1136/gutjnl-2018-316723
- Carding, S., Verbeke, K., Vipond, D. T., Corfe, B. M., & Owen, L. J. (2015). Dysbiosis of the gut microbiota in disease. *Microbial Ecology in Health & Disease*, 26. https://doi.org/10.3402/mehd.v26.26191
- Carlander, D., Stålberg, J., & Larsson, A. (1999). Chicken Antibodies. Upsala Journal of Medical Sciences, 104(3), 179–189. https://doi.org/10.3109/03009739909178961
- Carrillo, C. D., Taboada, E., Nash, J. H. E., Lanthier, P., Kelly, J., Lau, P. C., Verhulp, R., Mykytczuk, O., Sy, J., Findlay, W. A., Amoako, K., Gomis, S., Willson, P., Austin, J. W., Potter, A., Babiuk, L., Allan, B., & Szymanski, C. M. (2004). Genome-wide Expression Analyses of Campylobacter jejuni NCTC11168 Reveals Coordinate Regulation of Motility and Virulence by flhA. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 279(19), 20327–20338. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M401134200
- Carvalho, C. M., Gannon, B. W., Halfhide, D. E., Santos, S. B., Hayes, C. M., Roe, J. M., & Azeredo, J. (2010). The in vivo efficacy of two administration routes of a phage cocktail to reduce numbers of Campylobacter coli and Campylobacter jejuni in chickens. *BMC Microbiology*, 10(1), 232. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2180-10-232
- Castanon, J. I. R. (2007). History of the Use of Antibiotic as Growth Promoters in European Poultry Feeds. *Poultry Science*, 86(11), 2466–2471. https://doi.org/10.3382/ps.2007-00249
- Casteleyn, C., Doom, M., Lambrechts, E., Van den Broeck, W., Simoens, P., & Cornillie, P. (2010). Locations of gut-associated lymphoid tissue in the 3-month-old chicken: a review. *Avian Pathology*, *39*(3), 143–150. https://doi.org/10.1080/03079451003786105
- Chan, K. F., Le Tran, H., Kanenaka, R. Y., & Kathariou, S. (2001). Survival of Clinical and Poultry-Derived Isolates of Campylobacter jejuni at a Low Temperature (4°C). *Applied* and Environmental Microbiology, 67(9), 4186–4191. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.67.9.4186-4191.2001
- Chandrashekhar, K., Gangaiah, D., Pina-Mimbela, R., Kassem, I. I., Jeon, B. H., & Rajashekara, G. (2015). Transducer like proteins of Campylobacter jejuni 81-176: role in chemotaxis and colonization of the chicken gastrointestinal tract. *Frontiers in Cellular and Infection Microbiology*, 5. https://doi.org/10.3389/fcimb.2015.00046
- CHANSIRIPORNCHAI, N., & SASIPREEYAJAN, J. (2009). PCR Detection of Four Virulence-Associated Genes of Campylobacter jejuni Isolates from Thai Broilers and Their Abilities of Adhesion to and Invasion of INT-407 Cells. *Journal of Veterinary Medical Science*, 71(6), 839–844. https://doi.org/10.1292/jvms.71.839
- Chen, D. (2017). Exposure to Chromium (VI) Enhances the Motility of Colorectal Cancer Cells through Activation of FAK. University of Kentucky. https://digitalcommons.murraystate.edu/postersatthecapitol/2018/UK/12/
- Chen, Dehao, McKune, S. L., Singh, N., Yousuf Hassen, J., Gebreyes, W., Manary, M. J., Bardosh, K., Yang, Y., Diaz, N., Mohammed, A., Terefe, Y., Roba, K. T., Ketema, M., Ameha, N., Assefa, N., Rajashekara, G., Deblais, L., Ghanem, M., Yimer, G., & Havelaar, A. H. (2021). Campylobacter Colonization, Environmental Enteric Dysfunction, Stunting, and Associated Risk Factors Among Young Children in Rural Ethiopia: A Cross-Sectional Study From the Campylobacter Genomics and Environmental Enteric Dysfunction (CAGED) Project. *Frontiers in Public Health*, 8. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpubh.2020.615793
- Chen, M. L., Ge, Z., Fox, J. G., & Schauer, D. B. (2006). Disruption of Tight Junctions and Induction of Proinflammatory Cytokine Responses in Colonic Epithelial Cells by

Campylobacter jejuni. *Infection and Immunity*, 74(12), 6581–6589. https://doi.org/10.1128/IAI.00958-06

- Chen, Y., Zhang, H., Cheng, Y., Li, Y., Wen, C., & Zhou, Y. (2018). Dietary <scp>l</scp> threonine supplementation attenuates lipopolysaccharide-induced inflammatory responses and intestinal barrier damage of broiler chickens at an early age. *British Journal of Nutrition*, *119*(11), 1254–1262. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0007114518000740
- Cheng, L., Qi, C., Zhuang, H., Fu, T., & Zhang, X. (2020). gutMDisorder: a comprehensive database for dysbiosis of the gut microbiota in disorders and interventions. *Nucleic Acids Research*, 48(D1), D554–D560. https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/gkz843
- Chlebicz, A., & Śliżewska, K. (2018). Campylobacteriosis, Salmonellosis, Yersiniosis, and Listeriosis as Zoonotic Foodborne Diseases: A Review. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 15(5), 863. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph15050863
- Choct, M. (2009). Managing gut health through nutrition. *British Poultry Science*, 50(1), 9–15. https://doi.org/10.1080/00071660802538632
- Chon, J.-W., Hyeon, J.-Y., Park, J.-H., Song, K.-Y., & Seo, K.-H. (2012). Comparison of 2 types of broths and 3 selective agars for the detection of Campylobacter species in wholechicken carcass-rinse samples. *Poultry Science*, 91(9), 2382–2385. https://doi.org/10.3382/ps.2011-01980
- Chon, Jung-Whan, Hyeon, J.-Y., Yim, J.-H., Kim, J.-H., Song, K.-Y., & Seo, K.-H. (2012). Improvement of Modified Charcoal-Cefoperazone-Deoxycholate Agar by Supplementation with a High Concentration of Polymyxin B for Detection of Campylobacter jejuni and C. coli in Chicken Carcass Rinses. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 78(5), 1624–1626. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.07180-11
- Christensen, J. E., Pacheco, S. A., & Konkel, M. E. (2009). Identification of a Campylobacter jejuni -secreted protein required for maximal invasion of host cells. *Molecular Microbiology*, 73(4), 650–662. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2958.2009.06797.x
- Chuntharapai, A., & Kim, K. J. (1995). Regulation of the expression of IL-8 receptor A/B by IL-8: possible functions of each receptor. *The Journal of Immunology*, *155*(5), 2587–2594. https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.155.5.2587
- Clarke, L., Fodey, T. L., Crooks, S. R. H., Moloney, M., O'Mahony, J., Delahaut, P., O'Kennedy, R., & Danaher, M. (2014). A review of coccidiostats and the analysis of their residues in meat and other food. *Meat Science*, 97(3), 358–374. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.meatsci.2014.01.004
- Clarke, T. N., Schilling, M. A., Melendez, L. A., Isidean, S. D., Porter, C. K., & Poly, F. M. (2021). A systematic review and meta-analysis of Penner serotype prevalence of Campylobacter jejuni in low- and middle-income countries. *PLOS ONE*, *16*(5), e0251039. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0251039
- Clench, M. H., & Mathias, J. R. (1995). The Avian Cecum: A Review. *The Wilson Bulletin*, 107(1), 93–121.
- Coker, A. O. (2002). Human Campylobacteriosis in Developing Countries. *Emerging Infectious Diseases*, 8(3), 237–243. https://doi.org/10.3201/eid0803.010233
- Colles, F. M., Jones, K., Harding, R. M., & Maiden, M. C. J. (2003). Genetic Diversity of Campylobacter jejuni Isolates from Farm Animals and the Farm Environment. *Applied* and Environmental Microbiology, 69(12), 7409–7413. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.69.12.7409-7413.2003

- Colles, F. M., & Maiden, M. C. J. (2012). Campylobacter sequence typing databases: Applications and future prospects. *Microbiology*, *158*(11), 2695–2709. https://doi.org/10.1099/mic.0.062000-0
- Conlan, A. J., Coward, C., Grant, A. J., Maskell, D. J., & Gog, J. R. (2007). Campylobacter jejuni colonization and transmission in broiler chickens: a modelling perspective. *Journal* of *The Royal Society Interface*, 4(16), 819–829. https://doi.org/10.1098/rsif.2007.1015
- Connell, S. R. (2003). Mechanism of Tet(O)-mediated tetracycline resistance. *The EMBO Journal*, 22(4), 945–953. https://doi.org/10.1093/emboj/cdg093
- Connerton, P. L., Timms, A. R., & Connerton, I. F. (2011). Campylobacter bacteriophages and bacteriophage therapy. *Journal of Applied Microbiology*, *111*(2), 255–265. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2672.2011.05012.x
- Cools, I., Uyttendaele, M., Caro, C., D'Haese, E., Nelis, H. J., & Debevere, J. (2003). Survival of Campylobacter jejuni strains of different origin in drinking water. *Journal of Applied Microbiology*, 94(5), 886–892. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-2672.2003.01916.x
- Coradini, D., Biffi, A., Costa, A., Pellizzaro, C., Pirronello, E., & Di Fronzo, G. (1997). Effect of sodium butyrate on human breast cancer cell lines. *Cell Proliferation*, *30*(3), 149–159. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-2184.1997.00083.x
- Coradini, D., Pellizzaro, C., Marimpietri, D., Abolafio, G., & Daidone, M. G. (2000). Sodium butyrate modulates cell cycle-related proteins in HT29 human colonic adenocarcinoma cells. *Cell Proliferation*, *33*(3), 139–146. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-2184.2000.00173.x
- Costa, D., & Iraola, G. (2019). Pathogenomics of Emerging Campylobacter Species. *Clinical Microbiology Reviews*, 32(4). https://doi.org/10.1128/CMR.00072-18
- Cox, N. A., McHan, F., Bailey, J. S., & Shotts, E. B. (1994). Effect of Butyric or Lactic Acid on the In vivo Colonization of Salmonella typhimurium. *Journal of Applied Poultry Research*, 3(4), 315–318. https://doi.org/10.1093/japr/3.4.315
- COX, N. A., RICHARDSON, L. J., MAURER, J. J., BERRANG, M. E., FEDORKA-CRAY, P. J., BUHR, R. J., BYRD, J. A., LEE, M. D., HOFACRE, C. L., O'KANE, P. M., LAMMERDING, A. M., CLARK, A. G., THAYER, S. G., & DOYLE, M. P. (2012). Evidence for Horizontal and Vertical Transmission in Campylobacter Passage from Hen to Her Progeny. *Journal of Food Protection*, 75(10), 1896–1902. https://doi.org/10.4315/0362-028.JFP-11-322
- Cuevas-Ferrando, E., Guirado, P., Miró, E., Iglesias-Torrens, Y., Navarro, F., Alioto, T. S., Gómez-Garrido, J., Madrid, C., & Balsalobre, C. (2020). Tetracycline resistance transmission in Campylobacter is promoted at temperatures resembling the avian reservoir. *Veterinary Microbiology*, 244, 108652. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vetmic.2020.108652
- Curran, R. (n.d.). *Immunoglobulin A (IgA)*. British Society for Immunology. Retrieved June 26, 2022, from https://www.immunology.org/public-information/bitesized-immunology/receptors-and-molecules/immunoglobulin-iga
- Cutting, S. M. (2011). Bacillus probiotics. *Food Microbiology*, 28(2), 214–220. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fm.2010.03.007
- Czarnek, K., & Siwicki, A. K. (2021). Influence of chromium (III), cobalt (II) and their mixtures on cell metabolic activity. *Current Issues in Pharmacy and Medical Sciences*, 34(2), 87–93. https://doi.org/10.2478/cipms-2021-0019
- Dasti, J. I., Tareen, A. M., Lugert, R., Zautner, A. E., & Groß, U. (2010). Campylobacter jejuni: A brief overview on pathogenicity-associated factors and disease-mediating mechanisms.

International Journal of Medical Microbiology, 300(4), 205–211. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijmm.2009.07.002

- Dave, M., Higgins, P. D., Middha, S., & Rioux, K. P. (2012). The human gut microbiome: current knowledge, challenges, and future directions. *Translational Research*, 160(4), 246–257. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.trsl.2012.05.003
- de los Santos, F. S., Donoghue, A. M., Venkitanarayanan, K., Reyes-Herrera, I., Metcalf, J. H., Dirain, M. L., Aguiar, V. F., Blore, P. J., & Donoghue, D. J. (2008). Therapeutic Supplementation of Caprylic Acid in Feed Reduces Campylobacter jejuni Colonization in Broiler Chicks. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 74(14), 4564–4566. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.02528-07
- de los Santos, F. Solis, Donoghue, A. M., Venkitanarayanan, K., Dirain, M. L., Reyes-Herrera, I., Blore, P. J., & Donoghue, D. J. (2008). Caprylic Acid Supplemented in Feed Reduces Enteric Campylobacter jejuni Colonization in Ten-Day-Old Broiler Chickens,. *Poultry Science*, 87(4), 800–804. https://doi.org/10.3382/ps.2007-00280
- de los Santos, F. Solis, Donoghue, A. M., Venkitanarayanan, K., Metcalf, J. H., Reyes-Herrera, I., Dirain, M. L., Aguiar, V. F., Blore, P. J., & Donoghue, D. J. (2009). The natural feed additive caprylic acid decreases Campylobacter jejuni colonization in market-aged broiler chickens. *Poultry Science*, 88(1), 61–64. https://doi.org/10.3382/ps.2008-00228
- de los Santos, F. Solis, Donoghue, A. M., Venkitanarayanan, K., Reyes-Herrera, I., Metcalf, J. H., Dirain, M. L., Aguiar, V. F., Blore, P. J., & Donoghue, D. J. (2008). Therapeutic Supplementation of Caprylic Acid in Feed Reduces Campylobacter jejuni Colonization in Broiler Chicks. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 74(14), 4564–4566. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.02528-07
- de Zoete, M. R., van Putten, J. P. M., & Wagenaar, J. A. (2007). Vaccination of chickens against Campylobacter. *Vaccine*, 25(30), 5548–5557. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2006.12.002
- Dębski, B., Zalewski, W., Gralak, M. A., & Kosla, T. (2004). Chromium-yeast supplementation of chicken broilers in an industrial farming system. *Journal of Trace Elements in Medicine* and Biology, 18(1), 47–51. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jtemb.2004.02.003
- Deepa, K., Purushothaman, M. R., Vasanthakumar, P., & Sivakumar, K. (2018). Butyric Acid as an Antibiotic Substitute for Broiler Chicken A Review. Advances in Animal and Veterinary Sciences, 6(1). https://doi.org/10.17582/journal.aavs/2018/6.2.63.69
- Dekeyser, P., Gossuin-Detrain, M., Butzler, J. P., & Sternon, J. (1972). Acute Enteritis Due to Related Vibrio: First Positive Stool Cultures. *Journal of Infectious Diseases*, 125(4), 390– 392. https://doi.org/10.1093/infdis/125.4.390
- Devleesschauwer, B., Bouwknegt, M., Mangen, M.-J. J., & Havelaar, A. H. (2017). Health and economic burden of Campylobacter. In *Campylobacter* (pp. 27–40). Elsevier. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-803623-5.00002-2
- Dhar, P., & McAuley, J. (2019). The Role of the Cell Surface Mucin MUC1 as a Barrier to Infection and Regulator of Inflammation. *Frontiers in Cellular and Infection Microbiology*, 9, 117. https://doi.org/10.3389/fcimb.2019.00117
- Diaz Carrasco, J. M., Casanova, N. A., & Fernández Miyakawa, M. E. (2019). Microbiota, Gut Health and Chicken Productivity: What Is the Connection? *Microorganisms*, 7(10), 374. https://doi.org/10.3390/microorganisms7100374
- Ding, J., Dai, R., Yang, L., He, C., Xu, K., Liu, S., Zhao, W., Xiao, L., Luo, L., Zhang, Y., & Meng, H. (2017). Inheritance and Establishment of Gut Microbiota in Chickens. *Frontiers in Microbiology*, 8. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2017.01967

Dingle, K. E., Colles, F. M., Ure, R., Wagenaar, J. A., Duim, B., Bolton, F. J., Fox, A. J., Wareing, D. R. A., & Maiden, M. C. J. (2002). Molecular characterization of Campylobacter jejuni clones: a basis for epidemiologic investigation. *Emerging Infectious Diseases*, 8(9), 949–955. https://doi.org/10.3201/eid0809.020122

Dodson, A. (2010). Host factors affecting the virulence of campylobacter.

- Dorrell, N., Mangan, J. A., Laing, K. G., Hinds, J., Linton, D., Al-Ghusein, H., Barrell, B. G., Parkhill, J., Stoker, N. G., Karlyshev, A. V., Butcher, P. D., & Wren, B. W. (2001). Whole Genome Comparison of Campylobacter jejuni Human Isolates Using a Low-Cost Microarray Reveals Extensive Genetic Diversity. *Genome Research*, 11(10), 1706–1715. https://doi.org/10.1101/gr.185801
- Doyle, M. P. (1981). Campylobacter fetus subsp. jejuni: An Old Pathogen of New Concern. *Journal of Food Protection*, 44(6), 480–488.
- Du, X., Kong, K., Tang, H., Tang, H., Jiao, X., & Huang, J. (2018). The Novel Protein Cj0371 Inhibits Chemotaxis of Campylobacter jejuni. *Frontiers in Microbiology*, 9. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2018.01904
- Duffy, L., & Dykes, G. A. (2006). Growth temperature of four Campylobacter jejuni strains influences their subsequent survival in food and water. *Letters in Applied Microbiology*, *43*(6), 596–601. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1472-765X.2006.02019.x
- Dunkley, K. D., Callaway, T. R., Chalova, V. I., McReynolds, J. L., Hume, M. E., Dunkley, C. S., Kubena, L. F., Nisbet, D. J., & Ricke, S. C. (2009). Foodborne Salmonella ecology in the avian gastrointestinal tract. *Anaerobe*, 15(1–2), 26–35. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.anaerobe.2008.05.007
- Dzianach, P. A., Pérez-Reche, F. J., Strachan, N. J. C., Forbes, K. J., & Dykes, G. A. (2022). The Use of Interdisciplinary Approaches to Understand the Biology of Campylobacter jejuni. *Microorganisms*, 10(12), 2498. https://doi.org/10.3390/microorganisms10122498
- EBRAHIMI, H., RAHIMI, S., KHAKI, P., GRIMES, J. L., & KATHARIOU, S. (2016). The effects of probiotics, organic acid, and a medicinal plant on the immune systemand gastrointestinal microflora in broilers challenged with Campylobacter jejuni. *TURKISH JOURNAL OF VETERINARY AND ANIMAL SCIENCES*, 40, 329–336. https://doi.org/10.3906/vet-1502-68
- EFSA. (n.d.). *Feed additives*. Retrieved May 22, 2022, from https://www.efsa.europa.eu/en/topics/topic/feed-additives#:~:text=EFSA%27s role EFSA gives scientific advice to support,the modification or renewal of an authorised additive.
- El-Shibiny, A., Connerton, P. L., & Connerton, I. F. (2007). Campylobacter succession in broiler chickens. *Veterinary Microbiology*, 125(3–4), 323–332. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vetmic.2007.05.023
- Elmi, A., Nasher, F., Jagatia, H., Gundogdu, O., Bajaj-Elliott, M., Wren, B., & Dorrell, N. (2016). Campylobacter jejuni outer membrane vesicle-associated proteolytic activity promotes bacterial invasion by mediating cleavage of intestinal epithelial cell E-cadherin and occludin. *Cellular Microbiology*, 18(4), 561–572. https://doi.org/10.1111/cmi.12534
- Epping, L., Antão, E.-M., & Semmler, T. (2021). Population Biology and Comparative Genomics of Campylobacter Species (pp. 59–78). https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-65481-8_3
- Evans, B. A., & Amyes, S. G. B. (2014). OXA β-Lactamases. *Clinical Microbiology Reviews*, 27(2), 241–263. https://doi.org/10.1128/CMR.00117-13

Facciolà, A., Avventuroso, E., Visalli, G., Delia, S. A., & Lagesen, K. (2017). Campylobacter:

from micorbiology to infection. *Journal of Preventive Medicine and Hygiene*, 58(2), E79–E92.

- Facciolà, A., Riso, R., Avventuroso, E., Visalli, G., Delia, S. A., & Laganà, P. (2017). Campylobacter: from microbiology to prevention. *Journal of Preventive Medicine and Hygiene*, 58(2), E79–E92. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/28900347
- Fallingborg, J. (1999). Intraluminal pH of the human gastrointestinal tract. Danish Medical Bulletin, 46(3), 183–196. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/10421978
- Fauchere, J. L., Rosenau, A., Veron, M., Moyen, E. N., Richard, S., & Pfister, A. (1986). Association with HeLa Cells of Campylobacter jejuni and Campylobacter coli Isolated from Human Feces. *Infection and Immunity*, 54(2), 283–287.
- Fernández-Rubio, C., Ordóñez, C., Abad-González, J., Garcia-Gallego, A., Honrubia, M. P., Mallo, J. J., & Balaña-Fouce, R. (2009). Butyric acid-based feed additives help protect broiler chickens from Salmonella Enteritidis infection. *Poultry Science*, 88(5), 943–948. https://doi.org/10.3382/ps.2008-00484
- Flanagan, R. C., Neal-McKinney, J. M., Dhillon, A. S., Miller, W. G., & Konkel, M. E. (2009). Examination of Campylobacter jejuni Putative Adhesins Leads to the Identification of a New Protein, Designated FlpA, Required for Chicken Colonization. *Infection and Immunity*, 77(6), 2399–2407. https://doi.org/10.1128/IAI.01266-08
- Frazão, M. R., Medeiros, M. I. C., Duque, S. da S., & Falcão, J. P. (2017). Pathogenic potential and genotypic diversity of Campylobacter jejuni: a neglected food-borne pathogen in Brazil. *Journal of Medical Microbiology*, 66(3), 350–359. https://doi.org/10.1099/jmm.0.000424
- Friis, C., Wassenaar, T. M., Javed, M. A., Snipen, L., Lagesen, K., Hallin, P. F., Newell, D. G., Toszeghy, M., Ridley, A., Manning, G., & Ussery, D. W. (2010). Genomic Characterization of Campylobacter jejuni Strain M1. *PLoS ONE*, 5(8), e12253. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0012253
- FSA. (2021). *Poultry Farming Guidance*. https://www.food.gov.uk/business-guidance/poultry-farming-guidance
- Fukae, J., Amasaki, Y., Yamashita, Y., Bohgaki, T., Yasuda, S., Jodo, S., Atsumi, T., & Koike, T. (2005). Butyrate suppresses tumor necrosis factor α production by regulating specific messenger RNA degradation mediated through acis-acting AU-rich element. *Arthritis & Rheumatism*, 52(9), 2697–2707. https://doi.org/10.1002/art.21258
- Fusunyan, R D, Quinn, J. J., Ohno, Y., MacDermott, R. P., & Sanderson, I. R. (1998). Butyrate enhances interleukin (IL)-8 secretion by intestinal epithelial cells in response to IL-1beta and lipopolysaccharide. *Pediatric Research*, 43(1), 84–90. https://doi.org/10.1203/00006450-199801000-00013
- Fusunyan, Robert D., Quinn, J. J., Fujimoto, M., MacDermott, R. P., & Sanderson, I. R. (1999). Butyrate Switches the Pattern of Chemokine Secretion by Intestinal Epithelial Cells through Histone Acetylation. *Molecular Medicine*, 5(9), 631–640. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF03402075
- Gabbert, A. D., Mydosh, J. L., Talukdar, P. K., Gloss, L. M., McDermott, J. E., Cooper, K. K., Clair, G. C., & Konkel, M. E. (2023). The Missing Pieces: The Role of Secretion Systems in Campylobacter jejuni Virulence. *Biomolecules*, 13(1), 135. https://doi.org/10.3390/biom13010135
- Gaynor, E. C., Cawthraw, S., Manning, G., MacKichan, J. K., Falkow, S., & Newell, D. G. (2004). The Genome-Sequenced Variant of Campylobacter jejuni NCTC 11168 and the Original Clonal Clinical Isolate Differ Markedly in Colonization, Gene Expression, and

Virulence-Associated Phenotypes. *Journal of Bacteriology*, *186*(2), 503–517. https://doi.org/10.1128/JB.186.2.503-517.2004

- Gharst, G., Oyarzabal, O. A., & Hussain, S. K. (2013). Review of current methodologies to isolate and identify Campylobacter spp. from foods. *Journal of Microbiological Methods*, 95(1), 84–92. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mimet.2013.07.014
- Gilbreath, J. J., Cody, W. L., Merrell, D. S., & Hendrixson, D. R. (2011). Change is good: variations in common biological mechanisms in the epsilonproteobacterial genera Campylobacter and Helicobacter. *Microbiology and Molecular Biology Reviews : MMBR*, 75(1), 84–132. https://doi.org/10.1128/MMBR.00035-10
- Gong, T., Fu, J., Shi, L., Chen, X., & Zong, X. (2021). Antimicrobial Peptides in Gut Health: A Review. *Frontiers in Nutrition*, 8. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnut.2021.751010
- Gorkiewicz, G., Feierl, G., Schober, C., Dieber, F., Kofer, J., Zechner, R., & Zechner, E. L. (2003). Species-Specific Identification of Campylobacters by Partial 16S rRNA Gene Sequencing. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology*, 41(6), 2537–2546. https://doi.org/10.1128/JCM.41.6.2537-2546.2003
- Gracia, M. I., Millan, C., Sanchez, J., Guyard-Nicodeme, M., Mayot, J., Carre, Y., Csorbai, A., Chemaly, M., & Medel, P. (2016). Efficacy of feed additives against Campylobacter in live broilers during the entire rearing period: Part A. *Poultry Science*, 95(4), 886–892. https://doi.org/10.3382/ps/pev346
- Gracia, Marta Isabel, Sánchez, J., Millán, C., Casabuena, Ó., Vesseur, P., Martín, Á., García-Peña, F. J., & Medel, P. (2016). Effect of feed form and whole grain feeding on gastrointestinal weight and the prevalence of Campylobacter jejuni in broilers orally infected. *PLoS ONE*, 11(8), e160858. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0160858
- Grant, A., Gay, C. G., & Lillehoj, H. S. (2018). Bacillus spp . as direct-fed microbial antibiotic alternatives to enhance growth, immunity, and gut health in poultry. *Avian Pathology*, 47(4), 339–351. https://doi.org/10.1080/03079457.2018.1464117
- Grenier, D., & Mayrand, D. (1985). Cytotoxic effects of culture supernatants of oral bacteria and various organic acids on Vero cells. *Canadian Journal of Microbiology*, 31(3), 302– 304. https://doi.org/10.1139/m85-057
- Griekspoor, P., Engvall, E. O., Åkerlind, B., Olsen, B., & Waldenström, J. (2015). Genetic diversity and host associations in Campylobacter jejuni from human cases and broilers in 2000 and 2008. *Veterinary Microbiology*, 178(1–2), 94–98. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vetmic.2015.04.025
- Gubatan, J., Holman, D. R., Puntasecca, C. J., Polevoi, D., Rubin, S. J., & Rogalla, S. (2021). Antimicrobial peptides and the gut microbiome in inflammatory bowel disease. *World Journal of Gastroenterology*, 27(43), 7402–7422. https://doi.org/10.3748/wjg.v27.i43.7402
- Guerry, P, Alm, R. A., Power, M. E., Logan, S. M., & Trust, T. J. (1991). Role of two flagellin genes in Campylobacter motility. *Journal of Bacteriology*, *173*(15), 4757–4764. https://doi.org/10.1128/jb.173.15.4757-4764.1991
- Guerry, Patricia, Ewing, C. P., Hickey, T. E., Prendergast, M. M., & Moran, A. P. (2000). Sialylation of Lipooligosaccharide Cores Affects Immunogenicity and Serum Resistance of Campylobacter jejuni. *Infection and Immunity*, 68(12), 6656–6662. https://doi.org/10.1128/IAI.68.12.6656-6662.2000
- Gundogdu, O., Bentley, S. D., Holden, M. T., Parkhill, J., Dorrell, N., & Wren, B. W. (2007). Re-annotation and re-analysis of the Campylobacter jejuni NCTC11168 genome sequence. *BMC Genomics*, 8(1), 162. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2164-8-162

- Gupta, A., Bansal, M., Liyanage, R., Upadhyay, A., Rath, N., Donoghue, A., & Sun, X. (2021). Sodium butyrate modulates chicken macrophage proteins essential for Salmonella Enteritidis invasion. *PloS One*, *16*(4), e0250296. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0250296
- Gutiérrez-Corona, J. F., Romo-Rodríguez, P., Santos-Escobar, F., Espino-Saldaña, A. E., & Hernández-Escoto, H. (2016). Microbial interactions with chromium: basic biological processes and applications in environmental biotechnology. World Journal of Microbiology and Biotechnology, 32(12), 191. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11274-016-2150-0
- Guyard-Nicodème, M., Huneau-Salaün, A., Tatone, F. A., Skiba, F., Quentin, M., Quesne, S., Poezevara, T., & Chemaly, M. (2017). Effect of Feed Additives on Productivity and Campylobacter spp. Loads in Broilers Reared under Free Range Conditions. *Frontiers in Microbiology*, 8. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2017.00828
- HADDAD, N., MARCE, C., MAGRAS, C., & CAPPELIER, J.-M. (2010). An Overview of Methods Used To Clarify Pathogenesis Mechanisms of Campylobacter jejuni. *Journal of Food Protection*, 73(4), 786–802. https://doi.org/10.4315/0362-028X-73.4.786
- Hague, A., Manning, A. M., Hanlon, K. A., Hart, D., Paraskeva, C., & Huschtscha, L. I. (1993). Sodium butyrate induces apoptosis in human colonic tumour cell lines in a p53independent pathway: Implications for the possible role of dietary fibre in the prevention of large-bowel cancer. *International Journal of Cancer*, 55(3), 498–505. https://doi.org/10.1002/ijc.2910550329
- Hague, Angela, Elder, D. J. E., Hicks, D. J., & Paraskeva, C. (1995). Apoptosis in colorectal tumour cells: Induction by the short chain fatty acids butyrate, propionate and acetate and by the bile salt deoxycholate. *International Journal of Cancer*, 60(3), 400–406. https://doi.org/10.1002/ijc.2910600322
- Hameed, A. (2019). Human Immunity Against Campylobacter Infection. *Immune Network*, 19(6), e38. https://doi.org/10.4110/in.2019.19.e38
- HAMER, H. M., JONKERS, D., VENEMA, K., VANHOUTVIN, S., TROOST, F. J., & BRUMMER, R.-J. (2007). Review article: the role of butyrate on colonic function. *Alimentary Pharmacology & Therapeutics*, 27(2), 104–119. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2036.2007.03562.x
- Hamid, R., Rotshteyn, Y., Rabadi, L., Parikh, R., & Bullock, P. (2004). Comparison of alamar blue and MTT assays for high through-put screening. *Toxicology in Vitro*, 18(5), 703–710. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tiv.2004.03.012
- Hänel, I., Müller, J., Müller, W., & Schulze, F. (2004). Correlation between invasion of Caco-2 eukaryotic cells and colonization ability in the chick gut in Campylobacter jejuni. *Veterinary Microbiology*, 101(2), 75–82. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vetmic.2004.04.004
- Hansson, I, Engvall, E. O., Vågsholm, I., & Nyman, A. (2010). Risk factors associated with the presence of Campylobacter-positive broiler flocks in Sweden. *Preventive Veterinary Medicine*, 96(1–2), 114–121. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.prevetmed.2010.05.007
- Hansson, Ingrid, Sandberg, M., Habib, I., Lowman, R., & Engvall, E. (2016). Knowledge gaps in control of Campylobacter for prevention of campylobacteriosis. *Transboundary and Emerging Diseases*, 65(Suppl. 1), 30–48. https://doi.org/10.1111/tbed.12870
- HARA-KUDO, Y., & TAKATORI, K. (2011). Contamination level and ingestion dose of foodborne pathogens associated with infections. *Epidemiology and Infection*, 139(10), 1505–1510. https://doi.org/10.1017/S095026881000292X
- Harrer, A., Bücker, R., Boehm, M., Zarzecka, U., Tegtmeyer, N., Sticht, H., Schulzke, J. D., & Backert, S. (2019). Campylobacter jejuni enters gut epithelial cells and impairs intestinal

barrier function through cleavage of occludin by serine protease HtrA. *Gut Pathogens*, *11*(1), 4. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13099-019-0283-z

- Harrison, L., Balan, K., & Babu, U. (2013). Dietary Fatty Acids and Immune Response to Food-Borne Bacterial Infections. *Nutrients*, 5(5), 1801–1822. https://doi.org/10.3390/nu5051801
- Hashemi, S. R., & Davoodi, H. (2010). Phytogenics as New Class of Feed Additive in Poultry Industry. *Journal of Animal and Veterinary Advances*, 9(17), 2295–2304.
- Hayashi, M., Kubota-Hayashi, S., Natori, T., Mizuno, T., Miyata, M., Yoshida, S., Zhang, J., Kawamoto, K., Ohkusu, K., Makino, S., & Ezaki, T. (2013). Use of blood-free enrichment broth in the development of a rapid protocol to detect Campylobacter in twenty-five grams of chicken meat. *International Journal of Food Microbiology*, 163(1), 41–46. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijfoodmicro.2013.02.007
- Hayat, K., Bodinga, B. M., Han, D., Yang, X., Sun, Q., Aleya, L., Abdel-Daim, M. M., & Yang, X. (2020). Effects of dietary inclusion of chromium propionate on growth performance, intestinal health, immune response and nutrient transporter gene expression in broilers. *Science of The Total Environment*, 705, 135869. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2019.135869
- He, F., Peng, J., Deng, X., Yang, L., Camara, A. D., Omran, A., Wang, G., Wu, L., Zhang, C.-L., & Yin, F. (2012). Mechanisms of tumor necrosis factor-alpha-induced leaks in intestine epithelial barrier. *Cytokine*, 59(2), 264–272. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cyto.2012.04.008
- Heerdt, B. G., Houston, M. A., & Augenlicht, L. H. (1994). Potentiation by specific short-chain fatty acids of differentiation and apoptosis in human colonic carcinoma cell lines. *Cancer Research*, 54(12), 3288–3293. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/8205551
- Heimesaat, M. M., Backert, S., Alter, T., & Bereswill, S. (2021). Human Campylobacteriosis— A Serious Infectious Threat in a One Health Perspective (pp. 1–23). https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-65481-8_1
- Heintz-Buschart, A., & Wilmes, P. (2018). Human Gut Microbiome: Function Matters. Trends in Microbiology, 26(7), 563–574. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tim.2017.11.002
- Helmy, Y. A., Kassem, I. I., & Rajashekara, G. (2021). Immuno-modulatory effect of probiotic E. coli Nissle 1917 in polarized human colonic cells against Campylobacter jejuni infection. *Gut Microbes*, 13(1). https://doi.org/10.1080/19490976.2020.1857514
- Heres, L., Engel, B., Urlings, H. A. P., Wagenaar, J. A., & van Knapen, F. (2004). Effect of acidified feed on susceptibility of broiler chickens to intestinal infection by Campylobacter and Salmonella. *Veterinary Microbiology*, 99(3–4), 259–267. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vetmic.2003.12.008
- Hermans, D., Martel, A., Garmyn, A., Verlinden, M., Heyndrickx, M., Gantois, I., Haesebrouck, F., & Pasmans, F. (2012). Application of medium-chain fatty acids in drinking water increases Campylobacter jejuni colonization threshold in broiler chicks. *Poultry Science*, 91(7), 1733–1738. https://doi.org/10.3382/ps.2011-02106
- Hermans, D., Martel, A., Van Deun, K., Verlinden, M., Van Immerseel, F., Garmyn, A., Messens, W., Heyndrickx, M., Haesebrouck, F., & Pasmans, F. (2010). Intestinal mucus protects Campylobacter jejuni in the ceca of colonized broiler chickens against the bactericidal effects of medium-chain fatty acids. *Poultry Science*, 89(6), 1144–1155. https://doi.org/10.3382/ps.2010-00717
- Hermans, David, Van Deun, K., Messens, W., Martel, A., Van Immerseel, F., Haesebrouck, F., Rasschaert, G., Heyndrickx, M., & Pasmans, F. (2011a). Campylobacter control in poultry by current intervention measures ineffective: Urgent need for intensified fundamental research. In *Veterinary Microbiology* (Vol. 152, Issues 3–4, pp. 219–228).

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vetmic.2011.03.010

- Hermans, David, Van Deun, K., Messens, W., Martel, A., Van Immerseel, F., Haesebrouck, F., Rasschaert, G., Heyndrickx, M., & Pasmans, F. (2011b). Campylobacter control in poultry by current intervention measures ineffective: Urgent need for intensified fundamental research. *Veterinary Microbiology*, 152(3–4), 219–228. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vetmic.2011.03.010
- Herrero, A., Gomez, R., Snedecor, B., Tolman, C., & Roberts, M. (1985). Growth inhibition of Clostridium thermocellum by carboxylic acids: A mechanism based on uncoupling by weak acids. *Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology*, 22(1). https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00252157
- Hickey, T. E., McVeigh, A. L., Scott, D. A., Michielutti, R. E., Bixby, A., Carroll, S. A., Bourgeois, A. L., & Guerry, P. (2000). Campylobacter jejuni Cytolethal Distending Toxin Mediates Release of Interleukin-8 from Intestinal Epithelial Cells. *Infection and Immunity*, 68(12), 6535–6541. https://doi.org/10.1128/IAI.68.12.6535-6541.2000
- Hilbert, F., Scherwitzel, M., Paulsen, P., & Szostak, M. P. (2010). Survival of Campylobacter jejuni under Conditions of Atmospheric Oxygen Tension with the Support of Pseudomonas spp. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 76(17), 5911–5917. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.01532-10
- Hirabara, S. M., Silveira, L. R., Alberici, L. C., Leandro, C. V. G., Lambertucci, R. H., Polimeno, G. C., Cury Boaventura, M. F., Procopio, J., Vercesi, A. E., & Curi, R. (2006). Acute effect of fatty acids on metabolism and mitochondrial coupling in skeletal muscle. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA) - Bioenergetics*, 1757(1), 57–66. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbabio.2005.11.007
- Hoepers, P. G., Medina, G., Rossi, D. A., & Fernandez, H. (2016). About Campylobacter spp. In B. B. Fonseca, D. A. Rossi, & H. Fernandez (Eds.), *Campylobacter Spp. and Related Organisms in Poultry: Pathogen-Host Interactions, Diagnosis and Epidemiology* (pp. 1– 18). https://doi.org/10.2007/978-3-319-29907-5
- Hoffmann, S, Maculloch, B., & Batz, M. (2015). *Economic burden of major foodborne illnesses* acquired in the United States. http://www.ers.usda.gov/media/1837791/eib140.pdf
- Hoffmann, Sandra, Batz, M. B., & Morris, J. G. (2012). Annual Cost of Illness and Quality-Adjusted Life Year Losses in the United States Due to 14 Foodborne Pathogens. *Journal* of Food Protection, 75(7), 1292–1302. https://doi.org/10.4315/0362-028X.JFP-11-417
- Hofreuter, D. (2014). Defining the metabolic requirements for the growth and colonization capacity of Campylobacter jejuni. *Frontiers in Cellular and Infection Microbiology*, *4*. https://doi.org/10.3389/fcimb.2014.00137
- Hofreuter, D., Novik, V., & Galán, J. E. (2008). Metabolic Diversity in Campylobacter jejuni Enhances Specific Tissue Colonization. *Cell Host & Microbe*, 4(5), 425–433. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chom.2008.10.002
- Hong, J.-C., Steiner, T., Aufy, A., & Lien, T.-F. (2012). Effects of supplemental essential oil on growth performance, lipid metabolites and immunity, intestinal characteristics, microbiota and carcass traits in broilers. *Livestock Science*, 144(3), 253–262. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.livsci.2011.12.008
- Hong, Y., Lee, J., Vu, T. H., Lee, S., Lillehoj, H. S., & Hong, Y. H. (2020). Chicken avian βdefensin 8 modulates immune response via the mitogen-activated protein kinase signaling pathways in a chicken macrophage cell line. *Poultry Science*, 99(9), 4174–4182. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psj.2020.05.027

Horn, B., & Lake, R. (2013). Incubation period for campylobacteriosis and its importance in the

estimation of incidence related to travel. *Eurosurveillance*, *18*(40), 20602. https://doi.org/10.2807/1560-7917.ES2013.18.40.20602

- Hoshimoto, A., Suzuki, Y., Katsuno, T., Nakajima, H., & Saito, Y. (2002). Caprylic acid and medium-chain triglycerides inhibit IL-8 gene transcription in Caco-2 cells: comparison with the potent histone deacetylase inhibitor trichostatin A. *British Journal of Pharmacology*, 136(2), 280–286. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.bjp.0704719
- Huang, N., Katz, J. P., Martin, D. R., & Wu, G. D. (1997). INHIBITION OF IL-8 GENE EXPRESSION IN CACO-2 CELLS BY COMPOUNDS WHICH INDUCE HISTONE HYPERACETYLATION. *Cytokine*, 9(1), 27–36. https://doi.org/10.1006/cyto.1996.0132
- Hughes, C. E., & Nibbs, R. J. B. (2018). A guide to chemokines and their receptors. *The FEBS Journal*, 285(16), 2944–2971. https://doi.org/10.1111/febs.14466
- Humphrey, S., Chaloner, G., Kemmett, K., Davidson, N., Williams, N., Kipar, A., Humphrey, T., & Wigley, P. (2014). Campylobacter jejuni Is Not Merely a Commensal in Commercial Broiler Chickens and Affects Bird Welfare. *MBio*, 5(4). https://doi.org/10.1128/mBio.01364-14
- Humphrey, Suzanne, Chaloner, G., Kemmett, K., Davidson, N., Williams, N., Kipar, A., Humphrey, T., & Wigley, P. (2014). Campylobacter jejuni Is Not Merely a Commensal in Commercial Broiler Chickens and Affects Bird Welfare. *MBio*, 5(4). https://doi.org/10.1128/mBio.01364-14
- Humphrey, Suzanne, Lacharme-Lora, L., Chaloner, G., Gibbs, K., Humphrey, T., Williams, N., & Wigley, P. (2015). Heterogeneity in the Infection Biology of Campylobacter jejuni Isolates in Three Infection Models Reveals an Invasive and Virulent Phenotype in a ST21 Isolate from Poultry. *PLOS ONE*, *10*(10), e0141182. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0141182
- Humphrey, T. (2006). Are happy chickens safer chickens? Poultry welfare and disease susceptibility. *British Poultry Science*, 47(4), 379–391. https://doi.org/10.1080/00071660600829084
- Ishikawa, T., Sasaki, D., Aizawa, R., Shimoyama, Y., Yamamoto, M., Irié, T., & Sasaki, M. (2021). Effect of Butyric Acid in the Proliferation and Migration of Junctional Epithelium in the Progression of Periodontitis: An In Vitro Study. *Dentistry Journal*, 9(4), 44. https://doi.org/10.3390/dj9040044
- Jackson, A. D., & McLaughlin, J. (2009). Digestion and absorption. *Surgery (Oxford)*, 27(6), 231–236. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mpsur.2009.03.003
- Jacobs-Reitsma, W. F., Van de Giessen, A. W., Bolder, N. M., & Mulder, R. W. A. W. (1995). Epidemiology of Campylobacter spp. at two Dutch broiler farms. *Epidemiology and Infection*, 114(3), 413–421. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0950268800052122
- Jacobs-Reitsma, W., Lyhs, U., & Wagenaar, J. (2014). Campylobacter in the Food Supply. In *Campylobacter* (pp. 625–644). ASM Press. https://doi.org/10.1128/9781555815554.ch35
- Jain, D., Prasad, K. N., Sinha, S., & Husain, N. (2008). Differences in virulence attributes between cytolethal distending toxin positive and negative Campylobacter jejuni strains. *Journal of Medical Microbiology*, 57(3), 267–272. https://doi.org/10.1099/jmm.0.47317-0
- Jansen, W., Reich, F., & Klein, G. (2014). Large-scale feasibility of organic acids as a permanent preharvest intervention in drinking water of broilers and their effect on foodborne Campylobacter spp. before processing. *Journal of Applied Microbiology*, *116*(6), 1676–1687. https://doi.org/10.1111/jam.12490

Jayaraman, S., Das, P. P., Saini, P. C., Roy, B., & Chatterjee, P. N. (2017). Use of Bacillus

Subtilis PB6 as a potential antibiotic growth promoter replacement in improving performance of broiler birds. *Poultry Science*, *96*(8), 2614–2622. https://doi.org/10.3382/ps/pex079

- Jennings, J. L., Sait, L. C., Perrett, C. A., Foster, C., Williams, L. K., Humphrey, T. J., & Cogan, T. A. (2011). Campylobacter jejuni is associated with, but not sufficient to cause vibrionic hepatitis in chickens. *Veterinary Microbiology*, 149(1–2), 193–199. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vetmic.2010.11.005
- Jeon, B., Muraoka, W. T., & Zhang, Q. (2010). Advances in Campylobacter biology and implications for biotechnological applications. *Microbial Biotechnology*, 3(3), 242–258. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1751-7915.2009.00118.x
- Jiao, X., Nawab, O., Patel, T., Kossenkov, A. V., Halama, N., Jaeger, D., & Pestell, R. G. (2019). Recent Advances Targeting CCR5 for Cancer and Its Role in Immuno-Oncology. *Cancer Research*, 79(19), 4801–4807. https://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-19-1167
- Jo, C. (2014). Cost-of-illness studies: concepts, scopes, and methods. *Clinical and Molecular Hepatology*, 20(4), 327. https://doi.org/10.3350/cmh.2014.20.4.327
- Jo, Y., Oh, H.-M., Yoon, Y., Lee, S.-Y., Ha, J.-H., Kim, W.-I., Kim, H.-Y., Han, S., & Kim, S.-R. (2017). Enrichment Broth for the Detection of Campylobacter jejuni and Campylobacter coli in Fresh Produce and Poultry. *Journal of Food Protection*, 80(11), 1842–1850. https://doi.org/10.4315/0362-028X.JFP-16-450
- Joerger, R. D. (2003). Alternatives to Antibiotics: Bacteriocins, Antimicrobial Peptides and Bacteriophages. *Poultry Science*, 82, 640–647.
- John, D. (2018). Host pathogen responses of chicken cells in vitro and in vivo to a diverse population of Campylobacter strains. Swansea University.
- John, D. A., Williams, L. K., Kanamarlapudi, V., Humphrey, T. J., & Wilkinson, T. S. (2017). The Bacterial Species Campylobacter jejuni Induce Diverse Innate Immune Responses in Human and Avian Intestinal Epithelial Cells. *Frontiers in Microbiology*, 8. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2017.01840
- Jolitz, S., & Foster, Louis, A. (2011). Digestive Tract Comparison. Kelogg Honors College Capstone 2011. https://www.cpp.edu/~honorscollege/documents/convocation/AG/AVS Jolitz.pdf
- Jolley, K. A., Bray, J. E., & Maiden, M. C. J. (2018). Open-access bacterial population genomics: BIGSdb software, the PubMLST.org website and their applications. *Wellcome Open Research*, 3, 124. https://doi.org/10.12688/wellcomeopenres.14826.1
- Jones, F. S., Orcutt, M., & Little, R. B. (1931). VIBRIOS (VIBRIO JEJUNI, N.SP.) ASSOCIATED WITH INTESTINAL DISORDERS OF COWS AND CALVES. *Journal* of Experimental Medicine, 53(6), 853–863. https://doi.org/10.1084/jem.53.6.853
- Józefiak, D., Rutkowski, A., & Martin, S. (2004). Carbohydrate fermentation in the avian ceca: a review. *Animal Feed Science and Technology*, *113*(1–4), 1–15. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.anifeedsci.2003.09.007
- Kaakoush, N. O., Castaño-Rodríguez, N., Mitchell, H. M., & Man, S. M. (2015). Global epidemiology of Campylobacter infection. *Clinical Microbiology Reviews*, 28(3), 687– 720. https://doi.org/10.1128/CMR.00006-15
- Kaakoush, N. O., Miller, W. G., De Reuse, H., & Mendz, G. L. (2007). Oxygen requirement and tolerance of Campylobacter jejuni. *Research in Microbiology*, 158(8–9), 644–650. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.resmic.2007.07.009

- Kabir, S. M. L. (2009). The Role of Probiotics in the Poultry Industry. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*, 10(8), 3531–3546. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms10083531
- Karásková, K., Suchý, P., & Straková, E. (2016). Current use of phytogenic feed additives in animal nutrition: a review. *Czech Journal of Animal Science*, 60(No. 12), 521–530. https://doi.org/10.17221/8594-CJAS
- Khan, M. (2019). Effect of Newly Characterized Probiotic Lactobacilli on Weight Gain, Immunomodulation and Gut Microbiota of Campylobacter jejuni Challenged Broiler Chicken. *Pakistan Veterinary Journal*, 39(04), 473–478. https://doi.org/10.29261/pakvetj/2019.051
- Khan, R. U., Naz, S., Dhama, K., Saminathan, M., Tiwari, R., Jeon, G. J., Laudadio, V., & Tufarelli, V. (2014). Modes of Action and Beneficial Applications of Chromium in Poultry Nutrition, Production and Health: A Review. *International Journal of Pharmacology*, 10(7), 357–367. https://doi.org/10.3923/ijp.2014.357.367
- Khanna, M. R., Bhavsar, S. P., & Kapadnis, B. P. (2006). Effect of temperature on growth and chemotactic behaviour of Campylobacter jejuni. *Letters in Applied Microbiology*, *43*(1), 84–90. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1472-765X.2006.01904.x
- Khattak, F., Paschalis, V., Green, M., Houdijk, J. G. M., Soultanas, P., & Mahdavi, J. (2018). TYPLEX® Chelate, a novel feed additive, inhibits Campylobacter jejuni biofilm formation and cecal colonization in broiler chickens. *Poultry Science*, 97(4), 1391–1399. https://doi.org/10.3382/ps/pex413
- Kho, Z. Y., & Lal, S. K. (2018). The Human Gut Microbiome A Potential Controller of Wellness and Disease. *Frontiers in Microbiology*, 9. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2018.01835
- Kim, J., Oh, E., Banting, G. S., Braithwaite, S., Chui, L., Ashbolt, N. J., Neumann, N. F., & Jeon, B. (2016). An Improved Culture Method for Selective Isolation of Campylobacter jejuni from Wastewater. *Frontiers in Microbiology*, 7. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2016.01345
- Kist, M. (1986). Wer entdeckte campylobacter jejuni/coli? Eine zusammenfassung bisher unberücksichtigter literaturquellen. Zentralblatt Für Bakteriologie, Mikrobiologie Und Hygiene. Series A: Medical Microbiology, Infectious Diseases, Virology, Parasitology, 261(2), 177–186. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0176-6724(86)80034-7
- Knudsen, K. N., Bang, D. D., Andresen, L. O., & Madsen, M. (2006). Campylobacter jejuni Strains of Human and Chicken Origin Are Invasive in Chickens After Oral Challenge. *Avian Diseases*, 50(1), 10–14. https://doi.org/10.1637/7376-051005R.1
- Kobayashi, K., Ehrlich, S. D., Albertini, A., Amati, G., Andersen, K. K., Arnaud, M., Asai, K., Ashikaga, S., Aymerich, S., Bessieres, P., Boland, F., Brignell, S. C., Bron, S., Bunai, K., Chapuis, J., Christiansen, L. C., Danchin, A., Débarbouillé, M., Dervyn, E., ... Ogasawara, N. (2003). Essential Bacillus subtilis genes. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 100(8), 4678–4683. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0730515100
- Kogut, M. H., Lee, A., & Santin, E. (2020). Microbiome and pathogen interaction with the immune system. *Poultry Science*, 99(4), 1906–1913. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psj.2019.12.011
- Kollanoor-Johny, A., Mattson, T., Baskaran, S. A., Amalaradjou, M. A. R., Hoagland, T. A., Darre, M. J., Khan, M. I., Schreiber, D. T., Donoghue, A. M., Donoghue, D. J., & Venkitanarayanan, K. (2012). Caprylic acid reduces Salmonella Enteritidis populations in various segments of digestive tract and internal organs of 3- and 6-week-old broiler chickens, therapeutically ,. *Poultry Science*, 91(7), 1686–1694.

https://doi.org/10.3382/ps.2011-01716

- Konkel, M. E., Larson, C. L., & Flanagan, R. C. (2010). Campylobacter jejuni FlpA Binds Fibronectin and Is Required for Maximal Host Cell Adherence. *Journal of Bacteriology*, 192(1), 68–76. https://doi.org/10.1128/JB.00969-09
- Konkel, M. E., Talukdar, P. K., Negretti, N. M., & Klappenbach, C. M. (2020). Taking Control: Campylobacter jejuni Binding to Fibronectin Sets the Stage for Cellular Adherence and Invasion. *Frontiers in Microbiology*, 11, 564. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2020.00564
- Korenblum, E., der Weid, I., Santos, A. L. S., Rosado, A. S., Sebastian, G. V., Coutinho, C. M. L. M., Magalhaes, F. C. M., Paiva, M. M., & Seldin, L. (2005). Production of antimicrobial substances by Bacillus subtilis LFE-1, B. firmus H2O-1 and B. licheniformis T6-5 isolated from an oil reservoir in Brazil. *Journal of Applied Microbiology*, 98(3), 667–675. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2672.2004.02518.x
- Korolik, V. (1998). Isolation and molecular analysis of colonising and non-colonising strains of Campylobacter jejuni and Campylobacter coli following experimental infection of young chickens. *Veterinary Microbiology*, 60(2–4), 239–249. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0378-1135(98)00145-X
- Korolik, Victoria. (2019). The role of chemotaxis during Campylobacter jejuni colonisation and pathogenesis. *Current Opinion in Microbiology*, 47, 32–37. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mib.2018.11.001
- Kosiewicz, M. M., Zirnheld, A. L., & Alard, P. (2011). Gut Microbiota, Immunity, and Disease: A Complex Relationship. *Frontiers in Microbiology*, 2. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2011.00180
- Kotrbáček, V., Skřivan, M., Kopecký, J., Pěnkava, O., Hudečková, P., Uhríková, L., & Doubek, J. (2013). Retention of carotenoids in egg yolks of laying hens supplemented with heterotrophic Chlorella. *Czech Journal of Animal Science*, 58(No. 5), 193–200. https://doi.org/10.17221/6747-CJAS
- Koutsoumanis, K., Allende, A., Alvarez-Ordóñez, A., Bolton, D., Bover-Cid, S., Davies, R., De Cesare, A., Herman, L., Hilbert, F., Lindqvist, R., Nauta, M., Peixe, L., Ru, G., Simmons, M., Skandamis, P., Suffredini, E., Alter, T., Crotta, M., Ellis-Iversen, J., ... Chemaly, M. (2020). Update and review of control options for Campylobacter in broilers at primary production. *EFSA Journal*, *18*(4). https://doi.org/10.2903/j.efsa.2020.6090
- Kovanda, L., Zhang, W., Wei, X., Luo, J., Wu, X., Atwill, E. R., Vaessen, S., Li, X., & Liu, Y. (2019). In Vitro Antimicrobial Activities of Organic Acids and Their Derivatives on Several Species of Gram-Negative and Gram-Positive Bacteria. *Molecules*, 24(20), 3770. https://doi.org/10.3390/molecules24203770
- Krause-Gruszczynska, M., van Alphen, L. B., Oyarzabal, O. A., Alter, T., HĤnel, I., Schliephake, A., KĶnig, W., van Putten, J. P. M., Konkel, M. E., & Backert, S. (2007). Expression patterns and role of the CadF protein in Campylobacter jejuni and Campylobacter coli. *FEMS Microbiology Letters*, 274(1), 9–16. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1574-6968.2007.00802.x
- Krutkiewicz, A., & Klimuszko, D. (2010). Genotyping and PCR detection of potential virulence genes in Campylobacter jejuni and Campylobacter coli isolates from different sources in Poland. *Folia Microbiologica*, 55(2), 167–175. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12223-010-0025-6
- Kubasova, T., Kollarcikova, M., Crhanova, M., Karasova, D., Cejkova, D., Sebkova, A., Matiasovicova, J., Faldynova, M., Pokorna, A., Cizek, A., & Rychlik, I. (2019). Contact with adult hen affects development of caecal microbiota in newly hatched chicks. *PLOS ONE*, 14(3), e0212446. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0212446

- Kubena, L. F., Bailey, R. H., Byrd, J. A., Young, C. R., Corrier, D. E., Stanker, L. H., & Rottinghaust, G. E. (2001). Cecal Volatile Fatty Acids and Broiler Chick Susceptibility to Salmonella typhimurium Colonization as Affected by Aflatoxins and T-2 Toxin. *Poultry Science*, 80(4), 411–417. https://doi.org/10.1093/ps/80.4.411
- Kurincic, M., Berce, I., Zorman, T., & Mozina, S. S. (2005). The Prevalence of Multiple Antibiotic Resistance in Campylobacter spp. From Retail Poultry Meat. *Food Technol. Biotechnol.*, 43(2), 157–163.
- Kurita-Ochiai, T., Hashizume, T., Yonezawa, H., Ochiai, K., & Yamamoto, M. (2006). Characterization of the effects of butyric acid on cell proliferation, cell cycle distribution and apoptosis. *FEMS Immunology & Medical Microbiology*, 47(1), 67–74. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1574-695X.2006.00066.x
- Labat-Robert, J. (2012). Cell–Matrix interactions, the role of fibronectin and integrins. A survey. *Pathologie Biologie*, 60(1), 15–19. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.patbio.2011.10.003
- Lamb-Rosteski, J. M., Kalischuk, L. D., Inglis, G. D., & Buret, A. G. (2008). Epidermal Growth Factor Inhibits Campylobacter jejuni-Induced Claudin-4 Disruption, Loss of Epithelial Barrier Function, and Escherichia coli Translocation. *Infection and Immunity*, 76(8), 3390–3398. https://doi.org/10.1128/IAI.01698-07
- Larson, C. L., Samuelson, D. R., Eucker, T. P., O'Loughlin, J. L., & Konkel, M. E. (2013). The fibronectin-binding motif within FlpA facilitates Campylobacter jejuni adherence to host cell and activation of host cell signaling. *Emerging Microbes & Infections*, 2(1), 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1038/emi.2013.65
- Lastovica, A. J., On, S. L. W., & Zhang, L. (2014). The Family Campylobacteraceae. In *The Prokaryotes* (pp. 307–335). Springer Berlin Heidelberg. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-642-39044-9_274
- Lee, D.-N., Wu, F.-Y., Cheng, Y.-H., Lin, R.-S., & Wu, P.-C. (2003). Effects of Dietary Chromium Picolinate Supplementation on Growth Performance and Immune Responses of Broilers. Asian-Australasian Journal of Animal Sciences, 16(2), 227–233. https://doi.org/10.5713/ajas.2003.227
- Leeson, S., Namkung, H., Antongiovanni, M., & Lee, E. H. (2005). Effect of butyric acid on the performance and carcass yield of broiler chickens. *Poultry Science*, 84(9), 1418–1422. https://doi.org/10.1093/ps/84.9.1418
- Lema, I., Araújo, J. R., Rolhion, N., & Demignot, S. (2020). Jejunum: The understudied meeting place of dietary lipids and the microbiota. *Biochimie*, 178, 124–136. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biochi.2020.09.007
- Lertsethtakarn, P., Ottemann, K. M., & Hendrixson, D. R. (2011). Motility and Chemotaxis in Campylobacter and Helicobacter. *Annual Review of Microbiology*, 65(1), 389–410. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-micro-090110-102908
- Lillehoj, H. S., & Trout, J. M. (1994). CD8+ T cell-coccidia interactions. *Parasitology Today*, *10*(1), 10–14. https://doi.org/10.1016/0169-4758(94)90347-6
- Lin, J. (2009). Novel approaches for Campylobacter control in poultry. Foodborne Pathogens and Disease, 6(7), 755–765. https://doi.org/10.1089/fpd.2008.0247
- Line, J. E., Hiett, K. L., Guard-Bouldin, J., & Seal, B. S. (2010). Differential carbon source utilization by Campylobacter jejuni 11168 in response to growth temperature variation. *Journal of Microbiological Methods*, 80(2), 198–202. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mimet.2009.12.011
- LINE, J. E., STERN, N. J., LATTUADA, C. P., & BENSON, S. T. (2001). Comparison of

Methods for Recovery and Enumeration of Campylobacter from Freshly Processed Broilers. *Journal of Food Protection*, 64(7), 982–986. https://doi.org/10.4315/0362-028X-64.7.982

- Liu, P., Sun, J., Peng, W., Gu, Y., Ji, X., Su, Z., Liu, P., & Shen, J. (2023). Zwitterionic betaines over HEPES as the new generation biocompatible pH buffers for cell culture. *Bioactive Materials*, 24, 376–386. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bioactmat.2022.12.028
- Lopes, G. V., Ramires, T., Kleinubing, N. R., Scheik, L. K., Fiorentini, Â. M., & Padilha da Silva, W. (2021). Virulence factors of foodborne pathogen Campylobacter jejuni. *Microbial Pathogenesis*, 161, 105265. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.micpath.2021.105265
- Lu, T., Marmion, M., Ferone, M., Wall, P., & Scannell, A. G. M. (2021). On farm interventions to minimise Campylobacter spp. contamination in chicken. *British Poultry Science*, 62(1), 53–67. https://doi.org/10.1080/00071668.2020.1813253
- Lugert, R., Groß, U., & Zautner, A. E. (2015). *Campylobacter jejuni: Components for* adherence to and invasion of eukaryotic cells.
- Lydekaitienė, V. L., & Kudirkienė, E. (2020). Prevalence and Genetic Diversity of C. Jejuni Isolated from Broilers and their Environment Using fla A-RFLP Typing and MLST Analysis. *Annals of Animal Science*, 20(2), 485–501. https://doi.org/10.2478/aoas-2020-0008
- Lyngstad, T. M., Jonsson, M. E., Hofshagen, M., & Heier, B. T. (2008). Risk Factors Associated with the Presence of Campylobacter Species in Norwegian Broiler Flocks. *Poultry Science*, 87(10), 1987–1994. https://doi.org/10.3382/ps.2008-00132
- Mabelebele, M., Alabi, O. J., Ng`ambi, J. W., Norris, D., & Ginindza, M. M. (2013).
  Comparison of Gastrointestinal Tracts and pH Values of Digestive Organs of Ross 308
  Broiler and Indigenous Venda Chickens Fed the Same Diet. *Asian Journal of Animal and Veterinary Advances*, 9(1), 71–76. https://doi.org/10.3923/ajava.2014.71.76
- MacCallum, A., Haddock, G., & Everest, P. H. (2005). Campylobacter jejuni activates mitogenactivated protein kinases in Caco-2 cell monolayers and in vitro infected primary human colonic tissue. *Microbiology*, 151(8), 2765–2772. https://doi.org/10.1099/mic.0.27979-0
- MacCallum, A., Hardy, S. P., & Everest, P. H. (2005). Campylobacter jejuni inhibits the absorptive transport functions of Caco-2 cells and disrupts cellular tight junctions. *Microbiology*, 151(7), 2451–2458. https://doi.org/10.1099/mic.0.27950-0
- Mahfouz, N., Ferreira, I., Beisken, S., von Haeseler, A., & Posch, A. E. (2020). Large-scale assessment of antimicrobial resistance marker databases for genetic phenotype prediction: a systematic review. *Journal of Antimicrobial Chemotherapy*, 75(11), 3099–3108. https://doi.org/10.1093/jac/dkaa257
- Man, S. M. (2011). The clinical importance of emerging Campylobacter species. Nature Reviews Gastroenterology & Hepatology, 8(12), 669–685. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrgastro.2011.191
- Mangen, M.-J.J., Havelaar, A. H., Haagsma, J. A., & Kretzschmar, M. E. E. (2016). The burden of Campylobacter-associated disease in six European countries. *Microbial Risk Analysis*, 2–3, 48–52. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mran.2016.04.001
- Mangen, M. J. J., Havelaar, A. H., & de Wit, G. A. (2004). Campylobacteriosis and sequelae in the Netherlands-Estimating the disease burden and the costs-of-illness (Campylobacteriose en complicaties in Nederland-ziektelast en kosten). https://research.wur.nl/en/publications/campylobacteriosis-and-sequelae-in-thenetherlands-estimating-the

- Mangen, Marie-Josée J., Bouwknegt, M., Friesema, I. H. M., Haagsma, J. A., Kortbeek, L. M., Tariq, L., Wilson, M., van Pelt, W., & Havelaar, A. H. (2015). Cost-of-illness and disease burden of food-related pathogens in the Netherlands, 2011. *International Journal of Food Microbiology*, 196, 84–93. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijfoodmicro.2014.11.022
- Margit, H., & Scow, R. O. (1973). Lingual lipase and its role in the digestion of dietary lipid. *The Journal of Clinical Investigation*, 52(1), 88–95.
- Marouani, N., Tebourbi, O., Mahjoub, S., Yacoubi, M. T., Sakly, M., Benkhalifa, M., & Rhouma, K. B. (2012). Effects of hexavalent chromium on reproductive functions of male adult rats. *Reproductive Biology*, 12(2), 119–133. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1642-431X(12)60081-3
- Mattick, K. (2003). The survival of foodborne pathogens during domestic washing-up and subsequent transfer onto washing-up sponges, kitchen surfaces and food. *International Journal of Food Microbiology*, 85(3), 213–226. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0168-1605(02)00510-X
- Mazziotta, C., Tognon, M., Martini, F., Torreggiani, E., & Rotondo, J. C. (2023). Probiotics Mechanism of Action on Immune Cells and Beneficial Effects on Human Health. *Cells*, 12(1), 184. https://doi.org/10.3390/cells12010184
- McBain, J. A., Eastman, A., Nobel, C. S., & Mueller, G. C. (1997). Apoptotic death in adenocarcinoma cell lines induced by butyrate and other histone deacetylase inhibitors. *Biochemical Pharmacology*, 53(9), 1357–1368. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0006-2952(96)00904-5
- McFadyean, J., & Stockman, S. (1913). Report of the Departmental Committee Appointed by the Board of Agriculture and Fisheries to Inquire into Epizootic Abortion.
- McNeil, N. I. (1984). The contribution of the large intestine to energy supplies in man. *The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 39(2), 338–342. https://doi.org/10.1093/ajcn/39.2.338
- Mendz, G. L., Ball, G. E., & Meek, D. J. (1997). Pyruvate metabolism in Campylobacter spp. Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA) - General Subjects, 1334(2–3), 291–302. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0304-4165(96)00107-9
- Messens, W., Herman, L., De Zutter, L., & Heyndrickx, M. (2009). Multiple typing for the epidemiological study of contamination of broilers with thermotolerant Campylobacter. *Veterinary Microbiology*, 138(1–2), 120–131. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vetmic.2009.02.012
- Metcalf, J. H., Donoghue, A. M., Venkitanarayanan, K., Reyes-Herrera, I., Aguiar, V. F., Blore, P. J., & Donoghue, D. J. (2011). Water administration of the medium-chain fatty acid caprylic acid produced variable efficacy against enteric Campylobacter colonization in broilers1,2. *Poultry Science*, 90(2), 494–497. https://doi.org/10.3382/ps.2010-00891
- Meunier, M., Guyard-Nicodème, M., Dory, D., & Chemaly, M. (2016a). Control strategies against Campylobacter at the poultry production level: Biosecurity measures, feed additives and vaccination. *Journal of Applied Microbiology*, 120(5), 1139–1173. https://doi.org/10.1111/jam.12986
- Meunier, M., Guyard-Nicodème, M., Dory, D., & Chemaly, M. (2016b). Control strategies against Campylobacter at the poultry production level: biosecurity measures, feed additives and vaccination. *Journal of Applied Microbiology*, *120*(5), 1139–1173. https://doi.org/10.1111/jam.12986
- Mohammed, K. A. S., Miles, R. J., & Halablab, M. A. (2004). The pattern and kinetics of substrate metabolism of Campylobacter jejuni and Campylobacter coli. *Letters in Applied*

*Microbiology*, 39(3), 261–266. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1472-765X.2004.01574.x

- Molatová, Z., Skřivanová, E., Macias, B., Mcewan, N. R., Březina, P., & Marounek, M. (2010). Susceptibility of Campylobacter jejuni to organic acids and monoacylglycerols. *Folia Microbiologica*, 55(3), 215–220. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12223-010-0031-8
- Molnár, A., Hess, C., Pál, L., Wágner, L., Awad, W. A., Husvéth, F., Hess, M., & Dublecz, K. (2015). Composition of diet modifies colonization dynamics of Campylobacter jejuni in broiler chickens. *Journal of Applied Microbiology*, *118*(1), 245–254. https://doi.org/10.1111/jam.12679
- Monteville, M. R., Yoon, J. E., & Konkel, M. E. (2003). Maximal adherence and invasion of INT 407 cells by Campylobacter jejuni requires the CadF outer-membrane protein and microfilament reorganization. *Microbiology*, 149(1), 153–165. https://doi.org/10.1099/mic.0.25820-0
- Mörbe, U. M., Jørgensen, P. B., Fenton, T. M., von Burg, N., Riis, L. B., Spencer, J., & Agace, W. W. (2021). Human gut-associated lymphoid tissues (GALT); diversity, structure, and function. *Mucosal Immunology*, 14(4), 793–802. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41385-021-00389-4
- Morishita, T. Y., Aye, P. P., Harr, B. S., Cobb, C. W., & Clifford, J. R. (1997). Evaluation of an Avian-Specific Probiotic to Reduce the Colonization and Shedding of Campylobacter jejuni in Broilers. *Avian Diseases*, 41(4), 850. https://doi.org/10.2307/1592338
- Mortada, M., Cosby, D. E., Shanmugasundaram, R., & Selvaraj, R. K. (2020). In vivo and in vitro assessment of commercial probiotic and organic acid feed additives in broilers challenged with Campylobacter coli. *Journal of Applied Poultry Research*, 29(2), 435–446. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.japr.2020.02.001
- Mortensen, N. P., Kuijf, M. L., Ang, C. W., Schiellerup, P., Krogfelt, K. A., Jacobs, B. C., van Belkum, A., Endtz, H. P., & Bergman, M. P. (2009). Sialylation of Campylobacter jejuni lipo-oligosaccharides is associated with severe gastro-enteritis and reactive arthritis. *Microbes and Infection*, 11(12), 988–994. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.micinf.2009.07.004
- Mot, D., Timbermont, L., Haesebrouck, F., Ducatelle, R., & Van Immerseel, F. (2014). Progress and problems in vaccination against necrotic enteritis in broiler chickens. *Avian Pathology*, *43*(4), 290–300. https://doi.org/10.1080/03079457.2014.939942
- Mouftah, S. F., Pascoe, B., Calland, J. K., Mourkas, E., Tonkin, N., Lefevre, C., Deuker, D., Smith, S., Wickenden, H., Hitchings, M. D., Sheppard, S. K., & Elhadidy, M. (2021). Local accessory gene sharing drives lineage-specific acquisition of antimicrobial resistance in Egyptian Campylobacter spp. *BioRxiv*. https://doi.org/46124
- Mughini Gras, L., Smid, J. H., Wagenaar, J. A., de Boer, A. G., Havelaar, A. H., Friesema, I. H. M., French, N. P., Busani, L., & van Pelt, W. (2012). Risk Factors for Campylobacteriosis of Chicken, Ruminant, and Environmental Origin: A Combined Case-Control and Source Attribution Analysis. *PLoS ONE*, 7(8), e42599. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0042599
- Muniz, L. R., Knosp, C., & Yeretssian, G. (2012). Intestinal antimicrobial peptides during homeostasis, infection, and disease. *Frontiers in Immunology*, 3. https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2012.00310
- Myintzaw, P., Jaiswal, A. K., & Jaiswal, S. (2021). A Review on Campylobacteriosis Associated with Poultry Meat Consumption. *Food Reviews International*, 1–15. https://doi.org/10.1080/87559129.2021.1942487
- Nazeer, N., Uribe-Diaz, S., Rodriguez-Lecompte, J. C., & Ahmed, M. (2021). Antimicrobial peptides as an alternative to relieve antimicrobial growth promoters in poultry. *British*

Poultry Science, 62(5), 672-685. https://doi.org/10.1080/00071668.2021.1919993

- Neill, S. D., Campbell, J. N., & Greene, J. A. (1984). Campylobacter species in broiler chickens. Avian Pathology, 13(4), 777–785.
- Newell, D. G. (2001). The molecular epidemiology of campylobacters in poultry and poultry meat and use to develop intervention strategies. Final Report FS3033.
- Newell, D. G., Elvers, K. T., Dopfer, D., Hansson, I., Jones, P., James, S., Gittins, J., Stern, N. J., Davies, R., Connerton, I., Pearson, D., Salvat, G. S., & Allen, V. M. (2011). Biosecurity-based interventions and strategies to reduce Campylobacter spp. on poultry farms. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 77(24), 8605–8614. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.01090-10
- Newell, D. G., & Fearnley, C. (2003). Sources of Campylobacter Colonization in Broiler Chickens. APPLIED AND ENVIRONMENTAL MICROBIOLOGY, 4343–4351. https://doi.org/10.11128/AEM.69.8.4343-4351.2003
- Novik, V., Hofreuter, D., & Galán, J. E. (2010). Identification of Campylobacter jejuni Genes Involved in Its Interaction with Epithelial Cells. *Infection and Immunity*, 78(8), 3540– 3553. https://doi.org/10.1128/IAI.00109-10
- Nyati, K. K., & Nyati, R. (2013). Role of Campylobacter jejuni Infection in the Pathogenesis of Guillain-Barré Syndrome: An Update. *BioMed Research International*, 2013, 1–13. https://doi.org/10.1155/2013/852195
- O'Brien, S. J. (2017). *The consequences of Campylobacter infection*. https://eprints.ncl.ac.uk/file_store/production/259577/6FB89A9B-4188-4E3F-BF62-928E43E608EF.pdf
- O'Loughlin, J. L., Eucker, T. P., Chavez, J. D., Samuelson, D. R., Neal-McKinney, J., Gourley, C. R., Bruce, J. E., & Konkel, M. E. (2015). Analysis of the Campylobacter jejuni Genome by SMRT DNA Sequencing Identifies Restriction-Modification Motifs. *PLOS ONE*, 10(2), e0118533. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0118533
- Ó Cróinín, T., & Backert, S. (2012). Host Epithelial Cell Invasion by Campylobacter jejuni: Trigger or Zipper Mechanism? *Frontiers in Cellular and Infection Microbiology*, 2. https://doi.org/10.3389/fcimb.2012.00025
- Oakley, B. B., Lillehoj, H. S., Kogut, M. H., Kim, W. K., Maurer, J. J., Pedroso, A., Lee, M. D., Collett, S. R., Johnson, T. J., & Cox, N. A. (2014). The chicken gastrointestinal microbiome. *FEMS Microbiology Letters*, 360(2), 100–112. https://doi.org/10.1111/1574-6968.12608
- Ocejo, M., Oporto, B., Juste, R. A., & Hurtado, A. (2017). Effects of dry whey powder and calcium butyrate supplementation of corn/soybean-based diets on productive performance, duodenal histological integrity, and Campylobacter colonization in broilers. *BMC Veterinary Research*, *13*(1), 199. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12917-017-1121-5
- Ogobuiro, I., Gonzales, J., & Tuma, F. (2021). *Physiology, Gastrointestinal*. StatPearls Publishing. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK537103/
- Oldham, K. (n.d.). *Chemokines: Introduction*. British Society for Immunology. Retrieved May 18, 2022, from https://www.immunology.org/public-information/bitesized-immunology/receptors-and-molecules/chemokines-introduction
- Olnood, C. G., Beski, S. S. M., Choct, M., & Iji, P. A. (2015). Novel probiotics: Their effects on growth performance, gut development, microbial community and activity of broiler chickens. *Animal Nutrition*, *1*(3), 184–191. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aninu.2015.07.003

- Omoleye, O. S., Adebayo, F. B., Adu, O. A., Chineke, C. A., Adeyeye, S. A., Oloruntola, O. D., & Ayodele, S. O. (2021). The Performance and Haematological Indices of Broiler Chickens Fed Chromium Propionate, and Vitamin E Supplemented Diets. *International Journal of Environment, Agriculture and Biotechnology*, 6(6), 234–241. https://doi.org/10.22161/ijeab.66.28
- Onyiah, J. C., & Colgan, S. P. (2016). Cytokine responses and epithelial function in the intestinal mucosa. *Cellular and Molecular Life Sciences*, 73(22), 4203–4212. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00018-016-2289-8
- Panda, A. K., Rao, S. V. R., Raju, M. V. L. N., & Sunder, G. S. (2009). Effect of Butyric Acid on Performance, Gastrointestinal Tract Health and Carcass Characteristics in Broiler Chickens. Asian-Australasian Journal of Animal Sciences, 22(7), 1026–1031. https://doi.org/10.5713/ajas.2009.80298
- Pankov, R., & Yamada, K. M. (2002). Fibronectin at a glance. *Journal of Cell Science*, *115*(20), 3861–3863. https://doi.org/10.1242/jcs.00059
- Panzenhagen, P., Portes, A. B., dos Santos, A. M. P., Duque, S. da S., & Conte Junior, C. A. (2021). The Distribution of Campylobacter jejuni Virulence Genes in Genomes Worldwide Derived from the NCBI Pathogen Detection Database. *Genes*, 12(10), 1538. https://doi.org/10.3390/genes12101538
- Papp, M., & Solymosi, N. (2022). Review and Comparison of Antimicrobial Resistance Gene Databases. Antibiotics, 11(3), 339. https://doi.org/10.3390/antibiotics11030339
- Park, J.-S., Woo, M.-S., Kim, S.-Y., Kim, W.-K., & Kim, H.-S. (2005). Repression of interferon-γ-induced inducible nitric oxide synthase (iNOS) gene expression in microglia by sodium butyrate is mediated through specific inhibition of ERK signaling pathways. *Journal of Neuroimmunology*, 168(1–2), 56–64. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jneuroim.2005.07.003
- Park, S. F. (2002). The physiology of Campylobacter species and its relevance to their role as foodborne pathogens. *International Journal of Food Microbiology*, 74(3), 177–188. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0168-1605(01)00678-X
- Parkhill, J., Wren, B. W., Mungall, K., Ketley, J. M., Churcher, C., Basham, D., Chillingworth, T., Davies, R. M., Feltwell, T., Holroyd, S., Jagels, K., Karlyshev, A. V., Moule, S., Pallen, M. J., Penn, C. W., Quail, M. A., Rajandream, M.-A., Rutherford, K. M., van Vliet, A. H. M., ... Barrell, B. G. (2000). The genome sequence of the food-borne pathogen Campylobacter jejuni reveals hypervariable sequences. *Nature*, 403(6770), 665–668. https://doi.org/10.1038/35001088
- Paul, S. K., Halder, G., Mondal, M. K., & Samanta, G. (2007). Effect of Organic Acid Salt on the Performance and Gut Health of Broiler Chicken. *The Journal of Poultry Science*, 44, 389–395.
- Pei, Z., & Blaser, M. J. (1993). PEB1, the major cell-binding factor of Campylobacter jejuni, is a homolog of the binding component in gram-negative nutrient transport systems. *Journal* of Biological Chemistry, 268(25), 18717–18725. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0021-9258(17)46689-0
- Perez, R., Stevenson, F., Johnson, J., Morgan, M., Erickson, K., Hubbard, N. E., Morand, L., Rudich, S., Katznelson, S., & German, J. B. (1998). Sodium Butyrate Upregulates Kupffer Cell PGE2Production and Modulates Immune Function. *Journal of Surgical Research*, 78(1), 1–6. https://doi.org/10.1006/jsre.1998.5316
- Peterson, M. C. (1994). Clinical Aspects of Campylobacter jejuni Infections in Adults. *West Journal of Medicine*, 161, 148–152.

- Pielsticker, C., Glünder, G., & Rautenschlein, S. (2012). Colonization properties of Campylobacter jejuni in chickens. *European Journal of Microbiology and Immunology*, 2(1), 61–65. https://doi.org/10.1556/EuJMI.2.2012.1.9
- Pielsticker, Colin, Glunder, G., Aung, Y. H., & Rautenschlein, S. (2016). Colonization pattern of C. jejuni isolates of human and avian origin and differences in the induction of immune responses in chicken. *Veterinary Immunology and Immunopathology*, 169, 1–9. https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0165242715300209?via%3Dihub
- Pinchuk, I. V., Bressollier, P., Verneuil, B., Fenet, B., Sorokulova, I. B., Mégraud, F., & Urdaci, M. C. (2001). In Vitro Anti- Helicobacter pylori Activity of the Probiotic Strain Bacillus subtilis 3 Is Due to Secretion of Antibiotics. *Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy*, 45(11), 3156–3161. https://doi.org/10.1128/AAC.45.11.3156-3161.2001
- Piray, A., & Foroutanifar, S. (2022). Chromium Supplementation on the Growth Performance, Carcass Traits, Blood Constituents, and Immune Competence of Broiler Chickens Under Heat Stress: a Systematic Review and Dose–Response Meta-analysis. *Biological Trace Element Research*, 200(6), 2876–2888. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12011-021-02885-x
- Pirgozliev, V., Rose, S. P., & Ivanova, S. (2019). Feed Additives in Poultry Nutrition. Bulgarian Journal of Agricultural Science, 25.
- Pituch, A., Walkowiak, J., & Banaszkiewicz, A. (2013). Butyric acid in functional constipation. *Gastroenterology Review*, 5, 295–298. https://doi.org/10.5114/pg.2013.38731
- Pokhrel, G., Shi, Y., Wang, W., Khatiwada, S. U., Sun, Z., Yan, J., Liu, J., & Zheng, D. (2020). Correlation between urinary chromium level and semen quality in men attending an andrology laboratory. *Environmental Science and Pollution Research*, 27(18), 23301– 23308. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11356-020-08890-2
- Pourabedin, M., Xu, Z., Baurhoo, B., Chevaux, E., & Zhao, X. (2014). Effects of mannan oligosaccharide and virginiamycin on the cecal microbial community and intestinal morphology of chickens raised under suboptimal conditions. *Canadian Journal of Microbiology*, 60(5), 255–266. https://doi.org/10.1139/cjm-2013-0899
- Pourabedin, M., & Zhao, X. (2015). Prebiotics and gut microbiota in chickens. FEMS Microbiology Letters, 362(15), fnv122. https://doi.org/10.1093/femsle/fnv122
- PURDY, D., BUSWELL, C. M., HODGSON, A. E., McALPINE, K., HENDERSON, I., & LEACH, S. A. (2000). Characterisation of cytolethal distending toxin (CDT) mutants of Campylobacter jejuni. *Journal of Medical Microbiology*, 49(5), 473–479. https://doi.org/10.1099/0022-1317-49-5-473
- Purdy, D., Cawthraw, S., Dickinson, J. H., Newell, D. G., & Park, S. F. (1999). Generation of a Superoxide Dismutase (SOD)-Deficient Mutant of Campylobacter coli : Evidence for the Significance of SOD in Campylobacter Survival and Colonization. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 65(6), 2540–2546. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.65.6.2540-2546.1999
- Rajalekshmi, M., Sugumar, C., Chirakkal, H., & Ramarao, S. V. (2014). Influence of chromium propionate on the carcass characteristics and immune response of commercial broiler birds under normal rearing conditions. *Poultry Science*, 93(3), 574–580. https://doi.org/10.3382/ps.2013-03373
- Rasmussen, J. J., Vegge, C. S., Frøkiær, H., Howlett, R. M., Krogfelt, K. A., Kelly, D. J., & Ingmer, H. (2013). Campylobacter jejuni carbon starvation protein A (CstA) is involved in peptide utilization, motility and agglutination, and has a role in stimulation of dendritic cells. *Journal of Medical Microbiology*, 62(8), 1135–1143. https://doi.org/10.1099/jmm.0.059345-0

- Rawson, T., Colles, F. M., Terry, J. C. D., & Bonsall, M. B. (2022). Mechanisms of biodiversity between Campylobacter sequence types in a flock of broiler–breeder chickens. *Ecology* and Evolution, 12(3). https://doi.org/10.1002/ece3.8651
- Reddy, S., & Zishiri, O. T. (2018). Genetic characterisation of virulence genes associated with adherence, invasion and cytotoxicity in Campylobacter spp. isolated from commercial chickens and human clinical cases. *Onderstepoort Journal of Veterinary Research*, 85(1). https://doi.org/10.4102/ojvr.v85i1.1507
- Redondo, L. M., Chacana, P. A., Dominguez, J. E., & Fernandez Miyakawa, M. E. (2014). Perspectives in the use of tannins as alternative to antimicrobial growth promoter factors in poultry. *Frontiers in Microbiology*, 5. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2014.00118
- Reed, K. K., & Wickham, R. (2009). Review of the Gastrointestinal Tract: From Macro to Micro. Seminars in Oncology Nursing, 25(1), 3–14. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.soncn.2008.10.002
- Rees, L. E. N., Cogan, T. A., Dodson, A. L., Birchall, M. A., Bailey, M., & Humphrey, T. J. (2008). Campylobacter and IFNγ interact to cause a rapid loss of epithelial barrier integrity. *Inflammatory Bowel Diseases*, 14(3), 303–309. https://doi.org/10.1002/ibd.20325
- Refrégier-Petton, J., Rose, N., Denis, M., & Salvat, G. (2001). Risk factors for Campylobacter spp. contamination in French broiler-chicken flocks at the end of the rearing period. *Preventive Veterinary Medicine*, 50(1–2), 89–100. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0167-5877(01)00220-3
- Ripabelli, G., Tamburro, M., Minelli, F., Leone, A., & Sammarco, M. L. (2010). Prevalence of virulence-associated genes and cytolethal distending toxin production in Campylobacter spp. isolated in Italy. *Comparative Immunology, Microbiology and Infectious Diseases*, 33(4), 355–364. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cimid.2008.12.001
- ROBERTS, J. A., CUMBERLAND, P., SOCKETT, P. N., WHEELER, J., RODRIGUES, L. C., SETHI, D., RODERICK, P. J., & IID Study Executive, on behalf of the. (2003). The study of infectious intestinal disease in England: socio-economic impact. *Epidemiology* and Infection, 130(1), S0950268802007690. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0950268802007690
- Robinson, D. A. (1981). Infective dose of Campylobacter jejuni in milk. *BMJ*, 282(6276), 1584–1584. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.282.6276.1584
- Robyn, J., Rasschaert, G., Pasmans, F., & Heyndrickx, M. (2015). Thermotolerant Campylobacter during Broiler Rearing: Risk Factors and Intervention. *Comprehensive Reviews in Food Science and Food Safety*, 14(2), 81–105. https://doi.org/10.1111/1541-4337.12124
- Rollins, D. M., & Colwell, R. R. (1986). Viable but nonculturable stage of Campylobacter jejuni and its role in survival in the natural aquatic environment. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 52(3), 531–538. https://doi.org/10.1128/aem.52.3.531-538.1986
- Rosenquist, H., Nielsen, N. L., Sommer, H. M., Nørrung, B., & Christensen, B. B. (2003). Quantitative risk assessment of human campylobacteriosis associated with thermophilic Campylobacter species in chickens. *International Journal of Food Microbiology*, 83, 87– 103. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0168-1605(02)00317-3
- ROSS, G. D. (1986). Introduction and History of Complement Research. In *Immunobiology of the Complement System* (pp. 1–19). Elsevier. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-597640-4.50004-3

Rubinchik, S., Seddon, A., & Karlyshev, A. V. (2012). Molecular mechanisms and biological

role of Campylobacter jejuni attachment to host cells. *European Journal of Microbiology and Immunology*, 2(1), 32–40. https://doi.org/10.1556/EuJMI.2.2012.1.6

- Ruiz-Palacios, G. M. (2007). The Health Burden of Campylobacter Infection and the Impact of Antimicrobial Resistance: Playing Chicken. *Clinical Infectious Diseases*, 44(5), 701–703. https://doi.org/10.1086/509936
- Ruoslahti, E. (1981). Fibronectin. *Journal of Oral Pathology and Medicine*, *10*(1), 3–13. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-0714.1981.tb01242.x
- Russell, R. G., & Blake, D. C. (1994). Cell association and invasion of Caco-2 cells by Campylobacter jejuni. *Infection and Immunity*, 62(9), 3773–3779. https://doi.org/10.1128/iai.62.9.3773-3779.1994
- Rychen, G., Aquilina, G., Azimonti, G., Bampidis, V., Bastos, M. de L., Bories, G., Chesson, A., Cocconcelli, P. S., Flachowsky, G., Gropp, J., Kolar, B., Kouba, M., López-Alonso, M., López Puente, S., Mantovani, A., Mayo, B., Ramos, F., Saarela, M., Villa, R. E., ... Martino, L. (2018). Guidance on the assessment of the efficacy of feed additives. *EFSA Journal*, *16*(5). https://doi.org/10.2903/j.efsa.2018.5274
- Rychen, G., Aquilina, G., Azimonti, G., Bampidis, V., Bastos, M. de L., Bories, G., Chesson, A., Cocconcelli, P. S., Flachowsky, G., Gropp, J., Kolar, B., Kouba, M., López-Alonso, M., Mantovani, A., Mayo, B., Ramos, F., Saarela, M., Villa, R. E., Wallace, R. J., ... López Puente, S. (2017). Safety and efficacy of bentonite as a feed additive for all animal species. *EFSA Journal*, *15*(12). https://doi.org/10.2903/j.efsa.2017.5096
- Rychen, G., Aquilina, G., Azimonti, G., Bampidis, V., de Lourdes Bastos, M., Bories, G., Chesson, A., Cocconcelli, P. S., Flachowsky, G., Gropp, J., Kolar, B., Kouba, M., López-Alonso, M., Mantovani, A., Mayo, B., Ramos, F., Saarela, M., Villa, R. E., Wallace, R. J., ... López Puente, S. (2016). Safety and efficacy of fumonisin esterase (FUMzyme®) as a technological feed additive for all avian species. *EFSA Journal*, *14*(11). https://doi.org/10.2903/j.efsa.2016.4617
- Rychlik, I. (2020). Composition and Function of Chicken Gut Microbiota. Animals, 10(1), 103. https://doi.org/10.3390/ani10010103
- Säemann, M. D., Böhmig, G. A., Österreicher, C. H., Burtscher, H., Parolini, O., Diakos, C., Stöckl, J., Hörl, W. H., & Zlabinger, G. J. (2000). Anti-inflammatory effects of sodium butyrate on human monocytes: potent inhibition of IL-12 and up-regulation of IL-10 production. *The FASEB Journal*, 14(15), 2380–2382. https://doi.org/10.1096/fj.00-0359fje
- Safwat, A. M., Elnaggar, A. S., Elghalid, O. A., & EL-Tahawy, W. S. (2020). Effects of different sources and levels of dietary chromium supplementation on performance of broiler chicks. *Animal Science Journal*, 91(1). https://doi.org/10.1111/asj.13448
- Sahin, O., Kobalka, P., & Zhang, Q. (2003). Detection and survival of Campylobacter in chicken eggs. *Journal of Applied Microbiology*, 95(5), 1070–1079. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-2672.2003.02083.x
- Sahin, Orhan, Kassem, I. I., Shen, Z., Lin, J., Rajashekara, G., & Zhang, Q. (2015). Campylobacter in Poultry: Ecology and Potential Interventions. *Avian Diseases*, 59(2), 185–200. https://doi.org/10.1637/11072-032315-Review
- Sahin, Orhan, Morishita, T. Y., & Zhang, Q. (2002a). Campylobacter colonization in poultry: sources of infection and modes of transmission. *Animal Health Research Reviews*, 3(2), 95–105. https://doi.org/10.1079/AHRR200244
- Sahin, Orhan, Morishita, T. Y., & Zhang, Q. (2002b). Campylobacter colonization in poultry: sources of infection and modes of transmission. *Animal Health Research Reviews*, 3(2), 95–105. https://doi.org/10.1079/AHRR200244

- Sakata, T., & Yajima, T. (1984). INFLUENCE OF SHORT CHAIN FATTY ACIDS ON THE EPITHELIAL CELL DIVISION OF DIGESTIVE TRACT. *Quarterly Journal of Experimental Physiology*, 69, 639–648.
- Sakurazawa, T., & Ohkusa, T. (2005). Cytotoxicity of organic acids produced by anaerobic intestinal bacteria on cultured epithelial cells. *Journal of Gastroenterology*, 40(6), 600– 609. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00535-005-1594-z
- Santini, C., Baffoni, L., Gaggia, F., Granata, M., Gasbarri, R., Di Gioia, D., & Biavati, B. (2010). Characterization of probiotic strains: An application as feed additives in poultry against Campylobacter jejuni. *International Journal of Food Microbiology*, 141, S98– S108. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijfoodmicro.2010.03.039
- Sarkar, S. R., Hossain, M. A., Paul, S. K., Ray, N. C., Sultana, S., Rahman, M. M., & Islam, A. (2014). Campylobacteriosis - an overview. *Mymensingh Medical Journal : MMJ*, 23(1), 173–180. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/24584395
- SCHARFF, R. L. (2012). Economic Burden from Health Losses Due to Foodborne Illness in the United States. *Journal of Food Protection*, 75(1), 123–131. https://doi.org/10.4315/0362-028X.JFP-11-058
- Schmidt, T. S. B., Raes, J., & Bork, P. (2018). The Human Gut Microbiome: From Association to Modulation. *Cell*, 172(6), 1198–1215. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2018.02.044
- Schmutz, C., Mäusezahl, D., Bless, P. J., Hatz, C., & Schwenkglenks, M Urbinello, D. (2016). Estimating healthcare costs of acute gastroenteritis and human campylobacteriosis in Switzerland. *Epidemiology and Infection*, 12, 1–15.
- Schneitz, C., & Hakkinen, M. (2016). The efficacy of a commercial competitive exclusion product on Campylobacter colonization in broiler chickens in a 5-week pilot-scale study. *Poultry Science*, 95(5), 1125–1128. https://doi.org/10.3382/ps/pew020
- Sebald, M., & Veron, M. (1963). Teneur en bases de l'ADN et classification des vibrions. *Annales de l'Institut Pasteur, 105,* 897–910.
- SFHT. (2009). *Barrier Hygiene*. The Society of Food Hygiene and Technology. http://www.sofht.co.uk/wpcontent/uploads/2016/hifs/barrierhygiene/HIF_barrierhygiene.pdf
- Shakeri, M., Oskoueian, E., Le, H., & Shakeri, M. (2020). Strategies to Combat Heat Stress in Broiler Chickens: Unveiling the Roles of Selenium, Vitamin E and Vitamin C. Veterinary Sciences, 7(2), 71. https://doi.org/10.3390/vetsci7020071
- Shane, S. M. (2000). Campylobacter infection of commercial poultry. *Rev. Sci. Tech. Off. Int. Epiz.*, *19*(2), 376–395.
- Shang, Y., Kumar, S., Oakley, B., & Kim, W. K. (2018). Chicken Gut Microbiota: Importance and Detection Technology. *Frontiers in Veterinary Science*, 5. https://doi.org/10.3389/fvets.2018.00254
- Shariat, M., Heydrzadeh, M., Abolhassani, H., Bemanian, M. H., & Yazdani, R. (2021). Complement deficiencies. In *Inborn Errors of Immunity* (pp. 291–315). Elsevier. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-821028-4.00011-7
- Sharma, J. M., & Tizard, I. (1984). Avian cellular immune effector mechanisms A review. *Avian Pathology*, 13(3), 357–376. https://doi.org/10.1080/03079458408418541
- Sheerin, I., Bartholomew, N., & Brunton, C. (2014). Estimated community costs of an outbreak of campylobacteriosis resulting from contamination of a public water supply in Darfield, New Zealand. *The New Zealand Medical Journal (Online)*, *127*(1391), 13–21.

https://www.proquest.com/scholarly-journals/estimated-community-costsoutbreak/docview/1511740682/se-2?accountid=14680

- SHEPPARD, S. K., COLLES, F. M., McCARTHY, N. D., STRACHAN, N. J. C., OGDEN, I. D., FORBES, K. J., DALLAS, J. F., & MAIDEN, M. C. J. (2011). Niche segregation and genetic structure of Campylobacter jejuni populations from wild and agricultural host species. *Molecular Ecology*, 20(16), 3484–3490. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-294X.2011.05179.x
- Sheppard, S. K., Dallas, J. F., Strachan, N. J. C., MacRae, M., McCarthy, N. D., Wilson, D. J., Gormley, F. J., Falush, D., Ogden, I. D., Maiden, M. C. J., & Forbes, K. J. (2009). Campylobacter Genotyping to Determine the Source of Human Infection. *Clinical Infectious Diseases*, 48(8), 1072–1078. https://doi.org/10.1086/597402
- Sheppard, S. K., Didelot, X., Meric, G., Torralbo, A., Jolley, K. A., Kelly, D. J., Bentley, S. D., Maiden, M. C. J., Parkhill, J., & Falush, D. (2013). Genome-wide association study identifies vitamin B 5 biosynthesis as a host specificity factor in Campylobacter. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 110(29), 11923–11927. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1305559110
- Sheppard, S. K., Jolley, K. A., & Maiden, M. C. J. (2012). A Gene-By-Gene Approach to Bacterial Population Genomics: Whole Genome MLST of Campylobacter. *Genes*, 3(2), 261–277. https://doi.org/10.3390/genes3020261
- Sheppard, S. K., & Maiden, M. C. J. (2015). The Evolution of Campylobacter jejuni and Campylobacter coli. *Cold Spring Harbor Perspectives in Biology*, 7(8), a018119. https://doi.org/10.1101/cshperspect.a018119
- Shini, S., & Kaiser, P. (2009). Effects of stress, mimicked by administration of corticosterone in drinking water, on the expression of chicken cytokine and chemokine genes in lymphocytes. *Stress*, 12(5), 388–399. https://doi.org/10.1080/10253890802526894
- Shrivastava, R. (2002). Effects of chromium on the immune system. *FEMS Immunology and Medical Microbiology*, 34(1), 1–7. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0928-8244(02)00345-0
- Sibanda, N., McKenna, A., Richmond, A., Ricke, S. C., Callaway, T., Stratakos, A. C., Gundogdu, O., & Corcionivoschi, N. (2018). A Review of the Effect of Management Practices on Campylobacter Prevalence in Poultry Farms. *Frontiers in Microbiology*, 9, 2002. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2018.02002
- Siezen, R. J., & Kleerebezem, M. (2011). The human gut microbiome: are we our enterotypes? *Microbial Biotechnology*, 4(5), 550–553. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1751-7915.2011.00290.x
- Silva, J., Leite, D., Fernandes, M., Mena, C., Gibbs, P. A., & Teixeira, P. (2011). Campylobacter spp. As a foodborne pathogen: A review. *Frontiers in Microbiology*, 2, 1– 12. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2011.00200
- Singh, A. K., & Kim, W. K. (2021). Effects of Dietary Fiber on Nutrients Utilization and Gut Health of Poultry: A Review of Challenges and Opportunities. *Animals*, 11(1), 181. https://doi.org/10.3390/ani11010181
- Skarp, C. P. A., Hänninen, M. L., & Rautelin, H. I. K. (2016). Campylobacteriosis: The role of poultry meat. *Clinical Microbiology and Infection*, 22(2), 103–109. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cmi.2015.11.019
- Skoufos, I., Tzora, A., Giannenas, I., Bonos, E., Tsinas, A., McCartney, E., Lester, H., Christaki, E., Florou-Paneri, P., Mahdavi, J., & Soultanas, P. (2019). Evaluation of in-field efficacy of dietary ferric tyrosine on performance, intestinal health and meat quality of broiler chickens exposed to natural Campylobacter jejuni challenge. *Livestock Science*,

221, 44-51. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.livsci.2019.01.008

- Smibert, R. M. (1978). The Genus Campylobacter. Annual Review of Microbiology, 32(1), 673– 709. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.mi.32.100178.003325
- Smith, A. L., Powers, C., & Beal, R. K. (2014). The Avian Enteric Immune System in Health and Disease. In Avian Immunology (pp. 227–250). Elsevier. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-396965-1.00013-3
- Smith, C. K., Kaiser, P., Rothwell, L., Humphrey, T., Barrow, P. A., & Jones, M. A. (2005). Campylobacter jejuni-Induced cytokine responses in avian cells. *Infection and Immunity*, 73(4), 2094–2100. https://doi.org/Doi 10.1128/Iai.73.4.2094-2100.2005
- Smith, J. (2013). CAMPYLOBACTER, CHICKEN, AND THE REGULATORY PERFORMANCE STANDARD. https://krex.kstate.edu/dspace/bitstream/handle/2097/15559/JanetSmith2013.pdf?sequence=3
- Smith, J. G., Yokoyama, W. H., & German, J. B. (1998). Butyric Acid from the Diet: Actions at the Level of Gene Expression. *Critical Reviews in Food Science and Nutrition*, 38(4), 259–297. https://doi.org/10.1080/10408699891274200
- Smith, T., & Taylor, M. S. (1919). SOME MORPHOLOGICAL AND BIOLOGICAL CHARACTERS OF THE SPIRILLA (VIBRIO FETUS, N. SP.) ASSOCIATED WITH DISEASE OF THE FETAL MEMBRANES IN CATTLE. *The Journal of Experimental Medicine*, 30(4), 299–311. https://doi.org/10.1084/jem.30.4.299
- Snelling, W. J., Matsuda, M., Moore, J. E., & Dooley, J. S. G. (2005). Campylobacter jejuni. *Letters in Applied Microbiology*, 41(4), 297–302. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1472-765X.2005.01788.x
- Soldatenkov, V. A., Prasad, S., Voloshin, Y., & Dritschilo, A. (1998). Sodium butyrate induces apoptosis and accumulation of ubiquitinated proteins in human breast carcinoma cells. *Cell Death & Differentiation*, 5(4), 307–312. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.cdd.4400345
- Soon, J. M., & Baines, R. (2013). *Managing Food Safety Risks in the Agri-Food Industries*. CRC Press.
- Šoprek, S., Duvnjak, S., Kompes, G., Jurinović, L., & Tambić Andrašević, A. (2022). Resistome Analysis of Campylobacter jejuni Strains Isolated from Human Stool and Primary Sterile Samples in Croatia. *Microorganisms*, 10(7), 1410. https://doi.org/10.3390/microorganisms10071410
- Sørensen, K., Van den Broucke, S., Fullam, J., Doyle, G., Pelikan, J., Slonska, Z., & Brand, H. (2012). Health literacy and public health: A systematic review and integration of definitions and models. *BMC Public Health*, 12(1), 80. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2458-12-80
- Sørensen, M. C. H., van Alphen, L. B., Harboe, A., Li, J., Christensen, B. B., Szymanski, C. M., & Brøndsted, L. (2011). Bacteriophage F336 Recognizes the Capsular Phosphoramidate Modification of Campylobacter jejuni NCTC11168. *Journal of Bacteriology*, 193(23), 6742–6749. https://doi.org/10.1128/JB.05276-11
- Soro, A. B., Whyte, P., Bolton, D. J., & Tiwari, B. K. (2020). Strategies and novel technologies to control Campylobacter in the poultry chain: A review. *Comprehensive Reviews in Food Science and Food Safety*, 19(4), 1353–1377. https://doi.org/10.1111/1541-4337.12544
- Sorokulova, I. B., Kirik, D. L., & Pinchuk, I. V. (1997). Probiotics against Campylobacter Pathogens. *Journal of Travel Medicine*, 4(4), 167–170. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1708-8305.1997.tb00813.x

- Soto-Beltrán, M., Lee, B. G., Amézquita-López, B. A., & Quiñones, B. (2022). Overview of methodologies for the culturing, recovery and detection of Campylobacter. *International Journal of Environmental Health Research*, 1–17. https://doi.org/10.1080/09603123.2022.2029366
- Spears, J. W., Lloyd, K. E., Pickworth, C. A., Huang, Y. L., Krafka, K., Hyda, J., & Grimes, J. L. (2019). Chromium propionate in broilers: human food and broiler safety. *Poultry Science*, 98(12), 6579–6585. https://doi.org/10.3382/ps/pez444
- Stahl, M., Butcher, J., & Stintzi, A. (2012). Nutrient Acquisition and Metabolism by Campylobacter jejuni. Frontiers in Cellular and Infection Microbiology, 2. https://doi.org/10.3389/fcimb.2012.00005
- Stahl, M., Friis, L. M., Nothaft, H., Liu, X., Li, J., Szymanski, C. M., & Stintzi, A. (2011). <scp>l</scp> -Fucose utilization provides *Campylobacter jejuni* with a competitive advantage. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 108(17), 7194–7199. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1014125108
- Stern, N. J., Svetoch, E. A., Eruslanov, B. V., Perelygin, V. V., Mitsevich, E. V., Mitsevich, I. P., Pokhilenko, V. D., Levchuk, V. P., Svetoch, O. E., & Seal, B. S. (2006). Isolation of a Lactobacillus salivarius Strain and Purification of Its Bacteriocin, Which Is Inhibitory to Campylobacter jejuni in the Chicken Gastrointestinal System. *Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy*, 50(9), 3111–3116. https://doi.org/10.1128/AAC.00259-06
- Stern, Norman J., Myszewski, M. A., Barnhart, H. M., & Dreesen, D. W. (1997). Flagellin A Gene Restriction Fragment Length Polymorphism Patterns of Campylobacter spp. Isolates from Broiler Production Sources. Avian Diseases, 41(4), 899. https://doi.org/10.2307/1592344
- Strachan, N. J., & Forbes, K. J. (2010). The growing UK epidemic of human campylobacteriosis. *The Lancet*, 376(9742), 665–667. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(10)60708-8
- Stratford, M., & Anslow, P. A. (1996). Comparison of the inhibitory action on Saccharomyces cerevisiae of weak-acid preservatives, uncouplers, and medium-chain fatty acids. *FEMS Microbiology Letters*, 142(1), 53–58. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1574-6968.1996.tb08407.x
- Suerbaum, S., Lohrengel, M., Sonnevend, A., Ruberg, F., & Kist, M. (2001). Allelic Diversity and Recombination in Campylobacter jejuni. *Journal of Bacteriology*, 183(8), 2553–2559. https://doi.org/10.1128/JB.183.8.2553-2559.2001
- Sugiharto, S. (2016). Role of nutraceuticals in gut health and growth performance of poultry. *Journal of the Saudi Society of Agricultural Sciences*, 15(2), 99–111. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jssas.2014.06.001
- Sukted, N., Tuitemwong, P., Tuitemwong, K., Poonlapdecha, W., & Erickson, L. E. (2017). Inactivation of Campylobacter during immersion chilling of chicken carcasses. *Journal of Food Engineering*, 202, 25–33. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jfoodeng.2017.02.007
- Sundström, K. (2018). Cost of Illness for Five Major Foodborne Illnesses and Sequelae in Sweden. Applied Health Economics and Health Policy, 16(2), 243–257. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40258-017-0369-z
- SUZUKI, H., & YAMAMOTO, S. (2009). Campylobacter Contamination in Retail Poultry Meats and By-Products in the World: A Literature Survey. *Journal of Veterinary Medical Science*, 71(3), 255–261. https://doi.org/10.1292/jvms.71.255
- Suzuki, T., Yoshinaga, N., & Tanabe, S. (2011). Interleukin-6 (IL-6) Regulates Claudin-2 Expression and Tight Junction Permeability in Intestinal Epithelium. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 286(36), 31263–31271. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M111.238147

- Svetoch, E. A., Stern, N. J., Eruslanov, B. V., Kovalev, Y. N., Volodina, L. I., Perelygin, V. V., Mitsevich, E. V., Mitsevich, I. P., Pokhilenko, V. D., Borzenkov, V. N., Levchuk, V. P., Svetoch, O. E., & Kudriavtseva, T. Y. (2005). Isolation of Bacillus circulans and Paenibacillus polymyxa Strains Inhibitory to Campylobacter jejuni and Characterization of Associated Bacteriocins. *Journal of Food Protection*, 68(1), 11–17. https://doi.org/10.4315/0362-028X-68.1.11
- Svihus, B. (2014). Function of the digestive system. *Journal of Applied Poultry Research*, 23(2), 306–314. https://doi.org/10.3382/japr.2014-00937
- Szott, V., Reichelt, B., Friese, A., & Roesler, U. (2022). A Complex Competitive Exclusion Culture Reduces Campylobacter jejuni Colonization in Broiler Chickens at Slaughter Age In Vivo. Veterinary Sciences, 9(4), 181. https://doi.org/10.3390/vetsci9040181
- Szymanski, C M, King, M., Haardt, M., & Armstrong, G. D. (1995). Campylobacter jejuni motility and invasion of Caco-2 cells. *Infection and Immunity*, 63(11), 4295–4300. https://doi.org/10.1128/iai.63.11.4295-4300.1995
- Szymanski, Christine M., & Gaynor, E. C. (2012). How a sugary bug gets through the day. *Gut Microbes*, *3*(2), 135–144. https://doi.org/10.4161/gmic.19488
- Taha-Abdelaziz, K., Astill, J., Kulkarni, R. R., Read, L. R., Najarian, A., Farber, J. M., & Sharif, S. (2019). In vitro assessment of immunomodulatory and anti-Campylobacter activities of probiotic lactobacilli. *Scientific Reports*, 9(1), 17903. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-019-54494-3
- Talukdar, P. K., Negretti, N. M., Turner, K. L., & Konkel, M. E. (2020). Molecular Dissection of the Campylobacter jejuni CadF and FlpA Virulence Proteins in Binding to Host Cell Fibronectin. *Microorganisms*, 8(3), 389. https://doi.org/10.3390/microorganisms8030389
- Tam, C. C., & O'Brien, S. J. (2016). Economic Cost of Campylobacter, Norovirus and Rotavirus Disease in the United Kingdom. *PLOS ONE*, 11(2), e0138526. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0138526
- Teillant, A., & Laxminarayan, R. (2015). Economics of Antibiotic Use in U.S. Swine and Poultry Production. *The Magazine of Food, Farm, and Resource Issues*, *30*(1).
- Teunis, P. F. M., Bonačić Marinović, A., Tribble, D. R., Porter, C. K., & Swart, A. (2018). Acute illness from Campylobacter jejuni may require high doses while infection occurs at low doses. *Epidemics*, 24, 1–20. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.epidem.2018.02.001
- Thomrongsuwannakij, T Chuanchuen, R Chansiripornchai, N. (2016). Identification of Competitive Exclusion and Its Ability to Protect Against Campylobacter jejuni in Broilers. *Thai Journal of Veterinary Medicine*, 46(2).
- Thormar, H., Hilmarsson, H., & Bergsson, G. (2006). Stable Concentrated Emulsions of the 1-Monoglyceride of Capric Acid (Monocaprin) with Microbicidal Activities against the Food-Borne Bacteria Campylobacter jejuni , Salmonella spp., and Escherichia coli. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 72(1), 522–526. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.72.1.522-526.2006
- Tralongo, P., Tomasello, G., Sinagra, E., Damiani, P., Leone, A., Palumbo, V. D., Giammanco, M., Di Majo, D., Damiani, F., Abruzzo, A., Bruno, A., Cassata, G., Cicero, L., Noto, M., Tomasello, R., & Lo Monte, A. I. (2014). THE ROLE OF BUTYRIC ACID AS A OPROTECTIVE AGENT AGAINST INFLAMMATORY BOWEL DISEASE. *Euromediterranean Biomedical Journal*, *9*(4). https://doi.org/https://dx.doi.org/10.3269/1970-5492.2014.9.4
- Tran, H. B., Chen, S.-C., Chaung, H.-C., & Cheng, T.-C. (2019). Molecular cloning of IL-6, IL-10, IL-11, IFN-x and modulation of pro- and anti-inflammatory cytokines in cobia
(Rachycentron canadum) after Photobacterium damselae subsp. piscicida infection. *Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology Part B: Biochemistry and Molecular Biology*, 230, 10–18. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cbpb.2019.01.004

- Tresse, O., Alvarez-Ordóñez, A., & Connerton, I. F. (2017). Editorial: About the Foodborne Pathogen Campylobacter. *Frontiers in Microbiology*, 8. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2017.01908
- Umaraw, P., Prajapati, A., Verma, A. K., Pathak, V., & Singh, V. P. (2017). Control of campylobacter in poultry industry from farm to poultry processing unit: A review. *Critical Reviews in Food Science and Nutrition*, 57(4), 659–665. https://doi.org/10.1080/10408398.2014.935847
- Upadhyaya, I., Upadhyay, A., Yin, H.-B., Nair, M. S., Bhattaram, V. K., Karumathil, D., Kollanoor-Johny, A., Khan, M. I., Darre, M. J., Curtis, P. A., & Venkitanarayanan, K. (2015). Reducing Colonization and Eggborne Transmission of Salmonella Enteritidis in Layer Chickens by In-Feed Supplementation of Caprylic Acid. *Foodborne Pathogens and Disease*, 12(7), 591–597. https://doi.org/10.1089/fpd.2014.1931
- Uyanik, F., Atasever, A., Ozdamar, S., & Aydin, F. (2002). Effects of Dietary Chromium Chloride Supplementation on Performance, Some Serum Parameters, and Immune Response in Broilers. *Biological Trace Element Research*, 90(1–3), 99–116. https://doi.org/10.1385/BTER:90:1-3:99
- van Alphen, L. B., Wenzel, C. Q., Richards, M. R., Fodor, C., Ashmus, R. A., Stahl, M., Karlyshev, A. V., Wren, B. W., Stintzi, A., Miller, W. G., Lowary, T. L., & Szymanski, C. M. (2014). Biological Roles of the O-Methyl Phosphoramidate Capsule Modification in Campylobacter jejuni. *PLoS ONE*, 9(1), e87051. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0087051
- van Beilen, J. W. A., & Brul, S. (2013). Compartment-specific pH monitoring in Bacillus subtilis using fluorescent sensor proteins: a tool to analyze the antibacterial effect of weak organic acids. *Frontiers in Microbiology*, *4*. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2013.00157
- van der Stel, A., Boogerd, F. C., Huynh, S., Parker, C. T., van Dijk, L., van Putten, J. P. M., & Wösten, M. M. S. M. (2017). Generation of the membrane potential and its impact on the motility, ATP production and growth in Campylobacter jejuni. *Molecular Microbiology*, 105(4), 637–651. https://doi.org/10.1111/mmi.13723
- Van Deun, K., Haesebrouck, F., Van Immerseel, F., Ducatelle, R., & Pasmans, F. (2008). Shortchain fatty acids and <scp>l</scp> -lactate as feed additives to control *Campylobacter jejuni* infections in broilers. *Avian Pathology*, *37*(4), 379–383. https://doi.org/10.1080/03079450802216603
- Van Deun, K., Pasmans, F., Ducatelle, R., Flahou, B., Vissenberg, K., Martel, A., Van den Broeck, W., Van Immerseel, F., & Haesebrouck, F. (2008). Colonization strategy of Campylobacter jejuni results in persistent infection of the chicken gut. *Veterinary Microbiology*, 130(3–4), 285–297. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vetmic.2007.11.027
- Van Deun, K., Pasmans, F., Van Immerseel, F., Ducatelle, R., & Haesebrouck, F. (2008). Butyrate protects Caco-2 cells from Campylobacter jejuni invasion and translocation. *The British Journal of Nutrition*, 100(3), 480–484. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0007114508921693
- van Dijk, A., Herrebout, M., Tersteeg-Zijderveld, M. H. G., Tjeerdsma-van Bokhoven, J. L. M., Bleumink-Pluym, N., Jansman, A. J. M., Veldhuizen, E. J. A., & Haagsman, H. P. (2012). Campylobacter jejuni is highly susceptible to killing by chicken host defense peptide cathelicidin-2 and suppresses intestinal cathelicidin-2 expression in young broilers. *Veterinary Microbiology*, *160*(3–4), 347–354.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vetmic.2012.05.034

- Van Gerwe, T., Miflin, J. K., Templeton, J. M., Bouma, A., Wagenaar, J. A., Jacobs-Reitsma, W. F., Stegeman, A., & Klinkenberg, D. (2009). Quantifying transmission of campylobacter jejuni in commercial broiler flocks. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 75(3), 625–628. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.01912-08
- Van Immerseel, F., Boyen, F., Gantois, I., Timbermont, L., Bohez, L., Pasmans, F., Haesebrouck, F., & Ducatelle, R. (2005). Supplementation of coated butyric acid in the feed reduces colonization and shedding of Salmonella in poultry. *Poultry Science*, 84(12), 1851–1856. https://doi.org/10.1093/ps/84.12.1851
- Van Immerseel, F., De Buck, J., Boyen, F., Bohez, L., Pasmans, F., Volf, J., Sevcik, M., Rychlik, I., Haesebrouck, F., & Ducatelle, R. (2004). Medium-Chain Fatty Acids Decrease Colonization and Invasion through hilA Suppression Shortly after Infection of Chickens with Salmonella enterica Serovar Enteritidis. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 70(6), 3582–3587. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.70.6.3582-3587.2004
- Van Immerseel, Filip, Fievez, V., De Buck, J., Pasmans, F., Martel, A., Haesebrouck, F., & Ducatelle, R. (2004). Microencapsulated Short-Chain Fatty Acids in Feed Modify Colonization and Invasion Early After Infection with Salmonella Enteritidis in Young Chickens. *Poultry Science*, 83, 69–74.
- van Meerloo, J., Kaspers, G. J. L., & Cloos, J. (2011). *Cell Sensitivity Assays: The MTT Assay* (pp. 237–245). https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-61779-080-5_20
- van Putten, J. P. M., van Alphen, L. B., Wösten, M. M. S. M., & de Zoete, M. R. (2009). *Molecular Mechanisms of Campylobacter Infection* (pp. 197–229). https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-642-01846-6_7
- van Vliet, A. H. M., & Ketley, J. M. (2001). Pathogenesis of enteric Campylobacter infection. *Journal of Applied Microbiology*, 90(S6), 45S-56S. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-2672.2001.01353.x
- Vazquez, A. P. (2016). Bacillus species are Superior Probiotic Feed-Additives for Poultry. Journal of Bacteriology & Mycology: Open Access, 2(3). https://doi.org/10.15406/jbmoa.2016.02.00023
- Velayudhan, J., Jones, M. A., Barrow, P. A., & Kelly, D. J. (2004). <scp>l</scp> -Serine Catabolism via an Oxygen-Labile <scp>l</scp> -Serine Dehydratase Is Essential for Colonization of the Avian Gut by *Campylobacter jejuni*. *Infection and Immunity*, 72(1), 260–268. https://doi.org/10.1128/IAI.72.1.260-268.2004
- Velayudhan, J., & Kelly, D. J. (2002). Analysis of gluconeogenic and anaplerotic enzymes in Campylobacter jejuni: an essential role for phosphoenolpyruvate carboxykinase. *Microbiology*, 148(3), 685–694. https://doi.org/10.1099/00221287-148-3-685
- Viaene, J., Gellynck, X., & Messens, W. (2007). The economics of reducing Campylobacter in the Belgian poultry meat chain. *Biotechnology in Animal Husbandry*, 23(5-6–1), 155–167.
- Vidal, A. B., Colles, F. M., Rodgers, J. D., McCarthy, N. D., Davies, R. H., Maiden, M. C. J., & Clifton-Hadley, F. A. (2016). Genetic Diversity of Campylobacter jejuni and Campylobacter coli Isolates from Conventional Broiler Flocks and the Impacts of Sampling Strategy and Laboratory Method. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 82(8), 2347–2355. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.03693-15
- Vijay-Kumar, M., Chassaing, B., Kumar, M., Baker, M., & Singh, V. (2014). Mammalian gut immunity. *Biomedical Journal*, *37*(5), 246. https://doi.org/10.4103/2319-4170.130922

Vinolo, M. A. R., Rodrigues, H. G., Nachbar, R. T., & Curi, R. (2011). Regulation of

Inflammation by Short Chain Fatty Acids. *Nutrients*, *3*(10), 858–876. https://doi.org/10.3390/nu3100858

- Wagenaar, J. A., Mevius, D. J., & Havelaar, A. H. (2006). Campylobacter in primary animal production and control strategies to reduce the burden of human campylobacteriosis. *Revue Scientifique et Technique (International Office of Epizootics)*, 25(2), 581–594. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/17094699
- Wagley, S., Newcombe, J., Laing, E., Yusuf, E., Sambles, C. M., Studholme, D. J., La Ragione, R. M., Titball, R. W., & Champion, O. L. (2014). Differences in carbon source utilisation distinguish Campylobacter jejuni from Campylobacter coli. *BMC Microbiology*, 14(1), 262. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12866-014-0262-y
- Waldecker, M., Kautenburger, T., Daumann, H., Busch, C., & Schrenk, D. (2008). Inhibition of histone-deacetylase activity by short-chain fatty acids and some polyphenol metabolites formed in the colon. *The Journal of Nutritional Biochemistry*, 19(9), 587–593. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jnutbio.2007.08.002
- Walter, J., & Ley, R. (2011). The Human Gut Microbiome: Ecology and Recent Evolutionary Changes. Annual Review of Microbiology, 65(1), 411–429. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-micro-090110-102830
- Wang, G., Li, X., Zhou, Y., Feng, J., & Zhang, M. (2022). Effects of Dietary Chromium Picolinate on Gut Microbiota, Gastrointestinal Peptides, Glucose Homeostasis, and Performance of Heat-Stressed Broilers. *Animals*, 12(7), 844. https://doi.org/10.3390/ani12070844
- Wang, S., Zeng, X., Yang, Q., & Qiao, S. (2016). Antimicrobial Peptides as Potential Alternatives to Antibiotics in Food Animal Industry. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*, 17(5), 603. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms17050603
- Wassenaar, T. M., van der Zeijst, B. A. M., Ayling, R., & Newell, D. G. (1993). Colonization of chicks by motility mutants of Campylobacter jejuni demonstrates the importance of flagellin A expression. *Journal of General Microbiology*, 139(6), 1171–1175. https://doi.org/10.1099/00221287-139-6-1171
- Wassenaar, T M, Bleumink-Pluym, N. M., Newell, D. G., Nuijten, P. J., & van der Zeijst, B. A. (1994). Differential flagellin expression in a flaA flaB+ mutant of Campylobacter jejuni. *Infection and Immunity*, 62(9), 3901–3906. https://doi.org/10.1128/iai.62.9.3901-3906.1994
- Wassenaar, Trudy M., & Blaser, M. J. (1999). Pathophysiology of Campylobacter jejuni infections of humans. *Microbes and Infection*, 1(12), 1023–1033. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1286-4579(99)80520-6
- Wassennaar, T. M., van der Zeijst, B. A. M., Ayling, R., & Newell, D. G. (1993). Colonization of chicks by motility mutants of Campylobacter jejtltzi demonstrates the importance of flagellin A expression. *Journal of General Microbiology*, 139, 1171–1175.
- Watson, R. O., & Galán, J. E. (2008). Campylobacter jejuni Survives within Epithelial Cells by Avoiding Delivery to Lysosomes. *PLoS Pathogens*, 4(1), e14. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.ppat.0040014
- Weng, M., Walker, W. A., & Sanderson, I. R. (2007). Butyrate regulates the expression of pathogen-triggered IL-8 in intestinal epithelia. *Pediatric Research*, 62(5), 542–546. https://doi.org/10.1203/PDR.0b013e318155a422
- Weyermann, J., Lochmann, D., & Zimmer, A. (2005). A practical note on the use of cytotoxicity assays. *International Journal of Pharmaceutics*, 288(2), 369–376. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpharm.2004.09.018

- Whiley, H., van den Akker, B., Giglio, S., & Bentham, R. (2013). The Role of Environmental Reservoirs in Human Campylobacteriosis. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 10(11), 5886–5907. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph10115886
- White, P. E., & Vincent, J. B. (2019). Systematic Review of the Effects of Chromium(III) on Chickens. *Biological Trace Element Research*, *188*(1), 99–126. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12011-018-1575-8
- Wigley, P. (2013). Immunity to bacterial infection in the chicken. *Developmental & Comparative Immunology*, *41*(3), 413–417. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dci.2013.04.008
- Williams, L. K., Sait, L. C., Trantham, E. K., Cogan, T. A., & Humphrey, T. J. (2013). Campylobacter Infection Has Different Outcomes in Fast- and Slow-Growing Broiler Chickens. Avian Diseases, 57(17), 238–241. https://doi.org/10.1637/10442-110212-Reg.1
- Williams, L K, Sait, L. C., Cogan, T. A., Jørgensen, F., Grogono-Thomas, R., & Humphrey, T. J. (2012). Enrichment culture can bias the isolation of Campylobacter subtypes. *Epidemiology and Infection*, 140(7), 1227–1235. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0950268811001877
- Williams, Lisa K, Jørgensen, F., Grogono-Thomas, R., & Humphrey, T. J. (2009). Enrichment culture for the isolation of Campylobacter spp: Effects of incubation conditions and the inclusion of blood in selective broths. *International Journal of Food Microbiology*, 130(2), 131–134. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijfoodmicro.2009.01.018
- Willis, W. L., & Reid, L. (2008). Investigating the Effects of Dietary Probiotic Feeding Regimens on Broiler Chicken Production and Campylobacter jejuni Presence. *Poultry Science*, 87(4), 606–611. https://doi.org/10.3382/ps.2006-00458
- Wong, T. L., Hollis, L., Cornelius, A., Nicol, C., Cook, R., & Hudson, J. A. (2007). Prevalence, numbers, and subtypes of Campylobacter jejuni and Campylobacter coli in uncooked retail meat samples. *Journal of Food Protection*, 70(3), 566–573.
- Wooldridge, K. G., & Ketley, J. M. (1997). Campylobacter-host cell interactions. Trends in Microbiology, 5(3), 96–102. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0966-842X(97)01004-4
- Wu, H.-J., & Wu, E. (2012). The role of gut microbiota in immune homeostasis and autoimmunity. *Gut Microbes*, *3*(1), 4–14. https://doi.org/10.4161/gmic.19320
- Wysok, B., Wojtacka, J., & Kivistö, R. (2020). Pathogenicity of Campylobacter strains of poultry and human origin from Poland. *International Journal of Food Microbiology*, 334, 108830. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijfoodmicro.2020.108830
- Xiao, Y., Xiang, Y., Zhou, W., Chen, J., Li, K., & Yang, H. (2017). Microbial community mapping in intestinal tract of broiler chicken. *Poultry Science*, 96(5), 1387–1393. http://dx.doi.org/10.3382/ps/pew372
- Xu, Z., & Knight, R. (2015). Dietary effects on human gut microbiome diversity. British Journal of Nutrition, 113(S1), S1–S5. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0007114514004127
- Yadav, S., & Jha, R. (2019). Strategies to modulate the intestinal microbiota and their effects on nutrient utilization, performance, and health of poultry. *Journal of Animal Science and Biotechnology*, *10*(1), 2. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40104-018-0310-9
- Yoo, J., Groer, M., Dutra, S., Sarkar, A., & McSkimming, D. (2020). Gut Microbiota and Immune System Interactions. *Microorganisms*, 8(10), 1587. https://doi.org/10.3390/microorganisms8101587
- Zaefarian, F., Zaghari, M., & Shivazad, M. (2008). The Threonine Requirements and its Effects on Growth Performance and Gut Morphology of Broiler Chicken Fed Different Levels of

Protein. *International Journal of Poultry Science*, 7(12), 1207–1215. https://doi.org/10.3923/ijps.2008.1207.1215

- Zhang, K., Hornef, M. W., & Dupont, A. (2015). The intestinal epithelium as guardian of gut barrier integrity. *Cellular Microbiology*, *17*(11), 1561–1569. https://doi.org/10.1111/cmi.12501
- Zhao, T., & Doyle, M. P. (2006). Reduction of Campylobacter jejuni on Chicken Wings by Chemical Treatments. *Journal of Food Protection*, 69(4), 762–767.
- Zhen, L., Wang, L., Fu, J., Li, Y., Zhao, N., & Li, X. (2016). Hexavalent chromium affects sperm motility by influencing protein tyrosine phosphorylation in the midpiece of boar spermatozoa. *Reproductive Toxicology*, 59, 66–79. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.reprotox.2015.11.001
- Zheng, J., Meng, J., Zhao, S., Singh, R., & Song, W. (2006a). Adherence to and Invasion of Human Intestinal Epithelial Cells by Campylobacter jejuni and Campylobacter coli Isolates from Retail Meat Products. *Journal of Food Protection*, 69(4), 768–774.
- Zheng, J., Meng, J., Zhao, S., Singh, R., & Song, W. (2006b). Adherence to and Invasion of Human Intestinal Epithelial Cells by Campylobacter jejuni and Campylobacter coli Isolates from Retail Meat Products. *Journal of Food Protection*, 69(4), 768–774. https://www.researchgate.net/profile/Jie-Zheng-44/publication/7151638_Adherence_to_and_Invasion_of_Human_Intestinal_Epithelial_C ells_by_Campylobacter_jejuni_and_Campylobacter_coli_Isolates_from_Retail_Meat_Pro ducts/links/595a4ee20f7e9b897eab363e/Adherence

## **Appendix and Supplementary Data**

Atmospheric conditions	Temperature (°C)	Incubation time (h)
Aerobic	42	4
Aerobic	42	24
Microaerobic	42	4
Microaerobic	42	24

Appendix 1 Atmospheric conditions for the culture of Bacillus spp. conditioned media

## Appendix 2 Optical density (600 nm) readings after culture of *Bacillus* spp. for conditioned media

Solution	<b>OD</b> (600 nm)	Dilution
0.2 g <i>Bacillus subtilis</i> PB6, 20 mL 8E11 antibiotic free media incubated aerobically for 4 h at 42°C	0.878	n/a
0.2 g <i>Bacillus subtilis</i> PB6, 20 mL 8E11 antibiotic free media incubated aerobically for 24 h at 42°C	2.432	n/a
0.2 g <i>Bacillus subtilis</i> PB6, 20 mL 8E11 antibiotic free media incubated microaerobically for 4 h at 42°C	0.708	n/a
0.2 g <i>Bacillus subtilis</i> PB6, 20 mL 8E11 antibiotic free media incubated microaerobically for 24 h at 42°C	2.409	n/a
0.2 g <i>Bacillus subtilis</i> PB6, 20 mL CaCo-2 antibiotic free media incubated aerobically for 4 h at 42°C	0.738	n/a

0.2 g <i>Bacillus subtilis</i> PB6, 20 mL CaCo-2 antibiotic free media incubated aerobically for 24 h at 42°C	2.456	n/a
0.2 g <i>Bacillus subtilis</i> PB6, 20 mL CaCo-2 antibiotic free media incubated microaerobically for 4 h at 42°C	0.801	n/a
0.2 g <i>Bacillus subtilis</i> PB6, 20 mL CaCo-2 antibiotic free media incubated microaerobically for 24 h at 42°C	2.482	n/a
0.2 g <i>Bacillus licheniformis</i> , 20 mL 8E11 antibiotic free media incubated aerobically for 4 h at 42°C	0.79	n/a
0.2 g <i>Bacillus licheniformis</i> , 20 mL 8E11 antibiotic free media incubated aerobically for 24 h at 42°C	2.495	n/a
0.2 g <i>Bacillus licheniformis</i> , 20 mL 8E11 antibiotic free media incubated microaerobically for 4 h at 42°C	1.873	n/a
0.2 g <i>Bacillus licheniformis</i> , 20 mL 8E11 antibiotic free media incubated microaerobically for 24 h at 42°C	2.076	n/a
0.2 g <i>Bacillus licheniformis</i> , 20 mL CaCo-2 antibiotic free media incubated aerobically for 4 h at 42°C	1.864	n/a
0.2 g <i>Bacillus licheniformis</i> , 20 mL CaCo-2 antibiotic free media incubated aerobically for 24 h at 42°C	2.237	n/a
0.2 g <i>Bacillus licheniformis</i> , 20 mL CaCo-2 antibiotic free media incubated microaerobically for 4 h at 42°C	1.622	n/a
0.2 g <i>Bacillus licheniformis</i> , 20 mL CaCo-2 antibiotic free media incubated microaerobically for 24 h at 42°C	1.493	1:1 (culture:fresh media)



## Appendix 3 Growth of *Bacillus* species in Brucella broth over 24 h

The optical density (600 nm) of four species of *Bacillus* were grown for 24h under aerobic conditions at 37°C using a BMG omega plate reader (experimental repeats n = 3). The four species used were *Bacillus subtilis* PB6 (PB6), *Bacillus subtilis* BA2.2 (BA2.2), *Bacillus subtilis* F*A (F*A) and *Bacillus licheniformis* (BL).



Appendix 4 Growth of Bacillus species in TSB broth over 24 h

The optical density (600 nm) of four species of *Bacillus* were grown for 24h under aerobic conditions at 37°C using a BMG omega plate reader (experimental repeats n = 3). The four species used were *Bacillus subtilis* PB6 (PB6), *Bacillus subtilis* BA2.2 (BA2.2), *Bacillus subtilis* F*A (F*A) and *Bacillus licheniformis* (BL).



**Appendix 5 Growth of Bacillus species in CaCo-2 media over 24 h** The optical density (600 nm) of four species of *Bacillus* were grown for 24h under aerobic conditions at 37°C using a BMG omega plate reader (experimental repeats n = 2). The four species used were *Bacillus subtilis* PB6 (PB6), *Bacillus subtilis* BA2.2 (BA2.2), *Bacillus subtilis* F*A (F*A) and *Bacillus licheniformis* (BL).



Appendix 6 Growth of Bacillus species in 8E11 media over 24 h

The optical density (600 nm) of four species of *Bacillus* were grown for 24h under aerobic conditions at 37°C using a BMG omega plate reader (experimental repeats n = 2). The four species used were *Bacillus subtilis* PB6 (PB6), *Bacillus subtilis* BA2.2 (BA2.2), *Bacillus subtilis* F*A (F*A) and *Bacillus licheniformis* (BL).